
 
 

CABINET 

CYNGOR GWYNEDD 

DYDDIAD Dydd Mawrth, 29ain Mawrth, 2022 

AMSER 1.00 y.h. 

LLEOLIAD Cyfarfod Rhithiol - Bydd y cyfarfod yn cael ei we-ddarlledu 

- https://gwynedd.public-i.tv/core/portal/home  

PWYNT CYSWLLT Annes Siôn 

01286 679490 / cabinet@gwynedd.llyw.cymru 

 

AELODAU CABINET CYNGOR GWYNEDD 
 

Aelodau 

Dyfrig L. Siencyn Arweinydd

 

Dafydd Meurig Dirprwy Arweinydd, Aelod Cabinet 
Oedolion, Iechyd a Llesiant 

Craig ab Iago Aelod Cabinet Tai 

Gareth Wyn Griffith Aelod Cabinet Amgylchedd 

Nia Wyn Jeffreys Aelod Cabinet dros Gefnogaeth 
Gorfforaethol 

Dilwyn Morgan Aelod Cabinet Plant a Phobl Ifanc 

Gareth Thomas Aelod Cabinet Datblygu'r Economi a 
Chymuned 

Ioan Thomas Aelod Cabinet Cyllid 

Catrin Wager Aelod Cabinet Priffyrdd a Bwrdeistrefol 

Cemlyn Rees Williams Aelod Cabinet Addysg 

 

Rhaglen Gyflawn

https://gwynedd.public-i.tv/core/portal/home


 

 
 

RHAGLEN 
 

 Eitem Cyflwynir 
gan 

Swyddog Tud. 

1   YMDDIHEURIADAU 

 

   

2   DATGAN BUDDIANT PERSONOL 

 

   

3   MATERION BRYS 

 

   

4   MATERION YN CODI O DROSOLWG A 
CHRAFFU 

 

   

5   COFNODION CYAFARFOD A 
GYNHALIWYD AR 8 MAWRTH 2022 

 

  3 - 7 

6   PENODI UWCH GRWNER ARDAL 
GOGLEDD ORLLEWIN CYMRU 

 

Cyng. Nia 
Jeffreys 

Iwan G 
Evans 

8 - 9 

7   STRATEGAETH DIM DRWS ANGHYWIR 

 

Cyng. Dilwyn 
Morgan 

Marian Parry 
Hughes 

10 - 
123 

8   TREFNIADAU CYDWEITHIO 
CENEDLAETHOL AR GYFER 
GWASANAETHAU MABWYSIADU A 
MAETHU (AWDURDODAU LLEOL) 
CYMRU 

 

Cyng. Dilwyn 
Morgan 

Marian Parry 
Hughes 

124 - 
185 

9   ADRODDIAD BLYNYDDOL PANEL 
DIOGELU 

 

Cyng. Dilwyn 
Morgan 

Morwena 
Edwards 

186 - 
198 

10   EFFAITH COVID 19 AR GYLLIDEB 2022-
23 CWMNI BYW'N IACH 

 

Cyng. Ioan 
Thomas and 
Cyng. Gareth 
Thomas 

Dewi Morgan 199 - 
201 

 



Y CABINET Dydd Mawrth, 8 Mawrth 2022 

 
Y CABINET DYDD MAWRTH, 8 MAWRTH 2022 

 

 
Yn bresennol- 
Y Cynghorwyr: Dyfrig L Siencyn, Dafydd Meurig, Gareth Griffith, Nia Jeffreys, Dilwyn 
Morgan, Ioan Thomas, Gareth Thomas, Catrin Wager a Cemlyn Williams. 
 
Hefyd yn bresennol- 
Dafydd Gibbard (Prif Weithredwr), Morwena Edwards (Cyfarwyddwr Corfforaethol), Iwan 
Evans (Pennaeth Cyfreithiol), Dewi Morgan (Pennaeth Cyllid)  ac Annes Siôn (Arweinydd 
Tîm Democratiaeth).  
 
Eitem 6: Dafydd Wyn Williams (Pennaeth Adran Amgylchedd), Dafydd L Edwards 
(Cyfarwyddwr y Gronfa Bensiwn) a Bethan Richardson (Rheolwr Rhaglen Newid 
Hinsawdd). 
Eitem 7: Aled Davies (Pennaeth Adran Oedolion, Iechyd a Llesiant) 
Eitem 8: Garem Jackson (Pennaeth Adran Addysg) a Rhian Parry Jones (Swyddog 
Addysg Uwchradd Gwynedd). 
Eitem 9: Carys Fôn Williams (Pennaeth Adran Tai ac Eiddo).  
  
 
1.   YMDDIHEURIADAU 

 
 Croesawyd Aelodau’r Cabinet a Swyddogion i’r cyfarfod. 

Derbyniwyd ymddiheuriad gan Cyng. Craig ab Iago.  
 
 

 
2.   DATGAN BUDDIANT PERSONOL 

 
 Derbyniwyd ddatganiad o fuddiant personol ar gyfer Eitem 6: Cynllun Argyfwng 

Hinsawdd a Natur 2022/23 – 2029/30 gan Cyng. Dafydd Meurig gan ei fod yn 
Gadeirydd Bartneriaeth Ogwen a Cyng. Catrin Wager gan ei bod yn cael ei 
chyflogi gan Bartneriaeth Ogwen, roedd y ddau fuddiant yn rhagfarnu gan fod y 
Bartneriaeth yn cael ei enwi yn rhan o’r adroddiad a bu i’r ddau adael y cyfarfod 
ar gyfer y drafodaeth.   
 
 

 
3.   MATERION BRYS 

 
 Nid oedd unrhyw faterion brys. 

 
 

 
4.   MATERION YN CODI O DROSOLWG A CHRAFFU 

 
 Nid oedd unrhyw fater yn codi o drosolwg a chraffu.   

 
 

Tud. 3

Eitem 5



Y CABINET Dydd Mawrth, 8 Mawrth 2022 

 
5.   COFNODION CYAFARFOD A GYNHALIWYD AR 15 CHWEFROR 2022 

 
 Bu i’r Cadeirydd dderbyn cofnodion y cyfarfodydd a gynhaliwyd ar 15 Chwefror 

2022 fel rhai cywir. 
 
 

 
6.   CYNLLUN ARGYFWNG HINSAWDD A NATUR 2022/23-2029/30 

 
 Cyflwynwyd yr eitem gan y Cyng. Dyfrig Siencyn 

 
PENDERFYNWYD 
 
Derbyniwyd cymeradwyaeth y Cabinet i fabwysiadu a gweithredu’r Cynllun 
Argyfwng Hinsawdd a Natur 2022-2030. 
 
TRAFODAETH 
 
Cyflwynwyd yr adroddiad a nodwyd fod rhybudd o gynnig wedi ei gyflwyno i’r 
Cyngor yn ôl ym mis Mawrth 2019 yn amlinellu’r peryglon sy’n deillio o effeithiau 
newid hinsawdd. Mynegwyd fod peth oedi wedi bod i’r cynllun newid hinsawdd 
oherwydd y pandemig. Eglurwyd er hyn fod y Cynllun a gyflwynwyd yn benllanw 
gwaith caled a cham cyntaf i ymateb i newid hinsawdd o fewn y Cyngor. Nodwyd 
y gobaith o gyrraedd Cyngor carbon sero-net erbyn 2030. Pwysleisiwyd fod y 
camau sydd i’w gweld yn y Cynllun yn rhai rhwydd ond fod her fawr o flaen y 
Cyngor.  
 
Ychwanegol y Pennaeth Adran Amgylchedd fod y cynllun hwn yn un 
trawsadrannol ond ei bod yn cael ei chartrefu ar hyn o bryd yn yr Adran 
Amgylchedd sydd yn gallu cynnig arweiniad pan mae’r angen.  
 
Nododd Rheolwr Rhaglen Newid Hinsawdd fod hwn yn gynllun corfforaethol ac y 
bydd angen i bob aelod o staff berchnogi’r cynllun ynghyd â gweithredu arno. 
Mynegwyd fod y nod yn glir sef i fod yn gyngor sero net erbyn 2030 ac eglurwyd 
fod hon yn amserlen genedlaethol sydd wedi ei gosod gan Llywodraeth Cymru. 
Esboniwyd fod y cynllun yn amlygu fod y gwaith am fynd yn llawer ymhellach ‘na 
2030 ond ei fod yn rhoi sylfaen gadarn i’r Cyngor o ran y gwaith i’w wneud. 
Pwysleisiwyd fod gwaith pellach i’w wneud er mwyn blaenoriaethu’r gwariant 
ynghyd a chynlluniau tymor byr.  
 
Sylwadau’n codi o’r drafodaeth 

 Tynnwyd sylw at yr angen am yr ochor addysgol i’r cynllun hwn, eglurwyd 
fod cael plant a pobl ifanc yn rhan o’r cynllun ac i ddysgu am newid 
hinsawdd yn holl bwysig i’r cynllun.  

 Amlygwyd yr elfen o gefnogi cymunedau i gynllunio a darparu atebion lleol 
i anghenion lleol gan annog trigolion i gymryd rhan mewn gwaith 
ymgysylltu.  

 Nodwyd fod penderfyniad Llywodraeth Cymru i beidio ariannu cynllun 
Ffordd Osgoi Llanbedr ddim yn cynorthwyo at y cynllun hwn gan y buasai 
creu y ffordd yn lleihau allbynnau carbon.  

Tud. 4



Y CABINET Dydd Mawrth, 8 Mawrth 2022 

 Nodwyd cefnogaeth i’r adroddiad gan nodi fod llawer o waith da wedi 
mynd yn benodol gan y Cyng. Catrin Wager i wthio y cynllun yn ei flaen a 
mynegwyd y bydd yn dda ei weld yn datblygu dros y blynyddoedd nesaf.  

 Diolchwyd am yr adroddiad gan holi os oedd y Gronfa Bensiwn yn 
buddsoddi yn gyfrifol. Mynegwyd ddwy flynedd yn ôl fod cyflwyniad wedi ei 
roi i’r Aelodau Cabinet am fuddsoddi cyfrifol gan egluro beth oedd y 
Gronfa Bensiwn yn ei wneud. Pryd hynny mynegwyd y dylai’r Pwyllgor 
Pensiynau ddelio’n briodol ac yn annibynnol gyda’r buddsoddiadau, gan 
nad yw hyn o fewn grym penderfyniadau’r Cabinet. Nodwyd fod y Bwrdd 
Pensiwn wedi bod yn gweithredu ar wahân ond efallai fod cyfle i roi 
cyfeiriad yr waith y Gronfa Bensiwn yn y Cynllun hwn. Eglurwyd fod llawer 
wedi digwydd o ran buddsoddi gwyrdd ac fod fersiwn drafft o Bolisi 
Buddsoddi Cyfrifol wedi ei gyflwyno i’r Bwrdd Pensiwn ar gyfer ei flaen 
graffu cyn ei gyflwyno i’r Pwyllgor Pensiwn wythnos nesaf.   

 Llongyfarchwyd y tîm am eu gwaith yn creu y ddogfen a nodwyd 
pwysigrwydd fod y ddogfen yn un fyw, mynegwyd er fod y maes mor eang 
fod y Cynllun wedi llwyddo i ddal popeth.  

 
 

 
7.   FFIOEDD CARTREFI PRESWYL A NYRSIO AR GYFER 2022/23 

 
 Cyflwynwyd yr eitem gan y Cyng. Dafydd Meurig   

 
PENDERFYNWYD 
 
Cytunwyd ar ffioedd safonol cartrefi annibynnol preswyl a nyrsio ar gyfer 
2022/23, a’u gweithredu yn unol ag amodau a thelerau'r Cyngor ar y lefel a 
ganlyn: 
 

Preswyl £627 

Preswyl EMI £695 

Nyrsio £731 

Nyrsio EMI £774 

 
Gofynnwyd am adroddiad pellach ar y mater i ystyried priodoldeb adolygiad o 
lefel y ffioedd ar gyfer y flwyddyn.  

 
TRAFODAETH 
 
Cyflwynwyd yr adroddiad gan nodi fod yr adroddiad yn un technegol sydd yn cael 
ei chyflwyno yn flynyddol. Eglurwyd fod yr adroddiad yn gosod costau ffioedd 
safonol ar gyfer 2022/23 ond fod angen adroddiad pellach ar y mater er mwyn 
ystyried priodoldeb adolygiad o lefel y ffioedd ar gyfer y flwyddyn. Eglurwyd mai 
yr opsiwn ffafriedig oedd opsiwn 3 o fewn y tabl isod:  
 

  2021/22 2022/23 

  Y Ffi Opsiwn 1 Opsiwn 2 Opsiwn 3 

Preswyl £586 £615 £627 £671 

Preswyl EMI £651 £681 £695 £768 

Tud. 5



Y CABINET Dydd Mawrth, 8 Mawrth 2022 

Nyrsio £684 £716 £731 £756 

Nyrsio EMI £722 £757 £774 £880 

 
Eglurwyd fod angen rhagor o amser er mwyn sicrhau fod yr adran yn fyw i holl 
oblygiadau cynyddu’r ffioedd i gyd-fynd ag opsiwn 3, gan gynnwys sicrhau ei fod 
yn fforddiadwy nid yn unig ar gyfer eleni ond ar gyfer blynyddoedd ariannol i 
ddod. Mynegwyd felly i’r Cabinet gytuno ar opsiwn 2 am y tro ac yn rhoi amser i 
wneud gwaith pellach i weld os y bydd modd dod a adroddiad yn ôl i’r Cabinet 
gyda’r cais o gynyddu’r ffi i opsiwn 3 ar ôl cyfnod yr etholiad.  
 
 

 
8.   CYNLLUN STRATEGOL Y GYMRAEG MEWN ADDYSG 

 
 Cyflwynwyd yr adroddiad gan y Cyng. Cemlyn Williams.    

 
PENDERFYNWYD 
 
Cymeradwywyd y Cynllun Strategol y Gymraeg mewn Addysg ar gyfer cyfnod 
2022-2032, cyn i’r Awdurdod ei gyflwyno i Lywodraeth Cymru i’w gymeradwyo.  
 
TRAFODAETH 
 
Cyflwynwyd yr adroddiad gan nodi  fod y Strategaeth hon wedi ei chyflwyno yn ôl 
yn mis Gorffennaf ble cytunodd y Cabinet i Gynllun Strategol y Gymraeg fynd i 
gyfnod ymgynghori cyhoeddus. Mynegwyd fod nifer o bobl wedi ymateb i’r 
ymgynghoriad ac fod addasiadau, ble roedd yn bosib, wedi ei ymgorffori yn y 
strategaeth.  
 
Pwysleisiwyd fod y cynllun yn allweddol i ddyfodol y Gymraeg a nodwyd fod y 
cynllun yn fwy na geiriau ar bapur. Bu i’r Aelod Cabinet fanteisio ar y cyfle i nodi 
beth mae’r adran yn ei wneud ac wedi ei wneud o ran y Cynllun. Mynegwyd fod y 
Cabinet yn ymwybodol eu bod wedi cytuno i fuddsoddi dros £1miliwn i 
ganolfannau iaith newydd ym Mangor ac yn Nhywyn, ynghyd â gwella’r 
ddarpariaeth addysgol sydd yn Ysgol Eifionydd. Ychwanegwyd fod yr adran am 
fuddsoddi £1.1miliwn ychwanegol i wella’r amgylchedd ddysgu yn y canolfannau 
eraill ar draws y sir a buddsoddi £1.8miliwn i gynyddu capasiti rhai ysgolion i 
gefnogi cymunedau ble mae’r Gymraeg yn arwyddocaol.  
 
Amlygwyd yn ogystal fod yr adran wedi comisiynu cwmni i greu byd rhithiol i 
ddysgwyr sydd yn rhan o’r cynllun Trochi. Eglurwyd drwy ddefnyddio technoleg 
bydd modd i’r disgyblion allu defnyddio’r Gymraeg yn y cartref yn ogystal. 
Nodwyd fod y cynllun hwn yn rhan allweddol o Gynllun Technoleg Gwybodaeth 
arloesol yr adran sydd wedi ei gymeradwyo gan y Cabinet, ynghyd a amlygu fod 
Gwynedd yn arwain o ran y Gymraeg.  
 
Sylwadau’n codi o’r drafodaeth 

  Llongyfarchwyd yr adran am arwain Cymru o ran cynlluniau y Gymraeg. 
Amlygwyd o ran y canolfannau iaith fod angen i siroedd eraill ddilyn 
Cyngor Gwynedd, gan mai plant yw dyfodol y Gymraeg.  

 

Tud. 6



Y CABINET Dydd Mawrth, 8 Mawrth 2022 

 
 
9.   ADRODDIAD PERFFORMIAD YR AELOD CABINET DROS YR ADRAN TAI 

AC EIDDO 
 

 Cyflwynwyd yr adroddiad gan Cyng. Dyfrig Siencyn.      
 
PENDERFYNIAD 
 
Derbyniwyd a nodwyd y wybodaeth yn yr adroddiad.  
 
TRAFODAETH 
 
Cyflwynwyd yr adroddiad gan nodi fod yr adroddiad yn cyflwyno beth mae’r 
adran wedi bod yn ei wneud dros y misoedd diwethaf. Eglurwyd fod yr 
Aelod Cabinet yn nodi ei fod yn fodlon gyda’r cynnydd yn y prosiectau mae’r 
adran yn arwain atynt.  
 
Eglurwyd fod yr adroddiad yn canolbwyntio ar y cynlluniau sydd i’w gweld 
fel blaenoriaethau gwella o fewn Cynllun y Cyngor a tynnwyd sylw at 
amrywiol gynlluniau. O ran y cynllun Diffyg Cartrefi Addas Gwynedd 
mynegwyd fod y gwaith hwn yn cael ei wneud drwy’r Cynllun Gweithredu 
Tai.  
 
Amlygwyd fod nifer digartref wedi cynyddu dros 51% ers cyn y pandemig ac 
fod 700 yn ddigartref ar hyn o bryd. Mynegwyd fod y galw ar y gwasanaeth 
yn parhau yn gyson uchel. Nodwyd fod yr adran wedi gallu cynyddu capasiti 
y tîm ynghyd a cynyddu capasiti y tîm ataliol yno gystal. Ychwanegwyd fod 
nifer yr unedau digartref wedi codi dros y flwyddyn ac eglurwyd yn dilyn i 
gynlluniau gael eu cwblhau dros y misoedd nesaf bydd 38 uned i’w gweld ar 
draws y sir.  
 
Nodwyd o ran y cynllun Prynu Tai a Tiroedd fod cynllun yn ei le i brynu 15 tŷ 
dros y misoedd nesaf ynghyd a thiroedd mewn amrywiol leoliadau er mwyn 
datblygu. Eglurwyd o weithredu’r cynllun dros y chwe mlynedd nesaf bydd 
gan y Cyngor dros 100 o dai. Mynegwyd fod cynllun cymorth i brynu wedi ei 
amlygu a nodwyd fod 12 o deuluoedd yn cael ei cynorthwyo ar hyn o bryd.  
 
Ategwyd fod yr adran wedi dyrannu  142 o grantiau dros y flwyddyn 
diwethaf, ynghyd a denu £3miliwn tuag ar gynlluniau tai gwag. Mynegwyd 
fod 40 o geisiadau ar hyn o bryd ar gyfer y Cynllun i Brynwyr Cyntaf. 
Amlygwyd y prif risgiau sydd gan yr adran yn benodol sgil effeithiau y 
pandemig a brexit ar gyflawni prosiectau o fewn amser ac o fewn cyllideb. 
Mynegwyd yno gystal fod sgil effeithiau newid hinsawdd yn parhau yn risg o 
fewn yr adran.    
 

 
Dechreuodd y cyfarfod am 1pm a daeth i ben am 2pm 

 
 

CADEIRYDD 

Tud. 7



1 
$imdiqere.docx 

 

ADRODDIAD I’R CABINET 

 

Dyddiad y Cyfarfod: 29 Mawrth 2022 

Aelod Cabinet: Cyng. Nia Jeffreys, Aelod Cabinet Cefnogaeth Gorfforaethol 

Swyddog Cyfrifol: Iwan Evans, Pennaeth Gwasanaethau Cyfreithiol. 

Awdur Siôn Huws, Rheolwr Priodoldeb ac Etholiadau 

Teitl yr Eitem: Penodi Uwch Grwner Ardal Gogledd Orllewin Cymru 

 

Argymhelliad ar gyfer y Penderfyniad : 

(a) Dirprwyo’r hawl i’r Pennaeth Gwasanaethau Cyfreithiol i baratoi 
manylion swydd a phersonol ynghyd a threfn benodi ar gyfer 
swydd Uwch Grwner a threfnu i hysbysebu 
 

(b) Sefydlu Panel  yn cynnwys y Prif Weithredwr, Pennaeth 
Gwasanaethau Cyfreithiol a Phennaeth Adran i’w ddynodi gan y 
Prif Weithredwr er  mwyn  tynnu rhestr fer a chyfweld ymgeiswyr, 
ac i benodi Uwch Grwneriaid yn ôl yr angen 

 

Rheswm dros yr angen am y Penderfyniad : 

1. Ymddeolodd Dewi Pritchard Jones y cyn Uwch Grwner ym mis Tachwedd 2020. 
Penodwyd Kate Sutherland, y Crwner Cynorthwyol ar y pryd, fel Uwch Grwner 
gweithredol tra’n  ystyried priodoldeb uno ardal Crwner Gogledd Orllewin Cymru 
gydag ardaloedd eraill. Rydym bellach mewn sefyllfa i fwrw ymlaen i benodi Uwch 
Grwner parhaol.  Gallai’r angen godi yn y dyfodol i benodi Uwch Grwner arall.  
Mae angen sicrhau fod y trefniadau dirprwyedig ar gyfer y broses yn cael eu 
sefydlu ac yn eglur. 
 
Rhesymeg a chyfiawnhad dros gyrraedd y Penderfyniad  
 
 
2. Mae Cymru a Lloegr wedi eu rhannu yn ardaloedd crwnerol, ac mewn pob ardal 
o’r fath, ceir Uwch Grwner ac o leiaf un Crwner Cynorthwyol. Awdurdodau lleol 
sy’n ariannu’r gwasanaethau unigol, a gan fod Ardal Crwner Gogledd Orllewin 
Cymru yn cynnwys Gwynedd a Môn, ariannir y gwasanaeth ar y cyd gyda Chyngor 
Ynys Môn. Serch hynny, Cyngor Gwynedd yw’r awdurdod perthnasol ar gyfer yr 
ardal, sy’n golygu bod dyletswydd statudol arnom i gwrdd â’r costau sy’n 
gysylltiedig â rhedeg y gwasanaeth.  Yr awdurdod perthnasol sydd hefyd yn gyfrifol 
am benodi  Uwch Grwner a Chrwneriaid Cynorthwyol  i’r ardal, er na fyddant yn 
gyflogedig i’r awdurdod ond yn hytrach yn ddeiliaid swyddi barnwrol annibynnol. 
 

Tud. 8

Eitem 6



2 
$imdiqere.docx 

3. Pennir y drefn benodi gan Ddeddf Crwneriaid a Chyfiawnder 2009, a gan 
Ganllawiau’r Prif Grwner. Bydd rhaid i bob penodiad gael ei gymeradwyo gan y Prif 
Grwner a’r Arglwydd Ganghellor, a bydd angen hefyd i’r Prif Grwner gymeradwyo’r 
broses benodi sydd i’w dilyn, a’r rhestr fer a dynnir ar gyfer cynnal cyfweliadau. 
 
4. Mae’r Prif Grwner wedi cyhoeddi canllawiau ar benodi crwneriaid (Nodyn 
Canllaw 6 y Prif Grwner - Penodi Crwneriaid). Mae’n  nodi ynddynt fod rhaid rhoi 
ystyriaeth i uno ardal  gydag un neu fwy o ardaloedd crwner arall cyn mynd ati 
benodi Uwch Grwner parhaol newydd.  
 
5. Bellach rydym wedi derbyn ymateb gan y Prif Grwner ar y sefyllfa adolygu . Mae 
hyn yn deillio o drafodaethau sydd wedi eu cynnal gydag Adran Llysoedd a 
Thribiwnlysoedd  Llywodraeth y DU a  Chynghorau Gwynedd a Dinbych (sef yr 
awdurdod perthnasol ar gyfer Ardal Gogledd Cymru (Dwyrain a Chanolog). Yn 
deillio o’r trafodaethau yma cafwyd penderfyniad gan y Prif Grwner na fyddai yn 
chwilio am uno'r ardaloedd Crwner yma ac y dylem felly benodi Uwch Grwner 
parhaol ar gyfer Ardal Gogledd Orllewin Cymru. 
 
6. Mae angen felly i’r yr awdurdod ffurfio panel i dynnu rhestr fer, i gynnal y 
cyfweliadau ac i benderfynu ar bwy i’w benodi/phenodi.  Mater i’r awdurdod yw 
cyfansoddiad y panel ond gall y Prif Grwner neu gynrychiolydd fynychu’r 
cyfweliadau a bydd yn gwneud hynny fel arfer yn achos penodi Uwch Grwner. 
 
7. Bydd y Panel yn cael ei gynghori gan y Rheolwr Priodoldeb ac Etholiadau a 
chynrychiolydd y Prif Grwner 
 
8. Ar ôl i’r Panel ddod i’w benderfyniad, rhaid anfon adroddiad at y Prif Grwner (os 
nad oedd yn bresennol yn y cyfweliadau) yn disgrifio’r broses a ddilynwyd a’r 
rhesymau dros gynnig yr ymgeisydd / ymgeiswyr llwyddiannus.  Bydd rhaid hefyd 
gofyn am gymeradwyaeth yr Arglwydd Ganghellor. 

 

 Barn Cyngor Sir Ynys Môn 

9. Os yw’r Ardal Crwner yn cynnwys mwy nag un awdurdod yna rhaid i’r 
awdurdod perthnasol ymgynghori gyda’r awdurdod arall cyn penodi Uwch 
Grwner.  Byddwn felly yn cynnwys Cyngor Sir Ynys Môn yn y broses fel sy’n 
briodol. 

 
 

 

Unrhyw ymgynghoriadau a gynhaliwyd cyn gwneud y Penderfyniad : 

 
Prif Swyddog Cyllid – Dim i’w ychwanegu o safbwynt priodoldeb ariannol 

 

Swyddog Monitro – Adroddiad wedi ei baratoi gan y Gwasanaethau Cyfreithiol.  

 

Tud. 9



ADRODDIAD I GABINET Y CYNGOR 
 

 
 

1 Y PENDERFYNIAD A GEISIR 

1.1 Gofynnir i’r Cabinet dderbyn y strategaeth ‘Dim Drws Anghywir’ fel y cyfeiriad strategol ar 

gyfer datblygiadau ar gyfer y dyfodol ym maes plant a phobl ifanc ynghyd â chefnogaeth 

i’w weithredu yn lleol yng Ngwynedd fel rhan o gynllun rhanbarthol ehangach. 

1.2 Mae yn cyd-fynd gydag egwyddorion Ffordd Gwynedd ac yn gorwedd o fewn ein 

trefniadau ar gyfer datblygu'r ffordd y mae’r gwasanaeth yn cryfhau’r trefniadau drws 

ffrynt, y mynediad at wasanaethau, a’r agwedd o gynnig ymyraethau cynnar ac arbedol i 

osgoi problemau waethygu. Bydd yn cryfhau ein gallu i ymestyn ein gwasanaethau yn 

rhai mwy integredig gyda’n partneriaid. 

 
2 CEFNDIR 

2.1 Bydd aelodau eisoes yn ymwybodol o adroddiad y Comisiynydd Plant Cymru ym Mehefin 

2020 a danlinellodd yr angen i drawsnewid y ffordd y mae gwasanaethau yn gweithio 

gyda’i gilydd i gefnogi plant a phobl ifanc sydd angen cefnogaeth, waeth beth fo lefel yr 

anghenion, ond lle maent yn dioddef trallod emosiynol a/neu broblemau ymddygiad. Yr 

oedd yn tanlinellu fod prosesau a sustemau yn llawer rhy gymhleth ac o’r herwydd roedd 

tystiolaeth o blant a phobl ifanc yn syrthio rhwng stolion gwahanol, yn aros ar restrau aros 

am gyfnodau hirfaith ac yna yn cael gwybod eu bod ar y rhestr anghywir neu’n cnocio’r 

drws anghywir. Mae’r strategaeth ranbarthol hon yn cynnig datrysiad i wella 

gwasanaethau i’r plant a’r bobl ifanc rheiny drwy sicrhau fod gwasanaethau yn creu timau 

o amgylch y teulu i gyfarfod eu hanghenion yn hytrach na disgwyl i deuluoedd ffitio i’r hyn 

sydd ar gael. Mae yn bleser cyflwyno crynodeb o’r strategaeth newydd yma gerbron y 

Cabinet heddiw.   

 
2.2 Er mwyn gwneud gwelliannau o fewn y maes, mae yn hanfodol gwneud hynny ar 

y cyd gyda’n partneriaid allweddol, megis y Bwrdd Iechyd a’r sector addysg. Mae’r 

strategaeth yn adnabod cyfleoedd ar gyfer datblygu gwasanaethau yn y dyfodol 

drwy ddysgu o fodelau arfer dda o Gymru ac yn ehangach na hynny. 

 

2.3 Datblygwyd y strategaeth yn dilyn adolygiad o’r sefyllfa gyfredol yng Ngogledd Cymru gan 

gwmni allanol a gomisiynwyd gan Benaethiaid Plant y chwe awdurdod ac arweinwyr 

iechyd dros gyfnod o bum mis yn ystod Haf 2021. Cwblhawyd y gwaith drwy ddefnyddio 

methodoleg Ymchwiliad Gwerthfawrogol sydd yn canolbwyntio ar gryfderau ac yn edrych 

i ddarganfod beth sydd yn gweithio yn dda yn y sustem gyfredol; yn gweithio i ddatblygu 

gweledigaeth ar y cyd ar gyfer y dyfodol; llunio model ymarfer ar gyfer y dyfodol a datblygu 

cynllun gweithredu. 

 

Dyddiad y cyfarfod: 29 Mawrth 2022 

Aelod Cabinet: Y Cynghorydd Dilwyn Morgan 

 

Swyddog Cyswllt: Marian Parry Hughes, Pennaeth Gwasanaeth Plant a 
Chefnogi Teuluoedd 

E-bost Cyswllt: marianhughes@gwynedd.llyw.cymru 

Teitl yr Eitem: Strategaeth ‘Dim Drws Anghywir’ (No Wrong Door) 

Tud. 10

Eitem 7



2.4 Gwnaed hyn drwy amryw o wahanol ddulliau gan gynnwys gweithio gyda rheolwyr 

gweithredol ar draws y rhanbarth; ymchwilio i arfer da yng Nghymru a thu hwnt; cynnal 

cyfres o weithdai aml asiantaethol ar draws y rhanbarth, cynnal sesiynau cyfranogi gyda 

phlant a phobl ifanc oedd wedi cael cyswllt gyda un neu fwy o asiantaethau, ac yna 

datblygu’r strategaeth drwy ddull byw gan ddefnyddio adborth gan uwch reolwyr ar y 

cynnwys. Nid oedd yn bosibl i gynnwys cynrychiolwyr o ysgolion yn y gweithdai oherwydd 

y pwysau gwaith ar adrannau addysg dros y cyfnod, ond gan eu bod yn bartner creiddiol 

i lwyddiant y gwaith yr ydym yn lleol wedi cynnal sgyrsiau gyda’n cydweithwyr yn yr adran 

addysg er mwyn sicrhau eu bod yn rhan allweddol o’r datblygiad ar gyfer y dyfodol yn 

lleol. 

 

2.5 Mae’r strategaeth derfynol yn cynnig adolygiad a newid radical yn y trefniadau 

cyfredol ac yn cynnig model uchelgeisiol o gydweithio gyda’r nod o wella 

canlyniadau iechyd meddwl a llesiant plant a phobl ifanc hyd at 25 oed. Mae yn 

adeiladu ar gryfderau’r sustem gyfredol ac yn cael ei llunio er mwyn ateb gofynion 

lleol. 

 

2.6 Oherwydd fod y strategaeth yn adnabod fod iechyd meddwl a llesiant plant a phobl ifanc 

angen cael ei gefnogi oddi mewn i fframwaith gymhleth o wasanaethau ac ymyrraethau 

niferus, mae gan y strategaeth oblygiadau ar gyfer pob asiantaeth a phartner sydd yn 

cyfrannu tuag at ganlyniadau iechyd a llesiant plant a phobl ifanc er mwyn eu cefnogi i 

fyw eu bywydau gorau. Bydd angen i bob asiantaeth ddadansoddi eu sustemau, eu 

strategaethau a’u polisïau i gyd-fynd a’r strategaeth hon. 

 

2.7 Y bwriad oedd i ddatblygu strategaeth oedd yn hwyluso’r awdurdodau lleol, y Bwrdd 

Iechyd a’u partneriaid i gefnogi gwydnwch emosiynol ac iechyd meddwl plant a phobl ifanc 

ar draws y rhanbarth. Adnabuwyd fod y rhai sydd yn gweithio yn y rhanbarth yn gweithio 

yn galed, yn ymrwymedig i ddarparu gwasanaeth da, ond fod y gweithlu yn ei gyfanrwydd 

yn ei chael yn anodd ymdopi gyda chynnydd sylweddol yn y galw am wasanaeth. Fel y 

mae pwysau yn cynyddu yn y sustem ac adnoddau yn crebachu oherwydd hynny, yna 

mae tensiynau yn dod i’r amlwg. Roedd y staff a gymerodd ran yn yr adolygiad yn dymuno 

gweld arweinwyr yn y maes yn ymrwymo i strategaeth radical sydd yn cynnig cyfleoedd i 

ddatblygu gwasanaethau effeithiol sydd yn sicrhau canlyniadau gwell i blant a phobl ifanc 

yn unol â gweledigaethau cenedlaethol ac amcanion polisi. 

 

2.8 Yn ei hanfod nid yw’r cynllun yn cynnig datrusiad tymor byr na hawdd i broblemau 

cymhleth sydd wedi bodoli ers cyfnod estynedig, ond mae yn cynnig cynllun ar 

gyfer newid er mwyn ceisio ymateb i’r weledigaeth sydd yn bodoli o fewn y 

gwasanaethau eisoes, ond yn anodd ei chyrraedd oherwydd rhwystrau niferus.  

 

2.9 Mae yn amlwg y bydd angen newid diwylliant sylweddol gan bartneriaid er mwyn cael 

gwasanaethau sydd yn llawer mwy integredig nag y maent ar y funud. Bydd angen 

cyrraedd hyn drwy sustemau a phrosesau hawdd, strwythurau a threfn llywodraethu glir 

ac yn anad dim y dymuniad a’r bwriad i roi’r plentyn neu’r person ifanc yng nghanol popeth 

y byddwn yn ei wneud. 

 
3 RHESYMEG A CHYFIAWNHAD DROS ARGYMELL Y PENDERFYNIAD 

 
3.1 Mae’r strategaeth yn tanlinellu pwysigrwydd rheoli’r gofyn am wasanaethau drwy 

ddefnydd cynyddol o wasanaethau ymyrraeth gynnar ac arbedol. Nodir yn y strategaeth 

na all buddsoddiad yn y gwasanaethau yma fod ar draul lleihau capasiti mewn rhannau 

Tud. 11



eraill o’r sustem. Mae’r galw yn cynnyddu ar draws yr holl sustem ac mae’r strategaeth yn 

nodi y bydd angen cynllunio buddsoddiad drwy ddod o hyd i falans priodol fydd yn ymateb 

i bwysau cyfredol yn ogystal â rheoli’r galw i’r dyfodol. 

 

3.2 Gyrrwyd yr achos am newid gan dri prif ffactor, sef, yn gyntaf, adborth gan blant, 

pobl ifanc a theuluoedd oedd yn dweud fod rhwystrau niferus yn eu ffordd er mwyn 

cael mynediad i wasanaethau gyda rhestrau aros hir yn bodoli. Roeddent yn nodi 

fod eu profiadau o’r gwasanaethau a’u canlyniadau yn wael a bod hyn yn ei dro 

yn cael effaith negyddol ar gyfleoedd bywyd yn y tymor byr yn ogystal ag ar draws 

eu bywydau yn y tymor hir. Yn ail, adborth gan bobl broffesiynol oedd yn adnabod 

problemau recriwtio a chadw staff oherwydd pwysau cynyddol ar y galw am 

wasanaeth; rhestrau aros hir a’r angen i oresgyn sawl rhwystr er mwyn darparu 

gwasanaeth i deuluoedd. Ac yn olaf, bodolaeth achos busnes economaidd gref i 

newid gan fod buddsoddi yn gynnar i gefnogi iechyd meddwl a llesiant plant a 

phobl ifanc, nid yn unig yn mynd i wella eu bywydau, ond yn mynd i fod yn fwy cost 

effeithiol i’r pwrs cyhoeddus yn y tymor byr ac ar draws cwrs bywyd unigolion yn 

ei gyfanrwydd. 

 

4 Y CYNLLUN 

 

4.1 Mae datganiad gweledigaeth wedi ei datblygu ar gyfer y strategaeth a ddatblygwyd o’r prif 

themâu a amlygwyd yn ystod y gweithdai gyda phobl broffesiynol yn ogystal â thrwy’r 

ymgynghoriad gyda phlant a phobl ifanc. Y weledigaeth honno yw: ‘Rydym eisiau i blant 

a phobl ifanc yng Ngogledd Cymru fwynhau’r iechyd meddwl a’r llesiant gorau. Gwnawn 

hyn drwy sicrhau fod mynediad i’r asiantaethau sydd yn eu cefnogi yn hawdd, fod yr 

asiantaethau yn gweithio gyda’i gilydd yn effeithiol, yn anelu i gyrraedd canlyniadau mewn 

ffordd amserol yn seiliedig ar ddewis plant, pobl ifanc a’u teuluoedd’ 

 
4.2 Cytunwyd ar gyfres o egwyddorion a ddatblygwyd drwy’r cydweithio rhanbarthol. 

Gellir eu gweld yn eu cyfanrwydd yn y strategaeth ei hun, ond maent yn cynnwys 

datganiadau megis: ‘Bydd plant a phobl ifanc yn cael eu gwerthfawrogi am yr hyn 

ydynt’; ‘Byddwn yn gwrando ar blant, pobl ifanc a’u teuluoedd er mwyn deall eu 

byd a’u profiadau. Bydd eu barn yn ein helpu i siapio a gwerthuso ein 

gwasanaethau’; ‘Bydd gwell cefnogaeth i iechyd meddwl mewn ysgolion’ a 

‘Byddwn yn ei gwneud yn hawdd i blant, pobl ifanc a’u teuluoedd i ddod o hyd i 

wybodaeth am iechyd meddwl, ac os bydd angen, i ddod o hyd i gymorth fydd yn 

hygyrch ac yn defnyddio trefniadau hwylus a syml’. 

 

4.3 Mae’r model gwasanaeth sydd wedi ei ddatblygu i weithredu’r strategaeth ‘Dim Drws 

Anghywir’  wedi ei lunio i fod yn hyblyg ac yn ymatebol i wahanol lefelau o angen, gyda 

phob lefel yn darparu cymorth a chefnogaeth fydd yn gymesur i’r angen gyda’r ffocws ar 

gynnig ymyrraeth gynnar er mwyn ceisio arbed problemau  waethygu. Mae’r model yma 

yn mynd i gymryd lle modelau sydd yn seiliedig ar ddiagnosis a hierarchaeth o ran meini 

prawf mynediad. 

 

4.4 Y nod yw cael y cymorth cywir i’r plentyn/person ifanc cyn gynted â phosibl. Mae arfer 

dda yn dangos fod modd cyflawni hyn drwy broses sydd yn cael ei nodweddu gan 

gydweithio da, rhannu gwybodaeth a phartneriaethau aeddfed. Mae’r strategaeth yn 

cynnig gwasanaethau aml disgyblaethol fydd yn gweithredu fel petai yn un asiantaeth. 

Golyga hyn gryn newid mewn diwylliant ac awydd i wneud i bethau lwyddo ynghŷd â 

Tud. 12



sustemau, prosesau a threfniadau ariannu newydd gan gynnwys hyblygrwydd rhwng 

gwasanaethau plant ac oedolion ar draws pob partner. 

 

4.5 Bydd angen i’r model ymateb yn sydyn i broblemau iechyd meddwl a llesiant plant a phobl 

ifanc yn y gymuned er mwyn dod o hyd i ddatrysiad cynnar heb orfod cael mynediad i 

wasanaethau mwy ffurfiol. Golyga hyn fod gan wasanaethau cyffredinol ac ysgolion ran 

allweddol yn adnabod anghenion yn gynnar yn ogystal â datblygu arfer dda i gefnogi'r rhai 

sydd yn dioddef, gan gynnwys gwybod sut i roi cymorth cyntaf ar gyfer problemau iechyd 

meddwl a llesiant. Mae hyfforddiant felly yn allweddol ar gyfer yr asiantaethau yma er 

mwyn lleihau’r galw ar wasanaethau statudol a ffurfiol. 

 

4.6 Mae’r strategaeth yn cyfeirio at weithredu ar sail model tîm o amgylch y teulu ac mewn 

hybiau fydd yn gweithredu fel un drws ffrynt ar gyfer mynediad at y gwasanaeth cywir yn 

amserol. Bydd hyn yn digwydd drwy dderbyn ymholiadau, arwyddbostio i wasanaethau 

eraill neu i wybodaeth; asesu anghenion, cefnogi teuluoedd a darparu ymateb brys i 

unrhyw sefyllfa ar unrhyw amser yn yr ymyrraeth. Yn ddelfrydol bydd yr hybiau yn 

cynnwys gweithwyr o wahanol asiantaethau a disgyblaethau ac yn gweithredu oddi mewn 

i fframweithiau llywodraethu cytunedig. 

 

4.7 Bydd atebolrwydd strategol yn bodoli drwy Fwrdd Partneriaeth Ranbarthol Gogledd 

Cymru ar gyfer gosod y cyd-destun polisi a dal y lefelau gweithredol yn atebol am eu 

perfformiad a’u defnydd o adnoddau. 

 
5 CAMAU NESAF 

 
5.1 Yr ydym yn hyderus yn y gwasanaeth fod gennym yr adeiladwaith a’r sylfaen briodol i 

ddatblygu’r gwasanaeth i gyfarfod y disgwyliadau. Yr ydym eisoes yn gweithredu un drws 

ffrynt sydd yn cyfuno gwasanaethau statudol, ymyrraeth gynnar a chefnogi teuluoedd 

drwy ddefnyddio model tîm o amgylch y teulu. Yr ydym wedi sefydlu ‘Hwb Teulu Gwynedd’ 

er mwyn gwneud hyn yn y gwasanaeth ers sawl blwyddyn bellach gyda threfniadau 

atebolrwydd a llywodraethu clir. Yr ydym yn defnyddio model tîm o amgylch y teulu ar 

draws y gwasanaeth gyda modelau ymarfer ac asesu risg cydnabyddedig. Felly, rydym 

yn credu ein bod yn cychwyn o safle manteisiol. 

 
5.2 Mae angen gweithio ymhellach i ddatblygu gwasanaethau mwy integredig fydd yn 

cynnwys ein partneriaid yn ein trefniadau. Golyga hyn bydd angen symud 

adnoddau o lefydd fel y Bwrdd Iechyd i’r hwb yn lleol er mwy cryfhau ein gallu i roi 

ymyrraeth yn gynnar i blant a phobl ifanc. 

 

5.3 Mae angen cydweithio ymhellach gyda’r Adran Addysg ac ysgolion yn benodol er 

mwyn datblygu arbenigedd a hyder yn yr ysgolion i gefnogi plant a phobl ifanc 

drwy gyfnodau anodd. Mae’r drafodaeth honno eisoes ar y gweill gyda’n 

cydweithwyr yn y maes addysg. 

 

5.4 Yr ydym yn realistig na fydd hyn yn digwydd dros nos. Mae angen agwedd uchelgeisiol 

er mwyn cyrraedd a gwireddu datrysiadau lleol o fewn cyd-destun egwyddorion 

rhanbarthol cryf i gyfarfod a’r angen yn lleol. Mae’r strategaeth ei hun yn cyfannu cynllun 

gweithredu dros 5 mlynedd. Bydd angen ymrwymiad corfforaethol ac ymrwymiad 

adnoddau gan bob partner; rheolaeth rhaglen gref ac ar adegau cefnogaeth arbenigol 

allanol i gefnogi’r broses trawsnewid. 

Tud. 13



 

5.5 Ni fydd datblygu’r cynllun yn gost niwtral ac mae’n anodd rhagweld ar hyn o bryd 

beth fydd yr oblygiadau o ran adnodd ariannol i gyfarfod a’r disgwyliadau ac i 

wireddu’r cynllun. Yn sicr bydd modd edrych ar ddefnyddio cyfran o’r arian 

trawsffurfio a’r RIF (ICF yn flaenorol) i osod cyfeiriad a datblygu ymhellach. 

 

 

 

6 CYDRADDOLDEB 

 

6.1 Mae Deddf Cydraddoldeb 2010 yn gosod dyletswyddau clir ar gyrff y sector cyhoeddus i 

atal gwahaniaethu a hyrwyddo cydraddoldeb i bobl â Nodweddion Gwarchodedig 

penodol. Y rhain yw - oedran, anabledd, ailbennu rhywedd, hil, crefydd neu gredo, rhyw, 

cyfeiriadedd rhywiol, priodas a phartneriaeth sifil, beichiogrwydd a mamolaeth. Mae 

dyletswyddau penodol yn ymwneud â darparu addasiadau rhesymol ar gyfer pobl i’w 

helpu i gael gafael ar y gwasanaethau sydd eu hangen arnynt. 

 
7. BARN Y SWYDDOGION STATUDOL 

 

Y Swyddog Monitro 
 

Dim sylwadau i’w hychwanegu o safbwytn priodoldeb. 

 

 

Swyddog Cyllid Statudol  

 

Mae datblygiad y Strategaeth hon yn amlwg yn ganlyniad i waith trylwyr i adnabod galw 

ar ein gwasanaeth, a hynny gan rai o drigolion mwyaf bregus Gwynedd.  Yn ychwanegol 

i hynny, rwyf yn argyhoeddedig byddai mabwysiadu’r Strategaeth yn gam mawr ymlaen 

yng nghyd-destun gwreiddio egwyddorion Deddf Llesiant Cenedlaethau’r Dyfodol yn y 

gwasanaethau a ddarperir, ac rwyf yn croesawu hynny. 

 
Fodd bynnag, mae paragraff 5.5 yn nodi na fydd datblygu’r cynllun yn gost niwtral, a’i fod 

yn anodd rhagweld ar hyn o bryd beth fydd yr oblygiadau o ran adnodd ariannol i gyfarfod 

a’r disgwyliadau ac i wireddu’r cynllun.  Petai’r Cabinet yn mabwysiadu’r strategaeth ‘Dim 

Drws Anghywir’ fel y cyfeiriad strategol yn unol â’r penderfyniad a geisir, byddai’r 

penderfyniad hwnnw yn amodol ar ariannu’r swyddogaeth o fewn yr adnoddau sydd 

eisoes ar gael hyd nes bydd arian grant wedi cael ei gadarnhau, neu gais am adnoddau 

newydd wedi cael ei gyflwyno a’i gymeradwyo yn unol â’r drefn briodol arferol.  Ni ddylai 

mabwysiadu unrhyw strategaeth greu ymrwymiad gwariant tan mae’r costau ychwanegol 

wedi cael eu hadnabod a’u hariannu. 

 

Nodaf o’r strategaeth ddrafft bydd y gwaith o ddatblygu cynllun ariannol yn digwydd yn 

ystod 2022.  Mae’n allweddol, er mwyn sicrhau fod y cynllun yn cael ei sefydlu ar sylfaen 

gadarn yn ogystal â sicrhau gweinyddiad ariannol priodol, fod unrhyw gostau ychwanegol 

ar Gyngor Gwynedd, yn ogystal â’r ffynonellau ariannu, yn cael eu hadnabod mor fuan â 

phosib. 

 

Tud. 14



Tud. 15



2 

1. Purpose of the Report 
This paper provides an executive summary of the North Wales ‘No Wrong Door’ strategy for 

endorsement and approval. 

2. Recommendations  
! To note and approve the main points of the strategy 

! To agree next steps as set out in this report 

3. Situation  
This executive summary is being provided today as the full support and agreement of the 

proposed regional strategy of the Leadership Group is required to enable progress towards 

completion of the strategy, approval of the full document and implementation plan. 

The draft strategy (described below) has been circulated to the Partnership Children's 

Services Group and Regional Children’s Services Service Managers. This is a substantial 

document in excess of 26,000 words and 90 pages in length, which reflects the complexity 

and breadth of the work undertaken. Comprehensive comments received from partner 

agency staff are now being incorporated into a revised document. 

Most preparative work for the strategy is complete, apart from engagement with schools 

and education services. Due to the pressures during the period of preparation it was not 

possible for representative staff from schools to attend the workshops or otherwise 

participate in the process. Because education are an important support to children and 

young people’s mental health and an education perspective is essential to the strategy, a 

further engagement process is required.   

There is an economic case and quality benefits, borne out by research, for adoption of this 

strategy, which aims to improve the cost effectiveness of services. The strategy cannot, at 

this point, offer a full financial impact analysis. This is a necessary part of the 

implementation process and will require modelling based on data that is not currently 

available, and requires collection and analysis.  

4. Introduction 
The North Wales ‘No Wrong Door’ strategy was developed through a collaborative process 

using Appreciative Inquiry methods. These are strengths-based and seek to: discover what is 

working well in the current system; develop a joint vision for the future; design a future 

delivery model; propose and implementation plan. 

The process took place over a period of 5 months and consisted of: 

! Work with the regional team and Children’s Services Managers to clarify the scope of 

the project and work collaboratively to initiate the work programme 

! Quantitative data research 

! An examination of national and international good practice relating to integrated 

children and young people’s mental health and well-being services 

! A series of workshops with professionals from partner agencies across the region 

! Engagement with children and young people who have had contact with relevant 

services 

! Iterative drafting of a strategy document and revision based on feedback form senior 

managers 

Tud. 16



3 

The completed strategy proposes a radical revision of existing arrangements that offers an 

ambitious model for working together that will improving mental health and well-being 

outcomes for children and young people aged up to 25 years old. It builds on the strengths 

of the current system and is specifically designed for the local context. 

The strategy recognises that children and young people’s mental health and well-being is 

supported by multiple inputs delivered by a complex network of services and interventions, 

both formal and informal. This strategy has implications for all agencies and partners that 

contribute to the health and well-being outcomes of children and young people, enabling 

them to live their best possible lives. It will require each agency to interpret and align their 

own strategies and plans to this ‘No Wrong Door’ strategy. 

The strategy proposes a regional approach based on a shared vision and an agreed set of 

common principles that will apply across the whole of North Wales. It however recognises 

that there are significant differences across the region reflecting culture, language, 

population density, economic factors, amongst other things.  The strategy therefore 

proposes a regional framework consisting of a set of principles and a model that can be 

tailored to local circumstances. The RPB will ensure that there is local accountability for 

compliance with the principles and system performance. We refer to this approach as Tight 

– Loose – Tight: Tight adherence to the principles and outline service model – Loose 

(flexible) implementation of the service model – Tight accountability and monitoring of 

performance against the strategy. 

5. Agreed Vision for the Future 

This vision statement was developed from the key themes identified during the 

professionals’ workshops and consultation with children and young people. 

6. Principles 

The strategy is based on the following principles, again derived from the collaborative 

development process. 

1. Children and young people will be valued for themselves, and their worth 

appreciated. 

2. We will listen to children, young people, and their families to understand their world 

and experiences. Their opinions will help us to shape and evaluate our services.  

We want the children and young people of North Wales to enjoy 

their best mental health and well-being.

We will do this by ensuring the organisations that support them 

are easily accessed, work effectively together, and aim to deliver 

outcomes in a timely way, based on children and young people’s 

choices and those of their families.

Tud. 17



4 

3. We will reduce the numbers of children and young people requiring targeted 

support by investing in preventative measures. 

4. We will reduce the number of children of young people requiring more intensive 

support through timely, early intervention.  

5. We will make it easy for children and young people and their families to find 

information about mental health and, if required, to obtain help that is accessed 

using simple and convenient arrangements. 

6. There will be better support for mental health in schools. 

7. All the children and young people will have access to co-ordinated help from a range 

of professionals, when this would be in their best interests. 

8. All children and young people will have the opportunity to form a trusting 

relationship with appropriate professionals. They, and their families, will have the 

support of a co-ordinator who will manage their case and help them to navigate the 

system.  

9. Intervention will be timely, avoiding long waits for services and will be based on 

needs not diagnosis. Services will be child-centred, evidence based and flexible to 

ensure that needs are met and provided in ways that are suitable and convenient, 

including on-line. 

10. The pathway will operate seamless across health and social services, education, 

community provisions and the criminal justice service.  

11. We will have effective governance of system resources and professional activity. 

7. Summary Model 

The new service model developed to implement the North Wales ‘No Wrong Door” strategy 

is designed to be flexible and responsive to different levels of need, with each level 

providing treatment and support tailored to, and proportionate to the need, with a focus on 

providing early help and preventing problems becoming more severe. This approach, in 

common with good practice models replaces a model of tiers based on diagnosis and a 

hierarchy of access criteria. 

The new system is for children aged up to 25 years and aims to get the right help to the child 

or young person as quickly as possible.  In a complex multi-agency network of services this is 

best achieved through a managed process characterised by good joint working, information 

sharing and mature partnerships. The strategy therefore offers a multi-disciplinary service 

model which operates as if it were a single agency. This demands a change in culture, new 

systems and processes and funding arrangements. Where necessary there will be flexibility 

between children’s and adult services. 

Tud. 18



5 

We recommend that the model is given a distinctive brand identity. This has been done to 

good effect in other service redevelopment projects. It will mark a new beginning of 

collaborative working between the partners, make it more attractive to children, young 

people, and their families and facilitate the change in culture necessary for its success. 

Ideally Children and Young People will be involved in naming the brand. 

The model  is for children aged up to 25 years and is designed to respond quickly to mental 

health problems and find early resolution in the community where the child or young 

person, lives ideally without the formal involvement of mental health services. Universal 

services (accessible to all in the community) and schools therefore have an important role in 

early identification and support of people with mental ill-health, including mental health 

first aid. Training and support to these services is therefore essential to reducing the 

demand for formal mental health services. 

The proposed formal mental health system is designed to respond to 4 different levels of 

need: 

Low Needs - These are experienced by children who have had a mental concern and have 

made good overall progress through appropriate universal services. There are no additional, 

unmet needs or there is/has been a single need identified that can be/has been met by a 

universal service 

Additional Needs – Children in this category have needs that cannot be met by universal 

services and require additional, co-ordinated multi-agency support and early help. It also 

includes children whose current needs are unclear.  

Complex Needs - Children and young people with an increasing level of unmet needs and 

those who require more complex support and interventions and coordinated support to 

prevent concerns escalating.  

Acute/Specialist Needs, including Safeguarding - These occur when children have 

experienced significant harm, or who are at risk of significant harm and include children 

where there are significant welfare concerns. These children have the highest level of need 

and may require an urgent or very specialist intervention. 

Tud. 19



Tud. 20



7 

suitable resources to meet the child or young person’s needs in the most cost effective, 

timely and child-centred way.  It will have the authority to recommend flexibility in service 

access/eligibility and to adjudicate, where necessary. 

The Resources Panel provides operational level management and performance of the 

health, care and support system. It is part of a governance model consisting of three inter-

connected levels of activity.  

Service level governance has responsibility for service delivery. In the proposed “To Be” 

model this consists of two elements: the mental health hubs and all provider services (both 

directly managed and commissioned services) 

The Strategic Level of governance is responsible for setting strategy and policy, holding the 

operations level to account for performance and resource use and is itself being 

accountable to The North Wales Regional Partnership Board and the Boards of each partner 

organisation. 

9. The Case for Change 
Gareth’s story below is a compelling call to act to transform the current system. The 

economic and quality benefits case for change is based on research evidence, system 

performance measures and local intelligence. This is summarised in Figure 2. 

“From a young age I felt something was different about me and when I 

started school my Mum and teacher noticed I was struggling to learn 

and got upset about going to school. My GP referred me to the 

neurodevelopmental team for an assessment and I waited 2 years to be 

seen.  During the wait I was falling behind with schoolwork, feeling 

more upset and finding it hard to make friends at school.  I was 

eventually told I had borderline autism and due to the diagnosis being 

borderline I didn’t get any help at school I was in. It felt like nobody 

cared. I struggled through school, struggled to make friends and did not 

achieve any qualifications. When I was 17 I finally got a diagnosis of 

autism, but it was too late, I ended up homeless and felt a complete 

failure.  I know I could have done much better because I receive support 

now but it’s too late.”  

Tud. 21



Tud. 22



Tud. 23



10 

 “I think more should be done to help people like me to become 

independent in the world. I missed out on my education and feel that I have 

no opportunities and confidence………… There are many of us in this never 

ending cycle, it’s depressing.”

Children and young people told us they want to feel hopeful and particularly want to have 

services that are integrated, accessible and focus on prevention and early intervention. 

Feedback demonstrates that participants were pleased to see the range of concepts 

developed in the professional workshops.  Of the concepts presented to children young 

people and families and based on their experiences, the following three proposed 

developments received the most positive feedback: 

A Central Door - a single entry point to get help and access services.  This initiative received 

the most positive feedback with CYP feeling that this will support or eliminate issues 

surrounding waiting times, provide a faster route to receiving information online and better 

access to mental health support.  

“The ideas all seem good but having a central door is best idea” 

“I agree with the central door as they will have a good  

understanding.” 

“I think there will be less waiting time with central door” 

“One single point would be good as not being passed from one service to 

another.” 

“I agree with the central door although there needs to be 

 the right teachers to talk to so they understand your  

position.”

The Prevention Door - a shift in focus to prevention and early help - to prevent mental 

health difficulties occurring and offer help in the community at an early stage to stop mental 

health difficulties getting worse.  Participants and their families felt that education in the 

community would support improvement. Many shared how their first place to receive 

support is at home or amongst family and friends: 

“We don’t have to rely on services then” 

“When I most need help, I get it from my friends and family which is why 

this is my favourite.” 

“This seems like the best solution because we don’t always have to get 

annoyed for waiting” 

“The best idea as having one easy method is the most convenient for 

getting help 

Tud. 24



11 

The Supporting Door – being accessible – making it as easy as possible for you to get to the 

service or for the service to reach you. Participants felt that this initiative could offer 

support that they currently lack: 

“The supporting door is most important.“ 

“Schools really need to improve, its where we spend most of our time.” 

“Feeling supported is important which is why I like this one.” 

“Travel is always an issue for my mum so I think this will help.” 

“Integrate with schools: flexible hours for people who need them.” 

  2.  Feedback from professionals

Recruiting and retaining the workforce is a major issue across North Wales. Staff are under 

relentless pressure to maintain staffing levels, meet ever increasing demand, manage waiting 

lists and overcome multiple barriers to deliver services. Professionals have told us service 

delivery could be improved by organisations working together to deliver integrating services, 

making services more flexible, improving access, and really listening to and delivering what 

children and young people say they need. Professionals have told us they want to feel 

hopeful this time and want leaders to be brave, radical and deliver change at scale and pace. 

3. A Strong economic case 

Investing in the mental health and wellbeing of children and young people will not only make 

the lives of children young people and their families better, research evidence suggest it is 

also likely to be more cost effective in both the short and longer term across a whole lifetime. 

For example:  

Local implementation of Bradford‘s B Positive’ Pathways incorporated 2 

practice models (A “No Wrong Door” multi-agency, multidisciplinary team 

and “Mockingbird” family model). Among its aims were to reduce the 

number of looked-after children by a total of 75 and the number of out-of-

authority placements by 20 over a 2-year period. A total of 172 young 

people were reported to have stayed at home following BPP outreach 

support. The base programme cost was £2,578,080. A total saving of 

£8,614,368 was achieved over the 2-year period of the programme 

operation. £4,167,540 in foster care, £108,000 in adoption, £118,668 in 

other accommodation, £4,075,968 in local authority residential and 

£144,192 for those placed with a parent. 

10. Implementation 

Implementation of this radical and complex strategy will require a substantial and well-

resourced implementation programme to address the necessary culture change, 

development of an aligned/blended budget, structural changes, infrastructure requirements 

and development of the operating frameworks. The recommended ‘Tight – Loose -  Tight’ 

Tud. 25



12 

approach allows for local solutions to realisation of the strategies ambition and its 

principles. Some of the implementation programme will require a regional approach, as the 

change requirements will be common across all areas, whereas some will require local 

development of those aspects of the strategy that are ‘loose’. 

The full strategy document outlines a five-year implementation plan, with the main changes 

taking place in years 1 -3. It will require organisational commitment and commitment of 

resources by all partners, strong programme management and external specialist support to 

the transformation process. It proposes an overarching regional approach, supported by 

local implementation groups, which would include some staff seconded from operational 

roles to undertake the necessary development work. These released operational staff will 

require temporary replacement.  

Implementation should align with, and contribute to parallel change process, for example 

the Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board: Mental Health Maturity Matrix.

11. Next Steps 
! Endorsement of the main points of the strategy by the NWRPB at the November 

2021 meeting 

! Agreement by Leadership Group and NWRPB of the strategic direction and 

commitment to implementation, including full financial and performance data 

collection, analysis and modelling 

! Authorisation by Leadership Group of additional engagement with schools and 

education services 

! Finalisation of the strategy to include all comments so far received and results of 

engagement with schools/education 

! Approval of final strategy by Leadership Group and NWRPB 

! Implementation overseen by the newly established RPB Children’s Sub Group 

Tud. 26



 

1 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

North Wales Regional Partnership Board 
 

‘NO WRONG DOOR’ 
 

A Community-based Regional Strategy for Child and Adolescent Mental Health 
2022 -2027 

DRAFT 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
  

Tud. 27



 

2 
 

 
 

Table of Contents 

1 Introduction and strategic environment ......................................................................... 5 
1.1 Objective ......................................................................................................................................... 5 
1.2 Horizon ............................................................................................................................................ 5 

2 Policy Context ........................................................................................................................... 5 

3 Vision for the New Service..................................................................................................... 7 

4 Principles ................................................................................................................................... 7 

5 Scope ............................................................................................................................................ 9 

6 Mental Health and Wellbeing .............................................................................................. 9 

7 Age range ................................................................................................................................. 10 

8 Duration ................................................................................................................................... 10 

9 Strategic Context ................................................................................................................... 10 

10 The Population ................................................................................................................... 11 
10.1 C&YPO Mental Health Needs in North Wales ................................................................... 12 
10.2 Key facts BCUHB ......................................................................................................................... 13 
10.3 Key facts Looked After Children in North Wales  ........................................................... 14 
10.4 Projecting future mental health needs of children and young people in North 
Wales 14 
10.5 Digital Services   ......................................................................................................................... 14 
10.6 Workforce .................................................................................................................................... 15 
10.7 Finance .......................................................................................................................................... 15 

10.7.1 Health .................................................................................................................................................................... 15 
10.7.2 Local Government .......................................................................................................................................... 16 
10.7.3 Education ............................................................................................................................................................ 16 

10.8 COVID 19 ....................................................................................................................................... 16 
11 Case for Change ................................................................................................................. 18 

11.1 Children and their families want change .......................................................................... 18 
11.2 Professionals want change. Professionals have told us: ............................................. 18 
11.3 Research indications for change .......................................................................................... 18 
11.4 Economic case for change ....................................................................................................... 21 

12 UK and International Research Findings .................................................................. 24 
12.1 What we found ............................................................................................................................ 24 
12.2 Open Access Early Intervention Hubs ................................................................................ 25 
12.3 Accessible, visible, timely ....................................................................................................... 26 

Tud. 28



 

3 
 

12.4 Multi-agency panels .................................................................................................................. 27 
12.5 Needs-led approaches .............................................................................................................. 27 
12.6 Participation in care ................................................................................................................. 28 
12.7 Mobile Apps and Technologies ............................................................................................. 28 
12.8 Multi-agency Data ...................................................................................................................... 28 
12.9 Transition to Adult Services .................................................................................................. 29 

13 Children and young person’s engagement – Key Findings and Illustrative 
Stories ................................................................................................................................................ 30 

13.1 Introduction ................................................................................................................................ 30 
13.2 Stages of the Children and Young People’s Engagement Programme .................... 30 
13.3 Themes from Stage 1 ................................................................................................................ 31 
13.4 Messages shared with professionals .................................................................................. 32 
13.5 Children and Young People’s response to proposals for the “To Be “ model ....... 32 

14 Our voice Our Future! ...................................................................................................... 33 

15 Outcomes Framework ..................................................................................................... 34 
15.1 Introduction ................................................................................................................................ 34 
15.2 Outcome: easy access to the right services for the child and family ....................... 36 

16 Proposed “to be” model ................................................................................................... 44 
16.1 A Children’s Rights Approach in Mental Health Services ............................................ 45 
16.2 CASE STUDIES ............................................................................................................................. 46 

16.2.1 Gareth’s Story – the missing middle .................................................................................................... 46 
16.2.2 Graces story – at risk of becoming a looked after child ................................................................... 47 

16.3 Features of the proposed model .......................................................................................... 48 
16.3.1 Easy Access with a Clear and Easy Referral Process ......................................................................... 48 
16.3.2 Organisations Working Together - “Hub” model ................................................................................ 48 
16.3.3 Hub models as physical entities or virtual spaces ............................................................................. 50 

16.4 Functions undertaken by child and adolescent mental health “hubs” .................. 50 
16.4.1 Areas for further development during the implementation phase ............................................ 51 
16.4.2 Early Intervention and Prevention ........................................................................................................... 51 
16.4.3 Hub Models and Case Co-ordination ........................................................................................................ 51 
16.4.4 Practice Model .................................................................................................................................................... 52 
16.4.5 Practice Methods ............................................................................................................................................... 53 

16.5 Areas for further development during the implementation phase ........................ 53 
16.5.1 Role of the Resources Panel ......................................................................................................................... 53 
16.5.2 Areas for further development during the implementation phase ............................................ 54 

16.6 Services in the Pathway........................................................................................................... 54 
16.6.1 Universal services ............................................................................................................................................. 54 
16.6.2 Targeted Services .............................................................................................................................................. 54 
16.6.3 Specialist Community Services ................................................................................................................... 55 
16.6.4 Highly specialist services............................................................................................................................... 55 

17 Whole System Working and Governance ................................................................... 56 

18 Implementation ................................................................................................................. 58 
18.1 INTRODUCTION .......................................................................................................................... 58 

Tud. 29



 

4 
 

18.2 Implementation Plan ............................................................................................................... 60 
19 Major Risks.......................................................................................................................... 64 

20 Appendix A: Reviewed Service Models ........................................................................ 66 

21 Appendix B: Summary Evaluations of Four Integrated Care Fund (ICF) 
Projects in North Wales ................................................................................................................ 73 

21.1 ............................................................................................................................................................... 75 
22 Appendix C: CYP Consultation ....................................................................................... 78 

23 Appendix D: Guidance Frameworks ............................................................................ 87 

24 Appendix E: The Review Process ................................................................................... 89 
 
 

  

Tud. 30



 

5 
 

1 Introduction and strategic environment 

1.1 Objective  
The Children’s Commissioner for Wales has highlighted the need for transformation in the 
way services work together to support children and young people whose needs are not 
deemed severe enough to require specialist support but, who are emotionally distressed 
and/or have behavioural issues. The aim is to produce a strategy that enables the North 
Wales Local Authority and Health Board partners to support the emotional resilience and 
mental health of children and young people in this group, across the region.  The strategy 
proposes how agencies can best work together to respond to the full spectrum of needs of 
children and young people who are experiencing mental health problems. It identifies 
opportunities for the future development of services drawing on models of good practice in 
Wales and beyond. 
 
1.2 Horizon 
The review indicates that North Wales is a place where dedicated and hard-working staff 
are undertaking good work but, despite this, services are struggling to cope with significant 
increases in demand. As the pressures within the system increase and resources become 
even more stretched it is clear that tensions are raised. 
 
The staff who engaged with the review and strategy formulation process wish to see change 
and would like to see leaders commit to a strategy that is radical and offers an opportunity 
to create a world class service that will deliver great outcomes for children and young 
people that is in line with national policy objectives and aspirations. 
 
This strategy does not offer a short term or simple solution to a long-standing and complex 
problem. It does however offer a plan for change that can realise the vision created by staff 
within the service. This, in turn, will help meet the challenge of increasing mental health and 
wellbeing problems in North Wales. 
 
Successful implementation of this strategy will require a significant change in culture from 
all partners, in order for the service to become more fully integrated. Not only will this 
require new systems and process, structures and governance, but must also include clinical 
governance which places the child or young person at the centre of a whole system 
approach. 
 
The strategy emphasises the importance of managing demand through increased used of 
earlier intervention and preventative (both primary and secondary) services. Investment in 
these services cannot be at the expense of reduced capacity in other parts of the pathway. 
Demand is increasing across the whole system and investment needs to be planned to 
balance respond to current pressures as well as future demand management.  
 

2 Policy Context 

The Welsh Government is committed to making Wales a country where people want to live 
and work, and where children, no matter what circumstances they are born into, are able to 

Tud. 31



 

6 
 

thrive and achieve their potential. The five-year strategic plan, Taking Wales Forward, sets 
out clear aims for giving every child in Wales the best possible start in life, and for 
supporting families to create stable, nurturing environments in which children can thrive.  

Welsh Government is committed to using the Wellbeing of Future Generations Act 2015 in 
all of its policy decisions to improve the social, economic, environmental and cultural 
wellbeing of Wales both now and over the long term. The introduction of the Wellbeing of 
Future Generations Act 2015 and the Social Services and Wellbeing Wales Act 2014 have 
placed several statutory responsibilities on local authorities and their partners. 

It is important the North Wales Regional Partnership Board “No Wrong Door” Strategy” is 
developed with this legislation in mind. The concept of early intervention and prevention is 
firmly embedded as a way of working. Also, people will be placed at the heart of new 
systems and given an equal say in what happens to them. These concepts, which are not 
new are promoted in the Welsh Government guidance document, “Families First”, which 
places an emphasis on early intervention, prevention, and providing support for whole 
families, rather than individuals.  

Families First is designed to improve outcomes for children, young people and families. Its 
stated intention is to provide early support for families with the aim of preventing problems 
escalating. It emphasises the importance of providing support to families, when they need it 
the most, and to help build communities which are confident and more resilient. The 
programme promotes greater multi-agency working to ensure families receive joined-up 
support when they need it.  

It is widely agreed that it is important for families to be supported in ways that are 
appropriate to their need to build and create resilience and self-reliance. Interventions 
which support these principles are more likely to lead to improved longer-term outcomes 
for both families and individuals within families. Families First was set up with the aim of 
ensuring these principles are embedded in both service design and delivery.  

The Welsh Government is committed to the United Nations Convention on the Rights of the 
Child (UNCRC) as a basis for policy making for children and young people in Wales. In 
keeping with the UNCRC principles it is determined to ensure all young people fulfil their 
potential no matter what their background or circumstances. Policy aims to encourage, 
enable, and assist young people, either directly or indirectly to make an effective transition 
into independent adulthood through: 

● Effective participation in education and training and the life of their communities  
● Taking advantage of opportunities for employment  

Good mental health will facilitate these objectives. Not all young people get the support 
they need from their home environment, and it is vital parents are able to receive the right 
services which can help them cope with the pressures of raising children. Children and 
young people must also be able to access targeted mental health services which can help 
them reach their potential and improve their life chances.  
In this North Wales Regional Partnership Board “No Wrong Door” Strategy we have sought 
to embody Welsh Government’s  policy principles to inform how we will support children 
and young people to achieve their best mental health 

Tud. 32



 

7 
 

 
 

3 Vision for the New Service 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
This vision statement was developed from the key themes identified during the 
professionals’ workshops and consultation with children and young people. 
 

4 Principles 

The strategy proposes a regional approach based on a shared vision and an agreed set of 
common principles that will apply across the whole of North Wales. It however recognises 
that there are significant differences across the region reflecting culture, language, 
population density, economic factors, amongst other things.  The model is therefore flexible 
and implementation can be tailored to local circumstances. The RPB will ensure that there is 
local accountability for compliance with the principles and system performance. We refer to 
this approach as Tight – Loose – Tight: Tight adherence to the principles and outline service 
model – Loose (flexible) implementation of the service model – Tight accountability and 
monitoring of performance against the strategy. 
 
The aim of this strategy is for partner agencies to collaborate in a service which enables 
effective joint working and reduction and management of risk. It is important that all 
partner agencies agree to adopt these common principles and that these are contained with 
an explicit partnership agreement.  
 
 

• Children and young people will be valued for themselves, and their worth 
appreciated. 

 
• We will listen to children, young people, and their families to understand their world 

and experiences. Their opinions will help us to shape and evaluate our services.  
 

• We will reduce the numbers of children and young people requiring targeted 
support by investing in preventative measures. 

 

We want the children and young people of North Wales to enjoy 
their best mental health and well-being. 

 
We will do this by ensuring the organisations that support them 
are easily accessed, work effectively together, and aim to deliver 
outcomes in a timely way, based on children and young people’s 

choices and those of their families. 
 

Tud. 33



 

8 
 

• We will reduce the number of children of young people requiring more intensive 
support through timely, early intervention.  

 
• We will make it easy for children and young people and their families to find 

information about mental health and, if required, to obtain help that is accessed 
using simple and convenient arrangements. 

 
• There will be better support for mental health in schools. 

 
• No child should be excluded from a service because of their family circumstances 

 
• All the children and young people will have access to co-ordinated help from a range 

of professionals, when this would be in their best interests. 
 

• All children and young people will have the opportunity to form a trusting 
relationship with appropriate professionals. They, and their families, will have the 
support of a co-ordinator who will manage their case and help them to navigate the 
system.  

 
• Intervention will be timely, avoiding long waits for services and will be based on 

needs not diagnosis. Services will be child-centred, evidence based and flexible to 
ensure that needs are met and provided in ways that are suitable and convenient, 
including on-line. 

 
• The pathway will operate seamlessly across health and social services, education, 

community provisions and the criminal justice service.  
 

• We will have effective governance of system resources and professional activity. 
 
 
  

Tud. 34



 

9 
 

5 Scope 

The strategy recognises that there is much good work already taking place between Local 
Authority, Health CAMHS and partner services across North Wales. It calls upon all agencies 
to build on what is already there and working well, and to seek to avoid duplication. Our 
recommended Tight – Loose - Tight approach seeks to allow for local determination of 
where the current practices work well and where there is scope for improvement, 
identifying what are the factors that impact negatively on the services working together at 
optimum effectiveness. It is important to integrate mental health hubs with other local 
arrangements, making adjustments where needed, and avoid children having to move 
unnecessarily between different systems. 
 
The strategy draws on models of good practice elsewhere that demonstrate effective 
working between Local Authority, Health and CAMHS services and identifies what factors 
contribute towards them being successful.  
 

6 Mental Health and Wellbeing  

In line with local aspirations, national policy and international best practice this strategy 
embraces: 
 

● A definition of mental health need advocated by the Welsh Assembly (Mind over 
Matter) a report on the step change needed in emotional and mental health support 
for children and young people in Wales) that spans beyond diagnosis and includes a 
wide range of emotional behavioural and psychological problems. 1 

● Diagnosis or psychological formulation as a way to understand the child or young 
person’s strengths and challenges rather than seeing diagnosis as a gateway to 
services. 2 

● A definition of complex needs that is as broad as possible to include all children who 
experience distress and require help and support from multiple agencies as outlined 
by the Children’s Commissioner for Wales in ‘No Wrong Door.’ 3 

● A focus on mental wellbeing, strength-based approaches and recovery advocated by 
the Welsh Assembly (Together for Mental Health, an all-age strategy for mental 
health and wellbeing).4 

● The involvement of children and young people, their parents or carers in all decisions 
and plans that affect them.  This includes involvement in the design, planning, 
delivery and review of services.5 

 
This strategy recognises that some children and young people experience emotional 
distress that is a normal part of life and that it is important to avoid unnecessary 

                                                      
1 hiips://senedd.wales/laid%20documents/cr -ld11522/cr-ld11522-e.pdf 
2 hiips://www.cdc.gov/childrensmentalhealth/basics.html  
hiips://phw.nhs.wales/services- and-teams/improvement-cymru/news-and-publications/publications/matrics-plant/ 
3 hiips://www.childcomwales.org.uk/wpcontent/uploads/2020/06/NoWrongDoor_FINAL_EN230620.pdf  
4  hiips://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019 -04/together-for-mental-health-summary.pdf 
5 hiips://www.england.nhs.uk/wp- content/uploads/2014/12/delvr-with-delvrng-well.pdf 
 

Tud. 35



 

10 
 

labelling of these as episodes on mental ill-health.  The hub’s outreach function in 
supporting resilience and is also essential to the support of children and young people 
who experience problems but do not require the specialist support of formal mental 
health services. 

 

7 Age range  

● The strategy covers ages 0-25  
● 17-25 transitioning to adult services.   

 

8 Duration 

● 5 years in line with Welsh Government Funding Cycle 
● Implementation to be monitored with an aim for the principal elements to be 

delivered in years 1-3 
 

9 Strategic Context 

 
This strategy applies to the population of North Wales living in 6 local authorities: Anglesey, 
Conwy, Denbighshire, Flintshire Gwynedd, and Wrexham.  Its development has been 
commissioned and overseen by the North Wales Regional Partnership Board which forms 
part of the North Wales Social Care and Wellbeing Services Improvement Collaborative. 
 
 

 
 

Figure 1 : North Wales 

 
The Members of the RPB represent the 6 local authorities, Betsi Cadwaladr University 
Health Board, Third Sector Organisations, North Wales Fire and Rescue Service, Service 
Providers, North Wales Police, North Wales RLB and North Wales VSCs and WAST. 
 

Tud. 36



 

11 
 

The strategy recognises the commitment of the Regional Partnership Board to ensure that 
Welsh speakers receive health services, social services and social care and their mother 
tongue, without having to ask. Gwyneth has the second highest number of Welsh speakers 
in the country (90,700) and the highest percentage of Welsh speakers can be found in 
Gwyneth (76%) and the Isle of Anglesey (66%). 

10 The Population 

North Wales has a resident population in the region of 690,500 people living across an area 
of around 2,500 square miles. North Wales consists of one health board and 6 local 
authorities. Public services may also be planned or delivered at a sub-regional level. The sub 
regions are west, central and east and are not all coterminous with local authority 
boundaries. 
Number of children and young people in North Wales6 
 

 Aged 0 to 4 Aged 5 to 
15 

Aged 16 to 24 

Isle of Anglesey 3,323 8,598 6,000 
Gwynedd 5,691 15,061 15,966 
Conwy 5,232 13,623 10,128 
Denbighshire 4,920 12,479 9,010 
Flintshire 7,967 20,830 14,699 
Wrexham 7,321 18,605 12,778 
  
North Wales 

  
34,454 

  
89,196 

  
68,581 

Table 1: Mid-year estimates 2020 7 
 
● The population in the East Area is the largest and the youngest.  
● In North Wales, 2.6% of the population are Black, Asian and minority ethnic, ranging 

from 1.9% in the East Area to 3.9% in the Central Area.  
● Deprivation is a risk factor for developing mental health problems. North Wales has 

some of the most deprived areas in Wales, particularly along the north Wales coastline. 
Rhyl West 2 and Rhyl West 1 are the first and second most deprived Lower Layer Super 
Output Areas (LSOAs) in Wales.  

● The strategy must take account of both the rural and urban nature of the region. The 
region has a significant rural population whilst urban centres are concentred on the 
north coast and towards the east of the region. Gwynedd in the west is the least densely 
populated area and Flintshire in the east is the most densely populated area. Wrexham 
is the largest town followed by Rhyl. The two university towns Wrexham and Bangor add 
to the population of young people in the region during term times.  

● The population of children and young people is further increased by local authorities 
outside of North Wales placing children in residential units in North Wales. Such 

                                                      
6 Source: hiips://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Population- and-Migration/Population/Estimates/Local-Authority/populationestimates-by-
localauthority-region-age 
7 Source: hiips://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Population- and-Migration/Population/Estimates/Local-Authority/populationestimates-by-
localauthority-region-age 

Tud. 37



 

12 
 

placements increase demand on local mental health services. The east sub-region is a 
net importer of looked after children.8  

 

10.1 C&YPO Mental Health Needs in North Wales  
Major surveys of the mental health of children and young people in England were carried 
out in 1999, 2004, and 2017 and 2020. English studies are routinely used to calculate mental 
health needs of C&YP in North Wales, alongside Welsh Government studies.  
 
There are significant differences in mental wellbeing scores across North Wales. Young 
people aged 11 to 16 years in Gwynedd have the highest mental wellbeing scores in North 
Wales (24.5) and is statistically significantly higher than the average for Wales (24). Young 
people in Wrexham have the lowest score (23.6) and is statistically significantly lower than 
the average for Wales.  
 
Estimated number of children in North Wales with different mental health problems 
(obtained by applying prevalence data form the Mental Health of Children and Young 
People in England 2017 (NHS Digital 2018), to mid-year population estimates for 2019 from 
ONS).  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Source: Daffodil Cymru database 

 
Table 2: Estimated number of children aged 5 to 16 years, with any mental health problem, Betsy Cadwaladr 

UHB and unity authorities, 2020 

 

                                                      
8 hiips://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2020-05/summary-statistics-regions-wales-2020-629.pdf 

Betsi Cadwaladr UHB 9,280 
Isle of Anglesey 874 
Gwynedd 1,566 
Conwy 1,446 
Denbighshire 1,300 
Flintshire 2,167 
Wrexham 1,927 

Tud. 38



 

13 
 

 
            Source: Daffodil Cymru database 

 
Figure 2 : Estimated number of children (aged 5-16 ) with any mental health disorder Betsi Cadwaladr UHB, 2020 

Since this prevalence data was last calculated for North Wales as part of the updated draft 
needs assessment NHS Digital has published a follow-up study that suggests 1 in 6 children 
aged 5-16 have a probable mental health problem in England (16%)  This is an alarming rise 
from one in ten in 2004 and one in nine (10.8%) in 2017. The increase was evident in both 
boys and girls. (NHS Digital, 2020)   
 
Factors associated with children and young people’s mental health problems include 
deprivation, challenging family relationships such as a parent in prison or parent with a 
mental health condition or addictions, looked after children, issues relating to identity, risky 
behaviours such as substance misuse or criminality, negative early life experiences, 
presence of other health conditions, NEETs, and the impact of COVID 19.9    
 
Local CAMHS and Neurodevelopment Teams have reported demand for services is 
outstripping services ability to respond and children and young people report long waiting 
times. Workforce supply is a major issue for both services. Increase in prevalence may be 
exacerbating this situation in North Wales and further analysis is required.  
 
10.2 Key facts BCUHB 
● In 2019/2020 6871 referrals were received for CAMHS and the longest wait for CAMHS 

assessment was 140 days compared with 147 days in 2016* additional investment was 
made in 2016 

● In 2019/2020 2427 referrals were received for the neurodevelopment Team and the 
longest wait was 1372 days compared with 238 days in 2016 

● In 2019/2020 there were 34 admissions to the inpatient unit with an average length of 
stay of 58 days  

 

                                                      
9 hiips://digital.nhs.uk/data -and-information/publications/statistical/mental-health-of-children-and-young-people-in-england/2020-
wave-1-follow-up   

Tud. 39



 

14 
 

Demand for foster care and residential placements has risen significantly across North 
Wales since 2016 coupled with a shortage of specialist placements. The Centre for mental 
health reports that ¾ of children in care have a diagnosable mental health problem, 
therefore there is a potential important association between LAC and mental health need. 
The rise in prevalence of mental health conditions and associated risk factors in the 
population may also be contributing to increasing pressure on services for looked after 
children. Further analysis is required.    
 
10.3 Key facts Looked After Children in North Wales 10  

 
● The number of children who require a foster placement increased by 34% during the 

period April 2016(735) to March 2020 (945) 
● As at the 31st March 2020 there were 945 children living with a foster carer 272 (source 

QDBR) were living with independent foster carers and the majority of those children 
required specialist placements in order to support their needs 

● Some children living in residential placements could live in a foster placement but there 
are not enough foster carers with the right skills to support them 

● As at 31st March 2020 there were 105 North Wales children living in a children’s home 
● The total number of children living in a children’s home increased in North Wales during 

the period 31st March 2016 (40) to 31st March 2020 (105) 
● Conway and Denbighshire are developing some inhouse residential provision in order to 

build capacity  
 
10.4 Projecting future mental health needs of children and young people in North Wales 
 
The Royal College of Psychiatrists highlights that prevalence and demand for CAMHS is 
affected by population level risk factors, including deprivation and the proportion of the 
general population who are under 18 years old11 
Therefore, although the number of children and young people is set to decline slowly up 
until 2040 across North Wales (given the increase in prevalence in recent years), it may not 
result in an equal decline in mental health needs in the population and is more likely to slow 
down the rate of increase in demand for services.  
 

10.5 Digital Services  12 
 
There are limitations and geographical variation in access to digital services across North 
Wales that must be taken into account in developing the strategy. 

● Digital poverty is a major factor within North Wales, for example with 40% of 
families on the Isle of Anglesey in digital poverty. 

                                                      
10 hiips://www.centreformentalhealth.org.uk/fact-sheet-children-and-young-peoples-mental-health 
 
11  hiips://www.rcpsych.ac.uk/docs/default -source/improving-care/better-mh-policy/college-reports/college-report-
cr182.pdf?sfvrsn=8662b58f_2 
12 hiips://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics- and-research/2020-05/summary-statistics-regions-wales-2020-629.pdf  
 

Tud. 40



 

15 
 

● Access to broadband: up to 93% of homes and businesses in Conway, Denbighshire 
Wrexham and Flintshire, compared with up to 89% in Gwynedd and Isle of Anglesey 
having access to superfast broadband. 

● Indoor access to 4G from all 4 network providers max 84% homes in Wrexham and 
Conwy compared with 49% or less across the Isle of Anglesey 

 
10.6 Workforce 
 
Ability to recruit and retain the workforce is a major issue across health and care services 
across Wales including North Wales.   
● There is a 25% vacancy factor in BCUHB CAMHS and in 2019 /2020 over a fifth of 

community CAMHs spend was on agency staff.  
● A major reason causing increasing waiting lists within the BCUHB neurodevelopment 

team was staffing issues 
● A key priority for BCUHB is workforce retention 
● Alongside finance workforce is the biggest challenge reported by local authority 

children’s services managers across North Wales. For example, one of the biggest issues 
in continuing new ICF and Transformation Fund innovations longer term was the ability 
to recruit sufficient trained staff.  

● Recruitment of staff who are able to use the Welsh Language must be a priority in line 
with the “More than Just Words” Action Plan 

 
*Development of a multiagency workforce plan will be critical to the success of the 
strategy. The workforce plan will need to interface with the health board workforce 
strategy, the regional social care workforce strategy (and each LA also has workforce group) 
and regional education workforce strategy.  
 
10.7 Finance 
 
10.7.1 Health  
● There is no formula for determining optimum funding for CAMHS services. Local health 

commissioners are required to take account of local population needs assessment and 
competing priorities in allocating resources. In 2012 the Royal College of Psychiatrists 
produced UK wide guidance on recommended workforce and beds per 100,000 
population which may also assist local planners, however this data has not been 
updated to take account of current population needs or new models of care so need to 
be interpreted with caution.13 The percentage of health spend on CAMHS across Wales 
in 20-18/2019 ranged from 0.6-1.3% of health board budgets. BCUHB was at the top of 
that range at 1.3 % of health spend on child and adolescent mental health services 
which is £27.93 per head of population (2018/2019). A 2016/2017 study of spend on 
CAMHS across 209 English CCGs reported spend was on average £46 per head (excluded 
tier 4 services commissioned by NHS England), higher than in BCUHB, however the 
health systems operate differently in the 2 countries so any comparison should be made 
with caution.  

                                                      
13 hiips://www.rcpsych.ac.uk/docs/default-source/improving-care/better-mh-policy/college-reports/college-report-
cr182.pdf?sfvrsn=8662b58f_2 

Tud. 41



 

16 
 

● BCUHB received an additional £5 million p.a. investment from Welsh Government in 
2021 to invest in CAMHS to tackle waiting list and improve services. This is a welcome 
investment for CAMHS however funding for the neurodevelopment team is insufficient 
to meet demand. exacerbated by COVID 19 which has led to long and increasing waiting 
times for community CAMHs and the neurodevelopment team.  

● 2020 Standard reference costs for a one-to-one school nurse contact in is £70 rising to 
£225 for a Community CAMHs contact. The standard reference cost per contact for 
CRHT is £252 rising to £778 admitted and rising again to £1536 admitted intensive 
psychiatric care. Cost per contact for community CAMHS and admitted were slightly 
higher for BCU compared to reference costs which may be due to a number of reasons 
including, geography, local population health need and waiting lists leading to greater 
acuity of need when services are eventually accessed? The health board is looking to 
develop a CRHT service for CAMHs which would be expected to reduce the percentage 
of children needing admission and thus may also have a positive financial impact, 
creating opportunity for more children to be treated.14  

 
We were unable to collect data in respect of primary care or education services. 
 
10.7.2 Local Government  
● Children’s service budgets are under significant pressure from increasing demands. In 

20219/2020 across North Wales all local authority children’s services budgets were in 
deficits in most part due to high demand for placements for looked after children. Given 
that LAC have risk factors in their lives that mean they are more likely to experience 
mental health issues than their peers this is an area where health and care services 
could work together to a greater extent in the future to potentially prevent both needs 
and costs escalating.  

● Standard reference cost LAC – foster care £622 per week rising to £3,847 - £3,862 per 
week for voluntary and private sector care homes. BCUHB local authorities do not 
routinely collect financial data spend on CAMHs need. Local authority dashboards are 
being developed but no available at the time of writing.  

 
10.7.3 Education  
● No financial information was available for spend across schools within BCUHB. However, 

prevention and early intervention school-based programmes are generally lower cost. 
For example, a school based social and emotional learning programme to prevent 
conduct disorders would cost circa £174 per child per year.   

 
10.8 COVID 19  
 
● On 13th May 2020 the children’s commissioner for Wales launched a consultation on the 

impact of Coronavirus involving over 23,000 children and young people ‘Coronavirus and 
Me’ (ref). A follow-up consultation was completed with 19,000 children in January 2021 
There are some marked differences in reported feelings between the January 2021 
respondents and the May 2020 respondents. Strong negative feelings are expressed by 

                                                      
14 hiips://www.pssru.ac.uk/project -pages/unit-costs/unit-costs-2020/ 
 

Tud. 42



 

17 
 

many children and young people, expressing frustration and, in some cases, anger about 
the impact of the pandemic on their lives. The results also indicate that children 
answering in January 2021 are slightly less likely to say they know how to get help if they 
need support to feel happy. 

 
● In June 2021, Public Health Wales published “Children and young people’s mental well-

being during the COVID 19 pandemic Report “15 which built on the above findings.  The 
report highlights that although the pandemic had some positive impacts for some young 
people evidence overwhelmingly pointed to negative impact on all aspects of mental 
health. Improvements in wellbeing scores for all age groups at the end of summer 2020 
(when restriction were eased and schools reopened) may suggest negative impacts of 
the pandemic could be short lived, however further analysis is required.  

 
● Demand for child and adolescence mental health services has been increasing over the 

last decade in most areas of the UK including North Wales and services have struggled to 
meet increasing demand. Over the last 18 months COVID 19 has exacerbated an already 
challenging situation and BCUHB children’s services report that the pandemic has had a 
significant impact on service provision, demand and capacity with subsequent impact on 
waiting lists and delivery of targets. This finding is echoed in the report “Coronavirus and 
Me’ which highlighted that in May 2020 less than half (47%) of children and young 
people in Wales felt confident they would get help from mental health services should 
they need it declining to only 41% in Jan 2021. (ref) 

 
● Moving forward it is not yet clear if and to what degree COVID 19 will impact on children 

and young people’s mental well-being in North Wales. The implementation of the 
strategy will need to build in contingencies for any likely future impact of COVID 19.1617 

 
 
 
 

 
 

  

                                                      
15 hiips://www.childcomwales.org.uk/wp- content/uploads/2021/02/CoronavirusAndMe_Jan21_ENG_110221_FINAL.pdf 
 
16 hiips://phw.nhs.wales/news/coping-strategies-made-a-difference-to-young-peoples-mental-well-being-during-pandemic/ 
17 *PERFORMANCE AND QUALITY INDICATORS FOR HELATH AND SOCIAL CARE CAN BE ACCESSED VIA STATS WALES 
hiips://statswales.gov.wales/catalogue/health- and-social-care 
 

Tud. 43



 

18 
 

11 Case for Change 

11.1 Children and their families want change 
 
Children tell us that finding information and getting access to services is confusing and 
difficult. A particular problem is that there can be a lengthy wait for services, with little or 
no support available.  
 
Children want to be involved in discussions and decision making on all aspects of their care 
planning and management. If we are to put children at the centre of services that care for 
them, it is essential that we increase the ability of children and their families to self-manage 
their mental health, to improve local knowledge of what is available, what the care pathway 
is and to be able to identify where there are gaps to feed into service evaluation.  
 
The things that children and families have told us in North Wales is mirrored by research 
findings in the UK. 
● 75% of young people with mental health problems aren't getting the help they need18 
● There is an average 10-year delay between young people displaying first symptoms and 

getting help. 19 
● Only Two-thirds of children with a mental health problem have had contact with 

professional services. Young people’s education is being damaged because they can’t 
access good mental health support20 

 
11.2 Professionals want change. Professionals have told us: 
 
● The commissioning and planning arrangements for services have resulted in pathways 

that are fragmented and disjointed, leading to delays and inconsistency in how children 
are supported.  

● Waiting lists for CAMHs and the neurodevelopment team are long and may rise further 
because of COVID without intervention 

● There is rising pressure on local authority children’s budgets, particularly looked after 
children.  

● Ability to recruit and retain the workforce across health and social care is a major issue.  
● Time and time again change initiatives have fizzled out and this time staff want leaders 

to be brave and make changes happen at scale and pace.  
● That a transformation in culture is vital to change mind-sets.  
● There should be no service delivery barriers to working with a child and their 

family if the presentation indicates a need that we can collectively help with 
 
11.3 Research indications for change 
Population health needs are increasing. This tells us change is needed to meet the 
challenge.  

                                                      
18 hiips://www.childrenssociety.org.uk/what -we-do/our-work/well-being/mental-health-statistics  
19 www.centreformentalhealth.org.uk 
20 hiips://www.mind.org.uk/news- campaigns/campaigns/children-and-young-peoples-mental-health/improving-mental-health-support-
for-young-people/#problem  
 

Tud. 44



 

19 
 

 
● 1 in 6 children aged 5-16 have a probable mental health problem.  This is an alarming 

rise from one in ten in 2004 and one in nine (10.8%) in 2017. The draft updated 
population needs assessment (page 13) has estimated the number of children aged 5 to 
16 years, with any mental health problem, Betsi Cadwaladr UHB & unitary authorities, 
2020 is 9280. * to note calculations are based on 2017 data (1 in 9 prevalence rate), 
therefore actual number are likely to be significantly higher based on most up to date 
prevalence rates of 1 in 6. And these figures do these take into account of early years and 
mental health needs of 17 – 24 year olds. Further work is required to calculate the needs 
of these group across North Wales. 21 

 
Research tells us change requires a holistic approach.  
 
Factors associated with poor mental health  
Although no one is immune from poor mental health some children are more likely to need 
help than others therefore close working across health, public health, social care, education 
and youth justice is critical. Factors associated with mental health problems include  
 
● Income and adversity e.g. living in poverty, parental separation, financial crisis, 

homelessness, ACES Children from the poorest 20% of households are four times as likely 
to have serious mental health difficulties by the age of 11 as those from the wealthiest 
20%. (Morrison Gutman et al., 2015) 

● Family relationships e.g.  a parent with a health/mental health condition, parental 
substance misuse, parent in prison, parental unemployment, young carers  

● Looked after children LAC are 4 times more likely to experience mental health problems 
than their peers  

● Identity e.g. LGBTQ, ethnicity 
● Behaviours e.g. criminality, drug misuse, risk taking behaviour, how social media is used, 

unhealthy lifestyles. A third of people in Youth Justice system are estimated to have a 
mental health problem. Young people in the youth justice system are 3 times more likely 
than their peers to have mental health problem. (Mental Health Foundation, 2002). 

● Pupils who have a mental health problem are more likely to be excluded from school 
than their peers. Research suggests that school exclusions are linked to long-term 
mental health problems. (Ford et al., 2017). 

● Early life experiences e.g. early life environment and social factors, perinatal mental 
health, substance misuse in pregnancy  

● Presence of other health conditions e.g. physical or neurodevelopmental conditions  
Nearly three quarters of children with a mental health condition also have a physical 
health condition or developmental problem. (LGA) Children and young people with a 
learning disability are three times more likely than average to have a mental health 
problem. (Lavis et al., 2019) 

● Adolescents 16-18-year olds Not in Employment, Education or Training (NEETs) 
● The Covid-19 pandemic  
 

                                                      
21 hiips://digital.nhs.uk/data -and-information/publications/statistical/mental-health-of-children-and-young-people-in-england/2020-wave-1-
follow-up  
 

Tud. 45



 

20 
 

Children and young people look for help most often at school  
● Research suggests teachers are the most commonly cited source for seeking help with 

mental health issues (48.5%), followed by primary care (33.4%) and mental health 
specialist (25.2%). Therefore, all of these groups will have a critical role to play in 
making change happen. 22 

 
Early Intervention and Prevention needs to start in pregnancy and early years  
● There is good evidence that antenatal and perinatal programmes have a positive impact 

on the psychological health. Perinatal mental health problems which occur during 
pregnancy or in the first year following the birth of the child and affect up to 20% of new 
and expectant mothers and cover a wide range of conditions. If left untreated, mental 
health issues can have significant and long-lasting effects on the woman, the child and 
the wider family.  

● Since mid-20th century, attachment theory and associated research has documented 
the crucial role of continuity of care and stable caregivers to serve as attachment 
figures.23  

● The timing of early interventions is crucial. Those designed for the perinatal period are 
shown to generate the most solid and long-lasting outcomes in two areas, both highly 
relevant to our own objectives here:  promoting the welfare of children and families and 
preventing poor outcomes in later life such as mental health problems, low educational 
attainment and crime; and economic benefits because preventive policies cost less to 
implement than reactive policies.24 Programmes for children and families ‘starting big 
school’ is another powerful time for early intervention 

 
Young people transitioning from children’s to adult services are often at risk of 
experiencing poor health outcomes when their transfer is not appropriately supported 
and coordinated.  
 
● It is well reported across the UK that transition arrangements are often poor for children 

with only half of all children receiving support from a lead professional to ensure a 
smooth transfer.  

● 17-22 year old women are the group most at risk of developing a mental health 
problem.25 

● Between five and 10 years old, the split between girls and boys is just about even. But by 
17, a quarter of young women have a mental health disorder, more than twice the 
number of young men. Half of them have self-harmed or attempted to take their own 
life. 26  

                                                      
22 hiips://www.mind.org.uk/news- campaigns/campaigns/children-and-young-peoples-mental-health/improving-mental-health-support-
for-young-people/#problem  
23The Lancet October 2020 ‘From attachment to mental health and back’ 
hiips://www.thelancet.com/journals/lanpsy/article/PIIS2215 -0366(20)30337-0/fulltext  
24House of Commons briefing August 2021‘Early Intervention: policy and provision’ 
https://commonslibrary.parliament.uk/research-briefings/cbp-7647/  
25 hiips://www.childrenssociety.org.uk/what -we-do/our-work/well-being/mental-health-statistics 
26 hiips://www local gov.uk/about/campaigns/bright -futures/bright-futures-camhs/child-and-adolescent-mental-health-and 
 

Tud. 46



 

21 
 

● Self-harm is more common among young people than other age groups. 25% of women 
and 9.7% of men aged 16-24 report that they have self-harmed. (McManus et al., 2016) 
27 

● Common mental health issues, such as depression and anxiety, are increasing amongst 
16-24 year olds, with 19% reporting to have experienced them in 2014, compared to 
15% in 1993. They are about three times more common in young women (26.0%) than 
men (9.1%) (McManus et al., 2016)  28 

 
11.4 Economic case for change 
 
Investing in children’s and young people’s mental health and wellbeing will not only make 
the lives of children young people and their families better, research evidence suggest it is 
also likely to be more cost effective in both the short and longer term across a whole 
lifetime. 50% of all mental health problems start by the age of 14 and 75% of adults with a 
diagnosable mental health problem experience the first symptoms by the age of 24 (Kessler 
et al., 2005; McGorry et al., 2007).  
 
In 2012 Dr Jason Strelitz published the economic case for a shift to prevention in child and 
adolescent mental health.  The analysis estimated the annual short-term costs of the 3 most 
common mental health disorders - emotional, conduct and hyperkinetic disorders among 
children aged (NB costs are at 2012 prices)  
● Short Term - £2,220 health social care and education costs per child with a mental 

health problem (2012 costs) with average UK inflation rates applied this rises to circa 
£2559 in 2020 *public sector inflation is often higher  

● Long Term £3,310 long term societal costs per child with mental health problems (2012 
costs) with average UK inflation rates applied this rises to circa £3764 in 2020*public 
sector inflation is often higher 

 
Strelitz provides costed examples of how prevention of childhood mental health problems 
saves money in both short and longer term  
 
● Parenting programmes for prevention of conduct disorders – likely long-term savings to 

society £17,500 per family (2012 costs) over 25 years 
● Psychological or educational programmes to prevent child and adolescent depression 

may result in saving of £5 million (2012 costs) in England 
 
Public Health England report on Mental Health of children in England (2016) cites further 
evidence of cost benefit of investing in early intervention and prevention.  
 
● Anxiety - for every £1 spent on cognitive behavioural therapy saves £31 group therapy 

and £10 therapy via parents 
● Depression – for every £1 spend on cognitive behavioural therapy return £32 saving for 

group therapy and £2 saving for individual therapy 

                                                      
27 www.centreformentalhealth.org.uk 
28 www.centreformentalhealth.org.uk 
 

Tud. 47



 

22 
 

● Conduct disorders - For every £1 invested in early years saves £45 in school and family-
based interventions. For every £1 invested in adolescence saves £38 in therapeutic 
interventions. Potential saving for each case prevented through early intervention 
£150,000 severe £75,000 moderate 

● Long term cost for every child with ADHD £102,135 – the high cost supports the 
economic case for early intervention 
 

The Personal Social Services Research Unit (PSSRU) also cites early intervention projects that 
have shown to be cost effective.  
● Bradford B Positive Pathways incorporated 2 practice models (A “No Wrong Door” 

multi-agency, multi-disciplinary team and “Mockingbird” family support). Among its 
aims were to reduce the number of looked-after children by a total of 75 and the 
number of out-of-authority placements by 20 over a 2-year period. A total of 172 young 
people were reported to have stayed at home following BPP outreach support. The base 
programme cost was £2,578,080. A total saving of £8,614,368 was achieved over the 2-
year period of the programme operation. £4,167,540 in foster care, £108,000 in 
adoption, £118,668 in other accommodation, £4,075,968 in local authority residential 
and £144,192 for those placed with a parent. 
 

● SafeCORE2 was implemented in Greenwich and aimed at families with Domestic 
Violence and Abuse (DVA) as a presenting need. Greenwich has a high rate of repeat 
contacts, referrals and child and family assessments where this is a feature. Prior to the 
project, families received no active help from statutory services. The total project 
funding, minus 10% to allow for start-up costs, was £1,950,000. The estimated average 
cost of supporting a family through SafeCORE was £19,918. The average saving per 
family was £14,701 for the engaged families and £9,459 for the disengaged families. 
 

● Multisystemic Therapy (*ICF& TF pilot Flintshire and Wrexham) is intensive family 
therapy that targets the causes of antisocial behaviour. A costs and benefits analysis of 
Cambridgeshire multisystemic therapy transition to mutual delivery model was 
conducted in September 2016. The evaluation showed that one team delivered a return 
on investment that increased when 2 teams were in operation.  When total service costs 
(delivery costs and overheads) were considered, the mutual with one team was cost-
efficient relative to the 2014/15 baseline - with a return on investment of 3.0. With two 
teams there was an increase to 3.6. This can be attributed to a greater number of cases 
served and sharing of overheads. 29 
 

● School Counselling. (*ICF pilot Denbighshire) In 2016 the charity Place2Be commissioned 
Pro Bono Economics to conduct an economic evaluation of counselling services in 
primary schools covering 4,548 pupils in 251 schools around the UK. Results showed that 
in 2016/17 every £1 invested resulted in £6.20 worth of benefits in terms of improved 
long-term outcomes, and the potential benefit of counselling per child was just over 
£5,700.0030. Also, in 2011 the Welsh Government conducted a wide-ranging evaluation 

                                                      
29 www.mstuk.org/mst-outcomes/uk- 

 
30 Pro Bono Economics (2017). Economic evaluation of Place2Be’s Counselling Service in Primary Schools: A Pro Bono Economics report for Place2Be 
In association with Dr Allan Little, p8. Available at hiips://www.place2be.org.uk/media/5cgpoqiz/economic -evaluation-of-place2be-counselling-
service.pdf (Accessed 30th March 2021) 

Tud. 48



 

23 
 

of school-based counselling that included four primary school-based pilot projects31.  
Although the data was limited, findings suggest that primary school-based counselling is 
associated with large and significant reductions in psychological distress.32,33,34 

 
 

                                                      
31 Welsh Government Social Research (2011). Evaluation of the Welsh School-based Counselling Strategy: Final Report. GSR report number 
23/2011. Available at hiips://dera.ioe.ac.uk /13164/1/110712schoolcounsellingen.pdf (Accessed 30th March 2021 
32 hiips://www.gov.uk/government/publications/chief -medical-officers-annual-report-2012-our-children-deserve-better-prevention-pays 
33 www.centreformentalhealth.org.uk 
34hiips://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/575632/Mental_health_of_childre
n_in_England.pdf 

 

Tud. 49



 

24 
 

12 UK and International Research Findings 

Introduction 
The case for change highlights both regional challenges and issues related to broader 
economic, demographic and social pressures not unique to North Wales.  Understanding 
how health and social care bodies in the UK and internationally have attempted to address 
similar situations can help inform the design of a bespoke strategy for the region.  In this 
section, we consider a range of models implemented beyond North Wales that demonstrate 
effective working between Local Authority, Health and CAMHS services and attempt to 
identify the factors that contribute towards their success.  The initial research was 
conducted early in the project to stimulate ideas in the Organisational Stakeholder (OS) 
workshops, where sub set of models were presented and discussed.  Ongoing work has 
expanded the depth and breadth of this understanding, ultimately informing many aspects 
of the strategy.  Details and links relating to the reviewed models and their respective 
evaluations can be found in Appendix A. 
 
The term ‘best practice’ in relation to service models can imply the existence of significant 
operational evidence that a specific system or approach can be reliably replicated to achieve 
the same results.  Although there is a clear understanding in the literature of what is wrong 
with the current systems and a broad vision of where we need to get to, designs of new 
integrated care systems of this nature are still in the process of being established and 
evaluated around the world.  Commentators agree we are not yet able to draw on evidence-
based best-practice service models as templates for service design.35 36  Our investigation 
was also limited to the material accessible via the internet in the public domain.  It focussed 
on identifying operational services with successful evaluation evidence that address one or 
more of the key features highlighted by guidance and reports such as the Children’s 
Commissioner for Wales’, ‘No Wrong Door’, NEST/NYTH and others.  Broadly, the good 
practice features sought were:  
   

• The provision of integrated services that wrap around the child, young person, family 
• Simple access, simple pathways, clear boundaries of responsibility 
• Timely joined-up help 
• Response on the basis of need not just diagnosis 
• Involving panel or hub models, drop-in centres, multi-disciplinary teams, local care 
• Children, young people and their families as active participants in the development 

and provision of services  
• Shift of focus towards prevention and early intervention 
• Co-ordinated, integrated services through transition 
• Evidence of success 

 
12.1 What we found 
A wide range of innovative and informative examples from the UK and beyond with at least 
one aspect of interest were identified.  All involved forms of multi-sector partnerships and 
the notion of a simplified pathway guiding children and young people to the right support .  

                                                      
35 Fusar-Poli, P. on behalf of the Health London Partnership (2019) hiips://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC6567858/  
36 Vusio, F. et al (2021)hiips://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.1111/eip.13009  

Tud. 50



 

25 
 

 
Apx 
A 
Ref. 

Service Country Context Physical 
Hubs 

Est. Age Range Scope Evaluation 
Evidence  

1 Space-Wellbeing 
(Gwent) 

Wales Region 0 2019? 0-25 MH/WB Y 

2 Liverpool Integrated 
CAMHS  

England City 3 2019 0-25 MH/WB Y 

3 Take 5 MH & Wellbeing 
Oldham (Mind) 

England City  
1 

2019 8-18 MH/WB Y 

4 Solar 
(Solihull, Birmingham) 

England City 0 2018 0-19 MH/WB Y 

5 Headspace Australia National 110 2006 12-15 MH/WB/Phys/Voc Y 

6 Trieste Whole life 
whole system 

Italy City 4 1973 All ages MH/WB/HS Y 

7  Hertfordshire - Thrive England County 0 N/A 0-25 MH N 

8 Jigsaw Ireland  National 5 2008 12-25 MH Y 

9  Access Open Minds Canada National 3 2016 11-25 MH/WB/Phys/Voc Y 

11 SPOT: Supporting 
Positive Opportunities 
with Teens 

US City 1 
 

2007 13-24 MH/WB/ Physical  

12 The Well Centre 
(London) 

England City 1 2011 13-20 MH/WB/Physical  

13  Your Choice 
Programme  

New 
Zealand 

City 0 2008 10-24 MH/WB Y 

MH – Mental Health, WB – Wellbeing, Phys – Physical Health, Voc- Vocational services such as employment support, HS, Housing services 
 

Table 3: UK and International Integrated Service Models supporting Children and Young People’s Mental Health 

 
12.2 Open Access Early Intervention Hubs 
Easy-to-access physical spaces in the community where children, young people and families 
can drop-in or self-refer for low level mental health and wellbeing support are being 
recognised as an effective approach internationally with networks of services being 
established around the world.37 Common characteristics include: 
 
● Dedicated services for young people, often up to the age of 25, available to all without 

the need to meet thresholds for support 
● A mix of clinical staff, counsellors, youth workers and volunteers - range of support 
● A single, visible trusted location where services are delivered under one roof 
● A safe and youth-friendly environment providing a timely response to young people 
● Accessible in terms of location and hours of operation 
● Needs focussed with children and young people involved in decision-making.  
  
The Headspace integrated, multi-disciplinary model of care, pioneered in Australia, has 
inspired and provided evidence for the development of similar, culturally adjusted models, 
in the UK, Ireland and Canada.  It’s nationally funded network currently providing 110 

                                                      
37 The Children’s Society (2020) (hiips://www.childrenssociety.org.uk/information/professionals/resources/case-for-open-access-hubs 
National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. Transforming mental health care for children and young people with long-term 
conditions: mental health and psychological wellbeing drop in centre. February 2019.  
hiips://www.nice.org.uk/sharedlearning/transforming -mental-health-care-for-children-and-young-people-with-long-term-conditions-
mental-health-and-psychological-wellbeing-drop-in-centre  
Youth Access. Another Way: Defining the functions and characteristics of YIACS (2018).  
hiips://www.youthaccess.org.uk/downloads/another -way-defining-the-functions-and-characteristics-of-yiacs.pdf 

Tud. 51



 

26 
 

specially designed youth friendly walk-in centres. These spaces are a soft entry point for 
primary mental healthcare supplemented by other youth services (physical and sexual 
health, alcohol and drug, and vocational services) that support 12-25 year olds.  A recent 
evaluation confirmed the Headspace approach reduced psychological distress, suicidal 
ideation, and self-harm.38  In the models reviewed, walk-in services were integrated with 
services handling web, email, and telephone referrals. Other examples of physical hubs 
include Jigsaw (Ireland), Liverpool (UK) and Access Open Minds (Canada) etc. 
 
The research shows that young people respond better to youth specific provision offering 
more flexible support on their own terms, and studies in the UK and Australia show that 
walk-in centres located in the community, and involving the community, appear to reach 
marginalised groups who may not otherwise engage, for example those from Black, Asian 
and minority Ethnic backgrounds.2, 34  Establishing a physical presence where young people 
know they can get help may also raise the profile of mental health treatment pathways with 
young people and their families in the surrounding community. Based on the wide range of 
evidence supporting physical hubs, Mind has partnered with others in the voluntary sector 
to call on the UK Government to fund a network of centres for children and young people 
across England.39,40   
 
There are a variety of ways that hubs can be implemented, examples include: as part of a 
network, a central hub with satellite sites, a stand-alone one-stop-shop facility, and as a 
virtual hub.41  Physical hubs may be more suited to urban or sub-urban environments with 
good public transport links allowing and young people to access services in person 
independently from their parents/carers if they so wish.  Given the rural nature of some 
parts of the North Wales region, the feasibility of physical hubs and their particular 
configuration should be considered in accord with conditions in each locality.   
 
12.3 Accessible, visible, timely 
 
All the models reviewed were concerned with providing easy access to the right level of 
support for the child, young person or family at the right time.  Cross-sector agreements 
that ensure clarity in respect of access to services were a common theme, often 
implemented in the form of a Single Point of Access (SPA)/Single Access Arrangement (SAA) 
with features such as: 

• Highly visible single point of contact across multiple channels as an entry point for 
signposting, universal services, professional advice, consultation, assessment and 
onward referral.     

• Management of referrals from all frontline staff working with children and young 
people, their families, and self-referrals. 

                                                      
38 Is Headspace making a difference to young people’s lives? Australian Government Department of Health (2015) 
hiips://headspace.org.au/assets/Uploads/Evaluation- of-headspace-program.pdf 
headspace 
39 Counselling for young people and young adults in the voluntary and community sector: An overview of the demographic profile of 
clients and outcomes. 2018. hiips://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.1111/papt.12206   
40Catanzano M, Bennett SD, Kerry E, et al Evaluation of a mental health drop-in centre offering brief transdiagnostic psychological 
assessment and treatment for children and adolescents with long-term physical conditions and their families: a single-arm, open, non-
randomised trial. Evidence-Based Mental Health 2021;24:25-32. hiips://ebmh.bmj.com/content/24/1/25  
41 Bostock, L., Britt, R. (2014) Effective approaches to hub and spoke provision: a rapid review of the literature 
hiips://www.alexiproject.org.uk/assets/documents/Effective -approaches-to-Hub-and-Spoke-service-provision_final-report-25-09-14.pdf 

Tud. 52



 

27 
 

• Triage and initial risk assessments to ensure those at high risk are seen as a priority. 
• Prompt decision-making about who can best meet the child/young person’s needs 
• Effective administration underpinned by consistent data gathering and case 

management systems.  
• Appropriate levels of data sharing between agencies.   

 
Given the diverse regional context of North Wales, single access arrangements, combined 
with walk-in centres in locations with good transport links could be considered.  Bilingual 
Welsh/English language support is necessary for all front line access portals.42 
 
12.4 Multi-agency panels  
Many models involved the use of a multi-agency panel or a form of informed triage to 
determine the appropriate next steps for the individual/family once a referral has been 
made. In many cases, panels go hand in hand with a SAA or ‘virtual central hub’ facility that 
collates referrals and ensures they are presented for consideration with adequate 
information for a decision to be made. Teams typically incorporate representatives from 
health, social care, education, the voluntary sector providing a cross-sector knowledge of 
available interventions to be considered.  The research suggests, there has been a growth in 
the popularity of multi-agency panels for decision making in mental health services with 
evidence of improved outcomes, reduced costs and better utilization of services.43   
Collaboration of this kind requires shared values and goals, a good understanding and 
respect for the competencies of team members, and an ability to learn from other 
disciplines and respect their different views and perspectives in order to maximise 
effectiveness.44  Children whose needs fall outside the skills set of primary mental health 
support may require the support of a highly skilled practitioner who can triage, refer and 
negotiate access to effective support and/or offer help until the young person is successfully 
engaged. 
 
12.5 Needs-led approaches 
A needs-led approach involves moving away from service designs developed for and by 
organisations, such as referral criteria based on diagnosable mental disorders, and towards 
flexible service provision based on the holistic evaluation of the needs of the child or young 
person and their families/carers. This wide-lens approach was a feature of the Trieste, 
Headspace and Hertfordshire models.  The Nest Framework supports this change and many 
other bodies are suggesting it is key to addressing the needs of the ‘missing middle.’ 
Transformation of this kind has implications for pathway development, opening the 
possibility of achieving the ‘no wrong door’ ideal, and for shaping population-based and 
targeted strategies and services. 
 

                                                      
42 Rocks, Stephen & Glogowska, Margaret & Stepney, Melissa & Tsiachristas, Apostolos & Fazel, Mina. (2020). Introducing a single point of 
access (SPA) to child and adolescent mental health services in England: a mixed-methods observational study. BMC Health Services 
Research. 20. 10.1186/s12913-020-05463-4. 
43 Kutash, K., Acri, M., Pollock, M. et al. Quality Indicators for Multidisciplinary Team Functioning in Community-Based Children’s Mental 
Health Services. Adm Policy Ment Health 41, 55–68 (2014). hiips://doi.org/10.1007/s10488 -013-0508-2 
44 M. Cooper, Y. Evans, J. Pybis. Interagency collaboration in children and young people's mental health: a systematic review of outcomes, 
facilitating factors and inhibiting factors. Child: care, health and development 2016 41:3;325-342 hiips://doi.org/10.1111/cch.12322  

Tud. 53



 

28 
 

12.6 Participation in care  
Participation is the rights-based principle that young people (and parents and carers where 
appropriate) should have an active role to play in decisions around their care by 
understanding the care options available to them, the risks and benefits associated with 
each and how these align to their personal priorities and values.  This kind of engagement 
has been shown to make relationships between young people and the professionals 
supporting them more open. It can also help young people to feel a greater involvement in 
their care and increase commitment to following their care plans.45 
 
12.7 Mobile Apps and Technologies 
Digital mental health apps, such as BlueIce and Calm Harm, and services providing low-level 
intervention such as Kooth on-line counselling, have the potential to be important 
assessment, management and treatment tools as part of a strategy oriented towards 
prevention.  They offer easier access to low level mental health support, with less of the 
capacity issues of conventional services.  A number of the models presented (Liverpool, 
Hertfordshire and Headspace) included on-line counselling as part of their overall strategy 
and we are aware that Education Psychology in Denbighshire and possibly others in the 
region are already employing these applications.   

Recent reviews of the research suggest young people engage well with these types of tools 
and they demonstrate some positive effects in emotional self-awareness. 46 There is also 
some support for their clinical benefit, however, further research is needed in order to 
validate these effects.47 
 
Clearly access to broadband and/or mobile phone services are critical to the effective 
deliver of these services and we are aware there are areas across the region that are poorly 
served in this regard.  Socio-economic factors may also have an impact.  Again, bilingual 
support and local conditions should be considered when implementing provision in each 
local authority or geographical area. 
 
12.8 Multi-agency Data  
Most of the models did not explicitly address the issue of data collection across multiple-
agencies in the publicly available documentation, although clearly this would be an 
important element of any new design. The exception was the Headspace model which, as a 
national service, offers an aspirational example with a common system infrastructure and 
data gathering requirements for each multi-agency hub in the network. Each hub feeds data 
into a central ‘head office’ system that collates input from across the country and provides 
hub managers with a dashboard, national comparisons and detailed analysis.  
 
Detailed consideration should be given to the data and systems underpinning any new 
service. Minimum levels of data sharing will need to be agreed and the implications for 

                                                      
45 Abrines Jaume, Neus. Inattention and hyperactivity in children adopted from Eastern Europe : : description, causes and implications. 
hiips://ddd.uab.cat/record/114277/  
46 Punukollu M, Marques M. Use of mobile apps and technologies in child and adolescent mental health: a systematic review 
Evidence-Based Mental Health 2019;22:161-166. 
47 Chris Hollis, Caroline J. Falconer, Jennifer L. Martin et al. Annual Research Review: Digital health interventions for children and young 
people with mental health problems – a systematic and meta-review The Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry 2017;58;4;474-503 

Tud. 54



 

29 
 

legacy systems and the ability to interoperate between agencies across the region should be 
investigated.   
 
12.9 Transition to Adult Services 
Transitions between children’s and adult services is a policy area wider than mental health 
alone.  In this strategy we consider only the issue of transitions for children and young 
people experiencing mental ill health.  There should be consideration of a wider review of 
transitions strategy (strategies) in North Wales to reflect the good practice model outlined 
below which we believe could be satisfactorily implemented as part of this strategy. 
 
The Solar model (Solihull, UK) proposes an approach that could be considered as part of this 
further enquiry. The tier free service (supporting 0-19 year olds) works with individuals to 
make the discharge process as smooth as possible by liaising with Adult Mental Health 
Services (AHMS) and continuing to provide support until they are fully ready to transition at 
a pace that suits their needs.  Pre transition questionnaires are used to gauge readiness for 
the receiving service.  In cases where the outcome suggests the person is not ready, support 
continues alongside work to help them prepare for transition.  Pre transition questionnaires 
are readministered at appropriate intervals up to their 21st birthday.  Post transition, a 
further questionnaire is used to ascertain whether the AMHS services are meeting the 
individual’s needs.  
 
A review suggests “the flexibility of the model utilised by Solar offers service users a 
guarantee they will not face a “cliff-edge” transition at the age of 18.”  However, it also 
implies that extending the cut-off point to age 25 would bring the service in line with other 
models and, in particular, research that shows the critical period for the appearance of 
mental health problems in young people extends to age 24. 31,32  
 
  

Tud. 55



 

30 
 

13 Children and young person’s engagement – Key Findings and Illustrative 
Stories 

13.1 Introduction 
In developing this strategy, we have conducted a very extensive children and young people’s 
consultation, the outcomes of which are central to the development of the strategy. Full 
details of this work are provided in a separate report along with an expanded version of this 
summary, see Appendix C.  
 
Following an initial step of raising awareness about the consultation and engagement to 
generate interest and involvement, the Children and Young Persons consultation was 
delivered in three core stages 
 
13.2 Stages of the Children and Young People’s Engagement Programme 
 
Stage 1 – Children and young People’s Engagement 
 This included interviews (virtual and face to face), completion of Young Leaders workbooks 
(specially designed, age-appropriate questionnaires), and engagement in workshops across 
North Wales. To ensure that feedback remained as consistent as possible for data analysis 
purposes, the questions from the Young Leader workbooks were used to help guide 
workshop feedback where participants did not complete the workbooks in written format.  
 
82 children and young people participated in stage 1: 

● 64 participants were based in the East 
● 9 participants were based in the West 
● 9 participants were based more centrally 

 
Stage 2 – Professional Engagement   
The findings from the Stage 1 of the children and young people’s engagement were 
presented to the staff in the professional’s workshop for consideration. The information was 
used to shape and validate the work undertaken to generate potential solutions and 
encourage strategic developments that may contribute towards improvement in children’s 
mental health services. 
 
Stage 3 – Children and Young People’s Review of the Professionals Work 
Children and young people were shown the indicative proposals that were being developed 
through the professional workshop process and asked for their comments and further ideas.   
 
All the participants who engaged during Stage 1 received an invite to attend a workshop 
review event. By offering two workshops, with the capacity to accommodate larger groups, it 
was possible to involve children and young people who use children’s services across North 
Wales but who may not have initially participate during Stage 1 consultations. One event was 
held in the East and another in the West. This allowed for the process to be as inclusive as 
possible include, recognising the need to accommodate travel and support requirements. 
 
33 children and young people attended the events in total: 
● 28 Central/East Area 

Tud. 56



 

31 
 

● 5 West Area 
 
All participants had the opportunity to provide feedback through completion of a workbook, 
or verbally. 24 children and young people did so, with  9 choosing not to. 
 
13.3 Themes from Stage 1  
Using 5 key questions from the Young Leaders Workbook, we studied the completed 
workbooks alongside verbal feedback provided during workshops to establish recurring 
themes using coded theme analysis. Several themes arise from the children and young 
people’s personal experiences that demonstrate a need for improvement within children’s 
mental health services.  
 
Overall, 91.5% identified situations where they felt that the services they accessed could have 
been better and offered suggestions on what they would like to see in the future. Of the 8.5% 
of participants who said that services did not need improving some had not needed to access 
mental health services.  The six most frequently recurring themes are listed in the table below: 
 
 

 
Themes 

Number 
sharing 
theme 

 
% 

To have online services that enable users to access support, book appointments, 
conduct appointments etc  
 

 
29/82 

 
35.3.% 

To have better and quicker access to mental health professionals/services/resources 
 

 
26/82 

 
31.7% 

To have clearer/uncomplicated information of where or who to go to when support 
is required 
 

 
25/82 

 
30.4% 

To feel supported, valued and listened to  
24/82 

 
29.2% 

To have shorter waiting lists 
 

 
24/82 

 
29.2% 

To have better communication and consistent relationships with 
professionals/therapists  

 
22/82 

 
26.8% 

*Of 82 children and young people taking part 
 

Table 4: Frequently recurring themes 

 
Analysis of feedback suggests children and young people would like to see:  
 
● A major reduction or preferably elimination of waiting times for mental health services 

(young people’s unhappiness with excessive waiting for mental health appointments was 
a highly recurring theme)   

● Development of simple up to date information on how to get support that is easily 
accessible, and available online 

● Development of digital offers e.g.  for online booking, video, and telephone appointments 
etc.  

● Simplified access to services that communicate well with each other  

Tud. 57



 

32 
 

● Professionals who listen, seek to understand, show compassion, and can communicate 
better with children and young people.  

● Help that is person-centred and consistent which then helps young people to build 
trusting relationships with professionals  

● Help that is readily available even at lower-level support and including a wider range of 
support and therapies such as help with gaming addiction. 

● Better support in school including, mental health awareness raising in schools and their 
communities, teacher and peers that are more knowledgeable about mental health, and 
more available counselling in schools  

 
 
13.4 Messages shared with professionals 
The following key messages from Stage 1 of children and young persons’ engagement 
programme were shared with participants in the professionals’ workshop series and taken 
account of in the development of the strategy and “To Be” model.  The new model should 
be: 
 
● Based on experiences of children young people and families 
● Have a shift in focus to prevention and early help - to prevent mental health difficulties 

occurring and offer help in the community at an early stage to stop mental health 
difficulties getting worse 

● Be integrated so that children, young people and their families have one simple way of 
accessing the services they need - this could look like an integrated team of health and 
social care staff that works together with schools and other community support services  

● Be flexible so that children, young people and families can move between services as their 
needs increase or decrease e.g., without waiting or having their case closed and opened 
again.  

● Be available as locally as possible 
● Be accessible - make it as easy as possible for you to get to the service or for the service 

to reach you  
 
13.5 Children and Young People’s response to proposals for the “To Be “ model 

 
Overall feedback demonstrates that participants were pleased to see the initiatives and 
ideas developed in the professional workshops.  Of the initiatives presented to children 
young people and families and based on their experiences, the following three proposed 
developments received the most positive feedback: 
 

• A Central Door: A single entry point to get help and access services 
• A Prevention Door: Have a shift in focus to prevention and early help - to prevent 

mental health difficulties occurring and offer help in the community at an early stage 
to stop mental health difficulties getting worse 

• A Supporting Door: Be accessible - make it as easy as possible for you to get to the 
service or for the service to reach you  

 
Details on the limitations of the consultation and engagement process are included in 
Appendix C.  

Tud. 58



 

33 
 

 

14 Our voice Our Future! 

Children and young people’s views about how they would like services to be are 
summarised in the following “I Statements”. These represent the user’s vision for good 
practice. 
 
When I think about my ideal experiences with children's services, I visualise that... 
 
1. I am being listened to and have someone to talk to whenever I require support 
2. I am being taken seriously no matter how small other people might think my worries 

and anxieties are 
3. I am able to access the support I need without waiting for a long time 
4. I am being treated with respect 
5. I am someone who is considered of value with good ideas and advice 
6. I am considered to be an important part of a community with a positive role to play 
7. I am able to access information easily and can educate myself when I need to 
8. I am equipped with good knowledge of to go when I require extra support with my 

mental health 
9. I am being well supported and cared for and have complete trust that children's services 

will always help me 
10. I am able to easily access techniques or therapy online to help myself when needed 
11. I am able to use and access transport easily when I have appointments 
12. I am given the right treatment at the right time 
13. I am able to have regular conversations about mental health with my family, friends and 

in my school 
14. I am not ever left feeling like I am being judged  
15. I am able to feel well informed on my choices 
16. I am absolutely confident that I receive my therapy and support for as long as I need it 
17. I am confident that my 'complicated' needs will be addressed effectively 
18. I am in a good, consistent relationship with my therapist  
19. I am fully confident that my information will be shared suitably with services so that 

they can get the right support, diagnosis and referral for me 
  

Tud. 59



 

34 
 

15 Outcomes Framework  

15.1 Introduction 
The outcomes within the North Wales “No Wrong Door” strategy are derived from strong 
consistent themes that emerged from: 
● The views expressed by children, young people and their families as expressed during 

the children and young people’s consultation. These are presented as “Our VOICE, Our 
FUTURE!”, a series of “I” statements representing their thoughts about their ideal 
experiences with children’s mental health services and are listed on the previous page.  

● Research in to best practice models and associated principles. 
● The views of professionals as expressed during the strategy formulation process 
● Important guidance frameworks for the development or transformation of mental 

health services for children, young people and families were used to develop the 
proposed strategy. In particular, NEST/NYTH (published by NHS Wales in 2021) which 
integrates best practice research and initiatives including the work of the Children’s 
Commissioner for Wales, aligned with and informed every aspect of the work, from co-
production to a children’s rights-based focus, to the principles of equity, diversity and 
inclusion, ease of access, being values led, and more.  

● The Matrics Plant guidance (published by Improvement CYMRU 2017). This informs the  
approach to widening access to therapies and increasing capacity in the system.  It 
underpins the proposed needs-led perspective and corresponding transition from a 
professional roles orientation to one that is competency based.  

 
 We recommend that implementation of the strategy, particularly as it manifests in the 
different localities across the region, ensures continued alignment with NEST/NYTH and 
Matrics Plant.  Summaries of both these frameworks can be found in Appendix D.  
 
We have reviewed each outcome with stakeholders to identify strengths, opportunities for 
improvements and gaps in service that need to be addressed within the strategy to deliver 
the outcomes.  
 
The following table is a summary gap analysis that  

• outlines the key strength within each sub-locality that can be built on and shared 
across the region 

• major gaps in service that need to be addressed to deliver outcomes 
 
The gap analysis looks at both the hard elements of service delivery and the soft elements 
that influence culture as it was recognised by stakeholders early on that building a different 
kind of culture across North Wales will be essential to success.       

Tud. 60



 

35 
 

 
GAP ANALYSIS  

 Service Elements  
 HARD ELEMENTS SOFT ELEMENTS 
Desired Outcomes  Strategic 

Organisations working 
together effectively 
 

Operational 
Easy access to the right 
services for the child and 
family 

Service 
Responsive services  
 
Timely intervention 

Shared Values 
Organisations working 
together effectively 
 

Style 
Responsive services  
 

Staff 
Responsive services  
 
Timely intervention 

Skills  
Responsive services 
  
Timely intervention 

Examples of strengths 
& good Practice What 
do we do well now 
that we could do more 
of to deliver desired 
outcomes ? 

West Service Trauma 
informed service model  
 
Central - joint funded 
projects. SSWBA is well 
embedded  
 
East- One agreed  
approach  
Prevention and Early Help 
Framework 

West - Interagency 
electronic communications 
 
Central - Families First 
family centred working  
 
East - Flying Start. 
Innovative range of 
services & good referral 
processes 
 

West - Increasingly 
integrated services,  
 
Central –MDT working of 
complex cases  
 
East & West  -  projects 
showing evidence of 
reducing upstream 
demand 

West – Staff committed to 
continuous improvement - 
Solution focus 
 
Central - proactive 
management of resource 
conflicts  
 
East – open to sharing 
 

West - Bilingual, flexible, 
person- centered, 
solution focused services 
 
Central – value MDT and 
collaborative approach – 
good relationships 
 
East - can do attitude  
 

West – good 
communications 
 
Central – Resiliant and 
tenacious staff 
 
East - good 
communications and 
commitment 

West - Well qualified, well 
motived staff 

- Training in trauma 
informed practice 

 
Central – Experienced workforce 
 
East - wide skill set  
 
 

        
What do we need to 
stop doing start doing 
or do differently to 
deliver desired 
outcomes ?   

All – Develop joint 
planning across health 
social care and education 
leading to a whole system 
approach, one strategic 
plan, aligned corporate 
plans and integrated 
governance framework 

ALL - develop integrated 
MDT hubs and transition 
pathway and shared 
governance frameworks 
 
West – Use technology to 
improve efficiency  
 
Central - develop a 
coherent integrated 
pathway and resilient 
agreed operating system 
 
East - increase joint 
working in early 
intervention and pathways 
for children that don’t 
engage 
 

ALL – develop fully 
integrated services, 
procedures processes and 
protocols based on 
outcomes and elimination 
of waiting lists 
 
West – develop flexible 
services based on need 
and virtual platforms 
 
Central - develop outcome 
focused needs based 
services with access 
criteria based on need 
East - flexible locus of 
delivery & fast track 

All – need for collective 
reflection on working 
together, develop shared 
values and joint 
management of risk 
 
West – develop and  
improve understanding  
 
Central – model 
collaborative working and 
develop holistic joined up 
models 
 
East - develop a consistent 
approach with education 

ALL – embed staff 
behaviours that 
empower children and 
families and  measuring 
more of what is 
important to them 
 
West – Use more  
creative thinking  
 
Central – develop 
integrated delivery 
 
East – try new 
opportunities when gaps 
are identified 

ALL- develop and 
integrate workforce plans 
that deliver enough 
capacity and develop the 
capabilities needed  
 
 
West – improve 
recruitment and build 
even better 
communications  
 
Central - more effective 
management of complex 
cases 
 
East – develop fully staffed 
workforce of sufficient 
capacity  

ALL – develop core 
competencies, review 
capabilities and develop joint 
training plans 
 
 
 
 
West – create alternative skill 
sets 
 
Central - develop better crisis 
management, develop flexible 
delivery of joint training 
 
East – develop a skilled 
workforce  with a broader skill 
set that is asset based 

T
ud. 61



 

36 
 

During the professionals’ workshops stakeholders reflected on the gap analysis and were 
asked to consider what needed to be in done to enable each outcome to be delivered across 
North Wales. Stakeholders then developed a series of enablers for each outcome which is 
summarised below in Figure 1. This chapter describes each enabler in detail.  
 
In this section below we provide a framework consisting of the 4 key outcomes that need to 
be achieved (see figure 3):  
● Easy access to the right services for the child and family 
● Timely intervention 
● Responsive services 
● Organisations working together 
 

 
Figure 3: Summary of North Wales "No Wrong Door" Strategic Outcomes and Enablers 

 
15.2 Outcome: easy access to the right services for the child and family 
 
1. Raise awareness of the system  
Ensuring that members of the public and potential referring agencies are aware of what is 
available and how to make contact/refer in to the system. This can be achieved by making 
information available in variety of ways, including online and in places where it is most likely 
to be useful. The information should be available in a variety of languages so that it is 
accessible to everyone. It should also be written in plain language so people can understand 

Tud. 62



 

37 
 

the system, the support available and what help is provided to find their way into, and 
around it. 
 
2. Simplify access to the system 
 Ease of access can be achieved by creating an open access, single access arrangement 
(SAA). This should be the only route into targeted services where these are required.  The 
SAA may operate through multiple local access points and permit multi-channel referrals, 
including online. The SAA should be operated by with suitably qualified/well-trained staff 
using clearly mapped and understood and agreed processes to inform decision making.  
 
There should be sufficient capacity in the system. This should include staff who can make 
calls, chase information, follow up on people who have been signposted to other resources 
and contact people who aren’t engaging. 
 
3. Ensure the care support and treatment system is easy to navigate 
Each service should have clear service access criteria with expectation of flexibility. Services’ 
workload and pressures should be monitored and managed to minimise waiting lists. Where 
necessary a Resource Panel, which is responsible for the operational management within 
the system, should have the authority to require flexibility in access. In order to assist 
communication and system navigation the child or young person should be assigned a lead 
professional/coordinator. 

 
Disputes about responsibility for funding should not be a determining factor in choice of the 
most appropriate resource.  A single point of decision making  (the Resource Panel noted 
above and described in the proposed model) should facilitate the child or young person’s 
journey within mental health services. 
 
Outcome timely intervention 
 
4. Reduce the number of children and young people experiencing mental ill-health by 
offering effective prevention services.   
 
The “No Wrong Door” policy emphasises the importance of understanding and tackling the 
causes of mental ill-health and the benefits to the whole system of investment in prevention 
and early intervention.  
 
Factors that have a positive impact on mental wellbeing starting from the mother’s 
pregnancy and early years through to young adulthood are well reported. In recent years 
early help and preventative interventions have been greatly reduced, and there are limited 
programmes concerned with the psychological and emotional wellbeing of babies and 
children and their parents. Further work should be undertaken to develop an early 
intervention prevention strategy jointly across services. This might include investment in 
these areas, for example, widening access to targeted Early Years programmes for families 
with children under 4 years of age, for example: 

  

Tud. 63



 

38 
 

● Welsh Government's “Flying Start” scheme 48 
● Evidence-based and highly accessible programmes that generate better outcomes for 

children’s cognitive development, relationships and resilience to cope when life gets 
tough, such as PEEPLE’s Antenatal Programme49 (typically NHS funded) and PEEPLE’s 
‘Supporting parents and children to learn together’ 

● PARTNERSHIP FOR CHILDREN’s Zippy’s Friends (an early years programme, typically 
education funded) ‘Good mental health for children – for life’. Both these organisations – 
PEEPLE’s and PFP’s also have a comprehensive range of other  programmes for children 
and families50  

● Domestic violence prevention 
 
5. Reduce the number of children and young people with more serious mental health 
problems through early intervention  
 
Research, referred to elsewhere in this strategy, indicates a strong economic case for 
investment in prevention, early intervention, and less intensive services, rather than 
intervening later, when problems have amplified, and resolutions are more difficult. This is a 
major factor in the case for change 
 
To facilitate improved identification of children and young people it will be important to 
ensure that, staff and volunteers employed in the wider system are able to recognise causal 
factors such as adverse Childhood Experiences (ACEs), detect the early signs of developing 
problems and be able to respond appropriately.  
 
Training for these groups of people is a necessary enabler for this is. It should include 
awareness raising and mental health first aid. Where staff have already been trained it will 
be important to ensure that they are able to use the knowledge and skills they have 
acquired, build effective relationships with staff in the proposed mental health hubs. 
Improved system access will help to make staff from outside the formal mental health 
system, including those with training and who may be willing to provide support, more 
confident in working with children and young people experiencing psychological problems.  
 
The value of these trained staff must be recognised as they are able to make a major 
contribution to the lives of children and young people and system efficiency and 
effectiveness. Where necessary their training should be consolidated and built upon. 
An important early intervention success factor is the availability of services that can support 
children and young people with lower levels of need. This may require expansion of the 
range and volumes of “upstream” (early intervention, prevention, and services to meet 
lower levels of need) interventions both in universal services and targeted support. We 
recommend that commissioners examine the outcomes from upstream services and 
interventions to determine how these can be made more effective and where necessary 
improved so as to reduce the numbers referred to more intensive, “upstream services.”  

                                                      
48 hiips://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019 -07/flying-start-health-programme-guidance_0.pdf 
49 PEEPLE’s Anti-natal programmehiips://www.peeple.org.uk/peep -antenatal-programme  
50 Zippy’s Friends for 5-7 year olds  hiips://www.partnershipforchildren.org.uk/what -we-do/programmes-for-schools/zippys-friends.html  
 

Tud. 64



 

39 
 

 
Transitioning from CAMHS to adult mental health services is time of heightened risk but also 
an opportunity for early intervention and recovery. Therefore, it will be critical that  a 
transition plan for 17-24 year olds is developed in partnership with adult mental health 
service.   
 
6. Reduce the use of “down-stream” services (intensive and specialist services for 
individuals with higher levels of need), and reduced use of out of area placements  
 
This outcome is linked to the early intervention and prevention outcome. Professionals 
emphasised the importance of a local offer of effective upstream services to avoid the need 
for more specialist placements. 
 
The professionals’ workshops also highlighted concerns about the effectiveness and quality 
of currently available services for children and young people who have the most complex 
needs and require more intensive interventions.  Staff suggested that services should aspire 
to treatment and resolution of mental health problems, rather than containment. 
 
There is an opportunity to either develop the market to create an effective local offer or to 
directly provide the required services. This may be helped by a shift to outcome-based 
commissioning and investment in market development activity. 
 
Older teenagers that don’t need to enter the care system but don’t want to be living at 
home are a group whose needs could be met through a down-stream resource: 
accommodation based independent living with support to meet their mental health and 
emotional welfare needs 
 
7. Develop a simple and efficient system process for arranging the most appropriate and 
effective services as quickly as possible  
The access arrangements should include a proportionate assessment of need to provide an 
understanding of the needs of the child, that is sufficient to determine what service or 
services would best meet these. 
 
If signposting to resources outside the system is indicated, staff should have access to good 
information about what is available and to provide to children and young people to facilitate 
their access. If onward referral is required for access to an additional resource(s), this should 
be through a single onward referral mechanism that ensures that neither children and 
young people nor their families required to repeatedly provide the same information.  
 
Staff involved in responding to enquiries and decision making should have full information 
about all available services. This calls for good information sharing between services and 
about community resources. 
 
Access arrangements need effective business support to ensure smooth functioning and 
systems and to ensure that the scarce professional resources are most efficiently and 
effectively used.  
 

Tud. 65



 

40 
 

Outcome: responsive services 
 

8. Operate Flexible Services that meet the needs of the child  
Services should operate on “best fit” principles with flexible service acceptance criteria and 
simplified decision making with respect to funding so that children and young people can be 
matched with a service able to meet their needs. Service access and acceptance criteria 
should be needs and not diagnosis based (especially in the case of learning disability, which 
is no longer assessed for, but is the criteria for referral to LD services). 
 
Each child/young person should be supported by, or have access to, a lead professional or 
case coordinator during the assessment process, intervention planning and during the 
period of any service delivery. The lead professional case co-ordinator should perform the 
function of ‘system navigator’ and, if necessary, with the authority of a resources panel (see 
below), manage access to any suitable services that would best meet the needs of the child 
or young person. 
 
9. Ensure timely access to services at all points in the pathway 
There should be oversight and proactive management of waiting lists. This should monitor 
system dynamics and formulate and monitor clear performance criteria in respect of timely 
access to ensure that the system activity focuses on what matters most. There should be 
protocols in place if a service rejects a referral, declines to provide a service or there is a 
substantial delay before the service can be provided. There should be arrangements in place 
for a management panel to have the authority to override service level decision making.  
 
When waits for support do occur, there should be self-help support and advice available for 
those waiting. 

 
10. Operate Services that wrap around the child  
The child or young person should have their needs assessed by, and have access to care, 
support and treatment provided by, the most appropriate professionals for their individual 
circumstances. Each child, who may benefit from a multi-disciplinary or multi agency 
approach should have access to assessment, support or intervention from the staff team 
best able to meet their needs. The “Team Around the Child” (TAC) and “Team around the 
Family” (TAF) are well-established good practice models, widely used for delivery of a 
multidisciplinary team working in children’s services and could be usefully developed for all 
children experiencing mental health problems, irrespective of the level of need. They are 
currently a feature in Welsh Government’s “Flying Start” programme. It will be important to 
use terminology for the approach that avoids any confusion with services that are using a 
similar practice model described as TAC or TAF. 
 
TAF and TAC models ensure that the child and family members have a voice in their own 
treatment. The complexity of multi-intervention plans can be daunting for children and 
young people and their primary point of contact should be through a lead professional/case 
coordinator as described above. A TAC/TAF model should include an integrated response 
which involves schools and education services. This will help to prevent the school non-
attendance or exclusion and may provide the support necessary to increase the resilience of 
schools in coping with children who have needs arising from mental health problems. 

Tud. 66



 

41 
 

 
If problems arise out of hours the child or young person, or their families, or indeed other 
agencies such as the police, may need advice and guidance on the management of a 
situation or additional support. This could be provided by a multidisciplinary out of hours 
crisis response service. Consideration may be given to the inclusion of CAMHS staff in 
emergency duty team arrangements. 
 
 
11. Ensure Children and their families are involved in decisions about interventions  
There should be an agreed operating model for care, support and treatment planning. This 
should provide clear processes and clarity about decision-making, responsibilities, and who 
will deliver support, including the role of family members.  
 
The model should also include guidance on shared decision-making. The TAC and TAF 
models provide mechanisms for children and their families to be involved in decision-
making with respect to interventions. There are also other well-established 
mechanisms/tools for shared decision-making. 
 
System pathways should seek to be child/young person centred with their perspectives fully 
integrated into all aspects of the mental health and wellbeing system, including service and 
strategic planning. This will help to achieve cohesion and continuity.  
 
Outcome: organisations working effectively together 

 
12. Operate a multidisciplinary approach and integrated services for all children 
The multi-disciplinary approach should be delivered through an integrated, child/young 
person centred, “wider system” model in which the service offered is matched to individual 
needs of the child/young person. To facilitate this, everyone working within the system, 
whether in education, the NHS, CAMHS, social services or third sector organisation should 
seek to see themselves as part of a single system with a common, shared identity. The 
development of a pooled or blended budget with the intention of eliminating inter-agency 
disputes about funding responsibility will also help to create the sense of working for a 
single agency, allowing maximum focus on the best way to meet the needs of the child or 
young person. 
 
The component parts of the mental health system should not be characterised as being at 
different levels in a hierarchy but organised so that the support provided is bespoke to 
individual needs and delivered by suitably competent people across the whole system.  
 
It is essential that schools become more involved in the process as this is where children and 
young people spend significant periods of time. Schools could play a much larger role in 
identifying and responding to the mental health and wellbeing of their students.  School 
nurses are an important resource in relation to mental health but what they can currently achieve 
is constrained by lack of capacity, competing demands on their time and lack of specialist 
training. In view of their potential to identify and support wellbeing and mental ill-health, we would 
see expansion of their contribution as strategic priority. 
 

Tud. 67



 

42 
 

The service offer should be based on needs, not diagnosis. The ethos of the mental health 
system should be an approach that routinely seeks to understand the context and ecology 
that has led to the challenges faced by the child or young person and how this is affecting 
their mental health and wellbeing. If a multi-disciplinary intervention will deliver a better 
outcome to a child or young person, this should be available at all levels of need and not be 
restricted to those with higher or more complex needs. The Wales Children’s Commissioner 
has directed Regional Partnership Boards to agree a broad definition of children with 
complex needs to include all children who experience distress and require help and support 
from multiple agencies.  
 
However, not all children and young people will require a multi-disciplinary initial 
assessment. Where it is clear what the most suitable service response should be, and needs 
can be met by a single service (even if that is itself multi-disciplinary) the lead professional 
working alone may be sufficient to undertake the necessary functional responsibilities 
without the involvement of other professions. It is important to avoid over committing 
resources to those children and young people who needs can be met with lower levels 
intervention. The initial assessment/triage function should differentiate between  simple 
and complex needs pathways. 

 
As the strategy is implemented there may be scope to consider amalgamating services to 
ensure the best skill mix to meet the child or young person’s needs and to avoid duplication. 
 
Implementation of this strategy should ensure that there is an organisational development 
programme to support to the development of joint/multi agency working. This should 
include opportunities for reflective and learning space so professionals can better 
understand each other services and appreciate the advantages of multi-disciplinary working. 
A training and development programme should also address the need for a shared 
language, and ways of facilitating joint working. Co-location and regular multi-disciplinary 
activities will also help to develop effective collaboration.  
 
13. Information Sharing 
Multi-disciplinary working will be improved by better information sharing between services, 
ideally a single record for the child or young person, who should only have to tell their story 
once. 
 
14. Have no disputes about responsibility for providing care and a joint approach to 
managing risk  
 
These enablers overlap with those associated with multi-disciplinary approaches, integrated 
services and system navigation.  
 
An essential factor in the “To Be” model should be a commitment to avoid disputes about 
the funding of individual care and packages and, if these do occur, to resolve these without 
creating uncertainty and delay. Good practice models point to the value of pooled or 
blended budgets as a means of achieving this. The size of the budget pool and scale of 
individual contributions to the pool will require strategic decisions at management board 
level, with individual care package resourcing decisions delegated to operational managers, 

Tud. 68



 

43 
 

where necessary agreed by multi-agency Resources Panel. Holistic assessment and care and 
support planning combined with the use of a single decision point in respect of funding care 
were features of the proposed model that were widely supported by professionals in the 
workshops. 
 
The multi-agency resources panel should also provide a mechanism for resolution of 
different professional perspectives, values and opinions. It will be particularly important for 
partners to jointly agree an approach to the assessment and management of risks.  
 
15. Making best use of resources outside the system – universal services and community 
capacity building  
There should also be a commitment to work with communities to build community capacity. 
This requires staff within the system to know about, and understand, the services that are 
available, their strengths and limitations. Universal services have an important role to play 
in helping children and young people to achieve good mental health and wellbeing. They are 
particularly important in early years and may be more used by hard to engage families and 
individuals than targeted services. 
 
The findings of the children and young people’s consultation draw attention to their 
preference for services to be available in communities and familiar setting such as schools. 
This emphasises the importance of universal services. During the professionals’ workshops 
school nurses described how they felt there was an opportunity to play a greater role in 
prevention and early intervention but were not able to do so because of competing 
priorities and scarce resources. Other professionals also called for a re-look at the role of 
health visitors and school nurses to enable preventative mental health work to be 
prioritised. 
 
It is in the interests of the statutory services to make best use of the value provided by 
universal services. “Up-stream” investment will ease pressure on both NHS and local 
authority services and may be considered as delivering benefits to individuals, in terms of 
their quality of life, to communities and economic advantages for the funding partners. The 
responsibility for upstream investment should be jointly shared. 
This may require investment in raising awareness of mental health matters and in providing 
training and support to increase the capability of staff within universal services to work with 
children who may have some additional needs.  
 
  

Tud. 69



 

44 
 

16 Proposed “to be” model 

The new service model developed to implement the North Wales ‘No Wrong Door” strategy 
is designed to be flexible and responsive to different levels of need, with each level 
providing treatment and support tailored to, and proportionate to the child or young 
person’s need, with a focus on providing early help and preventing problems becoming 
more severe. This approach, in common with good practice models replaces a model of tiers 
based on diagnosis and a hierarchy of access criteria. 
 
The new system is for children aged 0 - 25 years and aims to get the right help to the baby, 
child or young person as quickly as possible.  In a complex multi-agency network of services 
this is best achieved through a managed process characterised by good joint working, 
information sharing and mature partnerships. The strategy therefore involves a multi-
disciplinary service model which operates as if it were a single agency. This demands a 
change in culture, new systems and processes and funding arrangements. Where necessary 
there will be flexibility between children’s and adult services. 
 
We recommend that the model is given a distinctive brand identity. This has been done to 
good effect in other service redevelopment projects. It will mark a new beginning of 
collaborative working between the partners, make it more attractive to children, young 
people, and their families and facilitate the change in culture necessary for its success. 
Ideally Children and Young People will be involved in naming the brand. 
 
The model is designed to respond quickly to mental health problems and find early 
resolution in the community where the baby, child or young person lives, ideally without the 
formal involvement of mental health services. Universal services, and especially education, 
have an important role in nurturing children and young people’s mental health and the early 
identification and support of those with developing issues. Training and support to these 
services is therefore essential to reducing the demand for formal mental health services, 
this should include mental health first aid. 
 
The proposed formal mental health system is designed to respond to 4 different levels of 
need: 
 
Low Needs - These are experienced by babies, children and young people who have had a 
wellbeing concern and have made good overall progress using preventative and non-
specialist channels. There are no additional, unmet needs or there is/has been a single need 
identified that can be/has been met by support from educational support services, or a 
universal service. 
 
Additional Needs – Babies, children and young people in this category have needs that 
cannot be met by universal services and require additional, co-ordinated multi-agency 
support and early help. It also includes those whose current needs are unclear.  
 
Complex Needs – Babies, children and young people with an increasing level of unmet 
needs and those who require more complex support and interventions and coordinated 
support to prevent concerns escalating.  

Tud. 70



 

45 
 

 
Acute/Specialist Needs, including Safeguarding - These occur when babies, children and 
young people have experienced significant harm, or who are at risk of significant harm 
including those where there are significant welfare concerns. These children have the 
highest level of need and may require an urgent or very specialist intervention. 
 
 

 
 

 
 

Figure 4 : the Proposed Model 

 
16.1 A Children’s Rights Approach in Mental Health Services 
Policy and legislation on children in Wales are underpinned by the United Nations 
Convention on the Rights of the Child 1989 (UNCRC). The Rights of Children and Young 
Persons (Wales) Measure 2011, the Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014 and the 
Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 all establish duties on public authorities 
that contribute toward the realisation of children’s rights. A Children’s Rights Approach is 
consistent with these duties and must be followed for the North Wales Regional Partnership 
Board and its constituent organisations to meet their statutory duties.  
 
All children and young people in Wales have the following rights: 

● to be treated as individuals 

Tud. 71



 

46 
 

● to be treated equally and not to experience any discrimination against them 
● to be respected 
● to have privacy 
● to be treated with dignity 
● to be protected from danger and harm 
● to receive support and care that meets their needs, considers their choices and 

keeps them safe 
● to communicate using the communication methods and language of their choice 
● to be able to obtain information about themselves. 

 
Effective mental health services are an important aspect of ensuring that all children have 
an equal opportunity to fulfil their potential. In developing the North Wales “No Wrong 
Door” strategy we have sought to place children's rights at the heart of service planning and 
provision. The development process has involved listening to children and paying 
meaningful attention to their opinions.  
 
16.2 CASE STUDIES 
 
16.2.1 Gareth’s Story – the missing middle 
From a young age I felt something was different about me and when I started school my 
mum and teacher noticed I was struggling to learn and got upset about going to school. My 
GP referred me to the neurodevelopmental team for an assessment and I waited 2 years to 
be seen.  During the wait I was falling behind with schoolwork, feeling more upset and 
finding it hard to make friends at school.  I was eventually told I had borderline autism and 
due to the diagnosis being borderline I didn’t get any help at school I was in. It felt like 
nobody cared. I struggled through school, struggled to make friends and did not achieve any 
qualifications. When I was 17 I finally got a diagnosis of autism, but it was too late, I ended 
up homeless and felt a complete failure.  I know I could have done much better because I 
receive support now but it’s too late.    
 
Opportunities for Improvement  

● Intervening early 
● Outreach, training, advice and building resilience in universal services 
● Support in early years based on need not diagnosis 
● Continuity of support 

 
The nursery staff have regular mental health training and have access to advice and support 
from a link worker. My nursery noticed I was struggling to join in, play and make friends so 
the nursery spoke to the xx-team outreach worker for advice. I was referred to xx team for 
an assessment and in the meantime the link worker provided advice to the nursey and 
supported my mum and got to know me. I was visited at home by an occupational therapist 
from the team within the month. The occupational therapist spoke to me and my mum and 
watched me at home and in the nursey over the next month. The occupational therapist 
then worked with me my mum and the nursery to build on my strengths and help manage 
my sensory needs. The occupational therapist also suggested we look at a particular school 
that could support me and asked for another member of the team to assess me further. Due 
to the detailed information about how I functioned, the team diagnosed my autism early, I 

Tud. 72



 

47 
 

had a support package and went to a school that was able to support my needs. As I grew 
up and needed a bit more help the school nurses linked back with the team when I needed 
it. I felt more confident at school and made some friends. The team also suggested a youth 
club where I have learned to cook, and centre has a drop in where I have met other boys 
similar to me and have met a good friend Ben that way.  
 
I am now 17. I have 5 qualifications and am training to be a chef. Ben goes to the same 
college so it’s fun too. I am hoping to get a flat of my own and a job some day and I know 
the team will be there again to help me with that if I need it. 
 
16.2.2 Graces story – at risk of becoming a looked after child 
I am 14 and live with my mum who has a mental health condition. My dad took drugs and 
died of an overdose when I was young, he could get very angry with us sometimes. My older 
brother has now started using cannabis and missing school and can get angry at me and 
mum which is frightening.  I feel pretty sad and hopeless and scared about life right now and 
have secretly started cutting my arms again to get some relief. My mum’s mental health is 
getting worse, I could be taken away from her any time and the social worker has spoken to 
us about residential care and there are no suitable foster homes. I have been seen and 
discharged by CAMHS twice now and spent 6 weeks in hospital 3 years ago. When I need 
their help, it takes too long to be referred. Last time I saw CAMHS they sent me to 
counselling and I have not heard anything from CAMHS in 2 years. My support system has 
fallen apart, there is no one to talk to anymore, I used to have a school counsellor, but she 
retired, no one has replaced her, the social worker is more focused on what my brother may 
do next and if my mum is coping with looking after us properly, and I have no idea how to 
contact CAMHs.  I am worried about mum, feel hopeless, am falling behind at school and 
don’t care about much anymore. I am also wondering if there is any point in living. I think 
my brother takes drugs to cope and some of my brother’s friends are offering me drugs and 
if they help my brother cope they might help me.   
Opportunity for improvement  

● Intervening early  
● Recognising attachment issues and help in early years  
● Access to the services that can cope with complexity and servery of needs 
● Access to universal services in community to help her develop peer support network 
● Provide navigation support in a complex system 
● Develop personal resilience to stay safe 
● Outreach services giving training advice building resilience in universal services 
● Care co-ordination focused on Graces needs  
● Continuity of support.  

 
New system 
Outreach functions of the hub are helping to increase awareness to identify her needs and 
to get help and so avoid the escalation – training and awareness raising and building 
resilience 

● Once in hub care coordinator to help system navigation – child centred approach 
focused on her needs and the co-ordinator works with family social worker  

● Refer to family support model like MST which includes intensive support 
● New system crisis resolutions home treatment 24/7 

Tud. 73



 

48 
 

● Access to universal services which will help her develop peer support and build 
resilience 

● Access to trauma informed therapy 
 

16.3 Features of the proposed model 
 
16.3.1 Easy Access with a Clear and Easy Referral Process 
The entry point for all enquiries for help and advice will be through a single access 
arrangement (SAA). In this strategy we will use the term Single Access Arrangement rather 
than the term Single Point of Access (SPA) as the latter term can be misleading as it can 
imply a single location, whereas the SAA refers to a single system which can operate in one 
or more places. 

 
The SAA manages entry into the child and adolescent mental health system. 
Enquiries/referrals can be made by anyone, and all means of referral are acceptable. This 
includes (but is not limited to) children’s and young people themselves or their families,  as 
well as staff from schools, education providers, health and social care organisations, 
criminal justice agencies; third sector organisations and providers of universal services. 
 
Referrals will require only limited information. Collection of additional information, 
sufficient to make decisions about the most appropriate response, will be the responsibility 
of staff operating the Single Access Arrangement (SAA).  
 
Enquiries that require further action, will be assigned to the most appropriate child and 
adolescent mental health “hub”. These are described in more detail below. Hubs act as a 
source of advice, signposting to universal (non-specialist) services and offer an outreach 
function. The hubs will also provide some treatment and support interventions and are also 
a gateway into other targeted services. 
 
The SAA will ensure that there is a single route to get help for a baby, child or young person. 
Schools and education providers told us how currently, there are multiple and different 
routes, depending on where a child lives. This should be eliminated in the new SAA where 
the process will direct the enquiry to the most appropriate hub. 
 
Onward routing will be made using a common data set and agreed protocol, and should aim 
to avoid children, young people and their families having to tell their stories and provide the 
same information repeatedly. 
 
16.3.2 Organisations Working Together - “Hub” model  
The hubs are multi-agency, multi-disciplinary services which undertake a variety of 
functions, both reactive and proactive. We recommend that hubs are given a child and 
young person friendly name as part of a rebranding of the service which presents all child 
and adolescent mental health services as a single, integrated identity, even if staff remain 
employed by separate organisations  
 
Children and young people, their families and professionals all identified responsiveness as a 
necessary requirement. A strategic aim is therefore to create joined up services that are 

Tud. 74



 

49 
 

adaptable to the collective needs of children and young people and their families, delivered 
in a system that seeks to both simplify children and young people’s experience in the 
pathway and treat them in the ways that is consistent with the aspirations set out in “Our 
VOICE, Our FUTURE!” Of particular importance is the wish to avoid or minimise moves 
between agencies and services as these are seen as causing additional stress and 
uncertainty. 
 
Hubs have an important triage and onward referral role.  Currently there are examples of 
“scattergun” referrals to different which result in children and young people spending time 
on waiting lists for sometimes inappropriate services. This has the effect of artificially 
inflating waiting lists, thus distorting demand data and does little to alleviate the child or 
young person’s problems. 
 
The hub’s role in initial assessment and triage will be important in avoiding unnecessary 
labelling of children and young people experiencing emotional distress that is a normal part 
of life. The hub’s outreach function in supporting resilience is also essential to the support 
of children and young people who experience problems but do not require the specialist 
support of formal mental health services. 
 
It is very important that staff within hubs are able to make resource allocation decisions that 
aim to get the child or young person to the most appropriate service as quickly as possible. 
This requires an effective allocation system with management oversight of system dynamics 
and performance. In order to reflect capacity issues, there may have to be compromises 
between speed of access to the intervention and the best intervention. It is however 
essential to avoid people waiting for services which are clearly inappropriate or insufficient 
to address needs.   
 
A responsive service is one where the child or young person can receive flexible support, 
which is tailored to their needs. Interventions should take account of what children and 
(young people and their families) say they need. This requires those involved in all aspects 
of their care, support in treatment listening to them, understanding their world, and 
treating them as experts by experience. 
 
Hubs should incorporate arrangements to fast track some individuals, for example Children 
who are looked after by the local authority and others who have already been subject to 
comprehensive assessment processes. 
 
The hub model aims to facilitate joint working and delivery of a seamless service to the child 
or young person. Its processes will facilitate joint ownership of cases and joint care 
packages. Co-locating staff (or enabling virtual collaborative working) will help to break 
down barriers and so shift away from an approach that some professionals reported as 
‘siloed’. Joint working in the context of a hub model will also assist with developing a shared 
language to better enable better and effective communication between disciplines and 
agencies and a shared understanding of processes and roles to promote agencies working 
for better outcomes.  
 

Tud. 75



 

50 
 

The operations of the hubs should be informed by the NEST and Welsh language equivalent 
NYTH Framework. This is a tool for planning mental health, wellbeing and support services 
for babies, children, young people, parents, carers and their wider families across Wales. It 
was developed in response to a need to improve mental health support and to make sure 
early help and the right help was available at the right time. NEST identifies good practice in 
relation to making expert help and advice more available. Possible ways of achieving this 
include helplines, information provision, regular visits from a specialist to a school or youth 
service, and multi-agency teams with mental health professionals embedded in them.  
 
The essential aim is that the grown-ups in children’s lives know where to go for help and can 
get it quickly if they need it. This makes them more likely to feel confident to work through 
difficulties with young people, instead of feeling out of their depth and passing them on to 
someone else for help. This is termed ‘holding on’ instead of ‘referring on’ and the aim is to 
stop families being passed from service to service, and telling their story lots of times, and 
never quite feeling that they are in the ‘right’ place. Of course, sometimes specialists are 
needed to take a bigger role, but always with the aim of supporting those closest to children 
and young people first. This recognises that ‘everyday magic’ can be very powerful 
therapeutically.  
 
The number, location and staffing of hubs will be determined during the implementation 
phase. Staff may work in one or more hubs, where this is in the interests of efficiency and 
effectiveness. 
 
16.3.3 Hub models as physical entities or virtual spaces 
A hub represents a multi-agency, multi-disciplinary team working together. This does not 
necessarily require staff to be co-located in a single physical space, provided effective joint 
working is facilitated. There are however many advantages for a hub to be child and family 
friendly environment located in a suitable physical space. This may be a fixed or mobile 
base, or a venue that is used periodically, for example in a community centre or library. 
Accessibility and collaborative working is however very important. The hub models could be 
adapted to use ICT to creating virtual working environments, which could be combined with 
a network of geographically dispersed locations. Some hub functions could take place in 
schools. 
 
16.4 Functions undertaken by child and adolescent mental health “hubs” 
 
Reactive functions may include: 

● Reception of referrals 
● Signposting to universal services and community resources 
● Prioritisation (triage) 
● Processing of referrals 
● Proportionate assessment of need 
● Provision of interventions 

 
Proactive (outreach) functions may include: 

● Provision of advice to referrers 
● Provision of general advice and information about mental health and well-being 

Tud. 76



 

51 
 

● Providing awareness raising and training to relevant groups/individuals, which might 
include mental health first aid 

● Working with agencies to identify CYP with, or at risk of developing mental health 
problems. This is essential to targeting individuals who may benefit from early 
intervention or prevention strategies,  

● Where people have been signposted, checking if the issues which lead to contact 
have been resolved and whether additional support or intervention may be 
required. 

● Developing and maintaining a directory of community resources 
 
During the strategic planning process professionals noted the difficulty of engaging with 
some children/families. This may be helped by offering services that are delivered in a way, 
time and place that meets their preferences. The cost of inflexibility might be less 
engagement, poorer outcomes and quality of life and associated costs throughout the 
person’s life. 
 
16.4.1 Areas for further development during the implementation phase 
Further work needs to be undertaken to develop the hubs. The main priorities include 
development of : 

• Local operating frameworks 
• Recording and information sharing protocols 
• Agreement of staffing and other resources 

 
This is likely to address how different levels of complexity of need will be most efficiently 
managed once an enquiry has been received, initially assessed and prioritised. 
 
16.4.2 Early Intervention and Prevention 
Prevention and early intervention are key objectives of this strategy, helping to reduce 
avoidable escalation of problems as well as contributing to reducing the levels of 
psychological distress in the population. The integrated and co-ordinated service hub model 
should undertake proactive outreach work in addition to the reactive functions of access 
and direct service delivery. The outreach functions should assist with identification of at-risk 
individuals and include provision of training and information with the aim of broadening 
awareness of mental health matters and especially the importance of timely action. 
Outreach work with schools can help to build their resilience and support functions. 
 
16.4.3 Hub Models and Case Co-ordination 
Case co-ordination should be an essential feature of the operating framework for the hub 
model. 
 
The need for individuals to be supported to navigate the care and support pathway is a key 
feature in best practice models. Both children’s and young people and professionals 
indicated that this should be an essential requirement for the future model. Assignment of a 
designated and named lead professional to co-ordinate case work is a well-established 
means of providing the necessary support to the individual and their family. The co-
ordinator, who may be any of the professionals involved with the child, can have a 
responsibility to: 

Tud. 77



 

52 
 

 
● Develop the relationship with the child or young person 
● Act as a point of contact for the child or young person and their family and other 

involved agencies 
● Where there are other professionals/agencies involved co-ordinate or broker the 

involvement of other professionals involved in the assessment of needs and/or the 
provision of care, treatment, and support (the team around the child/family) 

● Manage and review the child’s assessment and plan 
● Support other professionals to identify actions they can undertake and communicate 

appropriately with all parties, including the family. 
● Record the desired outcomes for a child and communicate this to all parties involved  
● Refer directly to any services/interventions and liaise as necessary 
● Be responsible for ensuring that plans are sufficiently resourced to deliver timely and 

effective interventions that will achieve desired outcomes, where necessary by 
involvement of the Resources Panel 

● Monitor progress and check if outcomes are being met through a suitable and 
effective review process 

 
16.4.4 Practice Model 
A useful model for ensuring that the child or young person has appropriate support from 
the people with the best knowledge and skills is that of the “team around the child/family”. 
This is a network of practitioners working together to agree a plan and deliver of support to 
meet a child or young person’s assessed needs, and the needs of the family where these 
impact on the child or young person. They work directly with the family or young person. It 
is essential that parents are supported in managing their children’s mental health and 
wellbeing. A strengths-based, relationship focused approach using collaborative 
conversations and working holistically with families based on the key principles of the 
SSWBA should be seen as essential to this strategy. Where the child or young person’s 
parents are themselves experiencing mental ill-health or alcohol or substance misuse, adult 
services should prioritise their action based on the needs of the family system. 
 
The team around the child/family is linked together by a lead professional who co-ordinates 
the delivery and review of the plan. The child, family and young  
person’s participation in their plan underpins this model and they should be central in all 
considerations, including deciding the level of involvement they feel appropriate.  
 
The concept has been developed in relation to the implementation of integrated processes 
in services for children.  It encourages principles, behaviours and practices which put the 
needs of the child or young person at the centre. It can be helpful to consider two levels of 
involvement: core team roles, for those with greatest involvement with the child or young 
person and extended team roles – those who contribute but are less central to the delivery 
of the outcomes. See figure 2 below 
 

Tud. 78



 

53 
 

 
 

Figure 5 : Team around the child/family 

 
16.4.5 Practice Methods 
Strengths-based practice, which build on people’s abilities, personal assets, and community 
resources, without ignoring difficulties, is an approach that will help to deliver the outcomes 
of this strategy. During the professionals’ workshops reference was made to this practice 
method, whose features are also aligned to the views of children and young people, as 
expressed during the engagement process. Strength-based working is relationship-based 
and since it seeks to use people’s support networks – personal resources, family and friends 
networks and community assets as an alternative to, or in association with targeted 
services. This is consistent with this strategy’s aims for early intervention and prevention 
and making greater use of “up-stream’ resources.   

Families First takes a strengths-based approach where families are supported to recognise 
what is working well in their situations to support empowerment and ownership of their 
growth and development. These earlier interventions are designed to prevent families from 
needing expensive remedial care through statutory services in the future. We note that 
health services provision is not eligible for Families First funding but in a pooled/aligned 
budget this should not be relevant. 

 
16.5 Areas for further development during the implementation phase 
 
16.5.1 Role of the Resources Panel 
The function of the resources panel is to plan and manage the use of resources in the 
system. It will also support case co-ordinators by acting as an authoritative broker to ensure 
timely access to pathway services and resources, where necessary by directing internal 
services to undertake service provision or to approve externally commissioned services.  
 
Professionals clearly identified long waiting time for children and young people to access 
the pathway, and/or to be treated by some targeted services. This was also noted as a 
problem by children and young people during the engagement process. Notably, children 

Tud. 79



 

54 
 

and young people talked of the sense of hopelessness that can be engendered by long or 
indeterminate waits. Professionals saw delays as being a significant factor in system 
dynamics, contributing to stress and (avoidable) amplification of mental ill health. 
 
Clearly the level of resources within the system will be a major factor resulting in 
unacceptable waiting times, however it is not the only factor and management oversight 
and intervention by the Resource Panel may help to mitigate waits and avoid bottlenecks. 
The Resources Panel should therefore have the authority to require flexibility of services 
within the pathway in order to optimise the service to the child or young person however 
only a proportion of cases will require action by the resources panel to secure a particular 
intervention. There should be a protocol for referral and service access with delegated 
responsibility wherever possible. 
 
The primary functions of the Resources Panel are to: 

● Implement and interpret the policies set out by the joint management board 
● Allocate service provision, where direct access is not indicated/possible 
● Oversee expenditure and performance against the pooled or aligned budget  
● Monitor and waiting lists/times 
● Monitor outcomes for children and young people. 
● Monitoring the quality and standards of care 
● Identify gaps in provision or underutilised resources and the changes in provision 

required to reflect individual needs 
 

16.5.2 Areas for further development during the implementation phase 
Agree membership of the Resource Panel 
Develop Terms of Reference 
Agree Scheme of Delegation  
 
16.6 Services in the Pathway 
16.6.1 Universal services  
Aim – promote mental wellbeing and recognise when a child or young person may have 
developmental or mental health problems  

● early years services 
● voluntary sector 
● local authority children’s services   
● all primary care agencies including general medical practice 
● midwifery,  
● school nursing,  
● health visiting  
● schools 

 
16.6.2 Targeted Services  
Aim – support children and young People with less severe mental health problems (these 
are services where there is usually a single practitioner involved in supporting the child, 
young person or family. Staff may work with the child or young person directly, or indirectly 
by supporting practitioners working in universal services) . 

Tud. 80



 

55 
 

  
● youth offending teams 
● local authority children’s services  
● ‘managed care network’ of voluntary sector targeted services    
● primary care mental health services,  
● school and youth counselling.  

 
16.6.3 Specialist Community Services   
Aim – support children and young people with more severe mental health problems 
requiring specialist intervention and or a multidisciplinary approach (practitioners may also 
provide outreach training advice and support to universal and targeted services).  System 
capacity could be improved by extending the numbers of practitioners with the necessary 
competencies to deliver psychological interventions, in line with the recommendations of 
Matrics Plant. 
 

● multi-disciplinary teams of practitioners providing a range of interventions to 
children, young people and families, including teams with specific remits  

 
16.6.4 Highly specialist services  
Aim – support children and young people at the greatest risk and those with specialist needs 
e.g.  gender dysphoria These are generally services for a small number of children and 
young people who are deemed to be at greatest risk of rapidly declining mental health, or 
from serious self-harm who need a period of intensive input and are often provided on a 
regional or supra- regional footprint. 

● very specialised outpatient services.  
● crisis resolution home treatment as an alternative to admission 
● inpatient services 
● specialist inpatient e.g. intensive care or medium secure 

   

Tud. 81



 

56 
 

17 Whole System Working and Governance  

The North Wales Regional Partnership Board “No Wrong Door” strategy aims to ensure that 
children and young people have access to services that seamlessly meets their needs. This 
requires effective joint working between professionals, teams and organisations in a 
managed health, care and support system that is responsive to children’s needs. The “To 
Be” proposal is therefore designed as an integrated service model. This does not require 
creation of a new organisation as staff can continue to be employed individual partner 
organisations, as now. It does however require a commitment to an integrated approach, 
managed through an agreed common operating framework. System governance should 
ensure compliance with the operating framework. 
 
There should be tight adherence to agreed principles and operating model across all areas 
of North Wales. Detailed implementation of these should reflect local circumstances and 
there can be flexibility (loose) of local arrangements. The development of local 
arrangements should be made ensuring that there is co-production in service design. There 
should be tight accountability for performance through the governance arrangements. We 
refer to this as a Tight – Loose - Tight approach. 
 
The service must be cost effective. Demand for services currently exceeds system capacity 
and in increasing. Although there is some recent additional investment, it is essential that 
the partner organisations agree a strategic approach to system design and governance 
which makes the best use of available resources. 
 
It is a legal requirement that children’s rights must considered at all levels of decision. 
Governance must therefore facilitate a coordinated Children’s Rights Approach across the 
mental child and adolescent health system involving all partner agencies and externally 
commissioned organisations. Partners should be accountable to children for decisions and 
actions that affect their lives. Governance must aim to  realise children's individual abilities, 
so they can better benefit from their rights and engage with, influence and hold to account 
the individuals and organisations that affect their lives. 
 
In order to ensure effective governance we recommend that partners commit to an explicit 
partnership agreement that includes the principles and common operating model and 
governance structures.  
We propose a governance model consisting of three inter-connected levels of activity.  
 
The Services Level is responsible for service delivery. In the proposed “To Be” model this 
consists of two elements: the mental health hubs and all provider services (both directly 
managed and commissioned services). Each profession will operate its own clinical 
governance; however the operating frameworks will need to include arrangements for 
resolution of different professional opinions and prioritisation decisions.  
 
The Operations Level is responsible for management and performance of the health, care 
and support system. The responsibility is discharged through the roles of line managers for 
the services that they oversee, and jointly through membership of a Resource Panel.  

Tud. 82



 

57 
 

The Resources Panel will have oversight of waiting lists and onward referrals for 
interventions, and to seek to address capacity issues. It will be responsible for ensuring that 
children and young people are able to enjoy timely access to suitable services from 
practitioners who possess the necessary competencies.  
 
The Strategic Level is responsible for setting strategy and policy, holding the operations 
level to account for performance and resource use and itself being accountable to The 
North Wales Regional Partnership Board and the Boards of each partner organisation. 
 
  

Tud. 83



 

58 
 

18 Implementation 

18.1 INTRODUCTION 

This is a radical and complex strategy that will require a substantial and well-
resourced implementation programme to address the necessary culture change, 
development of an aligned/blended budget, structural changes, infrastructure 
requirements and development of the operating frameworks. Despite differences 
between the partner organisations, there are shared values and objectives, which 
will be essential in creating a new and cohesive service delivery arrangements. 

The recommended ‘Tight – Loose - Tight’ approach allows for local solutions to 
realisation of the strategies ambition and its principles. Some of the 
implementation programme will require a regional approach, as the change 
requirements will be common across all areas, whereas some will require local 
development of those aspects of the strategy that are ‘loose. The strategy assumes 
that there will be local implementation arrangements that allow for the full 
engagement of local staff and local people in designing and creating a means of 
implementing the principles and model in ways that reflects what is there already 
and in development. 

The full strategy document outlines a five-year implementation plan, with the main 
changes taking place in years 1 -3. It will require organisational commitment and 
commitment of resources by all partners, overseen by the RPB and Children’s sub-
committee, strong programme management and external specialist support to the 
transformation process. It proposes an overarching regional approach, supported 
by local implementation groups, which would include some staff seconded from 
operational roles to undertake the necessary development work. These released 
operational staff will require temporary replacement.  Implementation should align 
with, and contribute to parallel change process, for example the Betsi Cadwaladr 
University Health Board Mental Health Maturity Matrix.  

Implementation of the North Wales “No Wrong Door” Strategy will represent a 
major service transformation. Success will depend on a managed change process 
supported by a project management office (PMO) and almost certainly an external 
partner to work with local staff. 

The main parts of the new system steps are illustrated in Figure 6 below and the 
implementation plan can be found in section 18.2. Major risks and mitigating 
actions are shown in section 18.3. 

 

Tud. 84



 

59 
 

 
 

Figure 6 : New System Overview

Tud. 85



 

60 
 

18.2 Implementation Plan 
 
 

YEAR ACTION DUE 
DATE 

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS  LEADS 

PRE-LAUNCH PHASE 
10/21 – 
03/22 

High level sign-off of strategy 
 

12/21 
 

All partner organisations sign off 
Strategy agreed by RPB  
 

All Partners 
 

Formulate the Partnership agreement including principles and model. This 
should reference Tight – Loose - Tight approach 

03/22 Signed Partnership Agreement All Partners 

Formulate Transformation Plan 
 

01/22 
 

Complete Plan Regional Team 
 

Each partner to Identify Board level and political sponsors  
 

01/22 
 

Sponsors agreed and fully briefed  
 

All Partners 
 

Engage clinical and practice leads 01/22 Clinical and practice leads fully briefed and engaged All Partners 
Initial Communications Plan 01/22 Communications Plan All partners 

Comms teams 
Agree and recruit external transformation partner 
 

01/22 
 

Agreement to procure external partner 
 

RPB 
 

Partner organisations allocate financial and human resources to support 
transformation 
 

03/22 Transformation budget contributions agreed by partners 
 

All Partners 

RPB agrees transformation budget RPB 
Set up PMO agreed (mix of seconded staff and specialist project management) 03/22 PMO structure and resources agreed RPB 
New Service Branding 03/22 New brand agreed and launched RPB 
Develop ToRs for JMB 03/22 Agreed ToRs signed off by partners and RPB RPB 
Structure and membership for Joint Management Board( including OD) 03/22 Structure and membership of JMB agreed All Partners 

RPB 
Appoint transformation partner 03/22 Transformation partner recruited RPB 

SHORT TERM (YEAR 1 - 2022) 
2022-
2023 

Recruit PMO 04/22 
 

Project Management Office staffed and operational 
 

RPB and JMB 

Joint Management Board starts to work 
 

04/22 
 

Fully attended meeting of JMB JMB 

T
ud. 86



 

61 
 

Identify and work towards alignment of all strategies and plans with NWD 
strategy 

08/22 Strategies and plans are aligned JMB 

SAA options appraisal 05/22 Agreed option for SAA PMO 
Hub options appraisal 05/22 Agreed option for hub PMO 
Leadership team OD plan 
 

05/22 
 

Agreed and funded plan JMB 

Establish financial and performance reporting 06/22 Reporting framework and dashboard agreed JMB PMO 
Finance Leads 
Performance 
Leads 

Assurance Framework  
 

06/22 
 

Assurance Framework signed off JMB 

Updated Communication and Engagement Plan 
 

07/22 
 

Communication and Engagement Plan signed off JMB 
 
All partners 
Comms teams 

Financial Plan, including review of short-term funding and need for double 
running costs during the strategy implementation 
 

11/22 
 

Financial Plan signed off 
 

JMB  
Finance Leads 
 

Risk sharing and financial Agreement  
 

12/22 
 

Risk sharing and financial Agreement signed off 
 

RPB 
JMB 
Finance Leads 
Clinical and 
practice leads 

Joint Operating Framework (Including clinical governance) 
 

09/22 
 

Agreed and signed off joint operating framework JMB 

Operating model footprints and phasing  10/22 Operating model footprints and phasing signed off JMB 
Clinical and 
practice leads 

Memorandum of Understanding & Joint Policy 
 

12/22 
 

Agreed Memorandum of Understanding & Joint Policy 
signed off  
 

JMB 
Clinical and 
practice leads 

Workforce plan 
 

12/22 
 

Local operational plans agreed and signed off 
 

JMB 
Workforce 
leads 

T
ud. 87



 

62 
 

Clinical and 
practice leads 

Local operational plans 
 

02/23 
 

Local operational plans agreed and signed off 
 

JMB 
NHS and LA 
service heads 

IT and information sharing protocol 
 

12/22 IT and information sharing protocol agreed and signed off 
 

JMB 
IT leads 
Clinical and 
practice leads 

Community resource information database 03/23 Information is a suitable form is available to staff in hubs  
Prevention Strategy 
 

03/23 Prevention Strategy agreed and signed off 
 

Public Health 
Commissioners 

Refresh strategy and review PMO requirements 03/23 Revised strategy JMB 
Develop a culture change plan and cultural audit 06/22 Completed plan and Audit PMO 

JMB 
OD leads 
Clinical and 
practice leads 

 Deliver culture change plan  with implementation of pilot projects and new 
operating frameworks 

12/23 Delivery of plan and follow up audits PMO 
JMB 
OD leads 
Clinical and 
practice leads 

MEDIUM TERM (YEARS 2/3 2023 – 2025) 
2023- 
2024 

Launch / phasing of hubs begins 
 

04/23 
 

At least 1 hub operational JBM and all 
partners 

Testing and revising model complete 
 

12/23 
 

Evaluation report JMB 
PMO 

Performance finance and quality reporting system operational 
 

04/23 Regular effective reporting to governance functions Finance and 
performance 
leads 

Refresh strategy and review PMO requirements 03/24 Revised strategy JMB 
2024-
2025 

Hubs fully operational 04/24 
 

All hubs up and running  
 

JBM and all 
partners 

Design audit/service review 12/24 Audit/service review tool agreed JMB 
LONG TERM (YEARS 4/5 2026 -2027) 

T
ud. 88



 

63 
 

2025-
2026 

Complete audit/service review and make recommendations 
 

Tbc Audit/service review completed JMB 

2026-
2027 

Implement changes Tbc New ways of work are routine and fully operational All partners 

 
  

T
ud. 89



 

64 
 

19 Major Risks 

No.  Description of Risk  RAG 
Likelihood X  
Consequence  

ACTION Leads 

1 Lack of workforce to deliver the 
strategy short term and long lead in 
times to train a new workforce 

4x5=20 
high 

Prioritise development of a workforce & OD plan Workforce Leads  

2 Partners can’t agree funding 
allocation to a joint budget 
 
Competing priorities across health 
and social care are prioritised for 
resources and investment resulting 
in insufficient investment 

4x4=16 
high 

Identify political and board level sponsors early on  
 
Calculate current levels of expenditure by all agencies  
 
Develop a benefits case for pooled budget 

RPB 
 
Finance Leads 
 
Finance Leads  

3 Authority to act is stymied by lack 
of whole system governance 
resulting in slow, limited and 
fragmented change 
 
Failure to agree a joint  operating 
framework   

4x4= 16 
high 

Identify political and board level sponsors early on 
 
Engage  clinical and practitioner leads early on 
 
OD support to leadership team to help drive development 
and maintenance of whole system governance  
 

RPB 
 
JMB & PMO 
 
JMB & PMO 

4 Cultural change required to 
implement new ways of working is 
lacking resulting in change 
initiatives losing momentum.  

4x4=16 
high 

OD support to leadership team to help drive development 
and maintenance of whole system governance 
 
Workforce & OD plan  

JMB & PMO 
 
 
Workforce Leads  

5 Lack in investment in 
transformation (funding and or 
human resources)   

3x5= 15 
high 

Develop joint financial plan (transforming funds, pump 
priming, ROI) 
 
Identify  opportunities for secondment and backfill 

RPB & Finance Leads  
 
JMB  

T
ud. 90



 

65 
 

 
6 Partner Agencies can’t agree the 

Strategy 
3x5 =15   
high  

Identify political and board level sponsors early on  
 
Consultation plan identifies approaches for  all key partners 
in positions of influence / power to support the strategy  
 

RPB 
 
RPB 

7 Lack of finance and performance 
data sufficient to plan and manage 
the service  

3x5=15 
high 

Establish routine data collection and monitoring and 
develop dashboard  

Finance Leads 
Performance Leads  
JMB 
PMO 
 

8 Fear of failure to deliver the 
strategy -the larger the ambition 
the greater damage to reputations 
caused by failure 

3x4=12 
moderate 

Identify political and board level sponsors early on 
 
OD support to leadership team to help drive development 
and maintenance of whole system governance 
Workforce & OD plan 
 
Develop assurance framework  

RPB 
 
JMB &PMO  
 
 
 
PMO 

9 Prevalence of mental health needs 
in the population continues to rise 
faster than can be managed 
diverting resources to crisis and 
short-term management 

3x4=12 
moderate 

Model scenarios as part of implementation plan and 
develop contingency plans  
 
Develop finance and performance monitoring frameworks 

Finance and 
Performance Leads 
 
 
Finance and 
Performance Leads 

10  Ineffective sharing of information 
results in siloed working  

3x4=12  
moderate 

Develop information sharing protocols 
 
Develop IT Plan  
 

Clinical / Practitioner 
Leads  
 

T
ud. 91



 

66 
 

20 Appendix A: Reviewed Service Models 

Method  
A search of the published academic literature produced limited information on whole 
system approaches and single point of access (SPA) models relating to CYP mental health 
and wellbeing.  Internet searches were then used to locate publicly available policy 
documents, evaluation reports and websites (grey literature) to build a picture of a range of 
models, pathways and approaches that could be used to inform strategy development in 
North Wales.  Recommendations and intelligence from the North Wales regional partners 
were also reviewed.   
 
A number of useful examples from the UK and internationally were identified and reviewed, 
providing insights into the solutions developed by a range of different health and social care 
authorities and partnerships.   Priority was given to models that had been recently 
evaluated with good evidence of success.  Two examples with no evaluation were included; 
Gwent Space-Wellbeing as it is highly relevant to the context of North Wales it was the only 
regional model with available documentation, and Hertfordshire adapted iThrive model as it 
proposed other innovations that could inform strategy.   
 
Scope 
Integrated CYP mental health and wellbeing models of service delivery searches were 
conducted in: 

● Published literature  
● Grey literature 
● Seeking Welsh, UK and international examples 
● Focus on age group: 0-18/25 

 
Models Presented 
 
Five of the models reviewed were presented at the Stakeholder Workshop 2.1. These were 
selected to illustrate a range of different approaches and principles. The models were: 

• Gwent: SPACE-Wellbeing 
• Liverpool: Integrated Mental Health 
• Hertfordshire: Proposed Adapted Thrive Model 
• Trieste, Italy: Whole life, whole system 
• Australia: Headspace – National Mental Health Foundation 

Tud. 92



 

67 
 

Model Attributes Evaluation/ 
Review 

Key Findings /Comments 

Space- Wellbeing: Gwent 
Region 
Population 69,713 (2018) 
 
hiips://www.childcomwales.org.uk/faqs/case -
study-gwent-space-wellbeing/ 
 
hiips://abuhb .nhs.wales/healthcare-
services/community-services/mental-
health/child-and-adolescent-mental-health-
camhs/information-for-parents-and-carers/ 
 

 
Sketch model produced from documentation by 
author JvH 

- Age 0-25 years (assumed) 
- Early intervention & specialist help 
- Access via referral from all frontline staff with C 

&YP, family self-referral 
- LA co-ordinator checks and provides synopsis to 

the MD assessment panel for consideration.  
- Multi-disciplinary assessment panel – LA, UHB, 

Ed, 3rd sector (review with panel members (2020) 
suggests inclusion of Education needs to be 
strengthened) 

- Panel reports back to LA co-ordinator who 
communicates outcomes to CYP and/or family. 

- Common protocol and processes across 5 LA’s 
integrated with ABUHB 

- Common process language 
 

Draft Initial Evaluation – Views of Panel Members 
(Not in the public domain) 

Key findings from Draft Initial Evaluation – the 
Views of Panel Members (2020) 
- Best things about SPACE Wellbeing (theme 

analysis in order of strength 1= strongest): 1) 
Multiagency collaboration, 2)learning about other 
services, 3)productive professional discussions, 
4)right service right time, 5)networking, 
6)structure of meeting and organisation, 
7)referrals being accepted easily and willingly 

- Areas for improvement (as above): 1) 
Strengthened links with Education, 2)more 
detailed and accurate referrals, 3) process 
improvements, 4)better understanding of other 
services/agencies, 5)filter unsuitable or ‘bounce 
back’ referrals out, 6) time management, 7) more 
pre-allocation and possible allocations, 8) more 
contextual discussion 

 
Notes:  
- Draft Initial Evaluation not in the public domain. 
- No common assessment framework (as far as 

known) 
- No, or very minimal joint funding (each LA host its 

own process) 
- Minimal integration 
- C&YPF not directly involved in treatment 

decisions.  
- Dependent on the skill of the LA coordinator in 

investigating and summarising case details and 
relaying information (evaluation suggests 
improvement is needed here) 

Integrated CAMHS Offer (IAG): 
Liverpool 
City 
Population: 496,784 (2019) 
 
hiips://www.liverpoolccg.nhs.uk/media/2490/38
266-description-of-liverpool-camhs-offer.pdf 
 

- Age 0-25 yrs Asset-based approach 
- Stepped model of care that can be accessed at 

any stage dependent on their needs  
- Services delivered by voluntary and statutory 

sector 
- Access via SPA run by Alderhay – telephone 

consultation, triage to ensure most appropriate 
support for needs, assessment, passport of 
accepted referrals to the most appropriate 
CAMHS Provider/Clinician for intervention 

- Access via Universal Services (GP school Health 
visitor, youth worker etc.)  

Review 2019: 
hiips://www.liverpoolcamhs.com/wp -
content/uploads/2019/01/Liverpool-CYP-MHEWB-
Transformation-Plan-2018-19-refresh.pdf 
 
 
 

Key Evaluation findings 
- Increase in confidence to support children and 

young people’s mental health 
- 98% identified their lives had improved after 

receiving the IAG service. 
- 76% improved mental health and wellbeing. 
- 2% stepped up to specialist CAMHS. 
- 79% said things in school had improved. 
- 90% have an improved wellbeing. 
- 97% said they were happy or very happy with 

the service. 

T
ud. 93



 

68 
 

 

- Access – 3 Open Access Hubs across the city – 
offers services to CYP & Fam 1) Drop in, 
Information & guidance (incl ASC and ADHD), 
CYP group MH support, parent/carers MH 
support groups, therapeutic support & 
interventions, Youth-based  mental health 
support , GP Drop-in, Specific support for LGBTQ 

- Access via 1) education (every school has 
dedicated time for a CAMHS practitioner to offer 
support to staff, CYP and fam., 2) CAMHS 
practitioner in every GP practice, 3) Children’s 
Centres – dedicated time with CAMHS 
practitioner 

- Training and awareness, consultation, support 
given to professionals working in universal 
services – ensure know how to get additional 
support if needed 

- Digital support offer 
- Open access online booking  

 

- Reduction in A&E presentations (Self-reported – 
CYP would have attended A and E if not for 
YPAS). 

- Self-reported decrease in rate of self-harm and 
suicidal ideation with 16% of 

- CYP reporting that they would not be alive 
without the service following access to LGBTQ+ 
provision. 

- Prevented 23 attendances at A&E across Alder 
Hey and Southport and Ormskirk hospitals. 

- Saved 41 bed days in Liverpool. 
-  

Take 5 Mental Health and Wellbeing Hub: 
Oldham, Manchester 
 
City 
Population: 233,759 (2017) 
 
hiips://www.togmind.org/youth -in-mind/take-5 
 

- Age 8-18yrs – youth focussed 
- Integrated Community Health Hub 
- Holistic non-clinical approach 
- Early and brief intervention – referral to other 

services 
- Open access community-based physical space 
- Access via parent/carer/guardian, self-referral, 

Early Help, CAMHS, Adult services 16+, YJ, 
Paediatricians, Primary Care, Youth Centres, 
Schools, referrals from other services…..etc. 

- 6 pathways: Low Mood, Anger, Anxiety, Stress, 
Self-esteem, Bereavement. 

- Drop-ins, guided self-help, focus on strategy 
building, 20 min 1 to 1’s over 5 weeks. 

- Therapeutic Groups, Counselling, Art Therapy, 
Arts for Wellbeing, Digital Friendship, Integrative 
tailored care. 

- On-line offer 
 

Evaluation 2021: 
hiips://e -space.mmu.ac.uk/627735/ 
 

Key Evaluation findings relating to the 
implementation of the hub: 
- reduction in reported levels of CYP psychological 

distress 
- improved family function 
- Waiting times for access to services more than 

halved 
 

Note: 11 members of staff, supporting approx. 600 
children and young people, 100 parents/carers 
also supported through family support and brief 
interventions 

Forward Thinking: Birmingham (FTB) 
 
City 
Population: 1.149 million (2019) 
 
hiips://www.forwardthinkingbirmingham.org.uk/  

- Age 0-25yrs 
- On-line and phone SPA 24/7 
- Access (all levels of need) via self -referral, 

friend/family, professional 
- Seamless pathway  

Evaluation 2017: 
hiip://wrap.warwick.ac.uk/100545/  
 

Key evaluation findings: 
- Strong support for the model in particular the 

integration of CYP & Adult MH services in the 
hubs 

- FTB model improving access to MH services for 
all ages. 

T
ud. 94



 

69 
 

 
hiips://www.priorygroup.com/blog/forward -
thinking-birmingham-a-new-mental-health-
partnership 
 

- Community hubs for assessment and therapy – 
by appointment.   

- Hubs integrated with adult mental health 
services. 

- Digital: NHS approved mobile apps 
- Support for: ASD assessments, early intervention 

psychosis, eating disorders, LD, on-line 
therapies, talking therapies etc. 

- Partnership:  Birmingham Children’s Hospital, 
Worcestershire Health and Care NHS Trust, 
Priory Group, Beacon UK and The Children’s 
Society. 

- One-care-plan-patient management system. 

- Concerns about staffing 
- Questions about capacity to meet demand 
- Inadequate and incompatible data mgmt. 

systems 
- Poor service infrastructure (availability of space 

& equipment, age appropriate environments) 

Headspace: Australia 
 
National 
 
hiips://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.1111/
eip.12740 
 

 

- Age 12-25 yrs. – life-stage of high vulnerability 
yet marked reluctance to seek help (Arnett 2013, 
Slade et al, 2009) - no one turned away on the 
basis of severity no wrong door policy 

- Australia’s national youth mental health 
foundation (established 2006) – federal 
government funded through Department of 
Health – Physical Centres in towns and cities 
over 120 now across the country 

- Easy access youth-friendly multi-disciplinary 
primary care service that builds on the capacity 
of local services to provide early intervention 
approach  

- Designed specially with/for Young people (grey 
circle & central figure –  1)Centre specific Youth 
Reference Groups input to  service development 
(design, delivery, implementation  2) 
Governance process. 

- Young people participate in their own care at all 
points in the care pathway – involved in 
decisions (orientation, policies & procedures) 

- Family and friends involvement (in discussion 
with the YP) – encourage involvement. Service 
devt Family and Friends reference group, 
governance 

- Staff engage in community awareness work + 
national  

- Youth participation core component – treatment 
plan, own care, service development at each 
centre informed by youth panel 

Evaluation 2016: 
 
hiips://headspace.org.au/assets/Uploads/Evaluati
on-of-headspace-program.pdf 
headspace 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Key evaluation findings: 
- services reduce suicidal ideation and self-harm 
- accessible to a diverse group of young people 

with high levels of psychological distress 
-  attracts young people from marginalised and at-

risk groups, and people traditionally 
disadvantaged in their access to health care 
including Indigenous young people, young 
people living in regional areas and those 
identifying as LGBTI 

- young people using headspace services had 
better outcomes than young people receiving 
other treatment or no treatment 

- generally speaking the more services young 
people accessed, the better the outcome  (i.e. 
people accessing 7+  sessions improved more 
than those attending once or twice) 

- young people receiving headspace support took 
fewer days off work and study due to mental 
health issues so there were significant social and 
economic outcomes 

- clients were overwhelmingly positive 
about headspace and  generally satisfied with 
the services they received 

T
ud. 95



 

70 
 

- Regular centre evaluation through standardized 
service user satisfaction survey – dashboard – 
identify service gaps 

- Recent strengthening by integration with 
specialised services 

- Culturally and developmentally appropriate care 
– priority group recognition cultural groups 
LGBTQ etc. 

- On site integration (co-location of services) and 
off site. 

- Strong links with local service providers  
- Supported transitions  
- Lead Agency independent organisations set up 

and run the centres responsible for delivery 
- Consortia – local service providers that 

collaborate to provide strategic direction.  
- Multi-disciplinary teams – psych, social workers, 

youth workers, nurses  GP’s  
 

Whole life whole system: Trieste Italy 
City 
Population: 204,234 (2017) 
 
hiips://www.livingwellsystems.uk/trieste  
 
hiip://www.triestesalutementale.it/guida/guida_
dsm.htm#organizzazione 
 
hiips://www.psychologytoday.com/us/blog/savi
ng-normal/201512/worlds-best-and-worst-places-
be-mentally-ill 
 

 

- All-ages – whole community 
- 4 Community MH Centres (6-8 beds each and 

open around the clock including the University 
clinic. 

- 1 small unit in the General Hospital with 6 
emergency beds 

- Service for Rehabilitation and residential support 
(12 group homes with a total of 60 beds, 
provided by staff at different levels) 

- 2-day centres including training programs and 
workshops 

- 13 accredited Social Co-operatives 
- Families and users associations, clubs and 

recovery homes.  
- Staff: 215, 1/1000 population (26 psychiatrists, 9 

psychologists, 130 nurses, 10 social workers, 6 
psychosocial rehabilitation workers) 

Evaluation: 
 
hiips://www.livingwellsystems.uk/trieste  
 
 
 
 

Key evaluation findings: 
- 70% reduction in days of admission.  
- 50% reduction of emergency presentations at 

the general hospital over 20 years. 
- Evidence that CMHCs are effective in crisis 

resolution and in preventing relapses.  
- Qualitative research highlighted the connection 

between recovery, social inclusion and 
participatory citizenship. 

- 40% reduction in suicide rate over 15 years. 
- The lowest rate of involuntary treatments across 

the whole of Italy: in 2016 only 20 people 
underwent involuntary treatments. This is 
equivalent to less than 7/100.000 inhabitants. 

- No psychiatric service users are homeless: there 
are no homeless clients because the CMHC beds 
function as shelters until suitable 
accommodation can be found. 

- Employment and integration: about 250 people 
every year are in grant-funded professional 
training and about 10% of them find jobs in the 
social or private sector. 

- Forensic hospital closure: the number of 
inpatients in forensic hospitals had been steadily 
declining, from an average of 20 in the ’70s to an 
average of 0.5 in the noughties. Trieste’s 
forensic hospital was finally closed in 2015. 

T
ud. 96



 

71 
 

- Lower cost: in 1971 the budget for mental health 
services amounted to the equivalent of €26 
Million. In 2001 it was €14 million. 

- Fewer staff: in 1971 there were 524 members of 
staff. Today they are 220. 

- Lower cost: in 1971 the budget for mental health 
services amounted to the equivalent of €26 
Million. In 2001 it was €14 million. 

Proposed Adapted Thrive Model: 
Hertfordshire  
 
County 
Population: 1.195 million (2019) 
 
hiip://implementingthrive.org/implementation -
sites/i-thrive-accelerator-sites/accelerator-site-5/ 
 
hiip://www.westsuffolkc cg.nhs.uk/wp-
content/uploads/2013/01/APPENDIX-5C-Whole-
System-Model-Single-Point-of-Access.pdf 
 

 

- Proposed model only – adapted from Thrive 
principles (I’m doing well, Coping, Getting Help, 
Getting more help, Getting Risk Support, I need 
help preparing for adult years) 

- A single well promoted gateway to get help  
- Support based on a child’s needs not their 

diagnosis  
- A multi-sector partnership approach focusing on 

shared assessment processes and outcomes; 
also where each partner understands their role 
in the system  

- Improved information-sharing and coordination 
between universal, targeted and specialist 
services  

- Support for parents, children and young people 
to give them the knowledge to promote their 
own wellbeing and to know how to get help if 
they need it.  

- A strong foundation of universal mental health 
promotion and self-care 

- Early help or youth hubs (primary and specialist 
MH work along with other multi sector activity 
including early years services, schools, children’s 
services the voluntary sector and youth work 

- Common language – assessment framework 
- Whole-system pathway – priority for those who 

self-harm, ADHD, anxiety, behaviour issues, LAC 
- Primary MH professional as bridge between 

services – delivering simple evidence-based 
interventions 

- A highly skilled single-point of access worker: For 
children whose needs fall outside the skills set of 
primary mental health support, who can triage, 
refer and negotiate access to effective support; 
offer help until the young person is successfully 
engaged; and troubleshoot access problems. 

- Effective crisis care 
- Needs-based  

No documentation available 
Note: Hertfordshire is one of the 10 iThrive 

Accelerator sites evaluating Thrive principles as 

part of the  NHS Innovation Accelerator 

programme. 
 
 

T
ud. 97



 

72 
 

 

- Outcome monitoring  
Jigsaw 
hiips://jigsaw.ie/  

- Early intervention service 
- Offer expert mental health advice and support, 

online and in person, to young people across 
Ireland, aged 12 - 25 years-old. 

- Currently 11 Jigsaw services throughout Ireland.  

hiips://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/30185279/  -  Evidence that Jigsaw is an accessible and 
effective service which plays a key role in the 
continuum of mental health care for young 
people in Ireland 

 
Access Open Minds 
hiips://accessopenminds.ca/  

-  culturally relevant mental health services 
and as well as access to physical health and 
sexual health services, traditional Indigenous 
programming/support, and other social 
services, under one roof 

- Early identification, rapid access, appropriate 
care 

hiips://accessopenminds.ca/impact/  
 
hiips://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/toc/17517893/201
9/13/S1 

 

SPOT: Supporting Positive Opportunities with 
Teens 
St Louis 
hiip://thes pot.wustl.edu/ 
 

- access to health and prevention services 
- focus on positive educational and vocational 

outcomes 
- remove barriers that currently impede youth 

from seeking or obtaining health and prevention 
services; 

- centre separate from a child or adult clinic 
environment that is youth-specific 

- combined health and social services into a single 
setting 

- engage youth in all aspects of the program 
development and allow opportunities for their 
leadership to be fostered; 

- successfully link youth into the existing 
healthcare system by addressing and eliminating 
specific barriers. 

 

 
 

The Well Centre 
hiips://www.thewellcentre.org/  
Age 13-20 

-  Access to youth worker, counsellor or doctor to 
for health concerns or worries in a safe and 
confidential space.  

- Sexual health 
- Liaison with CAMHS 
- Teen health Check 

hiips://www.cqc.org.uk/location/1 -
681486807/contact  

Your Choice  
New Zealand 
hiips://www.healthwest.co.nz/our -services/the-
youth-health-hub/primary-mental-health-services 
 
Age 12-24  

-  access to early intervention for young people 
with mild to moderate mental health concerns.   
 

Evaluation 2014 
hiips://www.researchgate.net/publication/267627
602_Facilitating_Access_to_Effective_and_Appropr
iate_Care_for_Youth_With_Mild_to_Moderate_M
ental_Health_Concerns_in_New_Zealand 
 

 

T
ud. 98



 

73 
 

21 Appendix B: Summary Evaluations of Four Integrated Care Fund (ICF) Projects in North 
Wales 

 
Part of the North Wales Regional Partnership Board Strategic Review included an evaluation of 4 projects 
funded by the ICF. These were: 
 

● East Area (Flintshire 7 Wrexham) Multi Systemic Therapy (MST) 
● Central Area (Denbighshire) Primary School-based Counselling Service 
● Central Area (Conwy): OT Seconded to Strengthening Families Team 
● West Area (Gwynedd & Anglesey) Virtual School Head (VSH) 

 
A comprehensive evaluation report was published on 23rd April 2021. The following 4 pages provide one-page 
summaries of each of the projects. 
 
 

Tud. 99



 

74 
 

 
Pilot Description: ICT MST East Area Flintshire and Wrexham  
The project aimed to research and test Multisystemic Therapy (MST) intervention to support adolescents at risk of 
entering care or custody in East Area.  Because these children often have problems, which are emotional and 
behavioural, rather than mental disorders, they can struggle to get therapeutic and other support services they 
need. Young people living in the counties of Wrexham and Flintshire, aged 11 to 17 years old, at risk of out-of-
home placement due to antisocial and/or offending behaviors, including young people involved with the youth 
justice system plus a responsible adult 

Objectives 
1) Reduction in established emotional and mental health problems in young people of secondary school age by 

earlier identification and intervention to address emerging issues with primary school aged children, building 
their resilience and self-esteem. Reduction in referrals to specialist mental health services.  

2) A clear understanding of how a primary school-based counselling service focussed on support for children at 
Key Stage 2 might operate and what the practicalities and requirements might be on the ground.   

Pilot Comparison Summary  
Project Delivery 
How long has it been running                                10 months 
Capacity current funding         circa 57 treatment slots PA 
Objectives delivered                 Yes 
Outcomes defined                                   Yes 
ICF Funding 2020-2021                  £66,000  
Extent of COVID-19 disruption                  Moderate 
No. CYP full course therapy          10 (01/06/2020 – 30/11/2020) 

Outcomes 
Emotional health-wellbeing                          Evidence of Improvement 
Family/carers feel supported                        Evidence of Improvement  
CYP at home, in school, no new arrests       80-100% Success 
No. CYP avoided specialist services/crisis    More Data Needed 
Wider workforce confidence                        Strong (6 interviewed) 
Therapeutic Evidence Base  
Current evidence base for service                 Strong 
Potential evidence base for service …….Strong 

Sustainability/Scalability   
Service infrastructure                             Strong 
Evidence of potential cost-benefit       Strong  (research)  
Potential Scalability                             Strong 
Evaluation Quality 
Quantitative evidence                             Strong 
Case studies                                      2 
Other material                               Strong 
Interviews conducted          9 Professionals, 2 Parents 

Findings  
● The project was well planned and researched prior to implementation and is well supported by a 

multiagency agency steering group. 
● A huge amount has been achieved and learnt as a result of setting up a service in the middle of a pandemic, 

which will inform next stage developments. 
● The service model is well research and based on over 30 years of international evidence including UK 

studies.  
● The service has been implemented well, and adherence to the service model and reporting on outcomes is 

monitored robustly at a local level. Meeting targets for adherence outcome measures is overall good but not 
yet optimal. Likewise meeting targets for the 3 ultimate outcome measures is also good but not yet optimal. 
That said the service has only been operational for 10 months, which could account for this. 

● On face value taking account of intensity of service, on call and the licence fee the service could appear 
expensive. A cost benefit analysis of the service is currently underway and a recent published UK study 
showed a similar stand-alone service was cost effective relative to baseline and cost effectiveness increased 
with economies of scale. 

● All interviewees unanimously valued the service and were able to give qualitative examples of how the 
service had delivered on ‘National Outcomes Framework Measures’. The intensity of the offer and on-call 
service was particularly valued. 

● In common with a published study a number of interviewees questioned the potential gap in-service when 
cases are closed, which may or may not be an issue as longer term outcomes from the project are evaluated.  

● Demand and capacity planning, pathway development and local data systems have yet to be developed. 
There is a rich source data from the project thus far that could be used to develop assumptions to inform 
service planning and service modelling.  

Conclusion 
● The project is based on over 30 years of evidence including UK studies, was well planned, well delivered and is 

well monitored. Local outcomes although limited at this stage show positive impact on young people and their 
families.  Further work is now needed to realise full benefits of the project 

 
Key Recommendations 
● Build the local case for return on investment and model impact. 
● Development of local pathways; demand and capacity plans and local data systems to monitor impact. 
● Build marketing case studies for different audiences.  
● Start planning ahead now for the next stage of the project (April 2022 onwards) to avoid disruption to the 

current phase of the project in 2021-2022 (there is a 5 month lead in time base on standard 20 week MST 
therapy).  
 

T
ud. 100



 

75 
 

21.1  
Pilot Description: Central (Denbighshire) Primary School Counselling 
The pilot is testing the expansion of the Denbighshire Independent Young Person’s Counselling Service 
(DIYPCS) to provide evidence-based counselling to primary aged (KS2) children.  This includes the 
recruitment of an independent School Counsellor and provision of training for Counsellors in 
Therapeutic Play. The service is a Tier 2 provision, focussed on meeting the gap in existing wellbeing 
and resilience support services for children between Tier 1, school-based pastoral interventions and 
specialist mental health interventions at Tier 3. 

Objectives 
1) Reduction in established emotional and mental health problems in young people of secondary school age by 

earlier identification and intervention to address emerging issues with primary school aged children, building their 
resilience and self-esteem. Reduction in referrals to specialist mental health services.  

2) A clear understanding of how a primary school-based counselling service focussed on support for children at Key 
Stage 2 might operate and what the practicalities and requirements might be on the ground.   

Pilot Comparison Summary 
Project Delivery 
How long has it been running 16 months 
Current funding capacity circa. 48 pupils per year  
Objectives delivered  Yes 
Outcomes defined  No 
Funding 2019-2020  £33,000 
Funding 2020-2021  £33,000 (+ £2400 train) 
Extent of COVID-19 disruption  Severe 
No. CYP supported by service p.a. 30 (expected 60 - COVID) 

Outcomes 
Emotional health-wellbeing        Evidence of improvement 
Family/carers feel supported               No interviews 
No. CYP avoided specialist services/crisis 1 
Wider workforce confidence      Strong (1 interview) 
Therapeutic Evidence Base  
Current evidence base for service  Weak 
Potential evidence base for service  Strong 

Sustainability/Scalability   
Service infrastructure   Strong 
Evidence of potential cost-benefit Strong  (research)  
Potential Scalability   Strong 
Evaluation Quality 
Quantitative evidence   Weak 
Case studies   4  
Other material     Moderate  
Interviews conducted                  3 (professionals) 

Findings  
● Service infrastructure, professional standards and ethics framework regulated through BACP 

accreditation, are established and working well.  
● DIYCPS staff committed and enthusiastic about working with KS2 children. 
● The key progress measure (YP-CORE) used by the wider service is not suitable for some KS2 

children therefore evidence of service impact could not be determined.  
● Approaches for counselling with primary children different to secondary and requires specialist 

training.   
● Onward referral rate is currently 0.3% which considerably lower than the 5% rate of the 

secondary school service (this should be read in the context COVID disruption and the low number 
pupils who accessed the service).  

● The remote working skills and protocols developed in response to the pandemic offer a new and 
more flexible range of service options for delivery where children request it or where face to face 
is not possible.   

● Academic research indicates: 1) significant cost-benefits from using primary school counselling to 
avoid pressure on specialist service later in a child’s life; 2) likely to be higher demand for 
children’s mental health services post pandemic; 3) improved outcomes, reduced costs and better 
utilization of services can be achieved when a multi-agency panel is used to consider which 
mental health intervention will best meet the individual’s needs.  

Conclusion 
● A well-run pilot that, despite COVID-19 disruption, has pioneered the delivery of primary school-based counselling 

services across Denbighshire and has the potential to be rolled out across the region. 
Recommendations 
● Investigate and implement age-appropriate post evaluation questionnaires and pre and post counselling measures 

for younger children (replacing YP-CORE) to evidence individual progress and can be collated to provide evidence 
of service impact.  

● If rolling out across the region, review the evidence strategy to ensure all elements can be gathered consistently 
across all LA’s. 

● Consider the potential for increased demand for counselling post COVID-19 
● Take account of the additional time it takes for the Counsellor to gain consent and build relationships with 

parents/carers and teacher in comparison to secondary school service when estimating the funding required to 
continue or further expand. 

● Investigate Multi-agency panel approach to decide the appropriate response to each referral, involving DIYCPS, 
schools, and other relevant services. 

● Consider continuing to develop remote working skills and protocols developed in response to the pandemic to 
offer a more flexible range of service delivery options going forward.   

● While face to face counselling Training in creative approaches suitable for younger children will be required going 
forward - £2400.00 training budget remains unspent due to COVID 

T
ud. 101



 

76 
 

 
Pilot Description: ICF Occupational Therapy Central Area Conwy 
An Occupational Therapist (OT) was seconded from the Vulnerable People Team to the Strengthening Families Team between Nov 
2019 and April 2020. The aim was to research and test if occupational therapy could improve the emotional health and wellbeing of 
children and young people and avoid children and young people needing care or managed care by providing evidence based 
positive behavioural support in early intervention. The OT identified a gap is service for children with challenging behaviours who 
were either awaiting assessment or who had received a diagnosis but no offer of support services from health in relation to ASD 
and ADHD with sensory processing difficulties and worked with this group. 

Objectives 
1) Improve the health and wellbeing of children young people and their families 
2) Improve the life chances of children and young people by intervening early before the 

need for care becomes established.  
3) Avoid unnecessary care and support and avoid unwarranted escalation of need.  
4) Inform and up-skill existing staff in the Strengthen Families Team, FIT, and Family 

Centres 
Pilot Comparison Summary 

Process 
How long has it been running  6 months 
Objectives delivered?  Yes 
Outcomes defined?   No 
Funding 2019-2020   £33,000 
Extent of COVID-19 disruption?  Mild- moderate 
No of CYP supported by service?   15 
 

Outcomes 
Emotional health and wellbeing              Evidence of Improvement    
Family and carers feel supported            Evidence of Improvement 
No of CYP avoided specialist services?                                    3 
Wider workforce confidence                                                      Strong  
Current Evidence base?                                Weak 
Potential Evidence base                            Strong 
 

Sustainability/Scalability   
Service infrastructure - Strong,  OT infrastructure - Weak                                                          
Evidence of potential cost-benefit  Moderate  
Potential Scalability    Strong 
Evaluation Quality 
Quantitative evidence    Weak 
Case studies    2  
Other material       Moderate  
Interviews conducted                         6 Professionals, 1 Carer 

Findings  
● The project was set up in just a few weeks as a result of the last minute availability of time limited 

funding, with limited opportunities to plan and source/ resource project management support. That 
said there was real enthusiasm for the project by staff involved. The project has informed a larger 
business case for an Early Intervention Behaviour Support Team to take this approach forward at 
scale, this initiative is also grant funded.  

● Published evidence for sensory interventions is inconclusive and evolving. However, the project OT 
used a wide range of practical and behavioural interventions in addition to sensory interventions to 
achieve outcomes. The RCOT recommends that children and young people have access to an 
occupational therapist as part of early intervention services and describes a case study where an 
investment of £817 in OT generated potential savings circa £13,000 PA in educational placement. 
Similar saving calculations could illustrate project case studies.  

● Evidence from the project is consistently positive but very small in scale and limited in nature. 
Evidence described how the OT had filled a gap in service for children with diagnosed and undiagnosed 
autistic spectrum disorder and attention deficit hyper activity disorder and in all likelihood prevented 
needs from escalating.   

● There was a lack of an outcomes framework or routine reporting against project outcomes.   
● Professional OT supervision was limited and informal and given the evidence base for sensory based 

interventions in OT is still evolving formal specialist OT supervision may have enhanced the project 
ability to evidence outcomes.  

● Seconding an OT to the project was easy. Recruitment of OTs to Early Intervention Hub has so far been 
unsuccessful. Recruitment of occupational therapists is tricky as demand outstrips supply. Recruitment 
to specialist OT posts in social care is particularly difficult as OTs with similar experience can earn up to 
£10,000 more in health settings, can work in private practice in significant numbers and are less 
inclined to apply for short term posts. 

Conclusions 
● The project was very small in scale and lacking project management infrastructure to support the project 

lead. That said the project lead and OT were very committed to the project and still achieved a lot with very 
little. Outcomes were overall positive and the project showcased some compelling example of how the OT 
had helped children, young people and their carers and potential prevented needs escalating, but the project 
very small scale and the evidence was limited. 

Recommendations 
● This is an area where OT can add value but further local research is needed coupled with project rigour that a 

larger project such as the Early Intervention Behaviour Support Team brings with it.  RCOT recommends 
Audits of the effectiveness of interventions including Ayres Sensory Integration® and sensory based 
interventions should be systematically conducted to inform local evidence.  

● Building the evidence locally for return on investment will be critical including identifying where cost and 
benefits lie across the system.  

● Formal professional OT supervision (in addition to line management supervision) in line with RCOT 
guidelines would maximise outcomes going forward. It would be worth exploring potential partnerships with 
local OT services and the department of OT at Wrexham Glyndwr University (who have lectures with special 
interest in children and young people, mental health, neurology and social services practice). Alternatively, 
RCOT have a register of potential supervisors.  

● Taking a fresh look at recruitment will be critical, either partnering with health to second an OT, partnering 
with the Wrexham Glyndwr University or looking at creating a different grading mix (for example a junior 
grade support by a highly specialist grade rather than 2 specialist posts would much easier to recruit to, cost 
similar and highly specialist grade would be well placed to tackle gaps in evidence base). Longer-term funding 
and/or job security would also need to be considered to make post attractive. 

 

T
ud. 102



 

77 
 

Pilot Description: West Area (Gwynedd & Anglesey) Virtual School Head (VSH)  
This pilot aimed to draw on Sir Alasdair Macdonald’s (2020) to research the potential benefits of 
instituting a Virtual School Head (VSH) to champion the educational attainments of all looked after 
(LAC) in the authority – both within and beyond its boundaries.  The role would potentially be 
responsible for co-ordinating all parts of the system to ensure LAC receive an excellent education and 
equal opportunities regardless of their circumstances. 

Objectives 
1) Support children in care and those who work with them to maximise education outcomes and remove 

barriers to success 
2) Monitor progress of all looked after children in the care of the LA 
3) Gain access to appropriate data 
4) Use the status of the role to influence and be a champion for all looked after children. 

Pilot Comparison Summary 
Project Delivery 
How long has it been running N/A 
Capacity with current funding N/A 
Objectives delivered  No  
Outcomes defined  No 
Funding 2019-2020  £66,666.00  
Funding 2020-2021  £63,333.00  
Extent of COVID-19 disruption Severe 

Outcomes 
No of CYP supported by service  N/A 
No of CYP avoided specialist services N/A 
No of CYP referred to other services N/A 
No of crisis intervention required  N/A 
Current Evidence base     N/A  
Potential Evidence base   N/A 
Local voices – no interviewed  None 
Local voices – impressions of quality None  

Sustainability/Scalability   
Service infrastructure No existing infrastructure 
Evidence of cost-benefit  Strong (Research) 
Potential Scalability   N/A 
Evaluation Quality 
Quantitative evidence    N/A 
Case studies    N/A 
Other material       N/A 
Interviews conducted   N/A 

Findings  
● N/A.  

Conclusions  
● N/A (see considerations in VSH report) 

T
ud. 103



 

22 Appendix C: CYP Consultation 

No Wrong Door - Children and Young People’s Consultation 
July 2021 
Executive Summary 
The objective for this consultation was to gain the feedback, experiences and opinions of 
children and young people (CYP) who access children’s services across North Wales. The 
number of CYP entering the care system and accessing services is significantly increasing 
along with the need and demand for providers to deliver their services appropriately.  
This consultation aimed to co-produce and work alongside CYP to support and/or design any 
potential, long-term considerations for strategic development within children’s services 
across North Wales. The CYP consultation process was delivered in three core stages: 
Stage 1 – CYP Engagement 
Presenting CYP with the opportunity to share their experiences, opinions and 
recommendations and identify any strong, recurring overall themes 
Stage 2 – Professional Engagement  
Share the CYP’s engagement feedback (Stage 1) with professionals engaged in the 
professional stakeholder workshop to consider the feedback and generate potential 
solutions, provision, strategic developments etc that may contribute towards improvement 
in children’s services 
Stage 3 – Information Review 
Present CYP with the information and ideas provided by the professionals to gain their 
feedback/review 
Stage 1 – CYP Engagement 
To gain insights and feedback directly from CYP to support the development goals for this 
project, the following considerations and strategies were created and delivered: 
Engagement Workbook (Young Leaders) 
A specialised engagement workbook was created which provided participants with the 
opportunity to provide their feedback in a variety of formats. The workbook could be 
completed remotely or during face-to-face sessions. 
Workshop Engagement (Face-to-Face) 
Participants were offered opportunities to engage through several workshop style 
approaches. To ensure that feedback remained as consistent as possible for data analysis 
purposes, the Young Leader workbooks were used to help guide workshop feedback where 
participants did not complete the workbooks in written format. 
To offer both the above approaches and encourage engagement participation, we used the 
following platforms to raise awareness: 
● Email Campaigns 

● Article entry in the North Wales Patient Experience newsletter  

● Social care and third sector forums  

The above platforms aimed to reach the following providers/services using a robust database. 
The providers, through the services they provide, shared the consultation engagement 
opportunity with CYP based in North Wales: 
● 85 services across social service and third sectors 

Tud. 104



 

79 
 

● 7 CAMHS teams  

● Over 50 members of staff within the Neurodevelopment Development Services for CYP 

● 5 Local schools 

The below image is an example of the Patient Experience Newsletter: 
 

 
 
Data analysis: Using 5 key questions from the Young Leaders Workbook, we studied both the 
completed workbooks alongside verbal feedback provided during workshops to create coded 
themes that establish recurring themes.  
Key dates: 
24 May – 08 June 2021 – Consultation preparation (workbooks, consent forms, welcome 
packs) 
09 June 2021 - Consultation opportunity shared with providers 
14 June 2021 – 12 July 2021 – CYP consultations commence (Virtual and Face-to-Face) 
04 July – 07 July 2021 – Visit and workshops conducted with CYP across North Wales   
20 July 2021 – Review Workshop 1 (East Area) 
23 July 2021 - Review Workshop 1 (East Area) 
CYP Engagement 
Total number of CYP who engaged in totality (workbook completion and face-to-face 
consultations) during Stage 1 = 82 
The below chart demonstrates how the 82 total participants are geographically located. 
 
Diagram A 

Tud. 105



 

80 
 

 
 
Below is a chart which illustrates the percentage of each gender who took part in the overall 
research project. 
 
Diagram B 

 
 
Diagram C 

Tud. 106



 

81 
 

 
 
82 participants were aged between 12 and 20 years of age (see diagram C).  
When considering their geographic locations across North Wales: 
● 64 participants are based in the East 

● 9 participants are based in the West  

● 9 participants are based more centrally 

37 of the participants identified as female, 27 as male and the remaining 18 did not state any 
gender (see diagram B) 
Analysis and Themes 
When analysing the feedback collectively, several reoccurring themes arise from CYP’s 
personal experiences that demonstrate a need for improvement within children’s services. 
91.5% identified situations where they felt that the services they accessed could have been 
better and offered suggestions on what they would like to see in the future. Though a general, 
overall sense of dissatisfaction is apparent, there are some trends and recurring themes that 
are more powerful and recurring.  
The most powerful and recurring themes when analysing the feedback provided by 82 CYP, 
the following themes recurred most using coded theme analysis: 
 
 

 
Themes 

Number of 
Participants (out of 

82) who shared 
theme 

Percentag
e 

To have online services that enable users to access 
support, book appointments, conduct 
appointments etc  
 

 
29/82 

 
35.3.% 

Tud. 107



 

82 
 

To have better and quicker access to mental health 
professionals/services/resources 
 

 
26/82 

 
31.7% 

To have clearer/uncomplicated information of 
where or who to go to when support is required 
 

 
25/82 

 
30.4% 

To feel supported, valued and listened to  
24/82 

 
29.2% 

To have shorter waiting lists 
 

 
24/82 

 
29.2% 

To have better communication and consistent 
relationships with professionals/therapists  

 
22/82 

 
26.8% 

 
Analysis of feedback suggests children and young people would like to see:  
 
● A major reduction or preferably elimination of waiting times for mental health services ( 

young people’s unhappiness with excessive waiting for mental health appointments was 
a highly recurring theme)   

● Development of simple up to date information on how to get support that is easily 
accessible, and available online 

● Development of digital offers e.g.  for online booking, video, and telephone appointments 
etc.  

● Simplified access to services that communicate well with each other  
● Professionals who listen, seek to understand, show compassion, and can communicate 

better with children and young people.  
● Help that is person-centred and consistent which then helps young people to build 

trusting relationships with professionals  
● Help that is readily available even at lower-level support and including a wider range of 

support and therapies such as help with gaming addiction. 
● Better support in school including, mental health awareness raising in schools and their 

communities, teacher and peers that are more knowledgeable about mental health, and 
more available counselling in schools  

 
Limitations 
● Timescale: The consultation process with CYP was delivered under a period of three weeks and 

the total time allotted to the consultation was approximately seven weeks. A longer, more 
extensive timeframe would present the potential for wider engagement and analysis to establish 
stronger themes and feedback 

● Age: The youngest participant age was 12 therefore the evaluation does not include CYP 
accessing children’s services aged below twelve years old 

● Gender: Though the gender of participants was generally balanced, a larger cohort of 
participants would have provided an opportunity to further analytically research gender vs 
themes trends 

● Location: Though attempts to engage learners across North Wales were made equally, the 
response rate from eastern districts were much higher (83%) therefore this does not represent a 
balanced outlook pertaining to CYP feedback geographically 

● Covid-19: Both restrictions such as lockdown and general uncertainty may have affected 
participation and engagement levels 

Tud. 108



 

83 
 

 
Stage 2 – Professional Engagement 
Professionals were presented with the opportunity to view and discuss feedback shared by 
CYP during Stage 1. After considering the themes, feedback and recommendations, the 
professional stakeholder workshop participants developed concepts for new ways of working 
that: 
● Are based on experiences of children young people and families 
● Have a shift in focus to prevention and early help - to prevent mental health difficulties occurring 

and offer help in the community at an early stage to stop mental health difficulties getting worse 
● Be integrated so that CYP and their families have one simple way into the services they need - 

this could look like an integrated team of health and social care staff that works together with 
schools and other community support services  

● Be flexible so that children, young people and families can move between services as their needs 
increase or decrease e.g., without waiting or having their case closed and opened again.  

● Be available as locally as possible 
● Be accessible - make it as easy as possible for you to get to the service or for the service to reach 

you  
 

The above concepts were formulated into a child friendly format and delivered through 
workshops that took place on: 
● 20 July 2021 (Halkyn Castle Wood – Central/East Area) 

● 23 July 2021 (Gwaith Powdwr – West Area) 

 

 
 
Below are samples taken from the workbook designed for CYP sharing ideas presented by 
professionals. 

 
 

All the participants who engaged during Stage 1 received an invite to attend the workshop 
review events. Facilitating two workshops with the capacity to host larger groups, this 
engagement opportunity was also extended to CYP who access children’s services across 

Tud. 109



 

84 
 

North Wales whom did not initially participate during Stage 1 consultations. Having two event 
locations namely one in the East and another in the West, accommodated and supported CYP 
with further travel/location needs and flexibility.  
Workshop Attendance Figures  

Date and Venue Number of 
Participants  

20 July 2021 (Halkyn Castle Wood – Central/East Area) 28 

23 July 2021 (Gwaith Powdwr – West Area) 5 

Total 33 

 
Number of participants who completed the workbook 9 
Number of participants who provided verbal feedback 15 
Number of participants who did not provide feedback 9 

 
Overall feedback demonstrates that participants were pleased to see the initiatives and ideas 
sharing a positive feedback on the information provided to them by professionals engaged in 
the professionals workshop. 
 
 
From the initiatives presented to CYP, the following three received the most positive 
feedback: 
A Central Door - based on experiences of children young people and families 
 

- This initiative received the most feedback with CYP feeling that this will support or 
eliminate issues surrounding waiting times, provide a faster route to receiving 
information online and better access to mental health support 

 
Quotes from CYP 
 

1 I agree with the central door although there needs 
to be 
 the right teachers to talk to so they understand your  
position. 

2 I agree with the central door as they will have a good  
understanding. 
 

3 The ideas all seem good but having a central door is 
best idea 

4 I think there will be less waiting time with central 
door 

5 One single point would be good as not then being 
passed from one service to another. 
 

 

Tud. 110



 

85 
 

 
The Prevention Door - Have a shift in focus to prevention and early help - to prevent mental 
health difficulties occurring and offer help in the community at an early stage to stop mental 
health difficulties getting worse 
 

- Participants and their families felt that education in the community would support 
improvement. Many shared how their first place to receive support is at home or 
amongst family and friends 
 

Quotes from CYP 
1 The best idea as having one easy method is the most 

convenient for getting help. 
 

2 We don’t have to rely on services then 
3 When I most need help, I get it from my friends and 

family which is why this is my favorites  
4 This seems like the best solution because we don’t 

always have to get annoyed for waiting 
 
 
The Supporting Door - Be accessible - make it as easy as possible for you to get to the service 
or for the service to reach you  
 

- Participants felt that this initiative could offer support that they currently lack  
 
 
 
 
Quotes from CYP 

1 The supporting door is most important 
2 Schools really need to improve, its where we spend 

most of our time 
3 Feeling supported is important which is why I like 

this one 
4 Travel is always an issue for my mum so I think this 

will help 
5 Integrate with schools: flexible hours for people who 

need them 
 
Limitations – Review Workshops 

- Participation numbers: The feedback provided was based on 33 participants  
- Age: The youngest participant age was 11 therefore the evaluation does not include 

CYP accessing children’s services aged below eleven years old 
- Demographic Data: Due to a large cohort of new participants who had not engaged 

during Stage 1, it was difficult to determine and analyse the feedback with 
demographic data as this was not provided 

Tud. 111



 

86 
 

- Geographic Data: out of 33 participants, only 5 attended the event in the West. 
Therefore, the feedback was predominately provided by CYP located in the East and 
only a small representation of service users in the West is included 

- Timeframe: The feedback and deliverables are based on participation levels gained 
across North Wales over a period of seven weeks. An extended commitment to the 
timeframe would enhance both participation and feedback quality 

- Covid-19: Both restrictions such as lockdown and general uncertainty may have 
affected participation and engagement numbers 

 
  

Tud. 112



 

87 
 

23 Appendix D: Guidance Frameworks 

Matrics Plant Guidance on the Delivery of Psychological Interventions for Children and 
Young People in Wales  
 
Matrics Plant published in September 2017 provides organising principles for psychological 
interventions. Services should be designed to ensure that they are able to meet the needs of 
the child or young person at the earliest appropriate opportunity as well as at the earliest 
possible stage in their development. This would include ensuring that suitably qualified 
practitioners are available to provide evidence-based psychological interventions.   Matrics 
Plant does not recommend specific service models, rather the formulation should consider 
where in the child or young person’s system an intervention can be most effective for 
improving psychological resilience and wellbeing. As such, evidence-based psychological 
interventions encompass a wide range of courses of action including:  

• Targeted training to upskill key members of a child or young person’s system  
• Network consultation to support the development of a shared framework for 

understanding and responding to the child or young person’s specific presentation  
• One off or ongoing consultative support to an individual or specific team  
• Intervention with main carers/parents  
• Intervention directly with child or young person.  

It is essential that the expertise and support that exists within the system is available to 
practitioners in embedded services in the form of easy to access consultation, advice and 
role appropriate supervision, as well as skilled psychological and other practitioners being 
embedded within these systems.  
 
Nest/Nyth 
 
Published in 2021, Nest/Nyth is a planning tool for Regional Partnership Boards that aims to 
ensure a whole system approach for developing mental health, well-being and support 
services for babies, children, you people, parents, carers and their wider families across 
Wales. It is intended to help those seeking to develop or transform such services to focus on 
the following core values and approaches:  
 

• A rights-based approach. Are children and young people in their care aware of their 
rights? How does this get enacted day to day? 

• Equity, Diversity and Inclusion.  Ensuring a feeling of inclusion regardless of race, 
ethnicity, culture, religion, gender identity, sexual orientation, physical health and 
disability, neurodiversity, additional learning needs, learning disability, adversity and 
poverty.  

• Values Led – focus on supporting children of all ages with their mental health and 
wellbeing. 

• Child development. Supporting the uniqueness of each child as they develop rather 
than focussing on age.  

• Psychologically informed.  Keeping up with emerging learning and incorporating it 
into the way we work. 

Tud. 113



 

88 
 

• Trusted adult – the vital role that proximal grown-ups have in helping babies, 
children, and young people with their mental health and wellbeing. 

• Wellbeing across education – ensuring that there is a good understanding of mental 
health and wellbeing across the sector and that this is used to support children and 
young people in every way possible. 

• Co-produced innovation – taking on everyone’s ideas, especially those of young 
people and their families. 

• Easy Access to Expertise -grown-ups in children’s lives know where to go for help 
and can get it quickly if they need it.  

• Safe and supportive communities – ensuring environments that children and young 
people grow up in and the services around them are safe for them to live, play 
socialise and exercise.  

• No Wrong Door – ensuring families get the right help at the right time  
• Working together – services and those they support working together with a focus 

on prevention and intervention. 
  

Tud. 114



 

89 
 

24 Appendix E: The Review Process 

 
The main steps of the North Wales Regional Partnership Board “No Wrong Door” strategy 
development process is illustrated in the Figure  xx below. 
 
The core activity consisted of a series of workshops for professionals, and a parallel 
programme of engagement with children and young people. Due to the Covid-19 pandemic 
emergency restrictions and to facilitate attendance across the North Wales, workshops 
were held by video conference. Each workshop consisted of two parts. 
The workshop method was based in Appreciative Inquiry (a strengths-based approach to 
organisational development).  
 
Professionals’ Workshop 1: Defining the vision for mental health services for children and 
young people in North Wales and Discovering what is currently working well. 
 
Professionals’ Workshop 2: Dreaming what might be possible and Designing a “To Be” 
model 
 
Professionals’ Workshop 3: Considering what is possible and how it might be Delivered 
 
Data collected from children provided their views, which were used to inform the analysis 
and design of the future model. They then had an opportunity to comment on the emerging 
proposals. Key findings of the children’s and young people’s engagement are included in the 
body of the strategy document. A summary report of the Children’s and young people’s 
consultation of forms Appendix C. A full report of the Children’s and young people’s 
consultation is separately available.  
  

 
Figure:The North Wales “No Wrong Door Strategy Review Process 

 
 

Tud. 115



                     

 

 

 

 

 

 

Gweler y daflen Sut i Wneud Asesiad Effaith Cydraddoldeb am gymorth i lenwi’r ffurflen yma.  

Mae croeso hefyd i chi gysylltu gyda Delyth Williams, Swyddog Polisi a Chydraddoldeb ar est 

32708, neu DelythGadlysWilliams@gwynedd.llyw.cymru, am gymorth pellach. 

 

Mae’n ofynnol i’r Cyngor (dan Ddeddf Cydraddoldeb 2010) i ystyried yr effaith fydd newid 

mewn unrhyw bolisi neu weithdrefn (neu greu polisi neu weithdrefn o’r newydd), yn ei gael ar 

bobl hefo nodweddion cydraddoldeb gwarchodedig.  Mae gan y Cyngor hefyd ddyletswyddau 

cyffredinol ychwanegol i sicrhau tegwch a meithrin perthnasau da.  Rhaid felly gwneud asesiad 
amserol cyn gwneud penderfyniad ar unrhyw newid perthnasol (h.y. sy’n cael effaith ar bobl 

hefo nodwedd gwarchodedig). 

 

Mae hefyd yn ofynnol i’r Cyngor, dan ofynion Safonau’r Gymraeg (Adran 44 Mesur y Gymraeg 

(Cymru) 2011) ystyried yr effaith fydd newid mewn unrhyw bolisi neu weithdrefn (neu greu 

polisi neu weithdrefn o’r newydd), yn ei gael ar gyfleoedd i bobl ddefnyddio’r Gymraeg ac i 

sicrhau nad yw’r Gymraeg yn cael ei thrin yn llai ffafriol na’r Saesneg. Mae’r ddogfen hon felly 

yn sicrhau bod y penderfyniadau yma’n diogelu ac yn hyrwyddo’r defnydd a wneir 

o’r Gymraeg. 

 

O Ebrill 1af 2021 ymlaen mae gan y Cyngor ddyletswydd i roi sylw dyledus i ddod i’r afael ag 

anfantais economaidd-gymdeithasol mewn penderfyniadau strategol. 

 

 

1) Manylion  

 

1.1 Beth yw enw’r polisi / gwasanaeth dan sylw? 

 

Strategaeth Dim Drws Anghywir (No Wrong Door) 

 

 

       

  

1.2  Beth ydi pwrpas y polisi/gwasanaeth sy’n cael ei greu neu ei newid?  Pa 

newidiadau sy’n cael eu hystyried? 

 

Mae’r strategaeth yn cynnig adolygiad radical o drefniadau cyfredol sydd yn cynnig model 

uchelgeisiol ar gyfer cydweithio fydd yn gwella iechyd meddwl a chanlyniadau llesiant i blant a 

phobl ifanc hyd at 25 mlwydd oed. Mae yn strategaeth ranbarthol ar draws Gogledd Cymru 

gydag egwyddorion cytunedig ar draws y rhanbarth a disgwyliadau i ddarparu gwasanaethau i 

gyfarfod âg anghenion lleol yn yr awdurdod lleol ar y cyd a’n partneriaid. 

Mae’r strategaeth yn rhoi disgwyliadau i weithio yn llawer mwy integredig ar draws yr 

asiantaethau gan ddefnyddio model tim o amgylch y teulu a hybiau fydd yn golygu fod mynediad 

 

Asesu’r Effaith ar Nodweddion 

Cydraddoldeb, y Gymraeg ac  

Anfantais Economaidd-Gymdeithasol  

Tud. 116

mailto:DelythGadlysWilliams@gwynedd.llyw.cymru


i wasanaethau yn gynnar ac mewn modd hygyrch i deuluoedd yn llawer haws nag y mae ar y 

funud. 

  

           

 

1.3 Pwy sy’n gyfrifol am yr asesiad yma? 

 

Marian Parry Hughes 

 

 

 

1.4  Pryd wnaethoch chi gychwyn yr asesiad?  Pa fersiwn yw hwn? 

 

Mawrth 2022 Fersiwn1.0. Mae hwn yn asesiad ar y cynllun yn ei gyfanrwydd. Bwriedir gwneud 

asesiadau effaith pellach wrth gynllunio i weithredu rhai elfennau ohono. 

 

 

      

 

 2)  Gweithredu 

 

2.1 Pwy yw’r budd-ddeiliaid neu bartneriaid fydd yn rhaid gweithio hefo nhw i 

wneud yr asesiad yma? 

 

Mae’r strategaeth wedi ei ddatblygu yn dilyn mewnbwn a gweithdai gyda budd-deiliaid 

proffesiynol, gan gynnwys y bwrdd iechyd, yr awdurdodau lleol, mudiadau gwirfoddol ar draws 

y Gogledd. 

 

 

 

 

2.2  Pa gamau ydych chi wedi ei cymryd i ymgysylltu gyda pobl hefo 

nodweddion gwarchodedig, ynglŷn â’r iaith Gymraeg neu â chymunedau 

(un ai oherwydd lleoliad neu oherwydd angen) sy’n byw ag anfantais 

economaidd-gymdeithasol? 

 

Fel rhan o ddatblygu’r strategaeth a chyn ei gytuno, bu ymgynghoriad ar lefel ranbarthol gyda 

plant, pobl ifanc a theuluoedd sydd yn cynrychioli grwpiau sydd â nodweddion gwarchodedig. 

 

 

 

 

2.3 Beth oedd canlyniad yr ymgysylltu? 

 

Mae’r ymgynghoriad uchod wedi amlygu y newid sydd angen digwydd er mwyn gwella 

profiadau unigolion o dderbyn gwasanaeth a chael mynediad i wasanaethau. 

 

 

 

Tud. 117



 

2.4 Ar sail pa dystiolaeth arall ydych chi’n gweithredu? 

 

Gweithredir y strategaeth yn seiliedig ar yr angen i ddatblygu gwell canlyniadau i blant a phobl 

ifanc yn maes iechyd meddwl a llesiant. Amcangyfrifir bod oddeutu 9,280 o blant a phobl ifanc 

yng Ngogledd Cymru rhwng 5 ac 16 mlwydd oed  yn dioddef o broblemau iechyd meddwl i 

wahanol raddau (ffigyrau Bwrdd Iechyd, 2020) ac o’r rhain amcangyfrifir fod oddeutu 1,566 o’r 

rhain yn byw yng Ngwynedd. Fodd bynnag nid oes gennym wybodaeth cyfredol am beth mae 

hynny yn ei  ddweud wrthym am y gynrychiolaeth o fewn y ffigwr hwn o safbwynt unrhyw un 

sydd a nodweddion gwarchodedig. 

 

 

 

 

2.5  Oes yna unrhyw fylchau yn y dystiolaeth sydd angen ei gasglu? 

 

Mae yna fylchau yn y data sydd ar gael yn lleol, ac un o amcanion y strategaeth yw i gael gwell 

dealltwriaeth o lefelau anghenion ar draws y rhanbarth ac yn lleol.  

 

 

 

 

 

3) Adnabod yr Effaith 

 

3.1  Mae’n rhaid i’r Cyngor roi sylw dyledus i’r effaith fydd unrhyw newidiadau’n 

ei gael ar bobl hefo nodweddion cydraddoldeb isod.  Beth yw’r effaith fydd y 

polisi/gwasanaeth newydd neu’r newidiadau arfaethedig yn ei gael ar bobl 

hefo’r nodweddion hyn?  Mae hefyd angen ystyried yr effaith ar anfantais 

economaidd-gymdeithasol ac ar y Gymraeg. 

 

Nodweddion Sut fath o 

effaith? * 

 

Ym mha ffordd?  Beth yw’r dystiolaeth? 

 

Hil (gan 

gynnwys 

cenedligrwydd) 

Positif   Bydd y strategaeth yn cael effaith gadarnhaol ar bobl o 

gymunedau Pobl dduon, Asiaidd a lleiafrifoedd ethnig neu 

sy’n geiswyr lloches neu ffoaduriaid gan y bydd y cymorth 

fydd ar gael yn hygyrch ac yn hawdd ei gael gyda mynediad 

at hyfforddiant i weithwyr i ddeall anghenion yn well ac i 

deilwrio gwasanaethau ar sail anghenion diwylliant, crefydd 

a iaith. 

Anabledd  

 

Positif  Mae'r strategaeth yn ystyried gofynion Deddf Cydraddoldeb 

2010 mewn perthynas ag addasiadau rhesymol. Mae'r 

Ddeddf yn gosod dyletswydd gyfreithiol ar ddarparwyr 

gwasanaethau a'r rhai sy'n darparu nwyddau a chyfleusterau 

i wneud addasiadau rhesymol ar gyfer pobl anabl er mwyn 

sicrhau nad ydynt o dan anfantais o gymharu â phobl heb 

anabledd. Mae'n ofynnol i ddarparwyr wneud addasiadau 

rhesymol ar gyfer pobl anabl fesul achos unigol. 

Tud. 118



Rhyw 

 

Dynion – 

dim 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Merched - 

dim 

Dynion/bechgyn:  

Mae tystiolaeth yn awgrymu fod cynnydd cyfatebol yn y 

nifer o fechgyn a merched sydd yn dioddef problemau 

iechyd meddwl ac wedi cynyddu o 1 mewn 10 yn 2004 i 1 

mewn 9 yn 2020. Mae’r rhesymau yn amrywio ond gellir eu 

cysylltu i ffactorau megis tlodi, perthnasau heriol teuluol, 

hunaniaeth, rhiant gyda salwch meddwl ac yn y blaen. Am y 

rheswm hwn, nid yw’n ddisgwyliedig y bydd y strategaeth 

yn cael unrhyw effaith wahaniaethol ar ddynion/bechgyn.  

 

Merched a genethod: 

 Mae tystiolaeth yn awgrymu fod cynnydd cyfatebol yn y 

nifer o fechgyn a merched sydd yn dioddef problemau 

iechyd meddwl ac wedi cynyddu o 1 mewn 10 yn 2004 i 1 

mewn 9 yn 2020. Mae’r rhesymau yn amrywio ond gellir eu 

cysylltu i ffactorau megis tlodi, perthnasau heriol teuluol, 

hunaniaeth, rhiant gyda salwch meddwl ac yn y blaen. Am y 

rheswm hwn, nid yw’n ddisgwyliedig y bydd y strategaeth 

yn cael unrhyw effaith wahaniaethol ar ferched/genethod.  

 
 

 

Oedran Positif  Mae'r strategaeth yn cyfeirio at wasanaethau i blant, pobl 

ifanc ac oedolion ifanc hyd at 25 mlwydd oed. Mae'r 

strategaeth yn cydnabod pob unigolyn hyd at yr oedran yma 
ac er mai strategaeth ar gyfer gwasanaethau plant ydyw 

mae yn cynnwys oedolion ifanc gydag anghenion yn y 

fframwaith weithredu, gan gynnwys unigolion gyda 

nodweddion gwarchodedig.. 

 

Cyfeiriadedd 

rhywiol 

 

Dim Mae corff cynyddol o lenyddiaeth yn cysylltu elfennau o 

iechyd meddwl a llesiant gyda hunaniaeth o ran 

rhywedd/dysfforia rhywedd. Mae’r strategaeth yn cydnabod 

fod unigolion o’r gymuned LGBTQ yn debygol  fod angen 

gwasanaethau ymyrraeth cynnar i’w helpu. Mae 

Llywodraeth Cymru wedi cydnabod bod angen gwella 

gwasanaethau hunaniaeth o ran rhywedd ac wedi sefydlu 

Grŵp Partneriaeth Hunaniaeth o ran Rhywedd Cymru i roi 

cyngor. Gellir defnyddio gwybodaeth o’r Barteriaeth yma i 

lywio unrhyw fersiynau dilynol o’r strategaeth. 

Crefydd neu 

gred (neu 

ddiffyg cred) 

Positif  Nid oes unrhyw dystiolaeth i awgrymu y byddai'r 

strategaeth yn cael effaith gadarnhaol na negyddol ar 

unigolion oherwydd eu crefydd, eu cred neu eu diffyg cred. 

Ailbennu 

rhywedd 

 

Dim Prin yw'r dystiolaeth i ddangos sut mae problemau iechyd 

meddwl a llesiant yn effeithio ar bobl drawsryweddol. 

Gellid gwneud rhagdybiaeth o effaith negyddol ond mae 

Llywodraeth Cymru wedi datgan bod angen gwneud rhagor 

o waith yn y maes hwn..  

Tud. 119



Beichiogrwydd 

a mamolaeth 

 

Positif  Mae tystiolaeth fod rhaglenni i gefnogi merched beichiog 

cyn geni ac wedi geni yn cael effaith bositif ar eu lles a’u 

iechyd emosiynol. Mae tystiolaeth yn dangos fod problemau 

iechyd meddwl yn ystod y flwyddyn gyntaf ar ôl geni yn 

effeithio hyd at 20% o famau newydd a gall peidio a chynnig 

cefnogaeth arwain at broblemau mwy dwys. Felly mae’r 

strategaeth yn medru cynnig ymyrraeth yn gynnar er mwyn 

gwella canlyniadau i famau ac i’w plant. 

Priodas a 

phartneriaeth 

sifil 

Positif  Nid oes unrhyw effeithiau negyddol hysbys o ran y categori 

priodas a Phartneriaeth Sifil. 

Yr iaith 

Gymraeg 

Positif  Bydd y strategaeth yn cael ei darparu yn gwbl ddwyieithog a 

bydd gweithredu’r cynnig gweithredol o ran yr iaith yn 

flaenoriaeth. 

Anfantais 

Economaidd-

Gymdeithasol 

Dim Nid oes unrhyw effeithiau negyddol hysbys ar grwpiau 

gwarchodedig na'r rhai sy'n byw mewn cartrefi incwm isel. 

 

* I’w ddileu yn ôl yr angen 

 

3.2      Mae’n ddyletswydd ar y Cyngor dan Ddeddf Cydraddoldeb 2010 i 

gyfrannu’n bositif i gymdeithas decach trwy hybu cydraddoldeb a 

pherthynas dda yn ei weithgareddau ym meysydd oedran, rhyw, 

cyfeiriadedd rhywiol, crefydd, hil, trawsrywedd, anabledd a beichiogrwydd a 

mamolaeth.  Mae’n rhaid i’r Cyngor roi sylw dyledus i’r ffordd mae unrhyw 

newid yn effeithio’r dyletswyddau yma.  

 

Dyletswyddau 

Cyffredinol y 

Ddeddf 

Cydraddoldeb 

 

A yw’n cael 

effaith?* 

Ym mha ffordd?  Beth yw’r dystiolaeth? 

Cael gwared â 

cham-

wahaniaethu 

anghyfreithlon, 

aflonyddu ac 

erledigaeth 

 

Ydi Nid yw’r strategaeth yn camwahaniaethu rhwng 

gwahanol nodweddion. Bwriad y strategaeth yw i wella 

canlyniadau bywyd plant a phobl ifanc drwy ymyrraeth 

gynnar wedi ei gydlynu yn aml asiantaethol ac felly mae’n 

cyfarch ystod o wahanol anghenion, gan ystyried 

nodweddion eraill unigolion wrth wneud hynny. 

Hyrwyddo 

cyfleoedd 

cyfartal 

 

Ydi Mae’r cynllun yn adnabod yr angen i helpu ystod eang o 

bobl sydd  â gwahanol anghenion, ac i gynnig cefnogaeth 

yn ôl eu hangen. Mae hefyd yn cynnwys y cyfrifoldeb i 

asesu anghenion gofal a chefnogaeth grwpiau bregus, ac 

yn anelu i roi sylw perthnasol iddynt hwy. 

Meithrin 

perthnasau da 

Ydi  Meithrin perthynas dda rhwng plant, pobl ifanc a’u 

cymdeithas drwy wella canlyniadau a bod yn uchelgeisiol 

ar eu cyfer er mwyn iddynt fyw bywydau llawn yn eu 

cymdeithas. 

 

Tud. 120



* I’w ddileu yn ôl yr angen 

 

3.3 Sut mae eich cynnig yn sicrhau eich bod yn gweithio yn unol â gofynion 

Safonau'r Iaith Gymraeg (Mesur y Gymraeg (Cymru) 2011), i sicrhau na 

chaiff y Gymraeg ei thrin yn llai ffafriol na'r Saesneg, ac y manteisir ar bob 

cyfle i hyrwyddo'r Gymraeg (y tu hwnt i ddarparu gwasanaethau'n 

ddwyieithog) a chynyddu cyfleoedd i ddefnyddio a dysgu'r iaith yn y 

gymuned? 

 

Mae 65% o boblogaeth Gwynedd yn siaradwyr Cymraeg ac mae’r Cyngor yn gweithredu Polisi 

Iaith sydd yn sicrhau “Bod posib i holl drigolion y sir ddefnyddio gwasanaethau’r Cyngor drwy 

gyfrwng y Gymraeg a’r Saesneg, ac y cymerir camau pendant i sicrhau bod dewis iaith y 

defnyddiwr yn cael ei nodi a’i barchu bob amser.” Mae gallu gweithredu’r polisi hwn yn gyson 

ar draws y sir gyfan, a sicrhau bod unigolyn yn gallu cael gwasanaeth Cymraeg os ydynt yn 

dymuno hynny (yn unol â’r gofyn o dan Fesur y Gymraeg (Cymru) 2011) yn golygu bod rhaid 

ystyried y Gymraeg wrth recriwtio ac wrth ddatblygu gwasanaethau. Dylid cofio bod unrhyw 

siaradwr Cymraeg sydd yn cael ei benodi i swydd o reidrwydd yn gallu darparu’r gwasanaeth 

hwnnw yn Saesneg hefyd. 

 

 

3.4 Pa fesurau neu newidiadau eraill y gallech eu cynnwys i gryfhau neu newid y 

polisi / arfer er mwyn cael effaith gadarnhaol ar gyfleoedd pobl i 

ddefnyddio'r Gymraeg,  ac i leihau neu atal unrhyw  effeithiau andwyol y 

gallai’r polisi/ymarfer ei gael ar yr iaith Gymraeg?  

 

Fel uchod 

 

 

 

 

 

3.5 Sut mae’r cynnig yn dangos eich bod wedi rhoi sylw dyledus i'r angen i fynd 

i'r afael ag anghyfartaledd o achos anfantais economaidd-gymdeithasol? 

(Sylwch fod hyn yn ymwneud â chau bylchau anghydraddoldeb yn hytrach 

na gwella canlyniadau i bawb yn unig).  
 

 

Nid yw’r ddyletswydd yn berthnasol gan nad yw’n fater strategol 

 

 

3.6 Pa fesurau neu newidiadau eraill y gallech eu cynnwys i gryfhau neu newid y 

polisi / arfer i ddangos eich bod wedi rhoi  sylw dyledus i'r angen i leihau 

canlyniadau anghyfartal o ganlyniad i anfantais economaidd-gymdeithasol, 

yn unol â’r Ddeddf Economaidd-Gymdeithasol? 

 

Fel uchod 

 

 

 

Tud. 121



 

 

4)  Dadansoddi’r canlyniadau 

 

4.1 Ydi’r polisi felly’n debygol o gael effaith sylweddol, bositif ar unrhyw un o’r 

uchod? Beth yw’r rheswm am hyn? 

 

Yn unol a’r egwyddorion yn y strategaeth byddwn yn sicrhau fod ystyriaeth yn cael ei roi i 

anghenion plant, pobl ifanc a’u teuluoedd wrth ddarparu gwasanaethau i’w cefnogi gan sicrhau 

cyfleoedd teg i bob unigolyn. Yn lleol byddwn yn ystyried nodweddion eraill yr unigolyn wrth 

weithredu. 

 

 

 

 

4.2 Ydi’r polisi felly’n debygol o gael effaith sylweddol, negyddol ar unrhyw un 

o’r uchod?  Beth yw’r rheswm am hyn? 

 

Ni ddylai’r cynllun gael effaith negyddol ar unrhyw unigolion gyda nodweddion gwarchodedig. 

 

4.3   Beth ddylid ei wneud? 

 

Dewiswch un o’r canlynol: 

 

Parhau gyda’r polisi / gwasanaeth gan ei fod yn gadarn 

 

x 

 

Addasu’r polisi i ddileu unrhyw rwystrau  

 

 

 

Atal a dileu’r polisi gan fod yr effeithiau niweidiol yn rhy fawr 

 

 

 

Parhau a’r polisi oherwydd gellir cyfiawnhau unrhyw effaith niweidiol  

 

 

Dim camau pellach ar hyn o bryd, mae’n gynamserol i benderfynu, neu does dim 

digon o dystiolaeth 

 

 

 

 

4.4 Os yn parhau hefo’r cynllun, pa gamau fyddwch chi’n cymryd i leihau neu 

liniaru unrhyw effeithiau negyddol? 

 

Nid ydym yn disgwyl y bydd unrhyw effeithiau negyddol ond byddwn yn monitro (gweler isod) 

ac yn ymdrin hefo unrhyw effeithiau negyddol allai godi 

 

 

 

4.5 Os nad ydych yn gweithredu ymhellach i ddileu neu leihau effeithiau 

negyddol, esboniwch pam yma. 

Tud. 122



 

 

Amherthnasol 

 

 

 

 

5)  Monitro 

 

5.1 Pa gamau fyddwch chi’n gymryd i fonitro effaith ac effeithiolrwydd y  polisi 

neu wasanaeth (cynllun gweithredu)? 

 

 

Bydd y strategaeth yn cael ei monitro drwy is grŵp plant yn s ranbarthol fydd yn atebol i 

Fwrdd Partneriaeth Rhanbarthol Gogledd Cymru. Rydym yn bwriadu cynnal asesiadau effaith 

pellach wrth adolygu’r cynllun er mwyn ystyried manylder yr effaith yn well. 

 

 

 

 

Tud. 123



Tudalen 1 o 8 

                          Adroddiad i Gabinet y Cyngor

Dyddiad y cyfarfod Mawrth 29ain, 2022
Aelod Cabinet Y Cynghorydd Dilwyn Morgan
Swyddog cyswllt Marian Parry Hughes, Pennaeth 

Gwasanaeth Plant a Chefnogi 
teuluoedd

E bost cyswllt marianhughes@gwynedd.llyw.cymru
Teitl yr eitem Trefniadau Cydweithio Cenedlaethol 

ar gyfer Gwasanaethau Mabwysiadu a 
Maethu (awdurdodau lleol) Cymru

Trefniadau Cydweithio Cenedlaethol ar gyfer Gwasanaethau 
Mabwysiadu a Maethu (awdurdodau lleol) Cymru 

Gwasanaeth Mabwysiadu Cenedlaethol Cymru a Maethu Cymru 
– Cyfoethogi Llywodraethu, Arweinyddiaeth a Galluogi 

1. Y PENDERFYNIAD A GEISIR. 

1.1 Fod y trefniadau ar gyfer datblygu y trefniadau llywodraethu ar gyfer 
Gwasanaeth Mabwysiadu Cenedlaethol ar gyfer Cymru wrth iddo gymryd 
cyfrifoldeb am Faethu Cymru yn cael eu mabwysiadu.

1.2 Fod y Cabinet yn cytuno   bod yr awdurdod yn ymuno y Cytundeb y 
Cydbwyllgor ar gyfer y Gwasanaeth Mabwysiadu Cenedlaethol a Maethu 
Cymru a sefydlu y Cyd Bwyllgor. 

1.3 Fod y Cabinet yn penodi yr Aelod Cabinet dros Blant a Chefnogi 
Teuluoedd i gynrychioli yr Awdurdod ar y Cyd Bwyllgor 

2. RHESWM AM Y PENDERFYNIAD 

2.1 Cyflwynir yr adroddiad yma  rannu gwybodaeth am y datblygiadau a 
threfniadau llywodraethu a galluogi Gwasanaeth Mabwysiadu Cenedlaethol 
Cymru wrth iddo gymryd cyfrifoldeb dros Maethu Cymru. Bydd cytuno ar y 
cynigion a nodir yn yr adroddiad yma, a llofnodi Cytundeb y Cydbwyllgor yn 
rhoi cydweithrediad Cyngor Gwynedd yn y trefniadau cydweithredol hyn yn 
ffurfiol yn ogystal ag egluro rolau a chyfrifoldebau ar gyfer cynnal a chyflawni 
swyddogaethau cenedlaethol sy'n cefnogi ac yn galluogi awdurdodau lleol i 
gyflawni eu cyfrifoldebau mabwysiadu a maethu.   

3. CEFNDIR 

3.1 Mae'r Gwasanaeth Mabwysiadu Cenedlaethol wedi bodoli ers 2014 ac 
mae wedi newid a gwella gwasanaethau mabwysiadu ledled Cymru yn 

Tud. 124

Eitem 8



Tudalen 2 o 8 

sylweddol.  Cytunodd pob Cyngor ar ei strwythur a'i drefniadau llywodraethu 
drwy drefniadau cenedlaethol, rhanbarthol a lleol bryd hynny; arweiniodd 
adolygiad yn 2018 at gynigion i symleiddio’r trefniadau llywodraethu a 
gwella atebolrwydd.  Mae rhai o'r rhain eisoes wedi'u gweithredu e.e. creu 
Bwrdd Llywodraethu Cyfunol (gan ddod â'r Grŵp Cynghori a'r Bwrdd 
Llywodraethu sy'n ofynnol gan y ddeddfwriaeth at ei gilydd) a Chytundeb 
Partneriaeth newydd i ddisodli'r model swyddogaethol gwreiddiol.   

3.2 Yn ôl y cyngor cyfreithiol a gafwyd gan Gymdeithas Llywodraeth Leol 
Cymru (CLlLC), roedd angen rhoi sail ffurfiol i’r cydweithrediad rhwng 
awdurdodau lleol Cymru er mwyn i’r Gwasanaeth Mabwysiadu 
Cenedlaethol weithredu'n effeithiol ar ran pob un o'r 22 awdurdod, ac er 
mwyn rhoi trefniant cynnal cadarn i'r awdurdod lletyol (Caerdydd) ar gyfer y 
swyddogaethau cenedlaethol a galluogi.   Dewis CLlLC a Chymdeithas 
Cyfarwyddwyr Gwasanaethau Cymdeithasol Cymru (CCGCC) oedd y dylai 
hyn ddigwydd drwy Gydbwyllgor.  Mae’r gwaith ar sefydlu Cydbwyllgor 
Cenedlaethol, i roi grym go iawn i’r cydweithrediad a goruchwyliaeth gan 
bob un o'r 22 awdurdod lleol, wedi parhau ac mae’n barod i'w weithredu. 

3.3 Ers 2015, mae Cyfarwyddwr a thîm canolog y Gwasanaeth Mabwysiadu 
Cenedlaethol wedi bod yn cefnogi gwaith y Fframwaith Maethu 
Cenedlaethol (FfMC) i greu trefniant cydweithredol cenedlaethol, 
rhanbarthol a lleol tebyg i wella gwasanaethau maethu Cymru, er nid drwy 
greu gwasanaeth maethu cenedlaethol.   Mae Maethu Cymru bellach wedi’i 
greu o FfMC a bydd yn cefnogi ystod ddiffiniedig o swyddogaethau maethu 
sy'n gysylltiedig â recriwtio a chadw gofalwyr maeth awdurdodau lleol.  
Drwy gydol y cyfnod hwn, roedd CLlLC ac CCGCC fel cyrff arweiniol am i'r 
swyddogaethau cenedlaethol ar gyfer maethu fod yn gysylltiedig â 
swyddogaethau cenedlaethol y Gwasanaeth Mabwysiadu Cenedlaethol i 
leihau dyblygu a chostau yn ogystal â sicrhau'r gwydnwch, yr hyblygrwydd 
a'r hirhoedledd mwyaf posibl ar draws y ddwy swyddogaeth.   

3.4 Mae'r Cydbwyllgor arfaethedig a'r cytundeb sy'n sail iddo wedi'u       
hymestyn i gynnwys Maethu Cymru yn yr un modd â'r capasiti a'r 
swyddogaethau ar gyfer galluogi a chydweithio’n genedlaethol drwy Dîm 
Canolog cyfunol.  Mae'r cysylltiad â'r Cydbwyllgor yn hanfodol i Maethu 
Cymru o ystyried y diffyg sail ddeddfwriaethol sydd ar gyfer cydweithredu o'r 
fath ar gyfer gwasanaethau maethu. 

4 LLYWODRAETHU – SEFYDLU CYDBWYLLGOR 

4.1Cyflwynir y strwythur llywodraethu arfaethedig drwy ddiagram a chyda 
naratif yn Atodiad un.  Bydd y Cydbwyllgor cenedlaethol, ar ran y 22 
Awdurdod Lleol yng Nghymru, yn arfer ei bwerau i ddarparu'r trefniadau 
cydweithredol ar gyfer Gwasanaeth Mabwysiadu Cenedlaethol Cymru ac ar 
gyfer Maethu Cymru.  Bydd yn cynnwys aelodau'r Cyngor fydd yn cyfarfod 
ddwywaith y flwyddyn. 

4.2 Mae cyfreithwyr CLlLC wedi drafftio Cytundeb cyfreithiol ar gyfer y 
Cydbwyllgor i'w lofnodi gan bob un o'r 22 awdurdod lleol; mae hwn bellach 
yn barod i’w symud ymlaen ac mae ar gael ochr yn ochr â'r adroddiad hwn.  
Mae hyn hefyd yn cynnwys Cynllun Dirprwyo ffurfiol a darpariaeth ar gyfer y 

Tud. 125



Tudalen 3 o 8 

cytundeb ffurfiol gyda'r awdurdod lleol sy’n derbyn ar gyfer swyddogaethau 
cenedlaethol.    

4.3 Bydd y Cydbwyllgor yn darparu'r mecanwaith i holl awdurdodau lleol 
Cymru gyflawni rôl weithredol a goruchwylio ar gyfer y Gwasanaeth 
Mabwysiadu Cenedlaethol a Maethu Cymru.  Bydd yn cymeradwyo / 
derbyn:  

 Adroddiad Blynyddol y Gwasanaeth Mabwysiadu Cenedlaethol a Maethu 
Cymru; 

 Y rhaglen waith flynyddol ar gyfer y Gwasanaeth Mabwysiadu 
Cenedlaethol ac ar gyfer Maethu Cymru; 

 Y gyllideb ar gyfer swyddfa’r Cyfarwyddwr a gwaith cenedlaethol y 
Gwasanaeth Mabwysiadu Cenedlaethol a Maethu Cymru; ac 

 Y cytundeb, ac unrhyw newidiadau i'r cytundeb, ar gyfer cefnogaeth 
yr awdurdod lletyol tuag at swyddfa'r Cyfarwyddwr a gwaith 
cenedlaethol y Gwasanaeth Mabwysiadu Cenedlaethol a Maethu 
Cymru. 

Ar gyfer y Gwasanaeth Mabwysiadu Cenedlaethol yn unig, bydd hefyd yn 
goruchwylio sut mae'r awdurdodau'n gweithio gyda'i gilydd i arfer eu pwerau 
a chydymffurfio â Chyfarwyddiadau'r Cynulliad Cenedlaethol. 

5.GALLUOGI – SEILWAITH CENEDLAETHOL 

5.1 Cynigir strwythur swyddogaethol sydd, o dan y Cyfarwyddwr, â 
swyddogaethau arweiniol ar wahân ar gyfer mabwysiadu a maethu, ond â 
swyddogaeth fusnes a galluogi gyfun sy'n cefnogi'r ddau.  Disgrifir yr ystod 
o swyddogaethau a gyflawnir yn Atodiad Dau gyda strwythur staffio o 9.5 
staff (gan gynnwys y Cyfarwyddwr.) 

5.2 Darperir y cyllid craidd ar gyfer swyddogaethau cenedlaethol y 
Gwasanaeth Mabwysiadu Cenedlaethol a Maethu Cymru drwy ailddyrannu 
cyfran o gyllid y Grant Cynnal Refeniw sydd ar gael drwy CLlLC.  Mae'r 
dyraniad hwn, sef £473,000 y flwyddyn ar hyn o bryd ar gyfer mabwysiadu 
a £400,000 y flwyddyn ar gyfer maethu, yn amodol ar gytundeb pwyllgor 
perthnasol CLlLC yn gofnodol. Dyfarnwyd cyllid grant Llywodraeth Cymru i 
Maethu Cymru hyd at ddiwedd mis Mawrth 2023 i ariannu dibenion 
penodol, sef £573 ar gyfer 2021/22 gan ostwng ychydig ar gyfer 2022/23. 
Er bod buddsoddiad Llywodraeth Cymru ar gael i'r gwasanaeth 
mabwysiadu, mae hyn yn cael ei ddefnyddio'n llawn ar gyfer darparu 
gwasanaethau uniongyrchol drwy'r strwythur rhanbarthol. Mae adnoddau yn 
nyraniadau CLlLC Maethu Cymru a chymorth grant Llywodraeth Cymru i 
Maethu Cymru sy'n ariannu swyddi'n rhannol ar sail ranbarthol i gefnogi 
gweithgareddau awdurdodau lleol yn uniongyrchol. 

5.3 Cyfanswm cost y strwythur cenedlaethol arfaethedig yw £586,384 ar 
gyfer cyfraddau cyflog 2021/22. Cyfanswm y gyllideb graidd sydd ar gael ar 

Tud. 126



Tudalen 4 o 8 

draws y Gwasanaeth Mabwysiadu Cenedlaethol a Maethu Cymru ar gyfer 
2021/22 yw tua £1,449,000 er bod dros hanner ffrwd ariannu Maethu 
Cymru yn ddarostyngedig i amodau grant Llywodraeth Cymru at ddibenion 
penodol fel y nodir uchod.  

5.4 Mae'r strwythur yn fforddiadwy hyd at ddiwedd cyfnod Grant 
Llywodraeth Cymru (31.03.23) ond mae pwysau ar gyllidebau staffio a 
gweithredu ar gyfer y Gwasanaeth Mabwysiadu Cenedlaethol a Maethu 
Cymru y tu hwnt i hynny.  Mae'r pwysau ariannol wedi'u nodi i Lywodraeth 
Cymru, ond mae gwaith yn dechrau i ystyried sut i ddatrys hyn y tu hwnt i'r 
cyfnod cymorth grant presennol.  Bydd datrys hyn yn gofyn am ymrwymiad 
Llywodraeth Leol a Llywodraeth Cymru. 

5.5 Mae'r cynigion a amlinellir yn cael eu datblygu er mwyn ffurfioli a 
chyfnerthu sefyllfa bresennol y Tîm Canolog mewn perthynas â'r gwaith y 
mae'n ei wneud ar hyn o bryd i'r Gwasanaeth Mabwysiadu Cenedlaethol ac 
ar gyfer Maethu Cymru.  Bydd hyn yn caniatáu i drefniadau cydweithredol 
barhau i weithredu a bodloni cynlluniau ac ymrwymiadau y cytunwyd arnynt 
yn y tymor byr i ganolig. 

6. YMGYSYLLTU Â RHANDDEILIAID 

6.1 Mae aelodau awdurdodau lleol wedi cael y wybodaeth ddiweddaraf 
drwy CLlLC, yn fwyaf diweddar, ym mis Medi 2021 drwy Rwydwaith 
Aelodau'r Cabinet (gofal cymdeithasol ac iechyd) a Chyngor CLlLC.  

6.2 Mae Bwrdd Llywodraethu'r Gwasanaeth Mabwysiadu Cenedlaethol, 
Penaethiaid Arweiniol Maethu Cymru Gwasanaethau Plant a 
Chyfarwyddwyr Gwasanaethau Cymdeithasol drwy CCGCC wedi cytuno ar 
y cynigion hyn mewn egwyddor.   

6.3 Mae'r cynigion wedi'u llywio a'u datblygu gydag ymgysylltiad llawn y 
grwpiau rhanddeiliaid allweddol hyn. 

7.GOBLYGIADAU ARIANNOL  

7.1 Fel yr amlinellir uchod, darperir cyllid ar gyfer y trefniadau llywodraethu 
ac arweinyddiaeth a galluogi canolog / cenedlaethol gan CLlLC drwy 
ailddyrannu cyfran o gyllid y Grant Cynnal Ardrethi ynghyd â chyllid grant 
gan Lywodraeth Cymru. Nid oes disgwyl y bydd cynghorau unigol yn 
wynebu costau ychwanegol mewn perthynas â'r swyddogaethau hyn.  

8. GOBLYGIDAU CYFREITHIOL

8.1 Mae awdurdodau lleol unigol yn parhau i fod yn gyfrifol yn gyfreithiol ac 
yn atebol am y gwasanaethau darparu a mabwysiadu a maethu.  O ran 
gwasanaethau mabwysiadu, mae'r darpariaethau cyfreithiol a amlinellir ym 
mharagraff 20 isod yn ei gwneud yn ofynnol i gyfrifoldebau mabwysiadu 
gael eu cyflawni yn unol â'r trefniadau ar gyfer y Gwasanaeth Mabwysiadu 
Cenedlaethol. 

Tud. 127



Tudalen 5 o 8 

8.2 Mae'r sail gyfreithiol sy'n sail i'r Gwasanaeth Mabwysiadu Cenedlaethol 
wedi'i chynnwys yn adran 3A Deddf Mabwysiadu a Phlant 2002 [a 
fewnosodwyd gan Ddeddf Gwasanaethau Cymdeithasol a Llesiant (Cymru) 
2014] a Chyfarwyddiadau Deddf Mabwysiadu a Phlant 2002 (Trefniadau 
Mabwysiadu ar y Cyd) (Cymru) 2015.  Mae'r rhain yn nodi'n fanwl y 
disgwyliadau sydd ar awdurdodau lleol i gydweithredu ar lefel ranbarthol a 
chenedlaethol i ddarparu a gwella gwasanaethau mabwysiadu.  Fodd 
bynnag, nid ydynt yn cynnwys darpariaethau sy'n creu mecanwaith sy'n rhoi 
grym gyfreithiol briodol i'r cydweithrediad ar lefel genedlaethol nac i'r 
cytundeb gydag un awdurdod lleol i gynnal y swyddogaethau cenedlaethol. 
Bydd y Cydbwyllgor, a'r Cytundeb a fydd yn cyd-fynd ag ef, yn rhoi sail 
gyfreithiol ffurfiol i hyn yn ogystal â rhoi mwy o eglurder a sicrwydd i bob 
awdurdod, CLlLC yn ogystal â'r Gwasanaeth Mabwysiadu Cenedlaethol a 
Maethu Cymru. 

8.3 Nid oes rheoliadau wrth wraidd Maethu Cymru felly bydd y Cydbwyllgor 
yn darparu'r sail ar gyfer y cydweithredu sydd ei angen fel y gall y 
gwasanaeth weithredu fel y cynigiwyd.  

BARN SWYDDOGION STATUDOL 

Y SWYDDOG MONITRO: 

Mae’r adroddiad a’r gytundeb  wedi bod yn destun cyngor cyfreithiol ar lefel 
genedlaethol. Dylid nodi y trefniadau o fewn y cytundeb ar gyfer ffurfio Cyd 
Bwyllgor a’r trefniadau dirprwyo. Rwy’n fodlon fod y penderfyniadau a gynigir yn 
briodol i’w mabwysiadu

SWYDDOG CYLLID STATUDOL:

Gallaf gadarnhau fod yr wybodaeth ariannol yn y adroddiad yn adlewyrchiad teg 
o’r sefyllfa.  Ni fydd y penderfyniad a geisir yn ymrwymo’r awdurdod i unrhyw 
wariant ychwanegol gan nad oes disgwyl y bydd cynghorau unigol yn wynebu 
costau ychwanegol mewn perthynas â'r swyddogaethau hyn.

Tud. 128



Tudalen 6 o 8 

Atodiad Un 
Llywodraethu 

Cydbwyllgor CLlLC (pob un o'r 22 ALl) yn goruchwylio’r Gwasanaeth Mabwysiadu 
Cenedlaethol a Maethu Cymru: 

Bydd y Cydbwyllgor, ar ran y 22 Awdurdod Lleol yng Nghymru, yn arfer ei bwerau i 
ddarparu'r trefniadau cydweithredol ar gyfer Gwasanaeth Mabwysiadu Cenedlaethol 
Cymru ac ar gyfer Maethu Cymru.  Caiff ei ategu gan gytundeb cyfreithiol (Cytundeb y 
Cydbwyllgor) a bydd yn cynnwys Aelodau'r Cyngor.  Ei rôl fydd goruchwylio gwaith y 
Gwasanaeth Mabwysiadu Cenedlaethol a Maethu Cymru a chymeradwyo / derbyn yr 
isod yn benodol: 

 Adroddiadau Blynyddol y Gwasanaeth Mabwysiadu Cenedlaethol a Maethu 
Cymru; 

 Y rhaglenni gwaith blynyddol ar gyfer y Gwasanaeth Mabwysiadu Cenedlaethol 
ac ar gyfer Maethu Cymru;  

 Y gyllideb/au ar gyfer swyddfa’r Cyfarwyddwr a gwaith cenedlaethol y 
Gwasanaeth Mabwysiadu Cenedlaethol a Maethu Cymru; ac 

 Y cytundeb, ac unrhyw newidiadau sydd eu hangen, ar gyfer cefnogaeth yr ALl 
lletyol tuag at swyddfa'r Cyfarwyddwr i'w alluogi i hwyluso gwaith y Gwasanaeth 
Mabwysiadu Cenedlaethol a Maethu Cymru. 

Ar gyfer y Gwasanaeth Mabwysiadu Cenedlaethol yn unig, bydd hefyd yn goruchwylio 
sut mae'r awdurdodau'n gweithio gyda'i gilydd i arfer eu pwerau a chydymffurfio â 

Gwasanaeth Mabwysiadu 
Cenedlaethol dros Gymru  

Bwrdd Llywodraethu Ar y Cyd 
Cytundeb Partneriaeth 

Maethu Cymru  
Cyfarfod Penaethiaid 

Arweiniol y 
Gwasanaethau Plant 

Pwyllgorau Rheoli 
Rhanbarthol  

Tîm canolog 
gwell gan y 

Gwasanaeth 
Mabwysiadu 

Cenedlaethol – 
arweinyddiaeth 
Cymru gyfan, 

Cyfarfodydd Maethu 
Cymru lefel ranbarthol 

Cydbwyllgor Cenedlaethol 
– penderfyniadau 

allweddol ar gyfer y 

Cytundeb 
cynnal 

diwygiedig 
gyda’r ALl 

lletyol 

Tud. 129



Tudalen 7 o 8 

Chyfarwyddiadau'r Cynulliad Cenedlaethol.  

Gwasanaeth Mabwysiadu Cenedlaethol 
- Lefel genedlaethol - Bwrdd 
Llywodraethu Cyfunol (BLlC) 

Yn darparu cyfeiriad strategol a gwneud 
penderfyniadau i hwyluso'r gwaith o 
ddarparu a gwella gwasanaethau 
mabwysiadu yng Nghymru drwy 
drefniadau'r Gwasanaeth Mabwysiadu 
Cenedlaethol yn unol â Chyfarwyddiadau'r 
Senedd a'i Gylch Gorchwyl.   

Maethu Cymru - Lefel genedlaethol - 
Cyfarfod Penaethiaid Arweiniol y 
Gwasanaethau Plant 

Yn darparu cyfeiriad strategol a gwneud 
penderfyniadau mewn perthynas â 
swyddogaethau cenedlaethol a rhanbarthol 
cytûn Maethu Cymru ar ran awdurdodau 
lleol Cymru yn unol â'i Gylch Gorchwyl. 

Gwasanaeth Mabwysiadu Cenedlaethol 
– lefel ranbarthol / ALl - Byrddau Rheoli 
Rhanbarthol a Byrddau'r Asiantaethau 
Mabwysiadu Gwirfoddol 

Mae pob rhanbarth yn cynnwys ardaloedd 
awdurdod lleol penodedig, a nodir yn y 
Cyfarwyddiadau ac a oruchwylir gan 
Fyrddau Rheoli Rhanbarthol (BRhRh). Y 
brif rôl yw cydgysylltu gweithgareddau 
mabwysiadu ar lefel ranbarthol a 
gweithredu penderfyniadau a 
strategaethau gan y Bwrdd Llywodraethu 
cenedlaethol; gallai fod ganddynt hefyd 
rolau a bennir gan eu cytundeb cyfreithiol. 
Ynghyd â'r hyn sy'n cyfateb i Asiantaethau 
Mabwysiadu Gwirfoddol. 

Maethu Cymru - lefel ranbarthol / ALl - 
Cyfarfod Rhanbarthol y Penaethiaid 
Gwasanaethau 

Mae'r rhain bellach ar waith a gallant fod 
yn gyfarfod Maethu Cymru penodol neu 
wedi'u cynnwys yn agenda Penaethiaid 
Gwasanaethau sy'n bodoli eisoes a 
chyfarfodydd rhanbarthol Penaethiaid 
Gwasanaethau a Chyfarwyddwyr 
Gwasanaethau Cymdeithasol.

Tud. 130



Tudalen 8 o 8 

Atodiad Dau 
Tîm canolog – arweinyddiaeth a galluogi 

Tud. 131



 
 

G:1264801v2   

 

DATED 2022 
 

(1) BLAENAU GWENT COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 

(2) BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 

(3)  CAERPHILLY COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 

(4) THE COUNTY COUNCIL OF THE CITY AND COUNTY OF CARDIFF 

(5) CARMARTHENSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 

(6) CEREDIGION COUNTY COUNCIL 

(7) CONWY COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 

(8) DENBIGHSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 

(9) FLINTSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 

(10) GWYNEDD COUNTY COUNCIL 

(11) ISLE OF ANGLESEY COUNTY COUNCIL 

(12) MERTHYR TYDFIL COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 

(13) MONMOUTHSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 

(14) NEATH PORT TALBOT COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 

(15) NEWPORT CITY COUNCIL 

(16) PEMBROKESHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 

(17) POWYS COUNTY COUNCIL 

(18) RHONDDA CYNON TAF COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 

(19) THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY AND COUNTY OF SWANSEA 

(20) TORFAEN COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 

(21) VALE OF GLAMORGAN COUNCIL 

(22) WREXHAM COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 

and 
(23) THE WELSH LOCAL GOVERNMENT ASSOCIATION 

 

AGREEMENT FOR THE ESTABLISHMENT OF A JOINT COMMITTEE FOR THE 

NATIONAL ADOPTION SERVICE 

 

 

  

Tud. 132



 
 

G:1264801v2   

CONTENTS 

1. Interpretation 3 

2. Aims of Joint Discharge of Functions 8 

3. Establishment of a Joint Committee 10 

4. Establishment of Combined Governance Board and other Advisory Groups  11 

5. Arrangements for the Discharge of Functions 12 

6. Governance 13 

7. Appointment of Host Council 13 

8. Responsibilities of the Host Council 13 

9. Expenses of Joint Committee Members 14 

10. Monitoring Officer 14 

11. Reviews 15 

12. Audit 15 

13. Costs of Discharge of Functions 15 

14. Costs of the Joint Committee 167 

15. Liabilities Under This Agreement 17 

16. Duration of This Agreement 17 

17. Variation of this Agreement 18 

18. Withdrawal from the Joint Committee on Notice 18 

19. Termination of this Agreement for Cause 189 

20. Termination of the Agreement by Agreement 19 

21. Termination – Consequential Matters 1920 

22. Dispute Resolution 20 

23. Notices 201 

24. Information and Confidentiality 21 

25. Data Protection 21 

26. Freedom of Information 22 

27. Intellectual Property 24 

Tud. 133



 
 

G:1264801v2   

28. Language 256 

29. Severability 266 

30. Relationship of Parties 26 

31. Third Party Rights 26 

32. Entire Agreement 26 

33. Law of Agreement or Jurisdiction 26 

34. Discretion of the Councils 267 

Schedule 1 Constitution of the Joint Committee 28 

Schedule 2 Terms of Reference of the Corporate Governance Board 31 

Schedule 3 Notice Provisions 314 

Schedule 4 Financial Memorandum 34 

Schedule 5 Specified Functions and Services 37 

Schedule 6 Terms of Reference for the Lead Head of Childrens Services Group 43 

 
Schedule 7 Functions Delegated to the Director of Operations     45 
 
 

Tud. 134



 
 

1 

 

THIS AGREEMENT IS MADE ON                                                                       2022 

BETWEEN:  

(1) Blaenau Gwent County Borough Council of Municipal Offices, Civic Centre 
Ebbw Vale NP23 6XB (“Council”) 

(2) Bridgend County Borough Council of Civic Offices, Angel Street, Bridgend 
CF31 4WB (“Council”) 

(3) Caerphilly County Borough Council of Ty Penallta, Tredomen Park, Ystrad 
Mynach Hengoed CF82 7PG (“Council”) 

(4) The County Council of the City and County of Cardiff of County Hall, Atlantic 
Wharf, Cardiff CF10 4UW (“Council”) 

(5) Carmarthenshire County Council of County Hall, Carmarthen, Carmarthenshire 
SA31 1JP (“Council”) 

(6) Ceredigion County Council of Neuadd Cyngor Ceredigion, Penmorfa, 
Aberaeron, Ceredigion SA46 OPA (“Council”) 

(7) Conwy County Borough Council of Bodlondeb, Bangor Road, Conwy LL32 
8DU (“Council”) 

(8) Denbighshire County Council of County Hall, Wynnstay Road, Ruthin LL15 
1YN (“Council”) 

(9) Flintshire County Council of County Hall, Mold CH7 6NB (“Council”) 

(10) Gwynedd Council of Council Offices, Shirehall Street, Caernarfon LL55 1SH 
(“Council”) 

(11) Isle of Anglesey County Council of Council Offices, Llangefni, LL77 7TW 
(“Council”) 

(12) Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council of Civic Centre, Merthyr Tydfil CF47 
8AN (“Council”) 

(13) Monmouthshire County Council of PO Box 106, Caldicot NP26 9AN (“Council”) 

(14) Neath Port Talbot County Borough Council of Port Talbot Civic Centre, Port 
Talbot SA13 1PJ (“Council”) 

(15) Newport City Council of Civic Centre, Godfrey Road, Newport NP20 4UR 
(“Council”) 

(16) Pembrokeshire County Council of County Hall, Haverfordwest, Pembrokeshire 
SA61 1TP (“Council”) 

(17) Powys County Council of Powys County Hall, Spa Road East, Llandrindod 
Wells, Powys LD1 5LG (“Council”) 

(18) Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council of The Pavilions, Cambrian Park, 
Clydach Vale, Tonypandy CF40 2XX (“Council”) 

Tud. 135



 
 

2 

 

(19) The Council of the City and County of Swansea of Civic Centre, Oystermouth 
Road, Swansea SA1 3SN (“Council”) 

(20) Torfaen County Borough Council of the Civic Centre, Pontypool, Torfaen NP4 
6YB (“Council”)  

(21) Vale of Glamorgan Council of Civic Offices, Holton Road, Barry, Vale of 
Glamorgan CF63 4RU (“Council”) 

(22) Wrexham County Borough Council of The Guildhall, Wrexham LL11 1AY 
(“Council”) 

(collectively referred to as “the Councils” for the purposes of this Agreement) and 

(23) Welsh Local Government Association of One Canal Parade, Dumballs Road, 
Cardiff CF10 5BF("WLGA"); and 

WHEREAS: 

A The parties to this Agreement have agreed to enter into this Agreement in order 
to provide a framework for the Councils to give effect to the obligations and 
arrangements for the Specified Functions set out by the Adoption and Children 
Act 2002 (Joint Adoption Arrangements) (Wales) Directions 2015 (“the 
Directions”) made by the Welsh Ministers in exercise of their powers under 
section 3A of the Adoption and Children Act 2002 and to document and 
regulate their respective rights and obligations to each other in that regard.  The 
Agreement also provides a framework for the parties to give effect to the co-
ordination of identified foster service functions across Wales. 

B The Councils have agreed to establish and to participate in a joint committee 
to facilitate the delivery of the Specified and Agreed Functions with a view to 
their economical, efficient and effective discharge. 

C This Agreement sets out the arrangements in relation to the manner in which 
the Councils will work together and use the Joint Committee to deliver the 
Specified and Agreed Functions. 

D The Councils have agreed that the Director of Operations shall be responsible 
for the day to day management of the delivery of the Specified and Agreed 
Functions. 

E The Councils have entered into this Agreement in reliance on the powers of 
Welsh local authorities under: 

(i) sections 101, 102, 112 and 113 of the Local Government Act 1972 and 
sections 19 and 20 of the Local Government Act 2000 and the 
regulations made under these Acts to make arrangements to discharge 
functions jointly and to employ staff and place them at the disposal of 
other local authorities; 

(ii)  the powers in section 9 of the Local Government (Wales) Measure 
2009 to collaborate;  

(iii) the incidental powers in section 111 of the Local Government Act 1972, 
and 

Tud. 136



 
 

3 

 

(iv) all other powers them so enabling. 

F The Councils have each taken decisions compliant with the requirements of 
their respective constitutions to participate in the Joint Committee and enter 
into this Agreement. 

G The Parties to the Agreement have agreed to comply with the requirements of 
this Agreement to enable the Director of Operations to fulfil their legal 
obligations. 

IT IS AGREED AS FOLLOWS: 

1. Interpretation 

1.1 The following definitions and rules of interpretation apply in this Agreement: 

Term here                             Definition here 

“Agreed Functions the functions relating to fostering to 
be discharged by the Joint Committee 
pursuant to this Agreement being set 
out at Schedule 5 and any other 
functions which from time to time the 
Councils arrange for the Joint 
Committee or one or other of the 
Councils to discharge pursuant to the 
Powers 

 

“Assets” any tangible assets or property 
acquired, leased, licensed, loaned 
or purchased as required by the 
Host Council or another Council for 
the administration of this 
Agreement; 

“Business Day” any day other than a Saturday or 
Sunday or a public or bank holiday 
in Wales; 

Combined Governance Board 

 

“Commencement Date” 

the group established in accordance 
with clause 4 to comply with the 
requirements of the Directions; 

the date of this Agreement or such 
later date as the Councils, by 
resolution of each them, agree; 

“Conflict of Interest Protocol” The protocol agreed by the 
Combined Governance Board as 
required by the Adoption and 
Children Act 2002 (Joint Adoption 
Arrangements) (Wales) Directions 

Tud. 137



 
 

4 

 

2015 for identifying and avoiding 
conflicts of interests; 

“Constitution of the Joint 
Committee” 

the constitution set out at Schedule 
1 to this Agreement; 

“Council” each of Blaenau Gwent County 
Borough Council, Bridgend County 
Borough Council, Caerphilly County 
Borough Council, the County 
Council of the City and County of 
Cardiff, Carmarthenshire County 
Council, Ceredigion County Council, 
Conwy County Borough Council, 
Denbighshire County Council, 
Flintshire County Council, Gwynedd 
Council, Isle of Anglesey County 
Council, Merthyr Tydfil County 
Borough Council, Monmouthshire 
County Council, Neath Port Talbot 
County Borough Council, Newport 
City Council, Pembrokeshire County 
Council, Powys County Council, 
Rhondda Cynon Taf County 
Borough Council, City and County of 
Swansea Council, Torfaen County 
Borough Council, Vale of 
Glamorgan Council, Wrexham 
County Borough Council and 
“Councils” shall be construed 
accordingly; 

Data Protection Legislation all applicable data protection and 
privacy legislation in force from time 
to time in the UK including the UK 
GDPR; the Data Protection Act 2018 
(DPA 2018) (and regulations made 
thereunder) and the Privacy and 
Electronic Communications 
Regulations 2003 (SI 2003/2426) as 
amended; 

“Director of Operations” the person employed by the Host 
Council  in compliance with the 
Directions with day to day 
responsibility for leadership, co-
ordination of the service as a whole 
as well as delivery of national 
functions  

“Directions” The Adoption and Children Act 2002 
(Joint Adoption Arrangements) 
(Wales) Directions 2015; 

Tud. 138



 
 

5 

 

“Exempt Information” any information or class of 
information relating to this 
Agreement which may fall within an 
exemption to disclosure under FOI 
Legislation; 

“Financial Memorandum” the approach to financial and 
accounting matters agreed by the 
Councils as set out at Schedule 4 to 
this Agreement; 

“FOI Legislation” 

 

 

Foster Wales 

the Freedom of Information Act 
2000 and subordinate legislation 
made under this and the 
Environmental Information 
Regulations 2004; 

The collaborative endeavour agreed 
by local government to deliver and 
improve certain fostering functions 
through national and regional 
leadership and enabling. 

“Governance Board” the board which the Councils are 
required by the Adoption and 
Children Act 2002 (Joint Adoption 
Arrangements) (Wales) Directions 
2015 to establish to provide national 
oversight of regional collaboration 
on adoption services;.  Since 2019 
this function is managed through the 
Combined Governance Board 

“Host” and “Host Council” the Council appointed as Host 
Council in accordance with clause 7 
of this Agreement; 

“IP Material” the Intellectual Property in the 
Material; 

“Information Request a request for information under FOI 
Legislation; 

“Intellectual Property Rights” patents, rights to inventions, 
copyright and related rights, trade-
marks, trade names and domain 
names, rights in get-up, rights in 
goodwill or to sue for passing off, 
rights in designs, rights in computer 
software, database rights, rights in 
confidential information (including 
know-how and trade secrets) and 
any other intellectual property rights, 
in each case whether registered or 
unregistered and including all 

Tud. 139



 
 

6 

 

applications (or rights to apply) for, 
and renewals or extensions of, such 
rights and all similar or equivalent 
rights or forms of protection which 
may now or in the future subsist in 
any part of the world; 

“Joint Committee” a committee of elected members 
from the Councils which will be 
responsible for ensuring and 
overseeing the delivery of the 
Specified and Agreed Functions in 
Accordance with the Directions and 
with a view to securing their more 
economical, efficient and effective 
discharge; 

“Material” all data, text, graphics, images and 
other materials or documents 
created, used or supplied by a 
Council in connection with this 
Agreement unless before the first 
use or supply the Council notifies 
the other Councils that the data or 
text supplied is not to be covered by 
this definition; 

“National Adoption Service” The adoption services and functions 
delivered collectively by the Joint 
Committee, the Regional 
Collaboratives, the Councils and 
partners;  

“Personal Data” Personal data as defined in the Data 
Protection Legislation; 

“Powers” 

 

The powers of Welsh local 
authorities under: 

sections 101, 102, 112 and 113 of 
the Local Government Act 1972 and 
sections 19 and 20 of the Local 
Government Act 2000 and the 
regulations made under these Acts 
to make arrangements to discharge 
functions jointly and to employ staff 
and place them at the disposal of 
other local authorities; 

the powers in section 9 of the Local 
Government (Wales) Measure 2009 
to collaborate;  

Tud. 140



 
 

7 

 

the incidental powers in section 111 
of the Local Government Act 1972, 

the powers in section 1 of the Local 
Authorities (Goods and Services) 
Act 1970 and section 25 of the Local 
Government (Wales) Act 1994 to 
provide services; 

all other powers them so enabling; 

“Proportionate Basis” in accordance with the relevant 
proportion for each Council by 
reference to their respective 
percentage contribution as set out in 
the Financial Memorandum 

“Regional Collaboratives” the groupings of the Councils as set 
out in Schedule to the Directions for 
the purpose of collaboration on 
adoption services; 

“Secondment Agreement” an agreement made between the 
Councils for the secondment of staff 
from one Council to the Host 
Council or another Council relating 
to arrangements for the discharge of 
the Specified and Agreed Functions 
pursuant to this Agreement; 

“Section 151 Officer” the officer designated by a local 
authority as the person responsible 
for the proper administration of its 
financial affairs as required by 
section 151 of the Local 
Government Act 1972; 

“Hosting Agreement” an agreement made between the 
Councils pursuant to this Agreement 
relating to arrangements for the 
provision of specified support by the 
Host Council to assist the Joint 
Committee  to  discharge  the 
Specified and Agreed Functions 
delegated to it  pursuant to this 
Agreement; 

“Services” the Services to be provided on 
behalf of the Councils pursuant to 
the discharge of the Specified and 
Agreed Functions being set out at 
Schedule 5  

“Specified Functions” the functions relating to adoption to 
be discharged by the Joint 

Tud. 141



 
 

8 

 

Committee pursuant to this 
Agreement being set out at 
Schedule 5 and any other functions 
which from time to time the Councils 
arrange for the Joint Committee or 
one or other of the Councils to 
discharge pursuant to the Powers; 

“Staff Transfer Agreement” an agreement made between the 
Councils for the transfer of staff from 
one Council to the Host Council or 
another Council relating to 
arrangements for the discharge of 
the Specified and Agreed Functions 
pursuant to this Agreement; 

 

1.2 References to any statute or statutory provision shall, unless the context 
otherwise requires, be construed in accordance with the Interpretation Act 
1978. 

1.3 The headings are inserted for convenience only and shall not affect the 
construction of this Agreement. 

1.4 Words importing one gender include all other genders and words importing 
the singular include the plural and vice versa. 

1.5 A reference in this Agreement to any clause, paragraph or schedule is, 
except where it is expressly stated to the contrary, a reference to a clause or 
paragraph of or schedule to this Agreement. 

1.6 Any reference to this Agreement or to any other document unless otherwise 
specified shall include any variation, amendment or supplements to such 
document expressly permitted by this Agreement or otherwise agreed in 
writing between the relevant parties. 

1.7 Words preceding “include”, “includes”, “including” and “included” shall be 
construed without limitation by the words which follow those words unless 
inconsistent with the context, and the rule of interpretation known as 
“eiusdem generis” shall not apply. 

1.8 The schedules form part of this Agreement and will have the same force and 
effect as if expressly set out in the body of this Agreement and references to 
this Agreement includes the Schedules. 

1.9 References to “the parties” shall be to the parties to this Agreement. 

2.  Aims of Joint Discharge of Functions 

2.1 The aims of the joint discharge of the Specified Functions relating to adoption 
services under the provisions of this Agreement are: 

(a)  The consistent delivery of high quality adoption services throughout 
Wales. 

Tud. 142



 
 

9 

 

(b)  Keeping delay to a minimum in the placement of children for adoption. 

(c)  Ensuring the widest choice possible of placements for adoption of 
children. 

(d)  Ensuring that high quality and timely training and assessment for 
prospective adopters is consistently available. 

(e)  Improving the process of matching children with prospective adopters. 

(f)  The streamlining of adoption processes and improved liaison between 
social workers involved in adoption cases. 

(g)  Keeping adoption breakdown to a minimum by the provision of adoption 
support services according to assessed need. 

(h)  Collaborative working between local authorities, registered adoption 
societies, NHS local health boards and NHS Trusts and education 
services. 

2.2 The aims of the joint discharge of the Agreed Functions relating to fostering 
are: 

(a)  To support the strategic oversight of Foster Wales. 

(b)  To consider the implications at local and regional level arising from the 
transition to Foster Wales. 

(c)  To consider the development needs of services at local, regional, and 
national level. 

(d)  To seek and support solutions to overcome barriers and challenges. 

(e)  To continue to develop and maintain collaboration across local authority 
fostering. 

(f)  To consider reports presented, agree actions, make decisions, and 
monitor progress. 

(g)  To consider performance reports and monitor KPIs as identified and 
agreed. 

(h)  To make recommendations for future areas of work programme 
development. 

2.3 The Director of Operations and a central team of staff to support the Director 
of Operations are employed by the Host Council to fulfil a range of functions 
related to leadership, management and oversight of the National Adoption 
Service.  The functions of the Director of Operations and central team include: 

(a) Providing leadership to set the direction for the National Adoption 
Service including strategic planning by agreeing priorities, targets and 
resourcing following engagement with partners and stakeholders as 
well as support to operational planning. 

Tud. 143



 
 

10 

 

(b) Reviewing progress including analysis of performance data and service 
information from the regions and Registered Adoption Agencies 
(otherwise known as Voluntary Adoption Agencies (VAA’s)’s.  

(c) Providing annual and mid-year reports each year for agreement by the 
Combined Governance Board, endorsed by the Joint Committee and 
submission to Welsh Ministers as well as to WLGA and the Association 
of Directors of Social Services Cymru where required.  

(d)  Providing specific functions nationally to support and enable National 
Adoption Service operations (currently as below). 

(e)  Establishing and maintaining a website for the National Adoption 
Service for Wales. 

(f)  Management of the Adoption Register for Wales (under contract from 
Welsh Government). 

(g)  Commissioning and contracting national contracts to support service 
delivery functions and support.  

(h)  Maintaining arrangements for service user engagement across Wales. 

(i)  Leadership, matrix management oversight, advice and support to 
regions and VAA’s. 

(j)  Promotion of best practice and a culture of continuous improvement 
throughout the National Adoption Service. 

(j)  Securing appropriate resourcing through new / additional finance or re-
profiling of existing as well as managing the central team allocation, 
grants and investment. 

(k)  Strategic commissioning as necessary for the discharge of functions. 

(l)  Maintaining arrangements for national governance and allied sub / task 
& finish groups to engage stakeholders in carrying out the actions / work 
agreed by the Combined Governance Board. 

(m)  Promotion of adoption, including national PR and marketing and the 
provision of the ‘face and voice’ of adoption in Wales.  

(n)  Stakeholder and relationship management including with allied services 
and organisations in Wales and UK, Ministers and Welsh Government. 

(o)  Strategic support and enabling functions, as agreed, for the National 
Fostering Framework / Foster Wales. 

2.4 In addition Schedule 7 sets out a Scheme of Functions delegated to the  
Director of Operations to facilitate the achievement of the objectives of this 
Agreement. 

3. Establishment of a Joint Committee 

3.1 In exercise of their powers under sections 101(5) and 102 of the Local 
Government Act 1972, sections 19 and 20 of the Local Government Act 

Tud. 144



 
 

11 

 

2000 and all other enabling powers the Councils hereby create a joint 
committee to be known as the National Adoption Joint Committee with effect 
from the Commencement Date. 

3.2 The Joint Committee shall take decisions relating to the use of the National 
Adoption Service budget which shall be provided as a topslice from the 
Revenue Support Grant via the Welsh Local Government Association for the 
discharge of the Specified Functions, a similar topslice from the Revenue 
Support Grant via the Welsh Local Government Association for the 
discharge of the Agreed Functions, to meet the costs of the Host Council 
and the Joint Committee relating to this Agreement and shall have regard to 
reports and advice from the Combined Governance Board, Lead Heads of 
Children’s Service’s Meeting and Director of Operations. 

3.3  The Joint Committee shall ensure the Scheme of Delegation set out in 
Schedule 7 is kept under review in accordance with paragraphs 5.2 and 5.3 
of Schedule 7. 

3.4 The Joint Committee shall operate and conduct its business in accordance 
with the terms of this Agreement including the Constitution set out at 
Schedule 1. 

3.5 The Joint Committee shall review the terms of reference of the Joint 
Committee towards the end of each council term and shall make 
recommendations to the Councils and the WLGA for their consideration as 
to any amendments that the Joint Committee are required to discharge the 
Specified and Agreed Functions in accordance with the Directions. 

3.6 This Agreement is without prejudice to each Council’s other powers and 
responsibilities for its area. 

4.  Establishment of Combined Governance Board and other advisory 
groups 

4.1 The Councils have established the Combined Governance Board.  The 
Combined Governance Board shall act as an advisory group to the Joint 
Committee and shall discharge the role of the Governance Board and 
Advisory Group which the Councils are required by the Directions to establish 
for the purpose of providing national oversight of regional collaboration 
arrangements over adoption services. 

4.2  The terms of reference of the Combined Governance Board shall be as set 
out in Schedule 2. 

4.3 In respect of fostering services, the Councils have established the Lead Head 
of Children’s Services Group as an advisory group to the Joint Committee.  
The Lead Head of Children’s Services Group shall advise the Joint Committee 
on issues relating to Foster Wales.  The terms of reference for the Lead Head 
of Children’s Services Group shall be as set out in Schedule 6. 

4.4 The Joint Committee may establish other advisory groups to advise the Joint 
Committee. 

Tud. 145



 
 

12 

 

5. Arrangements for the Discharge of Functions 

5.1  The Councils agree to use their Powers to enter into these arrangements 
under which the Joint Committee shall discharge on their behalf the 
Specified and Agreed Functions. 

5.2 The Joint Committee shall discharge the Specified and Agreed Functions 
through the Host Council which shall, subject to and within the limitations 
and constraints of the resources allocated and paid  to it pursuant to this 
Agreement, deliver the Services to support the delivery of the Specified and 
Agreed Functions .  The Councils agree and acknowledge that the 
responsibility for discharging the Specified and Agreed Functions will none 
the less remain with the Joint Committee and notes the limitation of the Host 
Council’s liability in that regard.  

5.3 The Joint Committee may agree to bring additional functions and services 
within the scope of this Agreement but the Joint Committee may not agree 
to do so unless it has first received approval from all the Councils to 
discharge the additional functions and deliver the additional services. The 
provisions of this Agreement shall apply to any such additional functions and 
services. 

5.4 The Councils here by agree the Financial Memorandum.  The Councils shall 
have the discretion to agree variations to the Financial Memorandum at any 
time without varying the rest of this Agreement. For the avoidance of any 
doubt variation of the Financial Memorandum is subject to unanimous 
agreement of the Councils and is not a matter for decision by the Joint 
Committee.  
 
Each of the Councils shall contribute to the costs of the discharge of the 
Specified and Agreed Functions pursuant to this Agreement in accordance 
with the terms of the body of this Agreement and the Financial 
Memorandum.   Subject to the overarching terms set out in this Agreement, 
particulars of the arrangement may be further detailed, (including for 
example the mechanics of payment), in any Hosting Agreement, 
Secondment Agreement or Staff Transfer Agreement that may be entered 
into by the Councils. 

5.5 The Councils intend to enter into a Hosting Agreement with the County 
Council of the City and County of Cardiff for the delivery of services (subject 
to all Councils being satisfied as to the terms and conditions proposed) 
pursuant to the discharge of the Specified and Agreed Functions.  The 
Councils may enter into further Hosting Agreements to record the detailed 
requirements of further individual arrangements made in connection with the 
discharge of the Specified and Agreed Functions pursuant to this 
Agreement. 

5.6 The Councils may also enter into a Secondment Agreement to record the 
arrangements for the secondment of staff for further individual arrangements 
made in connection with the discharge of the Specified and Agreed 
Functions pursuant to this Agreement. 

5.7 The Councils may also agree to enter into a Staff Transfer Agreement to 
record the arrangements for the transfer of staff for further individual 

Tud. 146



 
 

13 

 

arrangements made in connection with the discharge of the Specified and 
Agreed Functions pursuant to this Agreement. 

6.  Governance 

6.1 The Councils each undertake to ensure that they make any changes to their 
own constitutions as are necessary to facilitate the operation of this Agreement.  
Each Council shall notify the other Councils and WLGA in writing within twenty-
eight days of the date of this agreement either that it has made (or is in the 
process of making) the necessary changes to its constitution or that no changes 
are considered necessary. 

7. Appointment of Host Council 

7.1  Subject to the provisions of clauses 7.2 and 7.3 the Councils agree that the 
Council of the City and County of Cardiff should be the Host Council for the 
purposes of this Agreement. 

7.2 The Council of the City and County of Cardiff and any other Council which is 
appointed as Host Council may terminate its appointment as Host Council  by 
giving not less than twelve months’ written notice or such other period of 
notice as is agreed by all the Councils to the other Councils of its intention to 
terminate its appointment.  Such twelve months’ written notice shall end at the 
end of a financial year. 

7.3 The Joint Committee may terminate the appointment of City and County of 
Cardiff Council or any other Council as the Host Council by giving at not less 
than twelve months’ written notice or such other period of notice as is agreed 
by all the Councils to the Host Council of the Joint Committee’s intention to 
terminate the appointment of the Host Council.  Such twelve months’ written 
notice shall end at the end of a financial year. 

7.4  If the appointment of a Council as the Host Council is terminated in 
accordance with clause 7.2 or clause 7.3 the Joint Committee may appoint 
one of the Councils as Host Council such appointment to be effective from the 
commencement of the financial year following the expiry of notice of 
termination under clause 7.2 or 7.3. 

7.5 If the appointment of a Council as the Host Council is terminated in 
accordance with clause 7.2 or clause 7.3 any outstanding payment due to that 
Council from the Joint Committee for costs incurred in the role of the Host 
Council and any costs it incurs upon or as a consequence of Termination shall 
be paid in accordance with the terms of this Agreement, including the 
Financial Memorandum.  

7.6 Any dispute over the appointment or the termination of the appointment of a 
Council as the Host Council shall be dealt with in accordance with the dispute 
resolution procedure in clause 23 of this Agreement.  

8.  Responsibilities of the Host Council 

8.1 (i) Subject to and within the limitations of the funding allocated and 
received by the Host Council, the Host Council shall provide Assets, staff 
and other resources as are necessary to discharge the Specified and 
Agreed Functions pursuant to this Agreement.   

Tud. 147



 
 

14 

 

(ii) Subject to the overarching terms and principles set out in in this 
Agreement, in particular clause 13, the detailed provisions as to the 
payment of the costs of the Host Council in providing such Assets, staff and 
other resources shall be in accordance with a Hosting Agreement between 
the Councils, and the Host Council and shall be facilitated by the Welsh 
Local Government Association. Any such Hosting Agreement must be in a 
form to the satisfaction of the Host Council.   

8.2 The Host Council shall employ the Director of Operations and the staff 
required for undertaking the national functions. 

8.3 The Host Council has agreed and arranged for the Director of Operations to 
have the day-to-day responsibility for the management and delivery of the 
Services. 

8.4 In carrying out its role the Host Council shall have regard to : 

(a)  all applicable Laws and Regulations. 

(b)  best practice. 

(c)  the aims, principles and objectives of this Agreement and any applicable 
policies agreed by the Councils. 

(d)  any relevant guidance issued or specified by the Care and Social Services 
Inspectorate Wales and any other relevant regulator. 

(e)  the Councils duties under the Welsh Language (Wales) Measure 2011.  

And shall facilitate the proper discharge of the Specified and Agreed Functions of the 
Councils and discretionary provision of in-scope elements of the Services. 

8.4.2 The Host Council shall ensure that its health and safety policy statements 
together with related policies and procedures are made available to the Joint 
Committee on request. 

8.4.3 The Host Council shall comply with any investigation by any statutory 
ombudsman or tribunal relating to the discharge of the Specified or Agreed 
Functions. 

9.  Expenses of Joint Committee Members 

9.1  Each Council shall be responsible for meeting any expenses to which any 
Joint Committee Member or officer appointed by it as its representative is 
entitled as a result of their attendance at duly authorised meetings. 

10.  Monitoring Officer 

10.1 The Councils agree that at the date of the Agreement the Monitoring Officer 
of Cardiff Council shall act as Monitoring Officer for the Joint Committee.  
The appointment of Cardiff Council’s Monitoring Officer as Monitoring Officer 
to the Joint Committee shall cease at the earlier of (i) such date as Cardiff 
Council ceases to act as Host Council or (ii) the Councils unanimously 
decide to appoint the Monitoring Officer of a different Council as Monitoring 
Officer to the Joint Committee pursuant to clause 10.2. 

Tud. 148



 
 

15 

 

10.2 The Councils may decide that the Monitoring Officer of a different Council 
shall be designated as Monitoring Officer for the Joint Committee.  This shall 
require a unanimous decision from the Councils. Following such a decision 
the Host Council shall notify the officer who is currently acting as Monitoring 
Officer and the officer who has been designated as Monitoring Officer for the 
future. 

10.3 The Councils acknowledge and agree that the Monitoring Officer will need to 
be provided with such resources as the Monitoring Officer considers 
sufficient to allow her to perform her duties and that this will be a cost of the 
Joint Committee. 

10.4 For such time as the Host Council and the Monitoring Officer to the Joint 
Committee is being performed by the same Council then the Monitoring 
Officer’s cost will be added to the Host Council’s costs and the provisions of 
clause 13 of this Agreement shall apply. 

11.  Reviews 

11.1 The Joint Committee shall review the discharge of the Specified and Agreed 
Functions at least annually alongside the Combined Governance Board 
reviewing service progress and performance quarterly and reporting to the 
Joint Committee on the results of its review. 

11.2 The Director of Operations shall submit a quarterly report to the Combined 
Governance Board and an annual report to the Joint Committee, setting out 
details of: 

(a)  The performance of the Specified and Agreed Functions. 

(b)  Income and expenditure and compliance with the Financial 
Memorandum. 

11.3 The Councils and the Regional Collaboratives shall carry out a review of their 
discharge of the regional Specified Functions for adoption and provide the 
following to the Director of Operations 

(a)  An annual work programme by 31March each year 

(b)  Quarterly performance reporting 

(c)  An annual report by 31 May each containing the items detailed in the 
Directions.  

11.4 The Director of Operations will use this information as the basis for reporting to 
the Joint Committee for adoption services.  

12.  Audit 

12.1  The discharge of the Specified and Agreed Functions on behalf of the Councils 
and the finances relating to the discharge of the Specified or Agreed Functions 
shall be subject to an annual external audit by the central team of the National 
Adoption Service which shall be commissioned by the Host Council in 
accordance with the Host Council’s audit processes. 

Tud. 149



 
 

16 

 

13.  Costs of Discharge of Functions 

13.1  The Host Council agrees that any of the Services it provides for the 
discharge of the  Specified and Agreed Functions shall be on a cost 
recovery basis. For the avoidance of any doubt such  costs shall be deemed 
to include all costs incurred howsoever arising, including , without limitation 
to the generality of the foregoing; 
(i) costs of any additional employees  required in order to carry out the Host 
Council role/provide capacity to carry out such role and  all associated 
recruitment costs, 
(ii)  all employee related costs including on costs,pension strain,  termination 
costs and any employee related claims, 
(iii)   fees and charges incurred (including external fees or charges for any 
third party services, goods or works  procured) and 
(iv) expenses, legal costs, claims, damages, insurance premiums and the 
like that the Host Council reasonably  incurs in carrying out its role.   

13.2 The Councils shall each year apply the central National Adoption Services 
budget to fund the payment of the costs of the Host Council.  Any shortfall in 
such funding shall be paid by the Councils within 30 days of demand by the 
Host Council and as follows. Each Council’s contribution shall be calculated 
by reference to their respective percentage contribution as set out in the 
Financial Memorandum. 

13.3  To aid transparency and accountability the Host Council shall: 

(i)  Provide the Joint committee, at its first meeting, with a report outlining its   
estimated costs for acting as Host Council for the financial year 2022/2023. 
For the avoidance of any doubt the estimated costs submitted will be for 
noting purposes only and the Council’s will be obliged to meet the Hosts 
Council’s actual costs as set out in this Agreement.   
(iii)  For each subsequent financial year (‘Subsequent Financial Year’)  the 
Host Council shall,  prior to the  Subsequent Financial Year in question,  
present to the Joint committee a report as to its  estimate costs for acting as 
Host Council for the Subsequent Financial Year. 
(iii) If, in any year, the Joint Committee does not find acceptable  the 
estimated costs for the Subsequent Financial year  then the Joint Committee 
may terminate the appointment of the then Host Council and the provision of 
clause 7.3 shall be deemed to  apply save that the termination date of the 
appointment of the then Host Council shall be  the 31st March,  in the 
financial year proceeding the Subsequent Financial Year or such latter date 
as all the Councils may agree.   
(iv) As part of its financial reporting to the Joint Committee the Host Council 
shall from time to time present to the Joint Committee reports of the actual 
costs incurred in carrying out the Host Council role. 
 

13.4 The Host Council in determining the level of resources it requires to carry 
out its role under the Agreement shall (i) act responsibly and prudently (ii) 
use its reasonable endeavours to put in place and maintain in place 
sufficient assets staff and other resource to undertake its role and (iii) 
wherever reasonably practicable report to the Joint Committee and/or 
Director of Operations for information if in any financial year its costs are 
likely to materially exceed the estimated costs that have previously been 
submitted to the Joint Committee.  

Tud. 150



 
 

17 

 

14.  Costs of the Joint Committee 

14. The Councils shall apply the central National Adoption Services budget to 
fund any costs of the Joint Committee, including the Host Councils costs.  
Any shortfall in such funding shall be paid by the Councils.  Each Council’s 
contribution shall be calculated by reference to their respective percentage 
contribution as set out in the Financial Memorandum. The Welsh Local 
Government Association shall be responsible for the administration of the 
payment of costs involved in the administration of the Joint Committee. 

15.  Liabilities Under This Agreement 

15.1 The Host Council shall indemnify and keep indemnified each of the other 
Councils to this Agreement against any losses, claims, expenses, actions, 
demands, costs and liability suffered by that Council to the extent arising from 
any wilful default or wilful breach by the Host Council of its obligations under 
this Agreement or its statutory duties (and “wilful” in this context shall, for the 
avoidance of doubt, not include matters which are outside the reasonable 
control of the Host Council or matters arising from any negligent act or 
omission in relation to such obligations). 

15.2 No claim shall be made against the Host Council by the other Councils or 
any of them to recover any loss or damage which may be incurred by 
reason of or arising out of the carrying out by the Host Council of its 
obligations under this Agreement unless and to the extent such loss or 
damage arises from a wilful default or wilful breach by the Host Council 
under clause 15.1. 

15.3 Each of the other Councils (acting severally) shall indemnify and keep 
indemnified the Host Council against all losses, claims, expenses, actions, 
demands, costs and liabilities which the Host Council may incur by reason of 
or arising out of the carrying out by the Host Council of its obligations under 
this Agreement for that Council or arising from any wilful default or wilful 
breach by a Council of its obligations under this Agreement (and wilful in this 
context shall, for the avoidance of doubt, not include matters which are 
outside the reasonable control of that Council or matters arising from any 
negligent act or omission in relation to such obligations) unless and to the 
extent that the same result from any wilful  breach by the Host Council of any 
such obligations. 

15.4 The amount to be paid to the Host Council by any of the other Councils under 
clause 15.3 shall be borne by each of the Councils to the extent of its 
responsibility, however in the event that the responsibility is a shared one 
between the Councils (so that it is not reasonably practicable to ascertain the 
exact responsibility between the Councils) then the amount to be paid shall 
be divided between the Councils on a Proportionate Basis. 

15.5 In the event of a claim under this clause 15 in which it is not reasonably 
practicable to determine the extent of responsibility as between the Councils 
then the amount shall be divided amongst the Councils on a Proportionate 
Basis. 

15.6 A Council which receives a claim for losses, expenses, actions, demands, 
costs and liabilities related to the discharge of the Specified and Agreed 

Tud. 151



 
 

18 

 

Functions shall notify and provide details of such claim as soon as is 
reasonably practicable to the other Councils. 

15.7 Failure to give notice in accordance with clause 15.6 shall not relieve a party 
of its obligations to indemnify another under this clause 15. 

15.8 Each Council shall not be obliged to indemnify the other Councils to the extent 
that the insurances maintained by the other Councils at the relevant time 
provide an indemnity against the loss giving rise to a claim and to the extent 
that another Council recovers under a policy of insurance save that the 
Council responsible for liabilities suffered by another Council shall be 
responsible for  (i) the deductible under any such policy of insurance  (ii)  any 
amount over the maximum amount insured under such policy of insurance 
and (iii) any resultant increase in future year premiums  (for a maximum of 10 
years) incurred by the Council who claims on its insurance. 

15.9 The indemnities given under this Agreement are in addition to any Hosting 
Agreement between the Host Council and any of the other Councils. 

16.  Duration of this Agreement 

16.1  This Agreement shall come into force on the Commencement Date and shall 
continue from year to year or until terminated in accordance with the 
provisions of this Agreement. 

17.  Variation of This Agreement 

17.1 Any of the Councils may request a variation to this Agreement by making 
such a written request to the officer acting as Monitoring Officer to the Joint 
Committee. 

17.2 The officer acting as Monitoring Officer to the Joint Committee shall circulate 
the request to each of the Councils within ten Business Days of receipt of 
the request for consideration and approval by the Councils. 

17.3  If each of the Councils approve such variation, then the officer acting as 
Monitoring Officer to the Joint Committee shall arrange for the preparation of 
an appropriate Deed of Variation to this Agreement to be prepared for 
execution by the Councils and such change shall only take effect upon 
completion of that Deed and the costs associated with the preparation of such 
Deed of Variation shall be shared equally between the Councils. Such Deed 
of Variation may be executed in parts by each Council that is then a party to 
this Agreement. 

17.4 If one of the Councils does not approve such variation, then the variation to 
this Agreement shall not occur. 

18.  Withdrawal from the Joint Committee on Notice 

18.1 Any Council may withdraw from the Joint Committee in accordance with the 
following procedure: 

18.2 Any Council which wishes to withdraw from the Joint Committee shall give 
not less than twelve months’ written notice terminating at the end of a 
financial year to the other Councils and the officer acting as Monitoring 

Tud. 152



 
 

19 

 

Officer to the Joint Committee shall consult the other Councils giving due 
consideration to: 

(a)  Any loss of funding arising from such withdrawal and including any 
non-payment, clawback or repayment of such funding; 

(b)  Any other loss, liability, damage, claim or expense, 

which would be incurred by the Councils upon which notice has been served 
by reason of such withdrawal from the Joint Committee. 

18.3 Any Council wishing to withdraw from the Joint Committee undertakes as a 
condition of such withdrawal to make, prior to withdrawal such reasonable 
payment or payments which fairly reflect the actual losses caused by or 
anticipated as a result of the withdrawal as shall be determined by the other 
Councils pursuant to clauses above and no notice under this clause 18 shall 
take effect unless and until such payment has been agreed or referred to the 
Dispute Resolution procedure under Clause 22. 

18.4 Subject to the provisions of clause 15 or unless agreed otherwise by the 
parties, each Council reserves the right to recover from any party to this 
Agreement the costs of any claims, costs, expenses, losses or liabilities of 
any nature or which have been caused by any act or omission of that party 
and which are discovered after the party’s withdrawal from this Agreement. 

18.5 Any Council that withdraws from the Joint Committee shall be responsible 
for ensuring that it is able to comply with its legal obligations in respect of 
the discharge of the Specified and Agreed Functions.  Any Council that 
withdraws from the Joint Committee shall include in its notice to the other 
Councils confirmation that it shall comply with its legal obligations in respect 
of the discharge of the Specified and Agreed Functions 

19.  Termination of this Agreement for Cause 

19.1 Without prejudice to any other rights or remedies, this Agreement may be 
terminated in relation to any other Council (“Defaulter”) by the other Councils 
(“Non-Defaulting Councils”) acting unanimously in giving sixty-five Business 
Days written notice to the Defaulter where the Defaulter materially breaches 
any of the provisions of this Agreement or in the case of a breach capable of 
remedy fails to remedy the same within thirty Business Days (or such other 
period as agreed by the Non-Defaulting Councils) of being notified of each 
breach in writing by the Non-Defaulting Councils and being required to 
remedy the same. 

19.2  If this Agreement is terminated each Council shall be responsible for ensuring 
that it is able to comply with its legal obligations in respect of the discharge of 
the Specified and Agreed Functions. 

20.  Termination of the Agreement by Agreement 

20.1 The Councils agree that this Agreement may be determined upon terms 
agreed by all the Councils. 

20.2 Upon termination of this Agreement the parties agree that the Joint 
Committee shall cease to exist and any arrangement for the discharge of 

Tud. 153



 
 

20 

 

Specified and Agreed Functions which has been made pursuant to this 
Agreement shall cease on the expiry of the notice period specified in the 
relevant Hosting Agreement and the Specified and Agreed Functions shall 
be returned to the Councils which were responsible for them prior to this 
Agreement. 

20.3 If this Agreement is terminated each Council shall be responsible for 
ensuring that it is able to comply with its legal obligations in respect of the 
discharge of the Specified and Agreed Functions. 

21.  Termination – Consequential Matters 

21.1 In the event of termination of this Agreement under Clause 20 as the case 
may be, any party shall supply to any other party when requested any 
information which the other party requires for the continuing discharge of the 
Specified and Agreed Functions; and 

21.2 Any Intellectual Property Rights created under this Agreement shall be 
owned by the then parties in equal proportions; and  

21.3 Each of the parties shall undertake to make such reasonable payment or 
payments which fairly reflect the obligations of that Council pursuant to this 
Agreement. 

21.4 In the event of termination of this Agreement all Assets held by any of the 
Councils for the purposes of this Agreement shall be dealt with in 
accordance with the Financial Memorandum. 

21.5 The Host Council shall: -  
21.5.1 be reimbursed by the Councils for all costs it incurs upon or as a 
consequence of Termination with each Council’s contribution to such costs 
being calculated by reference to their respective percentage contribution as 
set out in the Financial Memorandum and  
21.5.2.   transfer any relevant information it holds to the Council to which the 
relevant information relates. 

21.6 It shall be the duty of the Councils to try to minimise any losses arising from 
the termination of this Agreement. 

21.7 Each Council is responsible for its own compliance with the Directions and 
any other relevant law that applies to the Specified and Agreed Functions 
and shall take any action necessary to ensure that it is able to comply with 
its legal obligations following termination of this Agreement. 

22.  Dispute Resolution 

22.1 The Councils undertake and agree to pursue a positive approach towards 
dispute resolution which seeks in the context of this joint working arrangement 
to identify a solution at the lowest operational level that is appropriate to the 
subject of the dispute, and which avoids legal proceedings and maintains a 
strong working relationship between the parties. 

22.2 Any dispute arising in relation to any aspect of this Agreement shall be 
resolved in accordance with this clause 22. 

Tud. 154



 
 

21 

 

22.3  All disputes, claims or differences between the Councils arising out of or in 
connection with this Agreement or its subject matter or formation, including 
any question regarding its existence, validity or termination, (a “Dispute”) shall 
be referred to the Director of Operations who shall produce and implement a 
plan for resolving the dispute. 

22.4 If the plan of the Director of Operations does not resolve the dispute it may at 
the written request of any Council involved in the dispute, be referred by each 
Council to its chief executive. 

22.4 If the Councils’ chief executives do not agree a resolution of the Dispute within 
one month of the date of service of any such request, the Councils may agree 
a process to attempt to settle the Dispute by mediation or arbitration. 

23.  Notices 

Form of Notice 

23.1  Any demand, notice or other communication given in connection with or 
required by this Agreement shall be made in writing and shall be delivered to 
or sent by pre-paid first class post to the recipient at the address stated in 
Schedule 3 (or such other address as may be notified in writing from time to 
time) or sent by facsimile transmission to the recipient to the facsimile number 
stated in Schedule 3 or sent electronically to the e-mail address stated in 
Schedule 3. 

Service 

23.2 Any such demand, notice or communication shall be deemed to have been 
duly served: 

(a)  If delivered by hand, when left at the proper address for service. 

(b)  If given or made by pre-paid first-class post two Business Days after 
being posted;  

(c )  If sent by facsimile at the time of transmission provided that a 
confirmatory copy is on the same day that the facsimile is transmitted 
sent by pre-paid first class post in the manner provided for in clause 
23.1 Provided That in each case that if the time of such deemed 
service is either after 4.00pm on a Business Day or on a day other 
than a Business Day service shall be deemed to occur at 10.00am on 
the next following Business Day; or 

(d)  If sent by e-mail, when it has been sent to the e-mail address stated in 
Schedule 4 and receipt of such e-mail has been acknowledged. 

24.  Information and Confidentiality 

24.1 Without prejudice to clauses 25 and 26 the parties shall keep confidential all 
matters relating to this Agreement or the Intellectual Property Rights of the 
parties and shall use all reasonable endeavours to prevent their employees 
and agents from making any disclosure to any person of any matter relating 
to the Agreement or Intellectual Property Rights of the parties. 

Tud. 155



 
 

22 

 

24.2 Clause 24.1 shall not apply to: 

 (a)  Any disclosure of information that is reasonably required by persons 
engaged in the performance of their obligations under this Agreement. 

 (b)  Any matter which a party can demonstrate is already generally 
available and in the public domain otherwise than as a result of a 
breach of this clause. 

 (c)  Any disclosure which is required by any law (including any order or a 
court of competent jurisdiction) any Parliamentary obligation or the rules 
of any stock exchange or governmental or regulatory authority having 
the force or law. 

 (d)  Any disclosure of information which is already lawfully in the 
possession of the disclosing party prior to its disclosure by the 
disclosing party. 

 (e) Any disclosure which is required or recommended by the rules of any 
governmental or regulatory authority including any guidance from time 
to time as to openness and disclosure of information by public bodies. 

 (f) Any disclosure which is necessary to be disclosed to provide relevant 
information to any insurance broker in connection with obtaining any 
insurance required by this Agreement. 

 (g)  Any disclosure by a party to a department, office or agency of the 
Government. 

 (h)  Any disclosure for the purpose of the examination and certification of a 
party’s accounts. 

Where disclosure is permitted under clauses 24.2(a), 24.2(f), 24.2(g), or 
24.2(h) the recipient of the information shall be placed under the same 
obligation of confidentiality as that contained in this Agreement by the 
disclosing Council. 

25.  Data Protection 

25.1 In relation to the subject matter of this agreement each party undertakes at all 
times to comply with the Data Protection Legislation.  This clause 25 is in 
addition to and does not relieve remove or replace a party’s obligations under 
the Data Protection Legislation. 

25.2  Each Council: 

(a)  Shall process Personal Data belonging to any other Council only on the 
instructions of that Council (subject to compliance with applicable law); 

(b)  Shall only undertake processing of Personal Data reasonably required 
in connection with this Agreement. 

(c) Shall ensure that it has in place appropriate technical and 
organisational measures to protect against unauthorised or unlawful 
processing of Personal Data and against accidental loss or destruction 

Tud. 156



 
 

23 

 

of or damage to Personal Data appropriate to the harm that might result 
from the unauthorised or unlawful processing or accidental loss 
destruction or damage and the nature of the data to be protected having 
regard to the state of technological development and the cost of 
implementing any measures (those measures may include where 
appropriate pseudonymising and encrypting Personal Data ensuring 
confidentiality integrity availability and resilience of its systems and 
services ensuring (subject to the terms of any third party arrangements 
that may be in place) that availability of and access to Personal Data 
can be restored in a timely manner after an incident and regularly 
assessing and evaluating the effectiveness of the technical and 
organisational measures adopted by it); 

(d) Shall ensure that all personnel who have access to and/or process 
Personal Data are obliged to keep the Personal Data confidential.  

 (e) Shall not transfer any Personal Data outside of the European Economic 
Area unless the prior written consent of the other Councils has been 
obtained and the following conditions are fulfilled. 

 (i) The Council transferring the Personal Data has provided 
appropriate safeguards in relation to the transfer.  

(ii) The data subject has enforceable rights and effective legal 
remedies. 

(iii) The Council transferring the Personal Data complies with its 
obligations under the Data Protection Legislation by providing 
an adequate level of protection to any Personal Data that is 
transferred 

(f) Shall assist the other Councils in responding to any request from a data 
subject and in ensuring compliance with their obligations under the Data 
Protection Legislation with respect to security breach notifications 
impact assessments and consultations with supervisory bodies. 

(g) Shall use its reasonable endeavours to procure that all relevant sub-
contractors and third parties comply with this clause 25. 

25.3 The Councils shall not disclose Personal Data to any third parties other than: 

(a)  To employees and sub-contractors and third parties to whom such 
disclosure is reasonably necessary in order for the Councils to 
discharge the Councils' obligations in relation to this Agreement; or 

(b) To the extent required under a court order or to comply with any 
applicable laws  

provided that any disclosure to any sub-contractor or any third parties under 
clause 25.3 shall be made subject to written terms substantially the same as, 
and no less stringent than, the terms contained in this clause 25 and that the 
Councils shall give notice in writing to all other Councils of any disclosure of 
Personal Data belonging to them which they or a sub-contractor or third parties 
are required to make under clause 25 immediately they are aware of such a 
requirement. 

Tud. 157



 
 

24 

 

25.4 Any Council may, at reasonable intervals, request a written description of the 
technical and organisational methods employed by any other Council and the 
relevant sub-contractors Within five Business Days of such a request, the 
Council requested to do so shall supply written particulars of all such measures 
as it is maintaining detailed to a reasonable level such that the requesting 
Council can determine whether or not, in connection with the Personal Data, it 
is compliant with the Data Protection Legislation.  Each Council shall use its 
reasonable endeavours to ensure that the sub-contractors and any third parties 
also comply with such request from any other Council. 

25.5 All Councils shall ensure that any Personal Data they obtain and provide to any 
other Council has been lawfully obtained and complies with the Data Protection 
Legislation and that the use thereof in accordance with this Agreement shall 
not breach any of the provisions of the Data Protection Legislation. 

25.6 Each Council shall provide the other Councils as soon as reasonably 
practicable, with such information in relation to Personal Data and their 
processing as the other Councils may reasonably request in writing and the 
party asked to provide the relevant data may reasonably be able to provide in 
order for the other Council to comply with its obligations under this clause and 
the Data Protection Legislation. 

25.7 Each Council shall take reasonable precautions (having regard to the nature of 
their respective obligations under this Agreement) to preserve the integrity of 
any Personal Data. 

25.8 The Councils shall continually review any existing information sharing protocols 
being used in relation to this Agreement to ensure they remain relevant and to 
identify which Personal Data needs to be processed and on what basis to 
ensure compliance with this clause 25. 

25.9 Each Council shall maintain complete and accurate records to demonstrate its 
compliance with this clause 25. 

26. Freedom of Information 

26.1 The parties recognise that the Councils are public authorities as defined by FOI 
Legislation and therefore recognise that information relating to this Agreement 
may be the subject of an Information Request. 

26.2 The Councils shall assist each other in complying with their obligations under 
FOI Legislation, including but not limited to assistance without charge in 
gathering information to respond to an Information Request. 

26.3 Any Council shall be entitled to disclose any information relating to this 
Agreement and the Specified and Agreed Functions in response to an 
Information Request save that in respect of any Information Request which is 
in whole or part a request for Exempt Information. 

26.4 The Council which receives the Information Request shall circulate the 
Information Request and shall discuss it with the other Councils and the 
Director of Operations. 

Tud. 158



 
 

25 

 

26.5 The Council which receives the Information Request shall in good faith consider 
any representations raised by other Councils when deciding whether to 
disclose Exempt Information and 

26.6 The Council which receives the Information Request shall not disclose any 
Exempt Information beyond the disclosure required by FOI Legislation without 
the consent of the Council or Councils to which it relates. 

26.7 The parties to this Agreement acknowledge and agree that any decision made 
by a Council which receives an Information Request as to whether to disclose 
information relating to this Agreement pursuant to FOI Legislation is solely the 
decision of that Council.  A Council will not be liable to any party to this 
Agreement for any loss, damage, harm or detrimental effect arising from or in 
connection with the disclosure of information in response to an Information 
Request. 

27.  Intellectual Property 

27.1 Each Council will retain all Intellectual Property in its Material. 

27.2 Each Council will grant all of the other Councils a non-exclusive, perpetual, 
non-transferable and royalty free licence to use, modify, amend and develop 
its IP Material for the discharge of the Councils' obligations in relation to this 
Agreement whether or not the Council granting the licence remains a party to 
this Agreement. 

27.3 Without prejudice to clause 27.1, if more than one Council owns or has a legal 
or beneficial right or interest in any aspect of the IP Material for any reason 
(including without limitation that no one Council can demonstrate that it 
independently supplied or created the relevant IP Material without the help of 
one or more of the other Councils), each of the Councils who contributed to the 
relevant IP Material will grant to all other Councils to this Agreement a non-
exclusive, perpetual, non-transferable and royalty free licence to use and 
exploit such IP Material as if all the other Councils were the sole owner under 
the Copyright Design and Patents Act 1988 or any other relevant statute or rule 
of law. 

27.4 Any entity or person who is at the date of this Agreement a party to this 
Agreement and who has licensed any Intellectual Property under this 
Agreement shall have a non-exclusive, perpetual right to continue to use the 
licensed Intellectual Property. 

27. 5 Each Council warrants that it has or will have the necessary rights to grant the 
licences set out in clause 27.2 and 27.3 in respect of the IP Material to be 
licensed. 

27.6 Each Council agrees to execute such further documents and take such actions 
or do such things as may be reasonably requested by any other Councils (and 
at the expense of the Council or Councils making the request) to give full effect 
to the terms of this Agreement. 

Tud. 159



 
 

26 

 

28.  Language 

28.1  The Joint Committee shall arrange for the Specified and Agreed Functions to 
be discharged in such a way that each of the Councils comply with their duties 
under the Welsh Language (Wales) Measure 2011 

29.  Severability 

29.1 If at any time any clause or part of a clause or schedule or appendix or part of 
a schedule or appendix to this Agreement is found by any court, tribunal or 
administrative body of competent jurisdiction to be wholly or partly illegal, 
invalid or unenforceable in any respect: 

(a) That shall not affect or impair the legality, validity or enforceability of 
any other provision of this Agreement. 

(b)  The parties shall in good faith amend this Agreement to reflect as nearly 
as possible the spirit and intention behind that illegal, invalid or 
unenforceable provision to the extent that such spirit and intention is 
consistent with the laws of that jurisdiction and so that the amended 
Agreement complies with the laws of that jurisdiction. 

30.  Relationship of Parties 

30.1 Each of the parties is an independent organisation and nothing contained in 
this Agreement shall be construed to imply that there is any relationship 
between the parties of partnership or principal/agent or of employer/employee.  
No party shall have any right or authority to act on behalf of another party nor 
to bind another party by contract or otherwise except to the extent expressly 
permitted by the terms of this Agreement. 

31.  Third Party Rights 

31.1 The parties to this Agreement do not intend that any of its terms will be 
enforceable by virtue of the Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999 by any 
person not a party to it. 

32.  Entire Agreement 

32.1 This Agreement and all documents referred to in this Agreement set forth the 
entire agreement between the parties with respect to the subject matter 
covered by them and supersede and replace all prior communications, 
representations (other than fraudulent representations), warranties, 
stipulations, undertakings and agreements whether oral or written between the 
parties.  Each party acknowledges that it does not enter into this Agreement in 
reliance on any warranty, representation or undertaking other than those 
contained in this Agreement and that its only remedies are for breach of this 
Agreement, provided that this shall not exclude any liability which either party 
would otherwise have to the other in respect of any statements made 
fraudulently by or on behalf of it prior to the date of this Agreement. 

33.  Law of Agreement or Jurisdiction 

33.1 This Agreement shall be governed by the laws of England and Wales and the 
parties submit to the exclusive jurisdiction of the courts of England and Wales. 

Tud. 160



 
 

27 

 

34.  Discretion of the Councils 

34.1 The discretion of any Council shall not be fettered or otherwise affected by the 
terms of this Agreement. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

THE COMMON SEAL OF 

[             ] Council 

was affixed in the presence of 

SIGNED BY  

Duly authorised for and 

on behalf of Welsh Local Government Association 

in the presence of 

 

Tud. 161



 
 

28 

 

Schedule 1 Constitution of the Joint Committee  

1 All 22 Councils shall appoint one representative as voting members of the Joint 
Committee. 

2 The Joint Committee shall appoint one of its voting members as chair and one 
of its voting members as vice chair. 

3 Unless they have already been appointed by their Council as its representative 
the Councils shall appoint the following persons (subject to the agreement of 
such persons) as non-voting members of the Joint Committee: 

3.1 A WLGA spokesperson for health and social services. 

3.2 A WLGA deputy spokesperson for health and social services. 

3.3 The executive leader or a deputy in respect of one of those roles of the Host 
Council. 

3.4 The Co-chairs of the Combined Governance Board. 

4 The relevant Councils may nominate one or more substitute members from, 
subject to notification being given to the officer acting as Monitoring Officer to 
the Joint Committee before the start of the meeting.  The member appointed 
as a substitute shall have full voting rights where the member for whom they 
are substituting does not attend.  

5 Each voting member of the Joint Committee shall comply with the Code of 
Conduct of their Council when acting as a Member of the Joint Committee. 

6 The Host Council or, as the case may be the relevant councils may remove any 
voting member or substitute voting members of the Joint Committee and 
appoint a different representative of the Host Council or, as the case may be, 
the same council as the member or substitute being replaced by giving written 
notice to the officer who is acting as Monitoring Officer to the Joint Committee. 

7 Each voting member of the Joint Committee shall have one vote.   

8 Each member of the Joint Committee shall serve upon the Joint Committee for 
as long as he or she is appointed to the Joint Committee by the relevant 
Councils, but a member shall cease to be a member of the Joint Committee if 
he or she ceases to be a member of the Council of which he or she was a 
member when he or she was appointed to the Joint Committee or if the 
Councils remove him or her as a member of the Joint Committee. 

9 Any casual vacancies howsoever arising shall be filled by the Councils by 
notice in writing sent to the officer who is acting as Monitoring Officer to the 
Joint Committee. 

10 Unless otherwise agreed by the Councils, meetings of the Joint Committee 
shall be held at the offices of the WLGA, Host Council or virtually. 

11 The Joint Committee shall meet at least once annually.  

Tud. 162



 
 

29 

 

12 The officer who is acting as Monitoring Officer to the Joint Committee shall call 
additional meetings at the direction of the chair by providing at least three clear 
days’ notice to members of the Joint Committee, unless the meeting is called 
at shorter notice.  The officer who is acting as Monitoring Officer to the Joint 
Committee must call a meeting of the Joint Committee if all the voting members 
of the Joint Committee request it or the Head of Paid Service of each Council 
requests it. 

13 Meetings shall be notified to members of the Joint Committee by the officer 
who is acting as Monitoring Officer to the Joint Committee. 

14 The officer who is acting as Monitoring Officer to the Joint Committee shall 
send electronically to all members and relevant officers of each Council the 
agenda for each meeting of the Joint Committee no later than three clear days 
before the date of the relevant meeting unless the meeting is convened at 
shorter notice    

15 The officer who is acting as Monitoring Officer to the Joint Committee shall 
arrange for written minutes to be taken of each meeting of the Joint Committee 
and shall present them to the Joint Committee at its next meeting for approval 
as a correct record.  The Officer who is acting as Monitoring Officer to the Joint 
Committee shall circulate the minutes to the Councils prior to the next meeting 
of the Joint Committee.  If the Joint Committee confirms that the minutes 
contain an accurate record of the previous meeting, those minutes shall be 
signed by the chair or vice-Chair. 

16 A meeting of the Joint Committee shall require a quorum of 60% of the voting 
members.  If there is a quorum of members present but neither the chair nor 
the vice-chair is present, the members present shall designate one member to 
preside as chair for that meeting. 

17 Subject to the provisions of any enactment all questions coming or arising 
before the Joint Committee shall be decided by a majority of the members of 
the Joint Committee immediately present and voting thereon.  In the case of an 
equality of votes the chair shall have a casting vote.  Subject to paragraph 18 
below all voting shall be by a show of hands. 

18 Any member of the Joint Committee may request the Joint Committee to record 
the votes of individual members of the Joint Committee on a matter for decision. 

19 The order of business shall be indicated in the agenda for the meeting. 

20 Any member of the Councils who is not a member of the Joint Committee is 
entitled to attend the Joint Committee but he or she shall not be entitled to vote, 
shall not take part in the consideration or discussion of any business, save by 
leave of the chair and comments will be recorded only on the direction of the 
chair. 

21 A meeting of a principal council shall be open to the public except to the extent 
that they are excluded (whether during the whole or part of the 
proceedings).The public may be excluded from a meeting of the Joint 
Committee during an item of business whenever it is likely, in view of the nature 
of the business to be transacted or the nature of the proceedings that if 
members of the public were present during that item, confidential information 
as defined in section 100A(3) of the Local Government Act 1972 or exempt 

Tud. 163



 
 

30 

 

information as defined in section 100I of the Local Government Act 1972 would 
be disclosed to them.  In view of the sensitivity of the matters for which the Joint 
Committee is responsible it is to be expected that most business to be 
transacted at meetings of the Joint Committee will include confidential or 
exempt information but the Joint Committee will consider this in respect of 
every item of business to be considered at a meeting of the Joint Committee. 

22 Unless members of the public are excluded from a meeting of the Joint 
Committee in accordance with paragraph 21 above meetings of the Joint 
Committee will be open to the public. 

23 Members of the public wishing to address the Joint Committee (or a sub-
committee of the Joint Committee) on reports contained within the agenda for 
the meeting  may at the discretion of the Chair  be given the opportunity to do 
so.  

24 Each Council may call in any decision of the Joint Committee in accordance 
with the overview and scrutiny provisions of that Council’s constitution.  If any 
decision of the Joint Committee is subject to call in by a Council, the Joint 
Committee shall take no action to implement that decision unless the call in 
process upholds the decision. 

25. The Joint Committee may delegate a function to an officer. At the 
commencement of this agreement, the Jojnt Committee has delegated 
functions to the Director of Operations as outlined in Schedule 5 

 

  

Tud. 164



 
 

31 

 

 

Schedule 2 Terms of Reference of the NAS Combined Governance 
Board 

Functions and responsibilities of the Combined Governance Board 

1  The Combined Governance Board shall have the following responsibilities: 

1.1 To provide political and professional leadership and advice to inform the 
overall strategic direction of the National Adoption Service in Wales.  

1.2 To hold the Regional Collaboratives (and their staff), the Director of 
Operations and central team, the VAA’s and other services accountable for 
the delivery and performance of their services within the National Adoption 
Service arrangements. 

1.3 To approve for submission to the Joint Committee as prepared by the Director 
of Operations / central team. 

o An annual programme of work for the National Adoption Service.  

o A half year and full year progress report for the Welsh Local 
Government Association (WLGA – Full Council), the Minster for 
Health and Social Service and the Welsh Government. 

o The budget and financial management arrangements of services 
and the office of the Director of Operations. 

1.4 To monitor and have oversight of: 

▪ The performance of the National Adoption Service to ensure its 
successful delivery and improvements in the adoption process to lead 
to positive outcomes for children and adults affected by adoption. 

▪ The quality of engagement with the Voluntary Adoption Agencies 
(VAAs) and service user representatives at central and regional levels. 

▪ Compliance with The Directions  

▪ Compliance with the Conflict-of-Interest Protocol  

1.5 To consider and make recommendations for the future direction of the National 
Adoption Service using: 

o Information and data, including from the National Performance System in 
relation to the services as a whole, each Regional Collaborative, the VAA’s and 
other services. 

o Professional and best practice advice from the sector. 

o The views of children, young people and adults who use services. 

o Other evidence including reports from the Director of Operations. 

Tud. 165



 
 

32 

 

1.6 To ensure arrangements are in place for the flow of information, including 
receipt of minutes and papers, between the Combined Governance Board 
and: 

▪ The Joint Committee. 

▪ Regional Management Committees. 

▪ Local government members and officers across Wales. 

▪ Equivalent bodies in VAA’s and other services. 

1.7 To encourage and enable the statutory and voluntary sectors to work in 
partnership to deliver the best outcomes for children and adults affected by 
adoption. 

1.8 To ensure that the views of all stakeholders, including those who use adoption 
services, are represented effectively both at national and regional levels. 

1.9 To ensure the National Adoption Service is working within Welsh Government 
guidance and strategies for children particularly looked after and adopted 
children. 

1.10 To ensure that due consideration is given to the need for Welsh Language 
services in planning and delivery of adoption services throughout Wales. 

1.11 To support the delivery of adoption services through the National Adoption 
Service arrangements to ensure it reflects the best possible practice and is 
based on a culture of continuous improvement. 

1.12 To notify Joint Committee and Welsh Ministers of any issues regarding the 
National Adoption Service which it considers need to be drawn to their 
attention. 

2 Membership of the Combined Governance Board will comprise of: 

• WLGA Spokesperson for Health and Social Services or their representative. 

• WLGA Deputy Spokesperson for Health and Social Services  

• Independent Chair of the National Adoption Service Advisory Group (Chair of 
the Advisory Group and Co-Chair of the Combined Governance Board 
Meeting). 

• Leader (or nominated executive representative) of Host Council. 

• Elected member representative for each of the 5 Regional Adoption 
Collaboratives (from which the Vice Chair will be drawn). 

• Director / Head of Service from each of the Regional Collaboratives. 

• Senior officer representative of the Host Council. 

• Representative of the 5 VAAs in Wales. 

• Officer representative from the WLGA. 

Tud. 166



 
 

33 

 

• Representative from the Association of Directors for Social Services Cymru 
(ADSSC). 

• Representative of Association of Directors of Education in Wales (ADEW). 

• A Designated doctor for Safeguarding/Looked After Children. 

• A current RAC Adoption Panel Medical Advisor.  

• Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS) representative. 

• Representative of a Social Research Centre (currently Cardiff University, 
CASCADE). 

• Representative of Children’s Commissioner for Wales. 

• Representative of CAFCASS Cymru 

• Citizen or service user. 

• Legal services representative from the Host Council. 

• Director of Operations, National Adoption Service and secretariat. 

3 The Joint Committee may invite other persons to attend meetings of the 
Combined Governance Board as observers. 

4 The terms of reference of the Combined Governance Board shall be reviewed 
by the Joint Committee at least once a year which may make amendments to  
the terms of reference. 

  

Tud. 167



 
 

34 

 

Schedule 3 Notice Provisions 

 

Welsh Local Government Association 
One Canal Parade,  
Dumballs Road 
CARDIFF 
CF10 5BF 
 
Blaenau Gwent County Borough Council 
Municipal Offices 
Civic Centre 
Ebbw Vale 
NP23 6XB 
 
Bridgend County Borough Council 
Civic Offices 
Angel Street 
Bridgend 
CF31 4WB 
 
Caerphilly County Borough Council 
Ty Penalta 
Tredomen Park 
Ystrad Mynach Hengoed 
CF82 7PG 
 
The County Council of the City and County of Cardiff 
County Hall 
Cardiff 
CF10 4UW 
 
Carmarthenshire County Council 
County Hall 
Carmarthen 
Carmarthenshire 
SA31 1JP  
 
Ceredigion County Council 
Neuadd Cyngor 
Ceredigion 
Penmorfa 
Aberaeron 
Ceredigion 
SA46 OPA 
 
Conwy County Borough Council 
Bodlondeb 
Bangor Road 
Conwy 
LL32 8DU 
 
 
 

Tud. 168



 
 

35 

 

Denbighshire County Council 
County Hall 
Wynnstay Road 
Ruthin 
LL15 1YN 
 
Flintshire County Council 
County Hall 
Mold 
CH7 6NB 
 
Gwynedd Council 
Council Offices 
Shirehall Street 
Caernarfon 
LL55 1SH 
 
Isle of Anglesey County Council 
Council Offices 
Llangefni 
LL77 7TW 
 
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 
Civic Centre 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 8AN 
 
Monmouthshire County Council 
PO Box 106 
Caldicot 
NP26 9AN 
 
Neath Port Talbot County Borough Council 
Port Talbot Civic Centre 
Port Talbot 
SA13 1PJ 
 
Newport City Council 
Civic Centre 
Godfrey Road 
Newport 
NP20 4UR 
 
Pembrokeshire County Council 
County Hall 
Haverfordwest 
Pembrokeshire 
SA61 1TP 
 
Powys County Council 
Powys County Hall 
Spa Road East 
Llandrindod Wells 
Powys 
LD1 5LG 

Tud. 169



 
 

36 

 

Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council 
The Pavilions 
Cambrian Park 
Clydach Vale 
Tonypandy 
CF40 2XX 
 
The Council of the City and County of Swansea 
Civic Centre 
Oystermouth Road 
Swansea 
SA1 3SN 
 
Torfaen County Borough Council 
Civic Centre 
Pontypool 
Torfaen 
NP4 6YB 
 
Vale of Glamorgan Council 
Civic Offices 
Holton Road 
Barry 
Vale of Glamorgan 
CF63 4RU 
 
Wrexham County Borough Council 
The Guildhall 
Wrexham 
LL11 1AY 
 
[The Councils to provide details of fax numbers and e-mail addresses.] 

Tud. 170



 
 

37 

 

Schedule 4 Financial Memorandum 

1 The core budget for the office of the Director of Operations and national 
functions of the National Adoption Service is provided by a ‘top slice’ of the 
Revenue Support Grant and made available to the NAS via the Welsh Local 
Government Association. This arrangement was agreed by the Co-ordinating 
Committee of the WLGA in March 2014 as part of its agreement to the 
proposals to establish NAS. 

2 The Councils shall ensure that: 

2.1 The Joint Committee, the Combined Governance Board and the Director of 
Operations make appropriate use of the National Adoption Services budget to 
perform their functions and to facilitate achievement of the aims in clause 2 of 
this Agreement. 

2.2 There are adequate financial and accounting procedures for the purposes of 
this Agreement. 

3 The Host Council will provide the financial administrative accounting system 
and appropriate associated support for the discharge of the Specified and 
Agreed Functions on behalf of the Councils.  Subject to the statutory role of 
each Council’s Section 151 Officer in relation to their Council, the Host Council 
shall provide for the purposes of this Agreement the services of its Section 151 
Officer to the Joint Committee. 

4 The Director of Operations shall submit annual monitoring and accounting 
reports to the Joint Committee which shall include explanations for any 
variances against the profiled budget.   

5 The Joint Committee shall review the expenditure and forecast to ensure that 
the allocated budget is being correctly adhered to.   

6 The Joint Committee shall be presented with a report on the proposed use of 
the budget for the discharge of the Specified and Agreed Functions for approval 
on behalf of the Councils for the following financial year.  

7 The Host Council shall apply its Financial Regulations and Contract Procedure 
Rules to the discharge of the Specified and Agreed Functions on behalf of the 
Councils pursuant to this Agreement.  

8 Proportionate Basis for costs and liabilities of the Councils arising under the 
Agreement: 

The Proportionate Basis for which each Council shall be liable for costs arising 
under the Agreement (to the extent that the same exceed the ‘top slice’ of the 
Revenue Support Grant made available to the Joint Committee) shall be 
calculated by reference  to the proportion that the population of each Council’s 
area makes of the total population of Wales. Any indemnity to be funded by all 
Councils shall be calculated on the same basis. 

 

 

Tud. 171



 
 

38 

 

Schedule 5 Specified and Agreed Functions and 
Services 

1 Service Vision 

1.1 The Councils wish to use the joint discharge of the Specified Functions 
to improve the performance of the Councils and partners in meeting the 
needs of those children who require permanence through adoption by 
bringing together the best practice from each authority and partner into 
an integrated adoption service and similarly for an agreed range of 
fostering functions. 

1.2 The Councils agree that the joint discharge of the Specified and Agreed 
Functions should be underpinned by the guiding principles that looked 
after children and prospective adopters alike are advantaged by the 
joint discharge of functions and that the joint discharge of functions is 
demonstrably more efficient and flexible in delivering the Services. 

2 Aims, Principles and Objectives of the joint discharge of the Specified 
Functions for adoption services 

2.1 Enabling the Councils to comply with their obligations under the 
Directions. 

2.2 Delivering a comprehensive adoption service at a national level. 

2.3 Exercising oversight of Councils’ compliance with legislation, 
regulations, minimum standards, local procedures and the performance 
management framework set by the Welsh Government and 
accountable to the Senedd / Welsh Parliament in line with the 
Directions. 

2.4 Ensuring that services are carried out in a timely and efficient way and 
based upon the assessed needs of those persons requiring the service. 

2.5 Ensuring that persons seeking approval as adoptive parents are 
welcomed without prejudice and delay and that their applications are 
considered on their individual merit. 

2.6 Developing a recruitment strategy which ensures a range of adoptive 
placements are available nationally or through external agencies to 
ensure timely placements for all children where the placement plan is 
adoption. 

2.7 Providing a child focused placement service to ensure that children are 
appropriately matched with adopters who can meet their needs 
throughout their childhood. 

2.8 Providing a range of pre and post adoption support and intermediary 
services in conjunction with statutory and voluntary sector providers. 

2.9 Establishing effective working links with key stakeholders. 

Tud. 172



 
 

39 

 

2.10 Maintaining effective working links with local authority children’s 
services departments to ensure that agency functions in relation to 
children requiring adoptive placements are maintained. 

2.11 Utilising and building upon examples of good practice and promote 
consistency, excellence and continuous improvement. 

2.12 Complying with the requirements of external audit and inspection. 

2.13 Ensuring that customer feedback and the views of service users are 
obtained and considered in the development of services. 

3 Aims, Principles and Objectives of the joint discharge of the Agreed 
Functions for fostering services through Foster Wales 

3.1  National leadership to ensure consistency of approach on a regional and local 
authority basis 

3.2 Commission / monitoring of the programme management contract with 
Association for fostering and adoption Cymru (AFA Cymru) / creation of 
a post for this function plus oversight / support of programme manager’s 
work 

3.3 Maintaining a performance framework and supporting performance 
reporting at national and regional level to inform improvement 

3.4 Production of annual report and any other reporting required 

3.5 Administration of agreed Foster Wales national Governance 
arrangements and support to Regional Development Manager 
meetings, practice forums and task & finish groups 

3.6 Promotion of best practice and culture of continuous improvement 
currently as below: 

o Oversight and ongoing development of the Foster Wales brand 

o Production of national Policy and Procedures handbook incl. for 
recruitment 

o Core Offer of support 

o Fees and Allowances 

o Learning and Development framework 

3.7 Commissioning and contract monitoring of contracts required for FW 
work – incl. website, brand repository, national marketing manager, 
launch & campaigns. 

3.8 Administration of FW finance and grants and accountancy support. 
Securing resourcing through new / additional finance where possible.  

4 The Specified and Agreed Functions 

4.1 The Specified and Agreed Functions are: 

Tud. 173



 
 

40 

 

The functions of the Director of Operations and central team including 
the following: 

• Providing leadership to set the direction for NAS and Foster Wales including 
strategic planning by agreeing priorities, targets and resourcing following 
engagement with partners and stakeholders as well as support to operational 
planning. 

• Reviewing progress including analysis of performance data and service 
information from the regions and VAA’s. 

• Providing annual and mid-year reports each year for agreement by the 
Combined Governance Board, Joint Committee and submission to Welsh 
Ministers as well as to WLGA and ADSS-C where required.  

• Providing specific functions nationally to support and enable NAS operations 
(currently as below) 

• Establishing and maintaining a website for the National Adoption 
Service for Wales 

• Management of the Adoption Register for Wales (under contract from 
Welsh Government) 

• Commissioning and contracting national contracts to support service 
delivery functions and support  

• Maintaining arrangements for service user engagement across Wales 

• Leadership, matrix management oversight, advice and support to 
regions and VAA’s. 

• Promotion of best practice and a culture of continuous improvement 
throughout the NAS. 

• Securing appropriate resourcing through new / additional finance or re-
profiling of existing as well as managing the central team allocation, 
grants and investment. 

• Strategic commissioning as necessary for the discharge of functions 

• Maintaining arrangements for national governance and allied sub / task 
& finish groups to engage stakeholders in carrying out the actions / work 
agreed by the Combined Governance Board 

• Promotion of adoption, including national PR and marketing and the 
provision of the ‘face and voice’ of adoption in Wales.  

• Stakeholder and relationship management including with allied services 
and organisations in Wales and UK, Ministers and Welsh Government. 

• Providing specific functions nationally to support and enable Foster Wales 
operations (currently as below) 

• Establishing and maintaining a national website for Foster Wales 

Tud. 174



 
 

41 

 

• Commissioning and contracting national contracts to support service 
delivery functions and support  

• Leadership, matrix management oversight, advice and support to 
regions and LA’s 

• Promotion of best practice and a culture of continuous improvement 

• Managing the central team allocation, grants and investment, enabling 
negotiations with funding bodies to secure ongoing resourcing.  

• Maintaining arrangements for national governance and allied sub / task 
& finish groups to engage stakeholders in carrying out the actions / work 
agreed by the Lead Heads of Children’s Services Group 

• Promotion of Foster Wales, including national PR and marketing.  

• Stakeholder and relationship management including with allied services 
and organisations in Wales and UK, Ministers and Welsh Government. 

5 The Services 

5.1 The services to be provided by the host local authority to facilitate the 
discharge of   the Joint Committee’s function shall be   detailed in a 
separate agreement but will be provided subject to and on   the 
overarching terms and conditions set out in this  Agreement . Such Host 
services may include:  

(i)Office accommodation and allied facilities services 

(ii) Employment of staff, associated human resource functions and 
advising on workforce planning / issues 

(iii) Use of its IT systems and databases, including provision of a 
separate email domain/s and stand-alone websites as needed 

(iv) Finance / accounting services, supporting management of core 
budget and grant aid including facilitating the transfer of funds to 
relevant local government or partners agencies of NAS and Foster 
Wales.  

(v) Information security advice and support, ensuring compliance with 
changing legislation 

(vi) Facilitation of procurement and contracting requirements to deliver 
functions 

(vii) Legal advice as required incl. for contracts. 

(viii) Engagement of Officers and Members in governance 
arrangements as required by the Directions 
 
5.2 The Host Authority may make arrangements with third parties for 
the discharge of the Services and recharge such costs to the Joint 

Tud. 175



 
 

42 

 

Committee. The Host Authority shall first discuss such matters with the 
Director of Operations. 

Tud. 176



 
 

43 

 

Schedule 6 Terms of Reference for the Lead Head of 
Children’s Services Group 

1 Objectives and Scope  

1.1 The main objectives of this group are: 

(a) To support the strategic oversight of Foster Wales 

(b) To consider the implications at local and regional level arising from the 
transition to Foster Wales 

(c) To consider the development needs of services at local, regional, and 
national level 

(d) To seek and support solutions to overcome barriers and challenges 

(e) To continue to develop and maintain collaboration across local authority 
fostering 

(f) To consider reports presented, agree actions, make decisions, and 
monitor progress 

(g) To consider performance reports and monitor KPIs as identified and 
agreed 

(h) To make recommendations for future areas of work programme 
development 

2 Membership 

2.1 Core membership will include: 

(a) 6 x Regional designated Lead Head of Children’s Services 

(b) Director of the National Adoption Service 

(c) 6 x Regional Development Managers  

(d) A Director of Social Services 

(e) Programme Manager 

(f) An officer of the Welsh Local Government Association 

2.2 Arrangements will be put in place to ensure good links between this 
meeting and members including briefing the WLGA spokesperson for 
health and Social Care or their nominated Deputy with responsibility for 
children’s services. 

3 Frequency of meetings 

3.1 Meetings will be held at an agreed frequency no less than quarterly 
(currently monthly), dates and times will be scheduled and provided with 
advanced notice. 

Tud. 177



 
 

44 

 

 

 

4 Accountability and communication 

4.1 The group is accountable to the Joint Committee, which holds 
responsibility for overall oversight of the National Adoption Service and 
Foster Wales. 

4.2 Regional representatives are responsible for ensuring that effective 
communication channels are in place.  This should include mechanisms 
for the sharing of information, decisions, and outcomes from this group 
to relevant forums and individuals within their own region. 

Tud. 178



 
 

45 

 

Schedule 7 Scheme of Functions Delegated to the 
Director of Operations 

Part One 
SCHEME OVERVIEW 
1. Purpose 

1.1. The National Adoption Service for Wales (NAS) operates in a multi-agency 
partnership context. This is a complex arrangement best described as a local 
government led collaborative with a range of different interfaces including the 
voluntary sector. In order that the NAS national / central team staff can carry 
out its functions effectively under the Adoption and Children Act 2002 (Joint 
Adoption Arrangements) (Wales) Directions 2015, it is essential that 
employees at all levels of the organisation are clear that they have the 
delegated authority to make decisions. It is also important that employees are 
clear where they do not have the authority to make decisions.  

1.2. The Scheme of Delegation is the framework creating the authority to make a 
decision or discharge a function. Delegation also means that those to whom 
responsibility has been given are prepared to be accountable for the 
decisions they have been asked to make and the functions they discharge. 
Effective and transparent decision making also requires that those making a 
decision must be confident about the scope of their authority. 

1.3. The aim of the Scheme of Delegation is to set out who has the authority to 
make decisions within the national / central team of the National Adoption 
Service for Wales. It is a companion document to the National Adoption 
Service in Wales Partnership Agreement and the Agreement for the 
Establishment of a Joint Committee for the National Adoption Service.  

1.4. This Scheme of Delegation sets out who can carry out the functions. It does 
not explain how they are to be carried out. The NAS has adopted the 
procedures of the Host Council (Cardiff Council) which set out the rules for 
this. The Host Council is also the employer of NAS staff. As a result, NAS 
Officers must be familiar with the Host Council’s:  

• Financial Procedure Rules (Part 4.6 of the Constitution)  

• Contract Standing Orders and any Procurement guidelines issued by the 
Host Council 

• Human Resources guidance and procedures 
 

1.5. All powers within the Scheme of Delegation are to be exercised within 
approved budgets and all staffing and recruitment delegations take effect 
subject to approved HR guidelines. 

1.6. At the commencement of this Agreement the full arrangements for Foster 
Wales are being developed but it is anticipated that its relationship to the Joint 
Committee will be the same as for NAS albeit that governance is managed 
through the Lead Heads of Children’s Services (LHOCS) meeting and that 
delegated authority will operate in the same way. The Terms of Reference of 
the Lead Heads of Children’s Services meeting are in Schedule 6 of this Joint 
Committee Agreement. 

 
 
2. Arrangement of the Scheme of Delegation 

2.1. . The Scheme of Delegation is arranged in three parts. 
a) Scheme Overview 
b) The Joint Committee and Combined Governance Board 
c) The Director of Operations 

 

Tud. 179



 
 

46 

 

3. The Joint Committee, Combined Governance Board and Regional 
Collaboratives  

3.1. The complex nature of the arrangements has a number of key bodies either 
delivering the Adoption Services or setting overall strategy. They interact in a 
way that influences the approach to delegation. 

3.2. The Joint Committee will, on behalf of the 22 Welsh Local Authorities, 
exercise their powers with reference to the provision of the collaborative 
arrangements for the National Adoption Service for Wales (NAS) and for 
Foster Wales (FW).  It will be underpinned by a legal agreement (Joint 
Committee Agreement) and be comprised of Council Members.  Its role will 
be to oversee the work of NAS and Foster Wales and specifically approve / 
receive the below:  

• The Annual Reports of NAS and of Foster Wales;  
• The annual programmes of work for the NAS and for Foster Wales;   
• The budget/s for the office of the Director and the national work of NAS and 

for Foster Wales; and  
• The agreement, and any changes required, for the Host Council support of 

the office of the Director to enable it to facilitate the work of NAS and FW.  
 

3.3. For NAS (only) it will also oversee how the authorities work together to 
exercise their powers and comply with the National Assembly Directions (now 
Senedd Wales).  

3.4. The Joint Committee has primary responsibility for the delegation framework 
as it may delegate a function to an officer. 

3.5. The terms of reference for the Combined Governance Board are contained in 
schedule 2 of the Agreement for the Establishment of a Joint Committee for 
the National Adoption Services. The schedule indicates the Board must 
approve as prepared by the Director of Operations / central team the 
following: 

• An annual programme of work for the National Adoption Service.  

• A half year and full year progress report for the Welsh Local Government 
Association (WLGA – Full Council), the Minster for Health and Social 
Service and the Welsh Government. 

• The budget and financial management arrangements of services and the 
office of the Director of Operations. 

3.6. The terms of reference also hold the following accountable for the delivery 
and performance of their services within the NAS arrangements:  

• Regional Collaboratives (and their staff),  

• the Director of Operations and central team,  

• the Voluntary Adoption Agencies and other services  
 

3.7. In order to support the work of the Combined Governance Board the Director 
of Operations will prepare the items listed in section 3.3 using the support of 
the Host Council where appropriate.  

3.8. As the lead executive of the NAS, the Director of Operations has delegated 
authority from the Joint Committee to manage the organisation. The Director 
of Operations is also responsible for delegating other decision-making 
responsibilities to officers within NAS. 

3.9. The Joint Committee delegates to the Combined Governance Board or 
Director of Operations all matters which it does not reserve to itself for 
decision.  

Tud. 180



 
 

47 

 

3.10.The Director of Operations shall provide regular reports to the Combined 
Governance Board and Joint Committee on the discharge of the Specified 
Functions. 

3.11.The delegation of functions and responsibilities both from the Joint Committee 
and the Director of Operations requires those using delegated authority to 
carry out those functions in a way that will not prevent the effective discharge 
of any functions or bring the NAS into disrepute or in any other way have an 
adverse effect on the NAS. 

3.12.The scheme of delegation can be removed by the Joint Committee if it takes a 
formal decision to do so. In these circumstances the Joint Committee would 
assume those responsibilities that it had previously delegated or delegate 
these responsibilities to the Combined Governance Board. The Director of 
Operations can also remove delegations they have granted to their team and 
in doing so would assume the previously delegated responsibilities or transfer 
these to another member of their team.  

3.13.Each region is made up of a number of specified local authorities. These are 
regional collaboratives overseen by Regional Management Boards. For the 
NAS to work effectively Partnership Agreement states there should be robust 
links between RMBs, the Combined Governance Board and the central team 
(led by the Director of Operations). The RMBs are required to produce an 
annual report submitted to the Director of Operations by 31st May each year. 
Other aspects of regional working include the Regional Joint Committees, 
Regional Operation Groups and a lead authority for each region.  
 

3.14 There is no legislation underpinning Foster Wales. Existing regional meetings 
link to the national Lead Heads of Children’s Services meeting which in turn 
reports to the Joint Committee. 
 

4. Principles of Delegation 
4.1. The scheme of delegation has a number of principles that underpin the 

approach adopted so that the transfer of responsibility for a task or function 
from the Joint Committee, Board Meeting or Director of Operations does not 
change the overall accountability. 

• The Joint Committee, Combined Governance Board LHOC’s meeting 
and the Director of Operations remain accountable for all their functions, 
even those they have delegated. In order to be assured that the 
responsibilities that they have delegated are being discharged properly 
they require information about the exercise of those functions. 
Appropriate management oversight must be exercised to ensure there is 
sharing of delegated decisions. 

• In order to make sound decisions, the authority to take decisions must 
be supported by appropriate skills and knowledge. Those exercising 
delegated decision-making powers must be made aware of the 
decisions that have been delegated to them, the limits of their authority 
and have access to relevant advice if appropriate. 

• A record of delegated decisions will be kept and shared with the Joint 
Committee and the Combined Governance Board. The frequency of the 
information to be received will be determined by the Joint Committee 
and Board but should not be less than quarterly.  Where a decision has 
been formally delegated to the Director of Operations by the Joint 
Committee or the Combined Governance Board, the decision to 
delegate will be recorded in the Committee or Board minutes. The 
decision and its outcome will then be contained in a separate section 
within the Director of Operations’ Quarterly Report to the following 

Tud. 181



 
 

48 

 

Combined Governance Board. An equivalent process will be developed 
for Foster Wales 

• If the post holder for a delegated decision is absent the line manager will 
be expected to make the decision. Should the decision be urgent, and a 
matter delegated to the Director of Operations the Chair of the 
Combined Governance Board will be able to make the decision in 
consultation with the Board and, in the case of the absence of the 
Director of Operations, the relevant staff reporting to the Director of 
Operations. 

• Where a delegated decision is viewed by the postholder as requiring 
further discussion due to the sensitivity of the issue they should consider 
approaching the Director of Operations for advice. In the case of the 
Director of Operations this would involve the Chair of the Joint 
Committee or the Combined Governance Board as appropriate. 

 
5. Variation, ownership and review of the scheme 

5.1. The constitution of the Joint Committee includes authority to delegate a 
function to an officer (Schedule 1, paragraph 25). Variations to the Scheme of 
delegation will be approved by the Joint Committee and any deviation from it 
must be approved by the Joint Committee, with such deviations being 
reported to the next meeting.  

5.2. For administrative purposes, the Director of Operations, on behalf of the Joint 
Committee, is the manager of the Scheme of Delegation and will keep the 
scheme under review in consultation with the Joint Committee Monitoring 
Officer who will be required to comment on the proposals. Any suggested 
amendments will be subject to consultation with the Combined Governance 
Board.   Any proposed changes will be submitted to the Joint Committee 
unless authority to amend the scheme is delegated to the Combined 
Governance Board. If delegation occurs any changes to the Scheme of 
Delegation will be reported to the next Joint Committee. 

5.3. However, the Scheme will be updated as often as is necessary to ensure it 
remains current, following review and consultation in accordance with 
paragraph 5.2. 

 
 
 
Part Two  
The Joint Committee, the Combined Governance Board, Regional 
Collaboratives, Lead Heads of Children’s Services meeting and Director of 
Operations 

a. The Joint Committee 
1. The Agreement for the Establishment of a Joint Committee for the 

National Adoption Service indicates Welsh Councils have agreed to 
establish and participate in a joint committee to facilitate the delivery 
of the Specified and Agreed Functions with a view to their 
economical, efficient and effective discharge.  

2. The Joint Committee is specifically responsible for:  
a. The overall scheme of delegation. 
b. establishing and delivering the NAS and Foster Wales strategic aims and 

objectives consistent with its overall strategic direction and within the 
agreed Welsh Government policy. 

c.  strategic direction and decisions as submitted by the Combined 
Governance Board and LHOC’s meeting.   

d. ensuring that the responsible minister is kept informed of any changes 
which are likely to impact on NAS strategic direction or the delivery of the 

Tud. 182



 
 

49 

 

obligations set out in the Adoption and Children Act 2002 (Joint Adoption 
Arrangements) (Wales) Directions 2015. 

 
b. The Combined Governance Board 

3. The terms of reference of the Combined Governance Board (the 
Board) indicates the overall role is to provide strategic direction and 
decisions for submission to the Joint Committee to facilitate the 
delivery and improvement of adoption services on Wales through 
the National Adoption Service (NAS) arrangements. 

4. The Board also holds the Regional Collaboratives and the Director 
of Operations and central team accountable for delivery and 
performance of their services within the NAS arrangements. 

5. The Board is responsible for ensuring the Director of Operations has 
adequate resources to discharge the Specified Functions and 
deliver an effective NAS. In coming to a decision whether to 
recommend this to the Joint committee the Board will rely on the 
advice of the Director of Operations. 

 
c. Regional Collaboratives 

6. The Regional Collaboratives must provide an annual report to the Director of 
Operations by 31st May covering 

a. The performance of the regional collaborative against the performance 
measures in the National Performance Management Framework 

b. An analysis of the implementation of the annual work programme and 
plans to address any under-performance 

c. Plans to develop the adoption service within the region in accordance 
with the national business priorities 

d. Information regarding the resolution of complaints and determination 
of disputes at local and regional level and any impact on the provision 
of adoption services 

7. The Scheme of Delegation recognises that the Director of Operations will 
need to act on behalf of the Combined Governance Board and the Joint 
Committee when working with the Regional Collaboratives. 

8. The Scheme of Delegation recognises that the Director of Operations is not 
only a member of the Combined Governance Board but is also the principal 
professional advisor on delivery and improvement of adoption services in 
Wales through the National Adoption Service arrangements. This will include 
providing advice to the Joint Committee and Combined Governance Board on 
the Regional Collaborative arrangements including reporting on the position 
to the Board based on the reports that Regional Collaboratives must provide 
to the Director of Operations by 31st May of each year 
 
d. The Director of Operations 

7. The scheme of delegation will operate to enable the Director of Operations to 
carry out the following Specified and Agreed Functions: 

a. Providing leadership to set the direction for NAS including strategic 
planning by agreeing priorities, targets and resourcing following 
engagement with partners and stakeholders as well as support to 
operational planning. 

b. Reviewing progress including analysis of performance data and 
service information from the regions and VAA’s. 

c. Providing annual and mid-year reports each year for agreement by the 
Combined Governance Board, Joint Committee, and submission to 

Tud. 183



 
 

50 

 

Welsh Ministers as well as to WLGA and ADSS-C where required; 
and 

d. Providing specific functions nationally to support and enable NAS 
operations including those outlined in the table below. 

 

 
MATTERS DELEGATED BY THE JOINT COMMITTEE TO THE DIRECTOR OF 
OPERATIONS. (The delivery of these delegated functions will be overseen on 
a day-to-day basis by the Combined Governance Board for NAS and the 
Lead Heads of Services meeting for Foster Wales) 

 

Strategic Direction and Business Planning  
The Director of Operations is responsible for: 

• Overseeing the development of the annual programme of work and 
budget for the National Adoption Service (incl. Foster Wales).  This 
will include a medium term (3 year) financial plan accompanied by the 
assumptions on which longer term planning is based 

• A half year and full year progress report for the Welsh Ministers and 
the Welsh Government with required oversight of the Combined 
Governance Board and the Joint Committee. 

Financial Management, Commissioning, Propriety and Value for Money  
The Director of Operations is responsible for: 

• Ensuring the NAS stays within its overall budget 

• Ensuring the NAS operates within the financial regulations of the Host 
Council 

• Signing agreements or other documents on behalf of the Joint 
Committee and/or the Combined Governance Board 

• Securing appropriate resourcing through new/additional finance or 
reprofiling of existing as well as managing the central team allocation, 
grants and investment 

• Ensuring the NAS complies with any requirements to publish 
information as required by legislation and the Welsh Government 

• Approving the level of delegation for non-pay expenditure within the 
overall delegation scheme as approved by the Joint Committee and/or 
the Combined Governance Board 

• Approving those posts as having the responsibility of Budget Holder 

• Authorising contracts up to £1m, and in excess of £1m in conjunction 
with the Combined Governance Board 

• Taking overall responsibility for the control of the NAS’s fixed assets 

• Ensures the Host Council’s agreed systems of control are applied within 
the NAS to protect against fraud and losses including data losses 

• Strategic Commissioning as necessary for the discharge of functions 

• Ensuring all staff are aware that the NAS operates within the Host 
Council’s:  

o Financial Regulations and procedures.  
o Contract Standing Orders and any Procurement guidelines 

issued by the Host; and 
o Human Resources guidance and procedures 

 

Risk Management and Assurance  

Tud. 184



 
 

51 

 

The Director of Operations is responsible for: 

• Ensuring the risks to the Annual Plan are identified, assessed, 
managed and escalated where necessary in accordance with the Host 
Council’s risk management policy 

• Monitoring, controlling and assuring the Joint Committee and Combined 
Governance Board of the business and regulatory risks for which they 
are responsible 

Information and Information Governance 
The Director of Operations is responsible for: 

• Understanding and addressing the risks to the information assets under 
their control or delegated to them by the Joint Committee and/or 
Combined Governance Board 

• Providing assurance to the Host Council’s SIRO on the security and 
use of information assets 

• Ensuring data is managed in accordance with the requirements of the 
Data Protection Act 1998 

• Approving the release of information about the provision of National 
Adoption Services  

• Establishing and maintaining a website for the National Adoption 
Service for Wales 

• Promotion of adoption, including PR and marketing and the provision of 
the ‘face and voice’ of adoption in Wales 

• Management of the Adoption Register for Wales (under contract from 
the Welsh Government 

• Maintaining arrangements for service user engagement across Wales 
 

Dispute Resolution 
The Director of Operations is responsible for: 

• Producing and implementing a plan to resolve any dispute that arises in 
relation to any aspect of the Agreement for the Establishment of a Joint 
Committee for the National Adoption Service 

 

Regional Arrangements and Regional Collaboratives 

• Advising the Joint Committee and/or the Combined Governance Board 
on the working arrangements for the Regional Collaboratives  

• Leadership, matrix management oversight, advice and support to 
regions and VAA’s 

• Maintaining arrangements for national governance and allied sub/task & 
finish groups to engage stakeholders in carrying out the actions/work 
agreed by the Combined Governance Board 

 

Tud. 185



 

CABINET CYNGOR GWYNEDD 

 

 

Adroddiad i gyfarfod Cabinet Cyngor Gwynedd 

 

1. Y PENDERFYNIAD A GEISIR 
 
1.1 Gofynnir i’r Cabinet dderbyn yr adroddiad gerbron sy’n adrodd ar waith y Panel 

Strategol Diogelu ar gyfer y flwyddyn 2021-22. 
 

2. Y RHESWM DROS YR ANGEN AM BENDERFYNIAD 
 

2.1. Mae’n hanfodol bod aelodau’r Cabinet yn ymwybodol o waith y Panel ar ddiogelu 
ac yn gallu bodloni eu hunain bod y Panel wedi ymgymryd â’r gwaith sydd ei angen 
yn drylwyr a chydwybodol. 
 

2.2. Mae gofyn i’r Cyfarwyddwr Statudol adrodd yn gyson a rheolaidd i aelodau ar 
faterion diogelu. 
 

3. CEFNDIR 
 

3.1. Pwrpas yr adroddiad hwn yw darparu diweddariad ar yr hyn sydd wedi’i gyflawni 
gan y Panel Strategol Diogelu yn ystod y cyfnod. 
 

3.2. Credir i’r adroddiad grynhoi gwaith y Panel yn gywir a theg, gan hefyd gynnwys 
cyfeiriadau at adroddiadau neu sylwadau gan archwilwyr allanol ar y gwaith hwn. 
 

 
4. Barn y Swyddogion Statudol: 

 
 

i) Y Swyddog Monitro: 
 
Fel aelod o’r Panel rwy’n croesawu’r adroddiad sydd yn grynodeb priodol o’r 
gwaith  Mae’n gyfrwng i roi sicrwydd i’r Cabinet ynglŷn â’r cyfrifoldeb 
allweddol yma. 

 
ii) Y Pennaeth Cyllid:  

 
Dim i’w ychwanegu o safbwynt priodoldeb ariannol. 

Dyddiad y cyfarfod: 29 Mawrth 2022 

Aelod Cabinet: Y Cynghorydd Dilwyn Morgan 

Swyddog Cyswllt: Morwena Edwards, Cyfarwyddwr Corfforaethol 

Teitl yr Eitem: Adroddiad Blynyddol y Panel Strategol Diogelu 2021-22 

Tud. 186

Eitem 9



 
 
 

 

Tud. 187



1 
 

 

ADRODDIAD PANEL STRATEGOL DIOGELU 

2021-22 

  

Tud. 188



2 
 

1. CYFLWYNIAD 

 

1.1 Pwrpas yr adroddiad hwn yw cyflwyno trosolwg o waith y Panel Strategol Diogelu dros y 

cyfnod Ionawr 2021 – Mawrth 2022, gan roi darlun clir a theg o’r gwaith a gyflawnwyd, a 

chrynhoi barn archwilwyr allanol ar y gwaith. 

 

1.2 Bydd yr adroddiad yn amlinellu’r gwaith a gyflawnwyd gan y Cyngor ei hun, a chan y 

Cyngor mewn partneriaeth ag eraill, yn ystod y cyfnod o dan sylw. Os oes gwybodaeth 

am waith diogelu gan y Cyngor eisoes wedi ei gyhoeddi, megis yn Adroddiad Blynyddol y 

Cyfarwyddwr Gwasanaethau Cymdeithasol, gan archwilwyr allanol, neu gan sefydliadau 

eraill, rydym yn cyfeirio’r darllenydd at y dogfennau hynny yn hytrach nag ailadrodd yr 

wybodaeth yma. Mae rhestr o’r adroddiadau hynny i’w gweld yn Adran 8. 

 

1.3 Yn olaf, bydd yr adroddiad yn amlinellu blaenoriaethau’r Panel Strategol Diogelu ar gyfer 

y dyfodol. 

 

2. CYFRIFOLDEBAU AC ATEBOLRWYDD 

 

2.1 Nod y Panel Strategol Diogelu yw sicrhau bod trefniadau a gweithdrefnau addas yn eu 

lle ar lefel gorfforaethol ar draws y Cyngor er mwyn sicrhau diogelwch plant, pobl ifanc 

ac oedolion. Ers 2017/18 mae’r Panel hefyd yn gyfrifol am drosolwg o faterion diogelu 

ehangach ar draws Gwynedd, megis Diogelwch Cymunedol. 

 

2.2 Mae’r Panel yn ei dro yn atebol i Gyfarwyddwr Statudol y Gwasanaethau Cymdeithasol, 

sef y Cyfarwyddwr Corfforaethol yn achos y Cyngor, sydd â’r atebolrwydd terfynol am 

faterion diogelu.  

 

2.3 Cadeirydd y Panel dros y cyfnod o dan sylw oedd y Cynghorydd Dilwyn Morgan, Aelod 

Cabinet Plant a Chefnogi Teuluoedd, ac roedd yn cael ei gefnogi gan y Cyfarwyddwr 

Corfforaethol, Morwena Edwards. Mae gweddill yr aelodaeth yn cynnwys: Aelodau 

Cabinet dros Oedolion, Iechyd a Llesiant; Addysg; Cefnogaeth Gorfforaethol, 

Penaethiaid Adrannau Plant a Chefnogi Teuluoedd; Oedolion Iechyd a Llesiant; 

Cefnogaeth Gorfforaethol; Addysg; Swyddog Monitro; Rheolwr Partneriaeth Diogelwch 

Cymunedol Gwynedd a Môn, a Chadeirydd y Panel Gweithredol Diogelu.  

 

2.4 Mae’r Panel Gweithredol Diogelu yn cefnogi’r Panel Strategol i weithredu ei 

flaenoriaethau ac i ymdrin â materion gweithredol ac ymarferol y maes gwaith. Panel 

mewnol o swyddogion yw hwn, gyda phencampwr diogelu pob adran o’r Cyngor yn 

eistedd arno, a hynny er mwyn sicrhau perchnogaeth Cyngor cyfan o faterion diogelu. 

 

Tud. 189

https://www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/cy/Cyngor/Dogfennau-Cyngor/Perfformiad-y-Cyngor/Adroddiad-Blynyddol-y-Cyfarwyddwr-Gwasanaethau-Cymdeithasol-2020-21.pdf
https://www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/cy/Cyngor/Dogfennau-Cyngor/Perfformiad-y-Cyngor/Adroddiad-Blynyddol-y-Cyfarwyddwr-Gwasanaethau-Cymdeithasol-2020-21.pdf


3 
 

2.5 Mae perfformiad y Cyngor yn y maes diogelu yn cael ei asesu gan archwilwyr allanol 

annibynnol fel rhan o’u gwaith o asesu perfformiad ehangach. Mae dolenni i 

adroddiadau gan archwilwyr allanol i’w gweld yn Adran 8. 

 

3 . CYNNYDD YN ERBYN Y MATERION DIOGELU 

 

3.1 Mae’r cyfnod dan sylw wedi bod yn gyfnod tu hwnt o heriol i’r maes Diogelu, yn bennaf 

yn sgil Covid-19 a’r heriau sy’n ymwneud â’r feirws. Er gwaethaf hynny, mae’r Panel 

Strategol Diogelu wedi parhau i gynnal cyfarfodydd ar-lein a symud yr agenda yn ei 

flaen.  

 

3.2 Diogelu Plant 

 

3.21 Mae’r flwyddyn a fu wedi bod yn heriol i’r Adran Plant a Chefnogi Teuluoedd oherwydd 

materion yn ymwneud â Covid-19 gan gynnwys cyfnodau clo, recriwtio a chadw staff, a 

phwysau gwaith. 

 

3.22 Mae’n wir dweud bod y pwysau gwaith ar y gwasanaeth wedi bod yn llethol yn ystod y 

flwyddyn. Mae staff wedi bod yn gweithio oriau hir, a teg dweud bod nifer o staff wedi 

teimlo’r pwysau hyn.  Er gwaethaf hyn oll, mae’r gwasanaeth wedi parhau i weithredu 

trefniadau diogelu. 

 

3.23 Fodd bynnag, roedd pwysau Covid-19 ar staff wedi golygu bod yr Adran Plant a Chefnogi 
Teuluoedd yn ei chael yn anodd recriwtio a chadw staff cymwysedig. O ganlyniad, 
comisiynwyd unigolyn i wneud darn o waith yn y maes, a gobeithir cyflawni’r gwaith 
hwn erbyn Ebrill 2022. 

 

3.24 Erbyn ail hanner 2021, roedd Gweithwyr Cymdeithasol yn gwneud cysylltiadau wyneb 
yn wyneb, ynghyd â chysylltiadau gyda’r bobl ifanc sydd wedi gadael gofal y Cyngor. 
Gwaetha’r modd roedd Cynadleddau Achos Amddiffyn Plant yn parhau i gael eu cynnal 
yn rhithiol. 

 

3.25 Er gwaethaf Covid-19, roedd ymateb i gyfeiriadau yn ymwneud â materion diogelu yn y 
Gwasanaeth Plant yn 99% ar ddiwedd y flwyddyn. Roedd cyfradd yr asesiadau risg a 
gafodd eu cyflwyno i Gynadleddau Achos a oedd yn cael eu hystyried yn rhai a oedd yn 
dangos ansawdd wrth wneud penderfyniadau hefyd yn 99%. 

 

3.26 Ar ddiwedd y flwyddyn roedd 49 o blant ar y Gofrestr Amddiffyn Plant, a derbyniwyd 
5,265 o gyfeiriadau newydd rhwng Ebrill a Rhagfyr 2021. 

 

3.27 Yn ystod y flwyddyn lleihaodd nifer y plant mewn gofal i 269, gyda 39 yn dod i mewn i 
ofal a 61 yn gadael gofal. 

 

Tud. 190



4 
 

 

3.23 Diogelu Oedolion 
 
3.31 Yn dilyn cynnydd sylweddol yn nifer yr adroddiadau diogelu sydd wedi eu cyflwyno yn 

nechrau’r flwyddyn, sefydlogodd y niferoedd yn ystod ail hanner 2021, a bellach mae 
oddeutu 50 adroddiad yn cael eu cyflwyno’n fisol. 

 
3.32 Nid oes themâu penodol yn yr adroddiadau ond mae esgeulustod yn un o’r prif fathau 

o gamdriniaeth sydd wedi ei adrodd yn ystod y flwyddyn. 
 

3.33 Mae diffyg dealltwriaeth o ran yr angen i unigolyn ganiatáu i’r adroddiad yn parhau i 
achosi problemau. Mae’n hanfodol bod unigolion yn ganolog i’r broses – mae modd 
gwrthod unrhyw ymyrraeth os oes capasiti. 

 

3.34 Mae’r canllawiau yn nodi bod angen cwblhau ymholiadau cychwynnol o fewn 7 diwrnod 
gwaith. Mae’r Uned Ddiogelu wedi bod yn cyflawni oddeutu 94% o’r ymholiadau yn yr 
amser yma yn gyson. Ond, gwelwyd dirywiad sylweddol yn ystod chwarter olaf y 
flwyddyn, ac mae’r amser ymateb o fewn y gofyn statudol wedi gostwng i 75%. Mae’n 
ymddangos bod cyfuniad o resymau am hyn – diffyg adrodd yn gywir ond yn bennaf, 
oediad asiantaethau mewn ymateb o fewn yr amserlen. Mae’r pandemig wedi rhoi 
pwysau sylweddol ar asiantaethau ac er bod gwaith yn cael ei wneud i sicrhau diogelwch 
unigolion, mae oediad mewn derbyn y wybodaeth a’r dystiolaeth angenrheidiol i gau’r 
ymholiad.  

 

3.35 Yn sgil Covid-19, bu pryder nad oedd modd cynnal ymweliadau monitro i gartrefi’r Sir, 
gyda phedwar cartref o dan y drefn ‘Pryderon Cynyddol’ oherwydd rhesymau’n 
amrywio o ddiffyg rheolaeth, problem dogfennaeth, pryder bathio a diffyg trosolwg. Sgil 
effaith hyn yw bod gwelyau yn wag yn y cartrefi yn ystod y cyfnod hwn. Roedd embargo 
wedi ei roi ar fynediadau newydd yn ystod y cyfnod hwn, oedd yn golygu bod gwelyau 
yn wag yn y cartrefi yn ystod y cyfnod. Mae’r embargo wedi codi mewn tri o’r cartrefi 
erbyn hyn ac mae’r gwlâu bellach wedi eu llenwi. 

 

3.36 Bu pryder am y gwasanaeth DoLS (trefniadau diogelu wrth amddifadu o ryddid) yn ystod 
y flwyddyn gan fod 550 ar y rhestr aros ar un pwynt. Fodd bynnag, cafwyd bid 
llwyddiannus am £100,000 gan y Llywodraeth i gyfarch y rhestr aros. Bu i’r Adran 
gomisiynu asiantaeth i gwblhau asesiadau ar eu rhan ac ymestyn cytundeb dwy asesydd 
budd gorau o fewn y tîm. Bydd y rhestr aros wedi lleihau’n sylweddol erbyn diwedd 
Mawrth 2022. 

 

 
3.24 Addysg 

 

3.41 Roedd yn rhaid i ysgolion gau am gyfnodau yn ystod 2021 oherwydd Covid-19. Wrth 

reswm. Arweiniodd hyn at blant a phobl ifanc y sir yn symud i ddysgu rhithwir neu 

addysgu o gartref. 

Tud. 191



5 
 

 

3.42 Yn ychwanegol, dewisodd rhai rhieni i barhau i addysgu eu plant gartref pan y bu i’r 

ysgolion ail agor. Er bod y niferoedd yn gymharol isel, roedd cynnydd yn ystod cyfnod 

Covid-19 yn y nifer o ddisgyblion sydd yn cael eu haddysgu gartref, roedd y cynnydd yn 

fwy ymysg teuluoedd bregus. 

 

3.43 Prif resymau y rhieni dros addysgu eu plant o gartref oedd pryder am faterion Covid-19, 

gan gynnwys yr elfen gwisgo gorchuddion wyneb. Gyda’r ysgolion ar agor ar athrawon 

yn dysgu drwy’r dydd doedd dim opsiwn o gael gwersi ar-lein 

 

3.44 Yn ystod y cyfnodau hyn, bu swyddogion yn yr Adrannau Addysg a Phlant a Chefnogi 

Teuluoedd yn parhau i ddilyn y canllawiau addysgu a diogelu cyfredol er mwyn cadw 

cyswllt gyda phlant a theuluoedd oedd yn dewis addysgu o gartref.  

 

3.45 Maes o law, mae Llywodraeth Cymru yn bwriadu deddfu’r angen i gofrestru plentyn os 

ydynt am dderbyn addysg o gartref. 

 

3.46 Yn sgil dyfodiad gwefan Everyone’s Invited, rhoddwyd sylw i’r maes aflonyddu rhywiol 

mewn ysgolion yn ystod y flwyddyn. Er bod pwyslais yn cael ei roi ar ddiogelu merched 

mewn ysgolion, mae hefyd angen gweithredu’n adweithiol a mynd i’r afael â’r diwylliant 

misogynistaidd ymysg bechgyn er mwyn mynd i wraidd y broblem. 

 

3.47 Yn deillio o’r pryder o aflonyddu rhywiol, rhoddwyd sylw i’r maes cydraddoldeb mewn 

ysgolion, ac fe sicrhawyd bid unwaith ac am byth i gael pencampwr yn y maes addysg i 

edrych ar faterion megis LGBT, tlodi ac urddas mislif, lle bydd cynsail yn cael ei osod ar 

gyfer gweithredu yn y dyfodol. 

 

3.25 Trais yn y Cartref 

 

3.51 Roedd pryder cenedlaethol y byddai trais yn y cartref ar gynnydd yn genedlaethol yn 

sgil Covid-19. Y llynedd, nodwyd bod nifer yr achosion yn isel yng Ngwynedd. Fodd 

bynnag, yn anffodus mae data gan yr Heddlu yn dangos cynnydd yn y niferoedd o 

droseddau domestig yng Ngwynedd yn ystod y ddau chwarter diwethaf. Mae cynnydd 

o 21.4% yn Chwarter 3, sydd ychydig yn uwch na’r cynnydd a welwyd ar draws Gogledd 

Cymru gyfan (18.9%) am yr un cyfnod. Yn ddiweddar, adroddwyd yn y Bwrdd 

Bregusrwydd a Chamfanteisio Rhanbarthol fod darparwyr arbenigol trais yn y cartref 

wedi gweld cynnydd o 35-40% mewn cyfeiriadau.  

 

3.52 Mae cydweithrediad da rhwng y Cyngor a’r Mudiadau perthnasol ac mae ymdrechion i 

godi ymwybyddiaeth o adrodd am drais yn y cartref yn parhau. Bydd y mater yma yn 

Tud. 192



6 
 

cael ffocws yn ystod cyfarfodydd nesaf y Bartneriaeth, er mwyn sicrhau ein bod yn 

gwneud digon i gael negeseuon allan i’r cyhoedd. 

 

3.53 Mae llawer o sylw wedi’i roi i Drais yn y Cartref yn genedlaethol yn y flwyddyn 

ddiwethaf, ac mae pryder bod gwir nifer y bobl sydd wedi cael eu cam-drin yn y cartref 

yn uwch na’r hyn sy’n cael ei adrodd oherwydd Covid-19. Felly bydd angen cadw llygad 

ar y maes hwn yn y blynyddoedd nesaf a sicrhau bod negeseuon i godi ymwybyddiaeth 

yn cael eu rhannu’n gyson. 

 

3.54 Fis Rhagfyr 2021, cyhoeddodd Llywodraeth Cymru ymgynghoriad ar ei Strategaeth 

Genedlaethol trais yn erbyn menywod, cam-drin domestig a thrais rhywiol. Bwriad yr 

ymgynghoriad oedd edrych y prif flaenoriaethau i atal y trais hwn, ynghyd ag 

egwyddorion y dull gweithredu, gan gynnwys sut bydd Llywodraeth Cymru yn gweithio 

gyda’i bartneriaid. Disgwylir i ganlyniad yr ymgynghoriad gael ei gyhoeddi yn 2022. 

 

3.55 Unwaith eto eleni, ymdrechwyd i annog aelodau staff i gwblhau’r e-fodiwl Trais yn y 

Cartref. Mae sicrhau bod staff wedi derbyn yr hyfforddiant hwn yn hollbwysig er mwyn 

sicrhau bod y Cyngor yn gwneud popeth o fewn ei allu i gefnogi unigolion ac i godi 

ymwybyddiaeth. 

 

3.56 Erbyn diwedd y flwyddyn, roedd 3,258 wedi cwblhau’r e-fodiwl. Mae hyn yn gynnydd o 

1,481 ers yr un cyfnod y llynedd (1,777). Er bod cynnydd wedi’i wneud, dim ond 49% o 

holl weithlu’r Cyngor sydd wedi cwblhau’r e-fodiwl, felly rhaid parhau i hyrwyddo ei 

bwysigrwydd a chynyddu nifer yr aelodau staff sy’n ei gwblhau. 

 

3.57 Yn yr un modd, eleni bu’r hyfforddiant Gofyn a Gweithredu yn parhau i gael ei ddarparu 

ar-lein i’r adrannau Addysg; Oedolion, Iechyd a Llesiant, a Phlant a Chefnogi Teuluoedd. 

Mae rhaglen o ddigwyddiadau yn ei lle, fydd yn cael ei chyflwyno gan Gadeirydd a 

Chydlynydd Amddiffyn Plant a Chydlynydd Diogelu Oedolion  mewn partneriaeth gyda 

RASAC Gogledd Cymru ar gyfer staff sector gofal; a gan Uwch Swyddog Diogelu Plant a 

Rheolwr Dysgu a Datblygu’r Sefydliad Cyngor Gwynedd mewn partneriaeth â Hafan 

Cymru ar gyfer staff y sector addysg. 

 

3.58 Oherwydd y cymhlethdod o gyflwyno’r hyfforddiant Gofyn a Gweithredu ar y cyd, 

ynghyd â chapasiti staff y Cyngor i’w gyflwyno, yn y dyfodol gallwn brynu i mewn gan 

ddarparwyr allanol. Mae rhaglen wrthi’n cael ei chynllunio ar gyfer hyn. Mae’r Adrannau 

Plant ac Oedolion yn awyddus i barhau i redeg rhai sesiynau ar gyfer staff sector gofal 

mewn partneriaeth â RASAC Cymru gan bod canran sylweddol o waith y gweithlu hwn 

yn aml yn ymwneud â theuluoedd ble mae camdriniaeth domestig yn bresennol.  

 

Tud. 193



7 
 

3.59 Yn ogystal, rhoddir trefniadau ar waith i hyfforddi rhai gweithwyr i Lefel 3: Gofyn a 

Gweithredu yn ystod y flwyddyn 2022. Cyn cwblhau Lefel 2, mae’ ofynnol bod 

gweithwyr wedi cwblhau’r e-fodiwl.  

 

3.60 Rhaid cofio nad oes gan bob aelod staff y Cyngor fynediad rhwydd i systemau TG y 

Cyngor, ac hefyd mae’n anodd gofyn i staff achlysurol ymroi i gwblhau e-fodiwlau. Mae’r 

gwasanaeth Dysgu a Datblygu’r Sefydliad yn cydweithio’n agos gydag Adrannau megis 

Priffyrdd a Bwrdeistrefol er mwyn adnabod ffyrdd gwahanol o gyrraedd staff rheng-

flaen sydd heb fynediad TG. Mae trosiant staff yn uchel hefyd, sy’n cael effaith ar y 

cyfanswm sy’n cwblhau’r hyfforddiant.  

 

3.61 Gweler fideo gan Carey Cartwright, Rheolwr Dysgu a Datblygu Cyngor Gwynedd, yn 

pwysleisio pwysigrwydd y maes Diogelu: 

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Q5Kjl8cv0W4 

 

3.26  Troseddu 

 

3.61 O ganlyniad i’r cyfnodau clo yn ystod y flwyddyn, gwelwyd gostyngiad yn nifer y 

troseddau, o bob math, a adroddwyd i'r Heddlu. Gwelwyd y gostyngiad mwyaf 

sylweddol mewn troseddau meddiangar o bob math, a throseddau treisgar. Yn dilyn 

codi cyfyngiadau Covid, cynyddodd nifer y troseddau yn araf i’r niferoedd a adroddwyd 

cyn y cyfnod clo mawr, ond nid pob un (e.e. byrgleriaeth breswyl, troseddau cerbyd). 

 

3.62 Gwelwyd cynnydd yn y nifer o droseddau casineb ar sail hil, sydd wedi bod yn 

gysylltiedig i raddau helaeth â thensiynau rhwng unigolion sy’n arwain at gam-drin 

geiriol, sydd yn anffodus yn cael ei weld ledled y wlad wrth fod symudiadau pobl yn 

ystod cyfyngiadau Covid yn gallu achosi ffrithiant. Mae’r diffiniad cenedlaethol o 

droseddau casineb, fel y defnyddiwyd gan yr Heddlu, yn cynnwys gwahaniaethu ar hil 

unigolyn gan gynnwys gwledydd y DU, h.y. Cymraeg/Saesneg, felly dyma sut y 

recordiwyd digwyddiadau o’r fath. 

 

3.27 Caethwasiaeth Fodern a Datganiad Cyflogaeth Foesegol mewn Cadwyni Cyflenwi  

3.71 Yng nghyfarfod y Bartneriaeth Diogelwch Cymunedol yn yr hydref, nododd yr Heddlu 

bod achosion Caethwasiaeth Fodern oedd ar y gweill yn yr ardal yn ymwneud yn 

bennaf â cham-fanteisio cyffuriau, ac yn deillio’n bennaf o weithwyr ar ffermydd 

canabis a gwladolion tramor yn cael eu masnachu trwy Borthladd Caergybi at 

ddibenion gweithio yn y DU.  

3.8   Gwrthderfysgaeth 

Tud. 194

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Q5Kjl8cv0W4


8 
 

3.81 Ym mis Rhagfyr 2020, derbyniwyd y Proffil Lleol Gwrthderfysgaeth mwyaf diweddar ar 

gyfer Cymru, a oedd yn edrych ar faterion risg mewn perthynas â gwrthderfysgaeth. 

Drwy’r Proffil hwn, cafodd Gwynedd ei adnabod fel rhanbarth sydd â lefel risg isel; er 

hynny, mae nod i barhau i godi ymwybyddiaeth yn y maes. Rydym yn rhagweld y bydd 

Proffil newydd ar gael yn fuan, a bydd ein cynlluniau yn cael ei diweddaru pan fo’n 

amserol. 

3.82 Ym mis Medi 2021, sefydlodd Cyngor Gwynedd Grŵp Mannau Cyhoeddus: Parodrwydd 

i Amddiffyn a Diogelu. Pwrpas y Grŵp yw: 

 Cydweithio gyda sefydliadau er mwyn darparu trefniadau diogelwch amddiffynnol 

effeithiol ac effeithlon yng Ngwynedd 

 Darparu ymdriniaeth diogelwch integredig, sy’n cyd-fynd â’r safonau a’r canllawiau 

cenedlaethol, i adnabod a darparu camau gweithredu cymesur er mwyn cadw 

cymunedau Gwynedd yn ddiogel 

 Gwella a chefnogi’r parodrwydd i amddiffyn a diogelu mewn lleoliadau cyhoeddus 

hygyrch yng Ngwynedd. 

 

3.9 Atal/Prevent  

 

3.91 Yn niwedd 2020, bu gwaith yn mynd rhagddo i ddod â Chynllun Atal/Prevent at ei gilydd. 

Roedd Gwynedd yn ardal risg isel mewn perthynas â radicaleiddio ac eithafiaeth; er 

hynny, roedd angen amlygu’r ffactorau risg. 

 

3.92 Cadarnhaodd y Swyddfa Gartref mai unigolion yn gweithio ar eu liwt eu hunain oedd y 

risg uchaf yng Ngwynedd mewn perthynas ag ideolegau cymysg amhenodol.  

 

3.93 Yn sgil y Cynllun Atal, eleni rydym wedi dechrau cydweithio gydag Ymgynghorydd 

Rhanbarthol Atal Gogledd Cymru o fewn y Swyddfa Gartref er mwyn asesu’r risgiau’n 

barhaus a rhannu gwybodaeth. 

 

3.10 Y Gwasanaeth Datgelu a Gwahardd (DBS) 

 

3.10.1 Mae’r Gwasanaeth Datgelu a Gwahardd (DBS) yn gyfrifol am brosesu gwiriadau 

troseddol. Eleni, gyda chymorth y Grŵp Gweithredol, mae’r Panel Strategol wedi 

canolbwyntio ar ddeall y drefn DBS yn well a datblygu’r system brosesu.  

 

3.10.2 Pwrpas gwiriadau DBS yw cynorthwyo cyflogwyr i wneud penderfyniadau recriwtio a 

thrwyddedu mwy diogel, ond dim ond un rhan o arfer recriwtio yw gwiriad. Pan fydd 

gwiriad wedi'i brosesu gan y DBS a'i gwblhau, bydd yr ymgeisydd yn derbyn tystysgrif 

DBS. 

 

Tud. 195



9 
 

3.10.3 Bu’r Grŵp Gweithredol yn ymgymryd â gwaith sylweddol i wirio, herio ac ailymweld â’r 

drefn gorfforaethol o ran y DBS. O ganlyniad, mae Adrannau bellach yn perchnogi mwy 

ar y trefniadau DBS ac mae hyn wedi trawsnewid sut mae’r Grŵp Gweithredol yn 

adrodd ar ei gydymffurfiaeth ar ddadleniadau adrannol. Mae hyn yn golygu bod modd 

adrodd yn adrannol, fel sydd wedi’i nodi yn y tabl isod: 

3.10.4 Wrth archwilio’r broses DBS gyfredol, mynegodd yr Adran Addysg ddymuniad i symud i 
drefn DBS wahanol, yn bennaf oherwydd cludadwyedd bob DBS, a bod y drefn gyfredol 
drwy Lerpwl yn cymryd oddeutu chwe wythnos, sy’n llawer rhy hir. 

 

3.10.5 Yn sgil Covid-19, er mwyn cael gweithwyr brys mewn lle mor ddiymdroi â phosib, roedd 
ffurflenni DBS brys yn cael eu hanfon at Gyngor Powys i’w prosesu drwy’r drefn E-bulk 
rhwng mis Mawrth 2020 a Hydref 2021.  

 

3.10.6 Mae tystiolaeth wedi dangos bod y wybodaeth angenrheidiol yn cael ei ddychwelyd o 
fewn 3 diwrnod ar gyfer staff argyfwng gofal. Yn ogystal, mae’r gyfradd gwallau yn 
0.02% wrth ddefnyddio E-bulk, o’i gymharu â 10.8% gyda’n trefn arferol. 

 

3.10.7 O ganlyniad i effaith gadarnhaol defnyddio E-bulk drwy Gyngor Powys, penderfynwyd y 
dylai Cyngor Gwynedd ddefnyddio system E-bulk, gan osod cerrig milltir yn y camau 
comisiynu a fyddai’n rhoi cyfle i adlewyrchu ar y system. 

 

3.10.8 Yr unig bryder o ddefnyddio’r system E-bulk oedd nad oedd ar gael drwy gyfrwng y 
Gymraeg. Fodd bynnag, yn dilyn rhoi pwysau ar berchnogion y system, bydd ar gael yn 
y Gymraeg yn fuan. 

 

3.10.9 Erbyn diwedd y flwyddyn, roedd system E-bulk yn cael ei ddefnyddio gan Gyngor 
Gwynedd, gyda phob cais yn cael ei brosesu drwy’r system hon. Roedd hyn yn golygu 
bod defnydd o gopïau papur wedi lleihau, ynghyd â cheisiadau yn cael eu dychwelyd yn 
llawer cynt (dychwelwyd un cais o fewn diwrnod). 

 

 4.       ADOLYGIADAU YMARFER 

4.1 Mae Cymru wedi datblygu fframwaith Adolygu Dysgu Ymarfer Plant (CPR) i wella’r 

diwylliant o ddysgu gwersi o achosion amddiffyn plant. Mae adolygiadau ‘cryno’ neu 

‘estynedig’ yn bodoli yn dibynnu ar amgylchiadau’r plentyn dan sylw. Maent yn cael 

eu cynnal gan Fwrdd Rhanbarthol Diogelu Plant Gogledd Cymru gyda’r nod o ddysgu 

gwersi i’w rhannu er mwyn ceisio osgoi achosion o’r fath i’r dyfodol.  

4.2 Mae Bwrdd Rhanbarthol Diogelu Oedolion Gogledd Cymru hefyd yn cynnal 

Adolygiadau Ymarfer Oedolion, sy’n unol â Deddf Gwasanaethau Cymdeithasol a 

Tud. 196



10 
 

Llesiant (Cymru) 2014. Diben yr Adolygiadau hyn yw nodi’r gwersi sydd i’w dysgu o 

achosion Diogelu Oedolion cymhleth neu anodd, a gweithredu newidiadau i wella 

gwasanaethau yn sgil y gwersi hyn. 

 

5. GWEITHIO MEWN PARTNERIAETH 

 

5.1 Er bod y Panel Strategol Diogelu yn canolbwyntio ar gyfrifoldebau corfforaethol yn 

ymwneud â materion diogelu o fewn Gwynedd, mae hefyd yn derbyn gwybodaeth 

ac arweiniad drwy Fyrddau Diogelu Rhanbarthol ar gyfer Diogelu Plant ac Oedolion 

Bregus, sy’n gweithio ar draws gogledd Cymru. Mae’r rhain yn Fyrddau Statudol 

gydag aelodaeth draws-asiantaethol, sydd â chyfrifoldebau penodol a chyfreithiol. 

Mae’r Cyngor yn aelod o’r Byrddau hyn ac yn cyfrannu at weithredu eu cynlluniau. 

Mae gwybodaeth bellach am waith y Byrddau i’w weld yma - 

https://www.bwrdddiogelugogleddcymru.cymru/ ac mae dolenni i adroddiadau 

blynyddol y Byrddau i’w gweld yn Adran 8. 

 

5.2 Mae Partneriaeth Diogelwch Cymunedol Gwynedd a Môn hefyd wedi dangos bod 

gweithio mewn partneriaeth ar draws ffiniau siroedd yn profi’n llwyddiant. Ers y 

newid i gyfarfodydd rhithiol, mae presenoldeb wedi bod yn ardderchog ymhob 

cyfarfod ac mae pob partner yn cyfrannu’n gadarnhaol. Mae Rheolwr y Bartneriaeth 

yn eistedd ar y Panel Strategol Diogelu, ac mae gwaith y Bartneriaeth mewn meysydd 

megis Atal/Prevent yn hanfodol os yw’r Panel am sicrhau ansawdd trefniadau 

diogelu yng Ngwynedd. 

 

5.3 Mae gan nifer o sefydliadau ddyletswydd statudol i fod yn rhan o’r bartneriaeth, gan 

gynnwys yr Awdurdodau Lleol, yr Heddlu, gwasanaethau Prawf, y gwasanaeth Tân 

ac Achub a'r Bwrdd Iechyd. Mae gwybodaeth am bob agwedd ar ddiogelwch 

cymunedol y mae’r Cyngor yn ymwneud ag o ar ein gwefan. 

 

5.4 Mae gwybodaeth am Bartneriaeth Diogelwch Cymunedol Gwynedd a Môn, ynghyd 

â Chynllun Lleol Diogelwch Cymunedol 2021-22 i’w weld yma. Mae’r cynllun yn cael 

ei fonitro a’i adrodd yn  ôl i aelodau pob chwarter. Er gwaethaf effaith parhaus y 

pandemig ar flaenoriaethau gwaith ein partneriaid, mae rhan fwyaf o’r 

gweithredoedd yn datblygu’n dda. Bydd sgôp i gynnwys unrhyw weithred 

anghyflawn yn y cynllun nesaf os yn addas. 

 

5.5 Mae gofyn i’r Bartneriaeth adrodd yn ffurfiol i’r Pwyllgor Craffu Gofal yn flynyddol er 

mwyn rhoi trosolwg o brif ddatblygiadau strategol y Bartneriaeth dros y flwyddyn. Ni 

chodwyd unrhyw bryderon yn y Pwyllgor Craffu yn Ionawr 2021. 

 

Tud. 197

https://www.bwrdddiogelugogleddcymru.cymru/
https://www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/cy/Trigolion/Diogelwchcymunedol.aspx
https://www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/cy/Trigolion/Dogfennau-trigolion/Diogelwch-Cymunedol/Cynllun-Lleol-Diogelwch-Cymunedol-2021.pdf


11 
 

6. Y DYFODOL 

 

6.1 Er bod gwaith gwych yn digwydd o fewn adrannau gyda’r maes diogelu, mae’n fwriad 

gan y Panel i adlewyrchu ar drefniadau gweithio y Panel Strategol a’r Grŵp 

Gweithredol er mwyn sicrhau ein bod yn gweithredu’n effeithiol.  Bwriedir cynnal y 

gwaith hwn yn gynnar yn 2022, gan gyflwyno unrhyw newidiadau i weithrediad y grŵp 

a’r panel mewn da bryd ar gyfer cyfarfodydd haf 2022 ymlaen. 

 

6.2 O ran blaenoriaethau’r Panel ar gyfer y flwyddyn i ddod, bwriedir cael cydsyniad 

aelodau’r Panel i ganolbwyntio ar y blaenoriaethau a ganlyn: 

 Trais yn y cartref a thrais yn erbyn menywod 

 Sicrhau trefniadau priodol i ddiogelu ffoaduriaid 

 Parhau i fonitro a rheoli effaith Covid-19 ar gyfrifoldebau diogelu 

gwasanaethau 

7.     ARCHWILIADAU ANNIBYNNOL A DDERBYNIWYD YN YSTOD Y CYFNOD 

Fel ag y nodwyd eisoes, mae asiantaethau allanol yn adolygu gwaith Cyngor Gwynedd er 

mwyn sicrhau cydymffurfiaeth â safonau. Mae’r adolygiadau a gynhaliwyd yn ystod 

cyfnod yr Adroddiad hwn wedi eu rhestru isod: 

Arolygiaeth Gofal Cymru: 

 Llythyr Adolygu Perfformiad Blynyddol Awdurdod Lleol 2020/21: Cyngor Gwynedd 

 Llythyr Adolygu Perfformiad Blynyddol Awdurdod Lleol 2019/20: Cyngor Gwynedd 

 Llythyr Adolygu Perfformiad Blynyddol Awdurdod Lleol 2018/19: Cyngor Gwynedd 

 

8.    DOLENNI I DDARLLEN PELLACH 

 Adroddiad Blynyddol Cyfarwyddwr Gwasanaethau Cymdeithasol Gwynedd 2020/21 

 Adroddiad Blynyddol Bwrdd Diogelu Annibynnol Cenedlaethol Cymru 2020/21 

 Bwrdd Diogelu Gogledd Cymru – Adroddiad Blynyddol 2020/21 

 

Tud. 198

file:///C:/Users/836747/Desktop/AGC%20-%20Cyngor%20Gwynedd%20-%20Archwiliad%20Sicrwydd%20-%20Llythyr%20Canfyddiadau%20-%20Terfynol%20-%20CYM%20-%20PDF.pdf
https://arolygiaethgofal.cymru/sites/default/files/2020-07/200803-Gwynedd-cy.pdf
https://arolygiaethgofal.cymru/sites/default/files/2019-06/190628-gwynedd-cy.pdf
https://www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/cy/Cyngor/Dogfennau-Cyngor/Perfformiad-y-Cyngor/Adroddiad-Blynyddol-y-Cyfarwyddwr-Gwasanaethau-Cymdeithasol-2020-21.pdf
https://bwrdddiogelu.cymru/2021/12/02/annual-report-2020-21/
https://www.bwrdddiogelugogleddcymru.cymru/wp-content/uploads/2021/07/Annual-Report-2020-2021-Cym.pdf


Cyfarfod:  Cabinet 

Dyddiad:  29 Mawrth 2022 
 
Aelod Cabinet: Cynghorydd Ioan Thomas, Aelod Cabinet dros Gyllid, a’r 

Cynghorydd Gareth Thomas, Aelod Cabinet Datblygu'r Economi  
a Chymuned 

 
Pwnc:   Effaith Covid-19 ar Gyllideb 2022/23 Cwmni Byw’n Iach 

Swyddog Cyswllt: Dewi Morgan, Pennaeth Cyllid 
 

 
PENDERFYNIAD A GEISIR: 

Gofynnir i’r Cabinet awdurdodi’r Pennaeth Cyllid i ymestyn y cyfnod o sicrwydd a 

rhoddwyd eisoes i gwmni Byw’n Iach Cyf hyd at ddiwedd y flwyddyn ariannol 

2022/23. 

 

Cefndir 

1. Un o sgil effeithiau yr argyfwng Covid-19 yw fod incwm wedi lleihau a gwariant 

ychwanegol wedi ei wynebu gan awdurdodau lleol wrth geisio ymateb i’r argyfwng.  

 

Penderfyniad Blaenorol  

2. Yn ei gyfarfod 19 Mai 2020, ym misoedd cyntaf yr pandemig, bu’n rhaid i’r Cabinet 

ystyried sut i ddygymod gyda bwlch cyllidebol posib Cyngor Gwynedd a chwmni Byw’n 

Iach Cyf oherwydd colledion incwm sylweddol oherwydd yr argyfwng. 

3. Fodd bynnag, gan nodi byddai gan gwmni Byw’n Iach Cyf golledion ariannol o ganlyniad 

i gyfyngiadau’r argyfwng Covid-19, cadarnhaodd y Cabinet ei fod yn fodlon darparu’r 

gefnogaeth ariannol angenrheidiol i gynnal gwasanaethau cwmni’n Byw’n Iach Cyf yn 

y man cyntaf hyd at ddiwedd blwyddyn ariannol 2020/21.  

4. Penderfynwyd awdurdodi’r Pennaeth Cyllid, mewn ymgynghoriad â'r Pennaeth 

Gwasanaethau Cyfreithiol a’r Pennaeth Economi a Chymuned, i ddarparu llythyr o 

sicrwydd i’r cwmni.  Roedd llythyr o’r fath hefyd yn bodloni safonau archwilio 

rhyngwladol ac yn caniatáu i Archwilwyr Allanol y cwmni roi sicrwydd busnes hyfyw 

(“going concern”) i’r cwmni.  Anfonodd y Pennaeth Cyllid y llythyr i Gadeirydd Bwrdd 

Cyfarwyddwyr Byw’n Iach Cyf ar 19 Mehefin 2020, yn cadarnhau fod Cyngor Gwynedd 

am gefnogi’r cwmni yn ariannol o leiaf hyd at 31/03/2021. 

5. Ymhellach, yn y Cabinet ar 9 Mawrth 2021, penderfynwyd ymestyn y cyfnod o sicrwydd 

i’r cwmni a rhoddwyd yn ei le ar gyfer 2020/21 i’r flwyddyn ariannol 2021/22, gan 

gadarnhau pe bai’r argyfwng Covid-19 yn parhau fod Cyngor Gwynedd am gefnogi’r 

cwmni yn ariannol o leiaf hyd at 31/03/2022. 

  

Tud. 199

Eitem 10



Datblygiadau yn 2020/21 a 2021/22 

6. Erbyn hyn, gwyddom wrth gwrs fod Llywodraeth Cymru wedi cyfrannu o’u Cronfa 

Caledi tuag at golledion incwm awdurdodau lleol yn 2020/21 a 2021/22.  Hefyd, rydym 

wedi hawlio arian o gynllun seibiant swyddi (Furlough”) CaThEM tra bu’r canolfannau 

hamdden ar cau.  Mae dros £3m o gymorth wedi ei hawlio yn 2020/21 a dros £1.6m 

yn 2021/22 ar ran Byw’n Iach Cyf: £3.2m gan Lywodraeth Cymru ynghyd â £1.4m gan 

CaThEM. 

 

Disgwyliadau erbyn 2022/23 

7. Yn anffodus, ymddengys bydd sgil effaith yr argyfwng Covid-19 yn parhau i mewn i 

2022/23.  Mae Byw’n Iach Cyf yn wynebu’r her o adeiladu hyder eu cwsmeriaid tra fod 

peth ansicrwydd yn parhau, ac mae’r cwmni yn ymrwymo i gydweithio’n agos iawn 

gyda’r Cyngor wrth symud ymlaen yn ystod y flwyddyn. 

8. Yn ymarferol, diau fod Cyngor Gwynedd yn parhau o'r farn mai model cwmni hyd-

braich yw’r un mwyaf addas i gwrdd â’i ddyheadau yn y maes hamdden, a byddwn yn 

parhau i gynnal y berthynas agos gyda Byw’n Iach Cyf i sicrhau parhad ei hyfywdra 

ariannol.   

 

Argymhelliad 

9. Felly, argymhellir fod y Cyngor yn ymestyn y cyfnod o sicrwydd i’r cwmni a rhoddwyd 

yn ei le ar gyfer 2020/21 a 2021/22 ar gyfer y flwyddyn ariannol 2022/23 hefyd, gan 

gadarnhau pe bai’r argyfwng Covid-19 yn parhau fod Cyngor Gwynedd am gefnogi’r 

cwmni yn ariannol o leiaf hyd at 31/03/2023.   

10. Byddai’r sicrwydd yma o gefnogaeth ariannol yn galluogi’r cwmni i barhau i fasnachu’n 

gyfreithlon o 1 Ebrill 2022 tan ddiwedd y flwyddyn ariannol.  

 

Ymhlygiadau Ariannol 

11. Gan ddefnyddio 2021/22 fel sail, £1.6m oedd gwerth y golled incwm.  Rhagwelir bydd 

y gost o gadw Byw'n Iach yn hyfyw yn sylweddol is na’r swm yma yn 2022/23 gan fod 

y canolfannau wedi ail-agor, serch fod nifer y defnyddiwyr yn parhau’n is nag oedd ym 

Mawrth 2020, gan fod effaith y pandemig yn parhau.  Er hynny, mae’n deg disgwyl y 

bydd nifer y defnyddwyr yn cynyddu’n raddol wrth i hyder y cyhoedd ddychwelyd. 

12. Ni fydd Llywodraeth Cymru yn parhau i digolledu’r Cyngor am golledion incwm yn 

2022/23 gan fod y Gronfa Galedi yn dod i ben ar 31 Mawrth 2022. 

13. Fel rhan o’r adroddiad ar gyllideb 2022/23 a gymeradwywyd gan y Cyngor Llawn ar 3 

Mawrth 2022, nodwyd fod y Cyngor wedi darparu adnodd £1.4 miliwn er mwyn sefydlu 

cronfa gorfforaethol i gynorthwyo’r gwasanaethau i ddygymod â’r sefyllfa yn sgil Covid-

19.  Eglurwyd ar y pryd nad ydym yn rhagweld bydd yr £1.4m yn ddigonol ynddo’i hun 

i ymdrin â’r pwysau ond mae cronfeydd eraill ar gael i gynorthwyo. Sefydlwyd Cronfa 

Adfer Covid wrth gau cyfrifon 2020/21 i’r perwyl hyn, a hefyd gellir gwneud defnydd 

o’r Gronfa Strategaeth Ariannol pe byddai angen. 

  

Tud. 200



_________________________________________________________________________ 

Barn yr aelod lleol 

Dim yn fater lleol 

 

 

Barn y swyddogion statudol 

Swyddog Monitro: 

Mae darpariaethau yn y gytundeb gyda Cwmni Byw’n Iach sydd yn caniatáu i’r Cyngor i addasu 

ei gyfraniadau cytundebol. Mae’r hyn a argymhellir yn darparu i ymestyn y sicrwydd a roddwyd 

yn flaenorol  er caniatau i’r cwmni barhau i gynnal ei weithgareddau sydd, fel a nodir yn yr 

adroddiad, yn unol a’g amcanion strategol y Cyngor. 

Pennaeth Cyllid: 

 

Rwyf wedi cydweithio gyda’r Aelod Cabinet i baratoi’r adroddiad yma ac yn cadarnhau’r 

cynnwys. 

 

Tud. 201


	Rhaglen
	5 COFNODION CYAFARFOD A GYNHALIWYD AR 8 MAWRTH 2022
	6 PENODI UWCH GRWNER ARDAL GOGLEDD ORLLEWIN CYMRU
	7 STRATEGAETH DIM DRWS ANGHYWIR
	Eitem 7 - Crynodeb Strategaeth Dim Drws Anghywir
	Eitem 7 - Strategaeth Dim Drws Anghywir
	1 Introduction and strategic environment
	1.1 Objective
	1.2 Horizon

	2 Policy Context
	3 Vision for the New Service
	4 Principles
	5 Scope
	6 Mental Health and Wellbeing
	7 Age range
	8 Duration
	9 Strategic Context
	10 The Population
	10.1 C&YPO Mental Health Needs in North Wales
	10.2 Key facts BCUHB
	10.3 Key facts Looked After Children in North Wales 9F
	10.4 Projecting future mental health needs of children and young people in North Wales
	10.5 Digital Services  11F
	10.6 Workforce
	10.7 Finance
	10.7.1 Health
	10.7.2 Local Government
	10.7.3 Education

	10.8 COVID 19

	11 Case for Change
	11.1 Children and their families want change
	11.2 Professionals want change. Professionals have told us:
	11.3 Research indications for change
	11.4 Economic case for change

	12  UK and International Research Findings
	12.1 What we found
	12.2 Open Access Early Intervention Hubs
	12.3 Accessible, visible, timely
	12.4 Multi-agency panels
	12.5 Needs-led approaches
	12.6 Participation in care
	12.7 Mobile Apps and Technologies
	12.8 Multi-agency Data
	12.9 Transition to Adult Services

	13 Children and young person’s engagement – Key Findings and Illustrative Stories
	13.1 Introduction
	13.2 Stages of the Children and Young People’s Engagement Programme
	13.3 Themes from Stage 1
	13.4 Messages shared with professionals
	13.5 Children and Young People’s response to proposals for the “To Be “ model

	14 Our voice Our Future!
	15 Outcomes Framework
	15.1 Introduction
	15.2 Outcome: easy access to the right services for the child and family

	16 Proposed “to be” model
	16.1 A Children’s Rights Approach in Mental Health Services
	16.2 CASE STUDIES
	16.2.1 Gareth’s Story – the missing middle
	16.2.2 Graces story – at risk of becoming a looked after child

	16.3 Features of the proposed model
	16.3.1 Easy Access with a Clear and Easy Referral Process
	16.3.2 Organisations Working Together - “Hub” model
	16.3.3 Hub models as physical entities or virtual spaces

	16.4 Functions undertaken by child and adolescent mental health “hubs”
	16.4.1 Areas for further development during the implementation phase
	16.4.2 Early Intervention and Prevention
	16.4.3 Hub Models and Case Co-ordination
	16.4.4 Practice Model
	16.4.5 Practice Methods

	16.5 Areas for further development during the implementation phase
	16.5.1 Role of the Resources Panel
	16.5.2 Areas for further development during the implementation phase

	16.6 Services in the Pathway
	16.6.1 Universal services
	16.6.2 Targeted Services
	16.6.3 Specialist Community Services
	16.6.4 Highly specialist services


	17 Whole System Working and Governance
	18 Implementation
	18.1 INTRODUCTION
	18.2 Implementation Plan

	19 Major Risks
	20 Appendix A: Reviewed Service Models
	21 Appendix B: Summary Evaluations of Four Integrated Care Fund (ICF) Projects in North Wales
	21.1

	22 Appendix C: CYP Consultation
	23 Appendix D: Guidance Frameworks
	24 Appendix E: The Review Process

	Eitem 7 - Asesiad Effaith Cydraddoldeb

	8 TREFNIADAU CYDWEITHIO CENEDLAETHOL AR GYFER GWASANAETHAU MABWYSIADU A MAETHU (AWDURDODAU LLEOL) CYMRU
	ADRODDIAD CABINET MABWYSIADU A MAETHU MAWRTH 29 - Terfynnol
	FINAL Joint Committee Agreement - 11.02.2022 (002)

	9 ADRODDIAD BLYNYDDOL PANEL DIOGELU
	Eitem 9 -  Adroddiad Panel Strategol Diogelu 21-22

	10 EFFAITH COVID 19 AR GYLLIDEB 2022-23 CWMNI BYW'N IACH
	Cyfarfod:  Cabinet
	Dyddiad:  29 Mawrth 2022
	Aelod Cabinet: Cynghorydd Ioan Thomas, Aelod Cabinet dros Gyllid, a’r
	Cynghorydd Gareth Thomas, Aelod Cabinet Datblygu'r Economi
	a Chymuned
	Swyddog Cyswllt: Dewi Morgan, Pennaeth Cyllid


